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PREFACE.

The subject of the present work, after a protracted consideration of some years,
was entered upon by the author with the greatest diffidence, from a consciousness
of the uncertainty as to how far it might be possible, by personal application, to
obtain the intelligence absolutely necessary to make it acceptable. He was
sensible that nothing short of a disposition all but universal in his favour could
enable him to give it such a stamp of originality and novelty as might warrant
the expectation of ultimate success.

The difficulties here intimated, however, have been surmounted even to an
extent exceeding his most sanguine anticipation; and in return the author can



claim for himself, with the greatest confidence, the merit of not having abused

so unexpected and liberal a patronage. In the course of nearly two years he
has in person submitted his proposals to more than 500 of the first families in

the county, at their respective residences; and he takes the present opportunity
of expressing his gratitude for the kindness and assistance with which he has
invariably had the good fortune to be honoured. Indeed, from no less direct
sources of information could he have acquired satisfactory and conclusive autho-
rity for numerous particulars, which unite to give a peculiar character to his
present undertaking.

The descriptions of the seats and residences that touch upon such points as
the architecture, paintings, museums of natural curiosities, or works of art; the
names, titles, and other distinctions, civil, military, or ecclesiastical, of the
residents; scenery, distances, bearings, &c. are uniformly the result of personal
enquiry and observation: and to this extent the work is entirely original.

The copious particulars (given in a smaller type) which follow the descriptions
of most of the ancient houses, are abridged from Hasted's elaborate history of
the county. But the epitaphs and memorials (in the same type) of later date
than 1780, have been collected by the author from the places themselves.

The map, it will be observed, has been designed with particular reference to
the illustration of the present work, and represents most prominently the parks,
paddocks, seats, and other residences particularised in the volume: and the
delineation of the objects, their relative situations, &c. have been determined by
actual survey.
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Such, therefore, is the construction of the work, as far as its plan has hitherto
been submitted to the attention of the subscribers.

A new and very important addition, however, has been suggested by many
families, viz. a series of lithographical views of the principal seats, to face the
respective descriptions. But as this will necessarily form a considerable addi-
tional expense, the inclusion of such illustrations will of course be optional with
those who have already purchased the work.

P.S. For the more extended articles in this volume, materials have been
gathered, if not perhaps from any very recondite sources, yet carefully and from
approved authorities. At present it will be sufficient to mention a few of the
more obvious and important. The two Histories of Kent, by Harris and Hasted,
Lyson's "Environs of London," Brayley's volume on Kent in the "Beauties of
England and Wales," Lambarde's "Perambulation of Kent," the treatises of
Somner and many others, bearing more or less directly on the subjects in view,
have been perused or consulted; of which the sequel, it is hoped, will contain
satisfactory evidence. The author of these historical notices desires further to
observe, that they are limited to places of particular interest; and, though in
the description of these he has endeavoured on the whole to embrace as much
as possible, he does not pretend to have included every object belonging to them,
nor even every object of importance. To have done so, and yet maintained the
requisite brevity, would have reduced him to give little else than a meagre sum-
mary. The present work aims at an approach to something like completeness
only in its comprehensive mention of private residences and families. To this,
therefore, the intermingled matter of a more general nature must be considered
as subsidiary; though at the same time important, as designed to sustain the
other parts of the plan by the occasional intervention of inquiries that open a
wider field and admit a freer treatment. Such being the principal intention of
the work, a great deal that comes within the scope of local history would here
be out of place. Now and then a few statistical particulars are detailed; but
only where it seemed that something more popularly attractive might be elicited
from them or illustrated by them. Much also which, though otherwise applicable,



the repetition of former writers has rendered tediously trite, the author has, for
that reason, briefly dismissed or omitted altogether. In general, he has not
scrupled to enlarge most on what has happened to appear most interesting to
himself; considering that on such topics he had the best chance of being able to
engage likewise the attention of the reader.

v
INTRODUCTION TO THE HISTORY OF KENT.

The name of Kent (which the Latins turned into Cantium) is of British or

Gallic origin, supposed by Camden to indicate a corner, and to allude to the
position of this coast at the corner of the island; in support of which he instances
the words canton and cantle as having properly the same import, and the Scotch
term cantir, for any land thus situated. Such seems to be the popular etymo-
logy; but in Welch, it appears, the name Gaint or Caint, which has always been
applied to this county, means a region of open downs; a description to many
parts of it sufficiently suitable.

Kent, if we regard the important events of which it has been the theatre,
deserves the first place in English topography. In its public edifices and its
various remains of antiquity, it possesses monuments of most of the great epochs
of our national history; while several of the mansions, with which altogether it
is nobly adorned, recall also some high recollections. Simply considered, the
country bears a very pleasing aspect, presenting in most directions a perpetual
undulation of hills and woody sequestered dales running in among the rich
cultivated landscapes. On the side next the metropolis, from Blackheath to
Gravesend, it is literally one scarcely interrupted garden. The whole county indeed
is entitled, by its general fertility, to the appellation of the garden of England;
and many portions of it, such as the Isle of Thanet, and the pastures of Romney
Marsh, are exuberantly rich. Itis a well watered country; and the navigable
rivers, above all, the Thames, and its tributary, the Medway (the latter flowing
through the very heart of the shire), furnish the farmer with the readiest means
for pouring his produce into the great London market. Most of the land is
arable; but the county supplies also vast quantities of fruit, and especially is
famous for its filberts and cherries. To a general observer the most distin-
guishing circumstance of its husbandry is the cultivation of the Hop, a plant
neglected, and perhaps unknown, in England, till the Flemish exiles, about
the reign of Elizabeth, taught this part of the kingdom its value. The hop-
grounds are particularly numerous in the neighbourhood of Maidstone, and form,
especially at harvest-time, an interesting and almost a peculiar feature in Kentish
scenery. The various beauties of the county are well displayed from the hills,
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which traverse it in every direction. Two ranges, superior to the rest, run

nearly parallel to each other through its entire length, and terminate together in
the steep sea-coast about Dover and Folkstone. The upper or northern chain
consists in many parts of dry and chalky downs, where, at least towards the east,
the country is rather bare and exposed to winds from the N.E. and S.W. The
other line (which, from the nature of the rock, is sometimes called the Ragstone
hill), enters Kent about Westerham, and reaches to Folkstone, forming, towards
its eastern extremity, the highest ridge of land in the county. The hills on this
side overlook the Weald, which is of course the same word as wild; but the
tract is now enclosed, though still interspersed with extensive woodlands. It
formerly covered a surface of 120 miles, embracing the whole of Sussex, with a
large part of Hampshire. The Weald of Kent stretches along the southern
border of the county, from Romney Marsh to the confines of Surrey. It made
part of the great British forest of Andereda (Coit Andred), and was the grand



hunting ground of the Saxon princes, being much noted for its numerous stags
and wild boars.

In the earliest times the people of Kent had the credit of being better
civilized (or less barbarous) than their neighbours. Every one knows, from
authority more familiar than Ceaesar's, that his Commentaries term "Kent the
civilest place in all this isle," and as the nearness of the continent must have
given the inhabitants greater opportunities of foreign intercourse than the rest of
the islanders, the praise, we may conclude, was deserved. The same circum-
stances of situation have often rendered it extremely obnoxious to attack: in fact,
it has almost invariably borne the first brunt in every invasion of the island. The
reader has probably no particular wish to fight over again the battles of Julius
Ceesar in this county for the thousandth time. It is well known that he
scarcely penetrated beyond its limits, and placed here no Roman station. The
country was subjected to some small tribute, which, being little more than
nominal, seems to have been paid till the reign of Claudius, when a British
prince, whom the Latin writers call Arviragus, refused it in consequence of the
Emperor's refusal to deliver up some fugitive criminals. The island was then
invaded in earnest, and this was the first portion of it reduced to a province.

In few parts of the country are there left such conspicuous evidences of the
imperial government. One of the chief of these is the road called the Watling
Street, which runs from Dover through Canterbury (where it unites with another
branch from Sandwich) over Blackheath to London; whence, indeed, it may be
traced across the entire kingdom to Anglesey. Before the Romans had aban-
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doned the island, the barbarians who were destined next to make it their
own had already paid it some hostile visits; and "Count of the Saxon shore"
was the ominous title of the Roman officer entrusted with the defence of our
south-eastern coasts. This officer had a particular jurisdiction over ten sea-ports
in this quarter, which were required, on occasions of emergency, to have vessels
in readiness to act against the new enemy. Several of these havens must have
been the same which, in a later age, were associated under the name of Cinque
Ports for similar services. Probably, to guard such important stations from the
attacks of the strangers, the Romans erected on the sea-side of this county
the fortresses of which there are still such considerable remains at Reculver,
Richborough, and Limne.

Soon after Britain had been left to its own resources, three vessels, it is said,
full of these Saxon rovers attacked the coast of Kent. The pirates (or exiles,
as some historians call them,) were led by the brothers, Hengist and Horsa,
whose father, according to one story, was the great-grandson of the deified
Woden. Vortigern, who had now assumed the British government, (at least in
the south,) persuaded them, by the offer of lands, to turn their arms against the
Picts; and similar promises encouraged the settlement of additional numbers of
their countrymen. They were first put in possession of the Isle of Thanet, and
afterwards of the whole of Kent. But their designs soon becoming manifest,
the indignation of the Britons either deposed Vortigern or obliged him to alter
his policy. His son, Vortimir, fought hard to drive out the intruders. Several
places in the county preserve some dim tradition of his battles: and during the
life of this spirited prince, Hengist found it difficult to maintain his ground. The
Saxon, however, declared himself King of Kent; though, to the last, he seems
scarcely to have attempted any further conquest. Other parts of the island were
assailed by different bands of independent adventurers. In Kent the descendants
of Hengist reigned for upwards of three centuries and a half: and Ethelbert, the
fifth in succession, determined, as the representative of the hero who was the
first of his race that set foot on the island, to assert pretensions to more general
dominion. With this view, in the rashness of his youth, on his accession to the
throne at sixteen years of age, he attacked Ceaulin, King of Wessex, the most



powerful of the Saxon chiefs, and, as well as himself, derived from the

blood of Woden. Ceaulin overthrew him, and Kent seemed likely to be crushed.
But several obstacles intervened. The King of Wessex had before been suf-
ficiently formidable to his neighbours, and now their alarm set them upon
combining against him. The Welch and the Scots, too, (stirred up against him
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by his own nephew,) before he could repeat his blow, effectually humbled him
in his own dominions. Meanwhile the coalition against Ceaulin had thrown a
great deal of power into the hands of Ethelbert, and he was finally chosen
Bretwalda, (overruler of Britain;) a title occasionally bestowed by the com-
monwealth of Saxon princes on the most illustrious of their body. He soon
showed that he intended to hold more than a titular pre-eminence. From one
encroachment to another, he advanced so far as to arrogate a right to fill

up all the thrones around him as they became vacant. But finding that his
ambition was likely to be visited with the fate of his old rival of Wessex, he

at length contented himself within fairer limits; but still succeeded in preserving
a considerable superiority, and to a great degree made himself paramount in
every quarter south of the Humber. The authority of Ethelbert was, perhaps,
facilitated by the new and popular influence of that compound of truth and
dreams which, during his reign, Augustine introduced as Christianity; and
which, in return, was still more likely to be materially assisted by the ascendancy
of this prince, who was the leading convert among the Saxon kings. Kent was
the first scene of the missionary's labours: but the whole nation had probably
been prepared in great measure for the admission of what he taught, by previous
intercourse with the British Christians. In a few years, through the medium of
his royal patron, the first Archbishop of Canterbury appears to have been able
to influence the politics of several of the adjacent states. The reign of Ethelbert
lasted for fifty-three years, and with him ended the superiority of Kent. His son,
Eadbald, for some time relapsed into idolatry, but ultimately re-established the
christian religion. His successors, Ercombert and Egbert, were zealous sup-
porters of it. On the death of the latter, a contest took place between Edric,
the rightful heir of the crown, and Lothaire, his uncle, who had seized it. The
usurper was slain, and Edric became king. But the civil war continued, and
within two years this king perished by the violence of his subjects. Soon after-
wards, Cedwalla, the King of Wessex, taking advantage of the distracted state
of the country, sent his brother Mollo to invade it. Mollo, however, was de-
feated; and he and a few companions of his flight, having taken refuge in a
cottage, were there all burnt together by the conquerors. In revenge, Cedwalla
made a furious inroad, and utterly laid waste the country. On his death-bed he
urged the most relentless prosecution of the war on his successor, Ina; whose
ravages finally compelled the miserable inhabitants to compound for little more
than their bare lives, with a payment of 36,000 marks of gold. The power of
the kingdom of Kent was now irreparably ruined. Its jealous neighbours allowed
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it a considerable respite, but its own intestine broils presently broke out again,

and divided it into a number of petty principalities. The sovereignty was at length
recovered by Aldric, the last of the race of Hengist. He was defeated and slain

at Otford, by Offa, King of Mercia; which for some time had taken the lead

among the Saxon states. And now nothing but their mutual rivalries suspended for
a while the entire conquest of this wretched little kingdom. The vacant throne

was seized by Eadbert-Pren. But Kenulph, the next king of Mercia, took him
captive, blinded him, and cut off his right hand. His conqueror gave the crown,

as a mere dependancy, to Cudred; whose son, Baldred, was the last of the
Kentish kings. Baldred was driven out by Egbert, the great King of Wessex;



whose power, after a decisive struggle with Mercia, had acquired such a pre-
ponderance, that he is frequently considered the first monarch of England. Kent
was afterwards governed by a succession of Earls, whose power appears to have
been considerable, even to a period subsequent to the Norman conquest. Earl
(it may be observed by the way) is a title of Danish extraction, originally written,
Jarl; but radically the same word, perhaps, as the first syllables of the Saxon
compound, Ealdor-man: which we have converted into Elder, and Alderman.

The Danes first began to trouble the island a little before Kent had subsided
into the general kingdom; which, in fact, seems to have been very opportunely
consolidated to resist the approaching storm. As usual, this exposed corner
was among the earliest to suffer from its violence; and the Danes, like the Saxons
before them, chose the Isle of Thanet for the spot where they first ventured to
winter in England. The ground was convenient, and they made it their frequent
station; and thus, for more than a century, the surrounding country could never
feel itself secure from continual alarm, havoc, and confusion. In the course of
such terrible discipline, however, the men of Kent acquired extraordinary renown
for military prowess, and hence the vanguard in battle became for many ages
their admitted right. Instances of their valour and their sufferings will occur in
the body of the history. During the Danish wars, this county witnessed several
of the most eventful and critical struggles that took place; in particular, the
campaign of Alfred the Great against the formidable Hastings, and also the final
conflict for the kingdom, between Edmund Ironside and Canute, when, for a short
interval ere the death of the former left his rival in full sovereignty, the Roman
Watling Street was made the boundary line of a divided empire.

In the course of this contest occurred the rise of the famous Goodwin,
whose name is even still commemorated on the coasts of Kent. As the fortune
of Goodwin was very extraordinary, and adds a splendour, which has been
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unworthily tarnished, to the history of this particular county, it may be found,
perhaps, neither irrelevant nor uninteresting to give a brief outline of his career.
An accident drew him out of rustic obscurity. After a battle in Warwickshire
between Edmund and Canute, where the latter was worsted, it happened that a
Dane of distinction, named Ulfr, lost his way in the rout, and after wandering

all night through the woods, met a young herdsman, whom he asked to direct
him to the Danish fleet, (then stationed in the Severn;) urging his request with
large promises of reward, and the proffer of a valuable jewel. The youth, (who
was no other than Goodwin,) expressed his surprise that a Dane should look

for assistance from a Saxon, but in the end agreed to be his guide, though he
refused his present; and having conducted him in safety, and thus exposed
himself to the resentment of his countrymen, he remained among the Danes.
The grateful Ulfr gave him his daughter in marriage, and Canute (in whose
Norwegian wars he performed important services,) made him governor or duke of
Wessex. He thus became the most powerful lord in the kingdom. It does not
appear, however, that his sword had ever been drawn against the Saxon cause;
which, now that its enemies had invested him with power that he could wield

as he pleased, he took the first opportunity to vindicate with signal decision.
Resolving to bring back the native line, on the death of Hardy-canute he raised
the standard of insurrection: the English promptly answered his summons, and
the Danes, having no competitor in readiness for the throne, were rapidly

driven from all their places of dominion. Edward, the son of Ethelred, (the

last Saxon who had reigned in England,) by the Norman princess, Emma, was
immediately invited out of Normandy. On his arrival he married Goodwin's
daughter Edith, took an oath to retain none of the Normans about him, and

was solemnly crowned. But, notwithstanding what he had sworn, the court

and kingdom were soon filled with his foreign favourites: they were placed

in every situation of trust, and their language became the only fashionable idiom.



Among the men of note, Goodwin alone, (now a resolute Saxon,) showed his
contempt and disgust at these fantastical customs. The insolence of the strangers
at length produced a crisis. Eustace, Count of Boulogne, who had married
Edward's sister, on returning from a visit at the English court, passed through
Dover with an armed retinue, who demanded whatever quarters pleased them
best, in a style of insulting bravado. An Englishman was killed in the defence

of his house. The enraged populace drove out the Boulognese, of whom several
were slain; and Eustace hastened back with loud complaints to his brother-

in-law. Edward, the slave of the Normans, commanded Goodwin (who was
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now Earl of Kent, his most important province, and governor of the Castle

of Dover), summarily to punish the people under his charge. The earl replied,
that it was not fit that a king should, without hearing, punish those

whom it was his duty to protect, and advised the fair trial of the accused.

For this refractoriness he was cited before the council: but, being well

apprised that his enemies were determined to have his banishment decreed,

he answered the citation by calling the men of Kent into the field. An army

was despatched against him; but the boldness of his front brought his antagonists
to a stand, and it was mutually agreed that the Witenagemot (the Saxon par-
liament) should be immediately assembled to adjust the points at issue. "The
magnanimous Earl," (as he is justly styled by some old historian,) being thus
thrown off his guard, no sooner had most of his troops dispersed, than his
enemies took advantage of his reliance on their good faith, and again marched
against him with an overwhelming force. Goodwin and his four sons were now
compelled to fly. Three of them accompanied their father to Flanders; Harold,
the eldest, crossed the Irish Channel. The Normans now every where exulted:
and Duke William, the future Conqueror, paid the kingdom a visit; landing at
Dover, and acquainting himself with the wealth of the land, which already,

(says an eloquent historian,) he might have fancied to be his own: every where
he heard the Norman language; the fleet at Dover was commanded by the
Norman, Eudes; a Norman garrison welcomed him at Canterbury, and Robert,

a monk of Normandy, was the metropolitan prelate. William's assistance had
been desired, in the expectation of a struggle; but the only foe of the Normans
was a fugitive and an exile, and the visitor returned home, flattering himself,
perhaps, that he had only to wait his opportunity, and England would be his with-
out a battle. But in a few months the formidable earl had recruited his strength,
and was hovering with a fleet about the coasts of Kent. Pursued by Eudes

and Raulfe, (Edward's Norman admirals,) he took shelter in the Pevensey road,
while the ships of his enemies were shattered by a storm. He next made several
descents upon the coast; and wherever he landed, (according to the Saxon Chro-
nicle,) the people willingly supplied him with provisions, and swore that they
would "live or die with him." The vessels in the Kentish harbours went over to
his party, and he was soon joined by his son Harold, with an additional force
from Ireland. The father and the son now sailed with their united armament

to Sandwich, ascended the Thames, and cast anchor before London, where
the king was resident. A body of troops was landed; but before a sword

was drawn, "though the earl's authority," says the same ancient writer, "could
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scarcely restrain his followers," the two chiefs sent a message to the king,
couched in respectful terms, but demanding the reversal of their banishment.
The soldiers of Edward had already given sufficient intimation that they

would not be compelled to shed their countrymen's blood in support of Nor-
man insolence, and the king reluctantly promised to acquiesce in whatever

the Witenagemot should determine, which he engaged immediately to convene.



The Witenagemot could not again be made a pretext of delusion: the assembly
was held, and voted at once for the reception of Goodwin and his friends;

on hearing which, the Normans waited for nothing more, but fled in every direc-
tion across the seas. Robert, the archbishop, was in such haste that he left his
pallium behind him for the use of his Saxon successor, who was immediately
installed in the vacant chair.

Thus ended the career (for he died very soon afterwards) of this extraordi-
nary man, whose fame has been clouded with ungrateful obloquy. The reproach
that clings to him the closest is that of having been accessary to the murder of
Edward's elder brother, Alfred, who, in the reign of Herald the Dane, had been
inveigled out of Normandy by that prince's agents, and barbarously destroyed
in England. Goodwin's participation in the treachery is, at all events, not
proved. The imputation, however, pursued him to his death, which is repre-
sented not only as having been very sudden, but attended with some terrible
circumstances. As he sat at the king's table, (it is said,) the latter chanced to be
reminded of his brother's violent end, and bitterly upbraided him with it; when
Goodwin, uttering a solemn imprecation, that if he deserved the suspicion, the
bread might suffocate him which he was about to eat, put the morsel into his
mouth, and instantly fell dead. The tale may justly be suspected of being the
invention of his enemies. The Normans pursued his memory with unrelenting
malice, revenging themselves for their expulsion by henceforth making the very
name of Goodwin a bye-word of infamy; and, as they afterwards became the
masters (and consequently the historians) of the kingdom, he appears in most of
the records of the time as a blood-stained traitor, haughty and rebellious against
a benevolent sovereign, prosecuting his selfish aggrandizement at the expense of
his country's welfare, the scourge and plunderer of its shores, the profligate
embroiler of two friendly nations, and the true author of all the calamities that
were so soon to fall upon his own; a man, in short, so cursed by heaven itself,
that the very sea must be called up, must swell with indignation against the
name of Goodwin, and the quicksand must be fabled to have been fruitful
ground, but sapped by the waves, and made the sailor's terror, because Good-
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win, (without doubt,) the merciless, destroying Goodwin, was once the master

of the soil! and the blind descendants of the people whose independence he
prolonged, were taught at last to babble such a tradition as this! Our popular
historians have re-echoed it all; (they have all but swallowed the quicksand;)
they seem to have forgotten that the Saxon champion — the father of Harold the
Dauntless — is warmly defended and honoured by several of the contemporary
pens of his countrymen. And yet it needs no mixture of a kindred blood to make
it natural to treat with at least some respect the timely vindicator of his country
from the stealthy approaches of a power that threatened its independence.

It has been left, however, to a foreigner and a Frenchman to do justice to the
English worthy: we mean the able historian of the Norman conquest,

M. Thierry, whose animated narrative has formed the ground-work of the one
here offered to the reader. It may be granted, indeed, that this writer has
probably somewhat exaggerated his hero's merits. It cannot well be affirmed
that Goodwin was clearly a disinterested patriot. His memory is charged with

the murder (or betrayal, at least) of the eldest heir of the Saxon throne, whose
high spirit (so far as his character is reported,) seemed not likely, if he had

lived, to brook a master. Goodwin, it is true, might here have beeen innocent:
but it is more difficult to acquit him of making subsequent circumstances very
subservient to his own aggrandizement. The brother of the unhappy prince was
the king of his choice, and one of the weakest of mankind; and to this king

he was careful to ally himself before he gave him his crown. Afterwards, again,
during Edward's reign, he must have felt that nothing but the foreign influence
interfered with his own ascendancy; and most likely he felt also that only the pre-



tensions of the Norman line were serious obstacles to the probability of his energetic
son's succession to the throne on the death of the childless Confessor. On the
other hand, in regard to his requiring the formal marriage of this royal monk, it

may be fairly argued, in behalf of Goodwin's political rectitude, (or at least of his
ambition and duty being concurrent,) that Edward's feeble judgment and Norman
partialities made it necessary to the nation's safety for some influential person (and
who but Goodwin?) to acquire a permanent hold upon him. Besides, if the Earl's
views of self-interest were really so exorbitant, instead of being (as, after all, upon
the whole, a fair survey of his history would rather induce us to conclude) re-
markably moderate, why should he, powerful and popular, and with great capacity
for government, instead of seizing the kingdom which lay within his grasp, invite

a puling prince out of a foreign country, surrounded with foreign favourites, and
already prejudiced against him as the supposed betrayer of his brother? And
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why, after all, when that prince arrived, should he have insisted on an alliance,
which, (whatever advantages it gave him,) if it had produced an heir, would
have excluded his own son, whom, in those critical times, nature had marked
out for the sceptre? Let his motives, however, from first to last, have been
what they may, (and there is much reason to believe that they partook largely of
public spirit,) it is clear enough that his cause was patriotic and noble, and that
he carried with him the hearts of the people; and his conduct, with reference to
national objects, appears to have been alike wise, temperate, and courageous.
Upon the death of Goodwin, Harold succeeded to more than his father's
authority over the pliable mind of the Confessor; and the Normans did not
again recover the ground they had lost, till the battle of Hastings put them in
possession of the kingdom.

From the scene of this fatal overthrow, the Conqueror first marched to
Romney, and took a bloody revenge on the inhabitants for their slaughter of
some Norman troops that had previously landed there. He then swept the coast,
and secured the sea-ports as far as Dover, the most impregnable and important
fortress in the kingdom: and this place likewise being terrified into a speedy
surrender, he pressed on by the Roman Watling Street, across the country,
towards London. Meanwhile the people of Kent had recollected some sparks,
at least, of the valour for which they had long been renowned: and on his
approaching the Thames, near Swanscomb, they met him in an armed body,
which obliged him, it seems, rather than risk the event of a second battle, or the
dangers of delay, to guarantee to them, under the general ruin that impended, the
undisturbed possession of their own peculiar rights. However doubtful this
transaction may be considered, it is commonly allowed that the customs which
subsist in Kent, under the name of gavel-kind, contain evidence of an extraor-
dinary antiquity; and there may be traced among them indications of an origin
from a simpler condition of society than that which was superinduced by the
jealous Norman despotism. As they form so important a feature in the historical
character of the county, the chief of them shall here be mentioned. One grand
principle of the law of gavel-kind is the equal partibility of estates among the
sons (or, in default of sons, the daughters, or finally among the whole nearest
kindred) of persons dying intestate; whence, give-all-kind has been often sup-
posed to be this identical term in a modern form: another of its customs
empowers the heir to alienate his property by feoffment at fifteen years of age;
a third provides that, in cases of felony, there shall be no forfeiture of the rights
of succession; and previously to a statute of Henry VIII. a tenant under gavel-
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kind might dispose of his land by will. The system of dividing inheritances was
much at variance with the Norman pride, which cherished the establishment of a



powerful aristocracy. In fact, the Kentish law seems to have been repugnant to
every feudal notion; it rejected the practice of military tenure, and of vassalage; it
always implied that the tenant gave rent for his land. The prescription of a pay-
ment, instead of personal service to the lord of the soil, is considered to have been so
essential to the nature of gavel-kind, that the best antiquaries derive the term from
the Saxon word, gavel, or gafol, (husbandry-work or rent,) and thus make it in-
dicate the sort or kind of land that yields rent. Notwithstanding these liberal laws,
however, it is not to be supposed that the condition of villenage was unknown in
Kent, either after the conquest or before: (it had always indeed been familiar
enough to our Saxon ancestors throughout the kingdom.) Yet, generally speak-
ing, it may be fairly boasted, that, under the protection of Kentish privilege,

while the bulk of the nation was made up of drudges indissolubly bound to

the soil, a man who would prove his freedom had only to show that his father

was a native of Kent. So that, in this corner of the land, the seed was preserved
of the boast and birthright of Englishmen.

The story of the stipulations with the Conqueror was first related, with some
romantic circumstances which, it must be owned, wear rather an apocryphal
appearance, by Thomas Sprot, a monk of Canterbury, of the time of Edward 1./
The men of Kent (says he), having chosen the bold Archbishop Stigand for their
leader, advanced with each a green bough in his hand; and, on the enemy's
approach, the boughs, which at a distance gave their army the appearance of a
forest, were suddenly cast aside, while trumpets sounded, and a formidable array
displayed itself. A messenger was then dispatched, who addressed the Norman
in the following terms: "The commons of Kent, most noble Duke, are ready to
offer thee either peace or war, at thine own choice: peace with their faithful
obedience, if thou wilt permit them to enjoy their ancient liberties: war, and
that most deadly, if thou deny it them."/t The Duke was anxious to press forward,
and the demand, thus resolutely made, says the story, was immediately granted.
The moving forest was not the wood of Birnam, and the tyrant held on his way.
He had no sooner seized upon the Crown than he showed his respect for Kentish
liberties by giving the command of the county to his half-brother, Odo, Bishop
of Baieux, the most notorious tyrant (next to his master) of those tyrannical

/* Sprot was almost immediately followed in the same statement by William Thorn, a writer of more
credit.
/_ Lambarde's Perambulation of Kent.
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times: even William soon felt himself obliged to allow Lanfranc, the Primate,
to call this greedy governor to an account: but, though Odo was forced to give
back the spoils of which he had stripped the church, his rapaciousness, where only
lay-property was concerned, was probably by no means so promptly put a stop to.
But the instances that might be alleged, either of the usual Norman tyranny
or of any special violation of the pretended Kentish privileges, neither prove that
such privileges had not been stipulated for, nor indeed, that the stipulation, if
made, was useless. Whatever may be thought of the green boughs (in the
month of November, it has been maliciously observed — as if Kent had no
laurels); whatever we may think of such flourishes as these, and the "faithful
obedience" so haughtily tendered, and qualified with defiance, by the stout
"commons of Kent," — that William, on his way through the county, was opposed
by a large body of the inhabitants, and that some capitulation took place in con-
sequence, must be allowed to rest upon authority at least not contemptible. And
the relation, be it observed, should be judged of, not as if it were altogether insu-
lated and unconnected with positive facts, but as giving the only account that pro-
fesses to be historical of the origin of an actual and remarkable state of things.
The particulars of the affair may be obscure: but as there is nowhere any men-
tion of a battle or a rout, it would be reasonable, even without as much testi-



mony on the subject as we possess, to suppose a compromise. The probability is,
that the people showed a firm front, and would have fought with the fury of
despair, but that William prudently accepted their conditional submission, or
perhaps made them an offer himself, and debauched them from the common
interest by an assurance, never meant to be observed, of respecting their local
liberties; whilst, on their parts, they were glad enough, amid the general panic
and the prostration of a headless country, to sheathe their swords upon such
honorable terms. No such compact, indeed, is affirmed by any contemporary
writers; and Somner thinks the silence of Ingulf, "William's own chaplain,"

on the subject is fatal to its credibility: as if "William's own chaplain" would be
particularly anxious to record a promise extorted from his patron in the flush of
conquest, and afterwards, besides, in all likelihood, disgracefully violated. The
Norman writers would be willing enough to slight a circumstance that gave even
a shadow of independence to a trampled race: and even the pen of a Saxon
might not always (while the wounds of the vanquished were yet smarting), be
very ready to honour a distinction invidiously borne, and it might be thought,
perhaps, selfishly obtained, by a single province of the kingdom, and humiliating
to all the rest. There are registers, however, as early as the reign of Henry lIl.
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which prove that, at that time at least, the Kentish privileges of gavel-kind were
uniformly admitted in the courts of law, and even then regarded as ancient.

A record, as old as the time of Edward I. now extant in the Surrenden Library,

is quoted by Hasted, which mentions a case where they were allowed, on the
express plea that this county had not been conquered with the rest of the

realm, but had stipulated for the preservation of its rights. The fact of the

alleged promise, therefore, is thus far legally accredited; and it must be inferred
that the continuity of the privileges claimed under it, could never have been
entirely lost; that the engagement, even from the first, though it might often

be broken, must still have been partially observed; while, in proportion as

popular rights acquired weight, these in particular would become, of course, more
distinctly acknowledged. The rigid critics who would entirely set aside the
tradition of the compact with the Conqueror are reduced, after all, to fanciful
conjectures of their own, and labour in vain to account for the remarkable and im-
memorial prevalence, throughout this county, of customs which, at the same time
they admit to be of a Saxon character, and which, in many points, form a striking
contrast to the institutions that made the ground-work of the Conqueror's policy./*
It could not have been by neglect that, when the kingdom was placed under a
general system of military obligations, this, its most exposed and anxiously-
guarded frontier, was allowed in great measure to preserve its peaceful tenures,
which, so far from exacting warlike services in return for holding property, were
incompatible with such a mode of requiring them. It is true that the history of
Kent will supply its full share of such conditions as knight's-service, castle-guard
tenure, and the like instances of a martial government. But the estates that lay
under these claims were chiefly demesne lands, held immediately of the Crown or
of the several castles belonging to it: and it is no less true, on the other hand,
that the customs of gavel-kind, which admitted no such demands, so decidedly
obtain in this county, that they constitute the acknowledged common law of
Kent, and of Kent alone. They may be met with in other parts of the island;

but wherever they are there alleged, the proof of the privilege must be circum-

/* It should here be recollected, that the rights above referred to concerned exactly those
interests which certainly underwent the greatest change from the effects of the conquest: the rules of
criminal jurisprudence that had been previously in use were formally re-established by William through-
out the island; but the conditions of property were very extensively and indeed almost inevitably
altered; the lands, of which the wealthiest proprietors were commonly dispossessed, being thenceforth
held by the usurpers on terms more familiar to their national practice, as well as better adapted to



maintain their power over the natives.
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stantially entered into; whereas all lands in Kent are presumed to be subject to
these usages, unless the contrary can be shown. So predominant is their authority
here, that although (particularly under Henry VII. Henry VIII. and Edward VI.)

many of the larger estates in the county were disgavelled (to such an extent as to be
made no longer partible), yet even among these the common practice is generally
suffered to proceed; the loss of registers and the lack of precedents of a contrary
practice rendering it, in fact, extremely difficult to ascertain the estates in question.
The particulars of the law of gavel-kind are contained in the Custumal of Kent,

a record of sufficient authority to have been admitted in evidence before a jury.
Copies of the Custumal, both in Latin and French (the Latin copies, it is said,

differ materially from one another), exist in the public libraries. There are

several among the Harleian MSS. in the British Museum.

So much for this famous law: the vindication of which, whether justly or not,
crowned the character of the yeomen of Kent for the possession of a double
portion of the virtue of English blood. The affair is a doubtful one: doubtful in
fact, and of doubtful merit. If it were thoroughly clear of the appearance of an
act of desertion, it would have been more certainly worthy of the men who had
always claimed to themselves, in the day of battle, the post of honour and of
danger. As itis, through the obscurity of the circumstances, and amidst the
contemporary eclipse of the nation, it wears a dazzling show of heroism; whether
heroism or cowardice it deserves, in fact, to be called. The liberties of England
being for the time overwhelmed, this solitary successful exertion looks like, and
perhaps might really have been, the noble rescue of something from the general
wreck. Something was snatched from the paw of the lion in the very instant
of his savage exultation, and the thought of the little one's deliverance soothed
the wounded pride of the Saxon. At all events, the retention (in any degree) of
the cherished privileges, considering the character of William and his immediate
successors, must, so far as can be judged, have been owing to some wholesome
fear or experience of the high spirit of the people, and reflects upon it propor-
tionable honour. Who would grudge, therefore, to indulge for a moment the
enthusiasm of the lofty lines in the Polyolbion?

"Oh, noble Kent, the praise doth unto thee belong,
"Most hard to be controul'd, impatientest of wrong;

"Who, when the Norman first with pride and horror sway'd,
"Threw'st off the servile yoke upon the English laid,

"And with a firm resolve, most bravely didst restore

"That liberty so long enjoy'd by thee before:
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"Not suffering foreign laws thy customs free to bind,
"Thou only show'dst thyself of ancient Saxon kind.

"Of all the English shires be thou surnam'd the free,
"And foremost ever plac'd when they shall reckon'd be."

But if we listen to the poet, he will make us dream that the stout men of Kent
actually beat back the Conqueror to Normandy, and broke from off the neck of
England that "servile yoke," which, however, if we had not borne in our youth,
we should never have fought at Cressy or Agincourt, nor won our Magna
Charta, and converted the most oppressive impositions into a solid foundation
of freedom.

Among such impositions of despotism or necessity, may be mentioned one,
almost limited to Kent, viz. the establishment of the Cinque Ports, which,



(however convenient to ancient tyranny, or obnoxious to the charge of

modern corruption,) seems to have contributed something to the building of

the English constitution, besides nursing the infancy of our naval power, and
cherishing the naval spirit. We have already observed, that several harbours
(probably including these,) were first made confederate by the Romans to
oppose the early Saxon invaders. The Saxons afterwards adopted the same
plan to frustrate the attacks of the Danes; and for these purposes of defence,
under the vigorous reign of the Confessor, (which means, that of his ministers,
Earl Goodwin and his son Harold,) it appears, from allusions which occur

in subsequent charters, that some at least of the ports in question were regularly
incorporated. To the Conqueror these harbours were of peculiar importance,
because they secured his access to the continent, where his presence and his
troops were often necessary in his foreign dominions; and whence he might
draw the most trusty forces to crush any risings of independence at home.

Only Dover, Sandwich, and Romney, however, appear in the Doomsday Survey,
as privileged ports: it is probable that Hythe and Hastings were included in

the course of William's reign; but no charter, belonging to any of the number,

is now extant of so early a date. Winchelsea and Rye were afterwards added
to the Five, as principals, and several small towns in Kent and the adjoin-

ing county, as members, or contributary dependents, attached to the respective
leaders. Each of these ports was obliged to furnish a certain number of vessels
for war or transport, when the king required them; the whole, on ordinary
occasions, varying, under different charters, from fifty-seven to eighty, and their
period of annual service from fifteen to forty days. If the armament were needed
for a longer time, it was to be at the king's expense. The ports equipped every
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vessel with a crew of nineteen or twenty men and a boy; the rest (who would
probably be soldiers) were to be supplied by the king. Before the establish-
ment of the royal navy, the advantages of such a provision were very great.

The institution of the Cinque Ports may be considered as an imperfect

extension to the sea of that system to which, as we have seen, the

land in Kent was less subject than other parts of the kingdom; as an ap-

plication of some of the feudal principles, which pervaded the country, to
purposes of naval warfare and to corporate towns. Whether, at the same

time that the above-named obligations were imposed, privileges of cor-
respondent consequence were given, is not quite clear: but it is plain that consi-
derable advantages were conferred immediately; and these again were frequently
enlarged by succeeding sovereigns. They chiefly consisted in an exemption from
subsidies and other general aids, as well as from particular imposts, harbour-dues,
&c. and in a judicature of their own, which had the sole right to try even capital
offences committed within the limits of its jurisdiction, or by any person belonging
to the fraternity. The Barons of the Cinque Ports also still retain the honour of
bearing the canopy over the sovereign's head at his coronation. These Barons
(the title which dignified, at least, if it did not ennoble, the freemen of the

towns in question) certainly sat in parliament among the lords, before its dis-
tinction into two houses, and apparently before other commoners were admitted;
at all events, before they were generally admitted. On the whole, therefore, it
may be affirmed, that this association, however open to abuse, or in former ages
subservient to royal encroachments, contributed nevertheless to give that im-
portance to the boroughs which was most essential to balance the power both

of the aristocracy and of the king, and which, gradually increasing, established

at last the general freedom. When we come to the places themselves, we shall
notice a few more of the ancient peculiarities of the Cinque Ports; which seem

to form the last prominent point in the history of Kent that requires any intro-
ductory observations.



EPITOME
OF
THE HISTORY OF KENT.

This County comprises two principal Divisions, East and West, and is sub-
divided into five Lathes: Sutton at Hone, Aylesford, Scray, St. Augustine,
and Shepway.

The Lathe of Sutton at Hone

CONTAINS THE HUNDREDS OF BLACKHEATH, BROMLEY AND BECKENHAM, LITTLE AND LESNES,
ROOKESLEY, WESTERHAM AND EDENBRIDGE, SOMERDEN, CODSHEATH,
AXTON, AND DARTFORD AND WILMINGTON.

THE HUNDRED OF BLACKHEATH.

DEPTFORD. — The first Royal Dock here is supposed to have been estab-
lished in the time of Henry VIII.; since which the dock-yard has gradually
become extensive, and given importance to the town.

Among the objects of interest belonging to Deptford should not be omitted
the site of Sayes Court, on the ground afterwards occupied by the building which,
under the old system of the poor law, was the parish workhouse of St. Nicholas.
The ancient mansion, long since demolished, was, in early times, the property of
the family of De Saye, and afterwards the seat of the learned John Evelyn, Esq.
who lent it, in 1698, to Peter the Great, while that prince was acquiring the
practice of naval architecture at the royal dock yard. During his residence here,
the barbarian wantonly ruined the fine gardens which his host had taken a plea-
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sure in improving, till they had become the admiration of the age. There is
now nothing remaining of them. A splendid holly hedge, mentioned by Evelyn,
in his "Sylva," was the latest relic of their beauties.

A Janus' head entire was found at Deptford, in 1690, in the road to New
Cross, near St. Thomas's watering place. One face was that of a man bearded,
with ears and horns like a ram; the other that of a young woman. It measured
18 inches in height.

In the old church of St. Nicholas are the following monuments most worthy
of notice:

For the Rev. John Hughes, A.M. of Jesus College, Cambridge, obt. 1710; for a son and daughter
of John Evelyn; for the family of Browne, of Sayes Court: in the north aisle, a memorial for John,
eldest son of Admiral John Benbow, obt. 1762, at. 25: in the middle aisle, one for Catherine, wife of
Captain F. Wivell, obt. 1713, &et. 40: in the great chancel, for G. Shelvocke, Esq. F.R.S. Secretary
to the Post Office, obt. 1760, at. 58; for R. Boyle, eldest son of Richard, Earl of Cork, obt. 1617;
for E. Fenton, Esq. obt. 1603; and for William Hawkyns, Esq. of Plymouth, obt. 1589.

The Church of St. Paul is an elegant structure, with a semicircular portico,
supported by columns. The interior is very magnificent: the roof is particularly
beautiful, and is sustained by a range of lofty pillars and pilasters, with Corin-
thian capitals in front of the galleries, and extending round both ends of the
church. Of the monuments the following are most remarkable:

On the south side of the chancel, a sumptuous one for Matthew Finch, gentleman, obt. 1745,
2t. 70, and his brother Benjamin: on the north side, a beautiful monument, with an urn of Sicilian
marble, for Mary, wife of Richard Hanwell, gent. of Oxford, obt. 1754, aet. 25: south of the altar, a



mural monument, fixed to one of the columns, for Elizabeth, widow of Thomas Dobson, Esq. late of
Kennington Place, Vauxhall, who died Jan. 10th, 1838, aged 82; another for Charles Burney, D.D.
F.R.S. F.A.S. Rector of this Church and of Cliffe, in this county, Prebendary of Lincoln, and

Chaplain in Ordinary to his Majesty, born Dec. 4th, 1757, and departed this life Dec. 28th, 1817; for
Mary, wife of Captain Henry Garrett, R. N. who died Aug. 26th, 1812, aged 39 years: a large mo-
nument to the memory of Elizabeth, wife of Adam Bell, Esq. who departed this life Dec. 15, 1809,
aged 53 years; and of Miss Elizabeth Bell, who died Oct. 3d, 1814, aged 20 years; and of Adam
Bell, Esqg. who died Jan. 4th, 1825, aged 73 years; and of another daughter: for Arthur Putt, Esq.
who departed this life Sept. 4th, 1835, aged 86 years; also Mary his wife, who died April 9th, 1832,
aged 66 years; also Arthur Henry Chamberlin, grandson of the above, who died April 10th, 1837,
aged 16 months: north of the altar are, a monument for Henry Sayer, son of John Sayer and Catherine
his Wife, one of the co-heiresses of the late Admiral Hughes, born Dec. 5th, 1726, died Jan. 28th,
1789; also Sarah Sayer his wife, one of the co-heiresses of the late John Collier, Esq. of Hastings,
born Jan. 13th, 1739-40, died Aug. 30th, 1822; and of three of their issue: and one opposite to and
corresponding with that of Mrs. Dobson's above mentioned, for Charles Augustin Ferguson, Esq. who
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died March 218t, 1830, aged 72 years; also Mrs. Elizabeth Ferguson, relict of the above, who died
Nov. 15th, 1831, aged 76 years.

This church was consecrated by Edmund, Bishop of London, June 30th,
1730.

GREENWICH is pleasantly situated on the Thames, beneath the high ground
in the adjoining Royal Park, and opposite to the level tract which, being nearly
surrounded by the river, is called the Isle of Dogs. This seems formerly to
have been covered with water, and probably contributed to suggest the Saxon
name of this place, Grenewic, which properly signifies the Green Bay.

In the beginning of the eleventh century Greenwich was, for several years
together, the station of a great fleet and army of the Danes, who at that time
were on the point of completing the conquest of the kingdom. Ethelred the
Unready had disheartened the people by frequently exacting large sums of
money to bribe his enemies to retire. The consequence was, that the country
soon swarmed with plunderers eager to be rewarded for their ravages. At
last, during a truce which the invaders had taken advantage of to indulge
the most brutal licentiousness, the English were tempted to fall upon them
with one consent, and a general massacre took place amidst the solemnity of
a common festival. The following year was signalized by the invasion and
ample vengeance of Sweyn, the King of Denmark, in person; whom Ethelred's
usual method of opposing an assailant had scarcely, at length, induced to depart,
when (in the year 1011) a new armament ascended the Thames, under Turkill,
one of the Danish Jarls. The fleet cast anchor by the Isle of Dogs, and their
camp was fixed on the elevated plain between Greenwich and Blackheath.
Making this their main position, they proceeded to the attack of London and of
Canterbury. The latter city was carried by storm, and Elfeg, the Archbishop,
having been led hither in chains, was kept prisoner for several months, an
enormous ransom being required for his freedom. But he steadily told his cap-
tors that he would be no party to the plunder of his unhappy country; that he
had not the means of satisfying their demands, and would neither tax his wasted
tenantry, nor solicit from clergy, prince, or people, what all alike were so little
able to spare. The good bishop's resolution was immovable, and the disap-
pointed barbarians murdered him at last in a drunken tumult. The parish
church of Greenwich was afterwards dedicated to his honour, and still bears the
name of St. Alphage the Martyr. Turkill subsequently made his peace with
Ethelred, and consented to serve him with his Danes. Accordingly, on Sweyn's
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return, in 1013, they assisted in the successful defence of London against their
countrymen. The oppressions of Ethelred, however, had made the nation
almost welcome its inveterate enemies. The Saxon monarch was driven from
the throne, and took refuge among his mercenaries at Greenwich, whence he
escaped into Normandy. At his recall, on the death of Sweyn, a few months
afterwards (when he promised to govern better), these Danes were still in pos-
session of the same station, and received £30,000 in requital of their services.
In the following year (1015), Turkill and his troops joined Canute, the son of
their old sovereign, who sailed up to this place in a fleet which, instead of
exhibiting such rough barks as the Danes commonly employed, consisted of
vessels gaily painted, and adorned with rows of brazen bucklers and the gilded
figures of lions and dolphins; while the royal galley displayed the form of a
dragon, the head projecting from the prow, and the tail coiled round the stern.
There are still, or were within these few years, the traces of a great encampment,
supposed to be that of the Danes, about East and West Comb (or Camp), in
this vicinity; though in fact, as the same spot has been repeatedly occupied by
armed bodies on occasions of insurrection or civil war, these remains may belong
to later periods. Near the centre of the park, above the declivity, there is a
cluster of harrows, now a good deal defaced, which are conjectured to mark the
Danish burial-ground. Several of them were opened about the end of the last
century, and found to contain human bones, along with knives, weapons of
war, &cC.

The earliest notice of a Royal Residence at Greenwich occurs in the annals of
Edward |. But its history is obscure till Henry VI. granted the manor to his
uncle, Humphrey, Duke of Gloucester, surnamed the Good; who built here a
sumptuous palace, and the tower, which long continued to be known by his
name, on the site of the present observatory. He called the demesne his Manor
of Pleasaunce; a title which suited it so well, that the place retained it as long as
a prince occupied the palace. Edward IV. and Henry VII. were often resident
here; and Henry VIII., who was a native of Greenwich, added greatly to its
magnificence, while he suffered the neighbouring seat of his ancestors at Eltham
to fall into neglect, from which it never recovered. At Greenwich he solemnized
his marriage with Catharine of Arragon, and afterwards with Anne of Cleves;
and Stow recounts how often he celebrated here, "in a most princely manner,"
the feasts of Christmas and May-day. In the park were held repeated tourna-
ments; and, on one of these occasions, the king, supported by three knights,
challenged all comers. Mary and Elizabeth were both of them born at
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Greenwich; which witnessed, during the reign of the latter, a frequent renewal

of the same chivalrous pageantry that had graced it in the time of her father.
This palace was her favourite summer residence, and she is said to have par-
ticularly enjoyed the walks and prospects in the park. James I. surrounded

this park with a brick wall, and granted part of the manor to his queen, Anne of
Denmark, who commenced there the building of the House of Delight, just
opposite the palace. This house was completed, and very superbly furnished, by
the queen of Charles I., Henrietta Maria, whose name appears upon its front.
Inigo Jones was the architect, and the painted ceilings were the work of
Gentileschi; one of these is still remaining, and, though in a damaged condition,
is yet much admired. On the death of Charles, the parliament determined to
offer the palace for sale, but at last assigned it to the use of the Protector and
his successors. Charles Il. took down the whole with the purpose of re-building
it on a grander scale, and at the same time engaged Le Notre to lay out the
grounds in the park. This artist was the favourite of Louis XIV., and the contriver
of the magnificent gardens of Versailles and Fontaine-bleau. One wing of the
new palace was finished at an expense of £36,000 in the course of Charles's



reign, who occasionally made it his residence; but the work was carried no
further till after the revolution.

Early in the reign of William and Mary, a design was formed of establishing
some place of reception for disabled and superannuated seamen. The idea is
said to have been first suggested by the queen, who died the year after the
commencement of the undertaking. To carry the royal purpose into effect, Sir
Christopher Wren proposed the completion of the palace at Greenwich; and his
recommendation being approved, a commission of superintendence was appointed,
and the king allotted from the privy purse £2000 per annum towards the ex-
penses of the building and of the future establishment. The public were invited,
but with little success, to contribute; the commissioners themselves subscribed
£8000, but hardly any one else subscribed at all. The work was commenced in
1696, but its advancement appears to have been very slow; for though the
building already erected was large enough to receive 400 persons, it was not
prepared, till 1705, for the accommodation of so many as 40. The greater part
of the century had elapsed before the hospital was complete. During this period
the complement of pensioners was gradually increased, and at present between
2000 and 3000 are maintained within the walls.

The benefits of this institution were, in the first instance, confined to seamen
of the royal navy, whether foreigners (who had served for two years) or natives.
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But, in 1712, a permanent contribution to its support, of sixpence a month,
being levied by act of parliament on the wages of all sailors alike, it was
provided, in return, that merchant-seamen should be also admissible, if wounded
in any encounter with the public enemy. This tax on the wages of seamen has
been recently taken off; the other endowments of the hospital being now amply
sufficient for every purpose of its foundation. Its income is derived from a
variety of grants, confiscations, fines, captured prizes, and public and private
benefactions; many of which are perpetual, and must be of increasing value. In
particular it possesses a very large property in the forfeited estates of the Earl
of Derwentwater, who was attainted for his share in the rebellion of 1715. These
estates, lying mostly in Cumberland and Durham, include several productive
mines, which, in some years, have yielded upwards of £170,000. An infirmary
was added to the hospital in 1763, which is calculated to contain more than 250
patients. At the same time the funds became equal to the relief of a greater
number of seamen than it is possible to lodge within the buildings. The out-
pensioners, a few years ago, numbered about 7000, who receive each £7 per annum.
The in-pensioners, in addition to their clothing and support, have a small weekly
sum for pocket money, with a due allowance of tobacco. From 100 to 150
widows of seamen are likewise provided for as nurses, and have £8 per annum
in wages; they must be under 45 years of age at the time of admission. There
are two cemeteries belonging to the hospital; one of them the gift of Prince
George of Denmark. About 200 burials take place annually.

The pensioners mess together in one or two great dining halls; taking it in
turn (some dozen or a score of them at once) to bring in a procession of smoking
dishes from the kitchens at each end. The spectator can hardly fail to enjoy
their good cheer — to be regaled with the sight of this numerous company of our
shattered tars partaking daily of so much excellent beef and mutton. All the
healthy wards are open, without application, to the free inspection of the public;
who may view the whole economy of the hospital, from the kitchen to the dormi-
tories. Several of these command noble prospects, and all of them are spacious
and well-aired rooms, divided along both sides into ranges of open cells, each ex-
hibiting a comfortable berth. A Bible and two or three good books may be generally
observed on a shelf or small table by every bed; and a few of the more meditative
inmates are here and there in quiet nooks and window-seats engaged in reading
to themselves. If afterwards the visitor wanders out into the park, he will



probably fall in again with a little group of his blue-coated old friends on One-
tree-hill, or beside the observatory, who, if they have the encouragement of a

7

glance, may possibly invite him to look through a telescope or a coloured glass,
or to examine some rare curiosity, reptile or bright insect, from foreign parts.

But if he does not choose to favour such things with a moment's attention,
(which might perhaps not be expected to be quite gratuitous,) there will yet be
no need to assume a chilling countenance; he will not find himself subjected to
the slightest importunity. This decorous reserve seems the effect, not merely of
the check imposed by actual authority, but in great part of a certain sense of
fitness and dignity which so honourable a retreat may well be supposed to
inspire.

All the officers of the hospital must belong to the naval profession. The
Governor and the Treasurer are appointed by the Crown; the subordinate
functionaries by the Lord High Admiral, (or the committee in whom that
office may be vested.) A general superintendence of its affairs is exercised,
at frequent intervals, by a court of seven commissioners, which became a body
corporate in 1775, and always includes among its members some of the highest
ministers of state, particularly the Lord Admiral and the Lord Treasurer.

Greenwich Hospital (or "College," as the old pensioners prefer to call it)
is a handsome Grecian edifice, consisting of four separate buildings, which confine
two sides of a spacious court, the other two remaining open towards the river
and the park. These buildings are distinguished by the names of the several
sovereigns under whose patronage they were principally erected. King Charles'
and Queen Anne's Buildings are opposite to each other, and nearly abut upon the
Thames; only leaving space enough for a stone terrace between their gable walls
and the water's edge. Next to these stand the piles called King William's and
Queen Mary's, which are also on opposite sides, and have each a long colonnade
of Doric pillars, with an entablature, in front. In the centre of the intervening
square is a statue, by Rysbrache, of George Il., which was formed out of a
single block of marble taken from the French by Sir George Rooke. The
statue was presented to the hospital by Sir George Jennings, one of the
governors. The display of architecture from about this point has been justly
admired: to the right and left are the domes and colonnades of the Chapel and
the Great Hall; facing the spectator, and only separated from the hospital by
the high road and a lawn, is the building of Henrietta Maria, which still deserves,
for its elegance, to be called the House of Delight; and just above it appears
the woody eminence crowned by the Royal Observatory in the park.

King Charles's building contains the Governor's apartments and the Council-
room. The latter is appropriately adorned with pictures of naval exploits and
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naval heroes, and with portraits of the royal founders and several benefactors

of the place. Here are portraits of William and Mary, by Kneller, and one,

by Lely, of Edward, the first Earl of Sandwich; who, at the expense of his life,
when the British fleet was overpowered at Solbay by the Dutch, secured the
retreat of the former, by braving with his single ship the whole force of the enemy,
and desperately continuing the struggle after the vessel was in flames, till she blew
up, and all on board perished. In this apartment, among kings and queens and
other illustrious persons, appears the venerable head of John Worley, a fine old
man, who was the first pensioner received into the hospital. Queen Mary's
building comprises the chapel, which having been burnt down in 1779, was rebuilt
in a style of much elegance by "Athenian Stuart." The decorations of the

chapel are in unison with the naval character of the whole place: the subject

of the altar-piece, a picture by West, of St. Paul's deliverance from shipwreck,



borrows additional interest from its situation. In King William's range are the
Great Hall and Vestibule, both of which were designed and executed by Sir
Christopher Wren, who gave his gratuitous services to advance the building

of the hospital. Their interior is covered with pompous figures, the product of
Sir James Thornhill's panegyrical pencil. In the ceiling are enthroned King
William and Queen Mary, surrounded by the Cardinal Virtues; the King
trampling on the giant of Tyranny, represented in the costume of the Grand
Monarque, the Queen offering the symbols of peace and liberty to Europe,

and receiving the homage of the nations in return: and over all, to crown

this sublime burlesque, Apollo in his chariot appears riding through the signs

of the zodiac, and Flamsteed and Tycho Brahe are somewhere among the
morning stars. The ceiling of the Upper Hall is devoted to the honour of

Queen Anne and Prince George of Denmark; and the sides display the landing
of the Prince of Orange at Harwich, and of George |. at Greenwich. On the

5th of January, 1806, the remains of Lord Nelson were landed at Greenwich,
and lay in state in the Painted Hall during that and the two following days: on
each of which it is computed that no less than 30,000 persons were admitted to
view the body. The car on which it was carried to St. Paul's Cathedral was
afterwards presented to the hospital, and continued to be exhibited in this saloon
till its rotten texture required its removal. In connection with the obsequies of
Nelson may be mentioned the humbler honours to the memory of one of his
brave fellows, a pensioner of this place, who has been rewarded with an epitaph
in the adjoining burial ground; which records that, having been wounded at

the battle of Trafalgar, and hearing the shouts of victory, he joined in the
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cheer, and sang, Rule Britannia, as heartily as the chorus of his shipmates,
while the surgeon was amputating his leg.

The House of Delight, in the park, when it ceased to be the retirement of
royalty, became the Governor's house, and afterwards the Ranger's lodge. It
has latterly been assigned to the Royal Naval Asylum for the children of
indigent seamen, especially orphans. Since this appropriation, wings and cor-
ridors have been added to the original building. The asylum was intended to
maintain and educate 1000 boys and girls, but the actual number is by no
means so large. On leaving school they are placed out in suitable employ-
ments. The boys, unless disposed for a sea-faring life, are mostly instructed in
rope-making. This institution was previously seated at Paddington. It became
a royal foundation on the very day of the Battle of Trafalgar, and in the
following year was removed by Act of Parliament to Greenwich. It is worthy
of remark, that what first drew public attention to the importance of such a
charity, and led the way to its adoption, was the exposure, in 1798, of a fictitious
society, professing to have the same object, under the name of the British
Endeavour; which was merely a pretext that enabled an artful individual to
cheat benevolent persons of their money. The discovery of the fraud, and the
subsequent establishment of what it so happily gave rise to, were in a great
degree owing to the activity of the Duke of Sussex and of Dr. Clarke, after-
wards the Auditor of the institution. Besides the Naval Asylum, there has
long been annexed to the hospital, in conformity with the design of the founders,
a school for the sons of seamen, which maintains about 200 boys, who are
afterwards apprenticed for seven years to the sea service. This school is entirely
supported from the small sums paid by visitors for viewing the Painted Hall.

It is now incorporated with the Asylum.

The Royal Observatory stands upon a steep knoll, overlooking the town and
hospital. The good Duke Humphrey, who was unconsciously laying its foun-
dations when he built his famous tower, was in his day a great patron of science,
and, by the testimony of Leland, no inconsiderable astronomer. This tower has
served rather a curious variety of uses. In the reigns of Henry VII. and his



son it was sometimes a place of dignified confinement, sometimes the abode of
the younger children of the king. It often offered an easy retreat to the
sovereign from the cares of government and the oppressive pomp of the neigh-
bouring palace. Occasionally some beauty of the court was lodged in its apart-
ments. Henry VIIl. was accustomed to meet here "a fayre ladye whom he
loved." Elizabeth made it the prison of her favourite, the Earl of Leicester,
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when his marriage with the Countess of Essex had vexed the heart of his
royal mistress. In those romantic times it gained the fanciful name of Mirefleur,
and was so renowned that it seems to have given "a local habitation" to the
dreams of foreign chivalry; being, according to the German Hentzner, the
very tower that is celebrated in Amadis de Gaul; and the commentator on
Camden observes, that it was "famous in Spanish fables." James |. may be said
to have again made it the seat of the muses, by granting it to Henry Howard,
Earl of Northampton, the son of the accomplished Earl of Surrey, and himself
distinguished for his learning, but infamous, it must be added, for his more than
suspected share in the murder of Sir Thomas Overbury. This Earl much
enlarged and adorned the building, and made it his principal residence. During
the civil wars it was a military fortress. It was then called Greenwich Castle,
and considered of consequence enough to be among the first places which the
Parliament took measures to secure. But it still continued to be best known by
the name of its old founder, till, in the reign of Charles Il. Humphrey's Tower
was superseded by Flamsteed House.

A Frenchman of the name of St. Pierre had claimed the notice of the
British court for some alleged discoveries in the longitude; and Flamsteed,
being commissioned to examine his pretensions, gave him certain data for cal-
culation, of which St. Pierre found he could make no use; and Flamsteed
himself admitted that, though the data were correct, in fact nothing definite
could be inferred from them, for want of more accurate tables of the moon and
of the polar distances of the stars. On hearing this, the king declared that his
mariners should be no longer in jeopardy for want of any attainable knowledge,
and conceived the project of founding an Observatory. The tower in the park,
on the recommendation of Sir Christopher Wren, (who had afterwards the
merit of suggesting the site of the adjacent hospital,) was taken down and
rebuilt in a manner suitable to this new design. Flamsteed was appointed the
first Astronomer Royal, and, in September, 1676, he began his observations.
These proved highly valuable, though the instruments then in use were very
defective, and for many years he had not the advantage of a mural quadrant.
For an imperfect contrivance of this kind he was at last indebted chiefly to his
own ingenuity. During the period of his holding the office, he calculated the
polar distances, variations, &c. of more than 3000 of the fixed stars. The obser-
vatory has scarcely yet lost its old and happy appellation of Flamsteed House,
which was probably first bestowed on it by the sea-faring people in the neigh-
bourhood, to whom the place was an important and a familiar object. Such a title
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appears a pleasing indication of a fame more truly popular than philosophers have
often the good fortune to win. On Flamsteed's death, in 1719, the office was con-
ferred on Dr. Halley, who had long been in high reputation, both for mathematical
ability and for the zeal with which he sought to extend the limits of practical science.
At an earlier period of his life he had procured himself to be made captain of a
vessel by King William, that he might ascertain by experiment the variations of

the compass, particularly in the remote parts of the Atlantic, which he traversed
repeatedly from north to south as far as the ice would permit him. On his first
voyage his crew, not partaking of their commander's ardour, mutinied, and



obliged him to return without satisfying his mind on the subject of his inquiries.
He took a second voyage in the same capacity, and published the result under
the title of "A Chart of the Variations of the Compass in all those Seas where
English Navigators are acquainted." When he had afterwards become Royal
Astronomer, Queen Caroline, paying him a visit at the observatory, remarked
that he ought to be considered as belonging to the naval service, and obtained
for him a captain's half-pay, in addition to his official salary. He died at a very
advanced age, in 1741, and was succeeded, as he had earnestly desired to be,
by his friend Dr. Bradley. This astronomer representing that the observatory
was deficient in mathematical instruments, George Il. gave him £1000 to pur-
chase a complete apparatus; by which means it was furnished with the best of
every kind from the hands of first-rate artists. Dr. Bradley was an astronomer

of great merit, and made some remarkable discoveries in science, (particularly of
the aberration of the fixed stars,) though his diffidence and rigorous accuracy
precluded his giving to the world so much as was expected from him; and for
several years after his death, (in 1762,) his observations were withheld from the
public, in consequence of a dispute between his heirs and the government
respecting the right to the possession of the MSS. They were at last given up
by the family, to whom, however, the profits of their publication were allowed.
For the two last years of his life, probably from too intense application to his
astronomical engagements. Dr. Bradley was deplorably oppressed with the dread
of losing his mental faculties, which, notwithstanding, he retained to the last.

His successor, Mr. Bliss, held the office only two or three years. It was
bestowed, in 1765, on Dr. Neville Maskelyne, whose appointment gave very
warm and universal satisfaction. Dr. Maskelyne had displayed the best quali-
fications for the duties of an observator, having accomplished several scientific
voyages, and devoted his attention with eminent success to the correction of the
lunar tables and ascertaining the places of the stars, with a view to a nearer
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determination of the longitude, the express purpose for which the observatory
was founded. To the end of his long career he distinguished himself, perhaps
even beyond his illustrious predecessors in the same path. In 1767 he com-
menced his "Nautical Alimanack," and continued it from that time in annual
volumes. This work, and its supplement, entitled, "Tables requisite to be used
with the Nautical AlImanack to find the Latitude and Longitude at Sea," are well
known and highly esteemed, both in this country and abroad. The supplement
especially is familiar to navigators by the name of The Requisite Tables. The
French mathematician, Lalande, pronounces this the most perfect Ephemeris
that has been given to the world; and declares that though all the other records
of astronomy were lost, the works of Dr. Maskelyne would afford sufficient
materials to re-construct the science. His zeal did much to stimulate the public
mind on subjects connected with philosophical inquiry: private observatories
became common, national rewards were offered for discoveries in the longitude,
and numerous were the claims, (many of them very visionary and troublesome,)
which were officially referred to the judgment of the Royal Astronomer. The
disappointment of pretenders sometimes raised a clamour about him, but the
justness of his decisions has been long ago admitted on all hands. In 1774
the observations made at the Royal Observatory were first ordered by the king
to be regularly published, under the superintendence of the Royal Society;
which has since continued to issue them yearly on the 30th of November,

the anniversary of the Society's foundation. Dr. Maskelyne's death occurred

in 1811,/ when he was succeeded by Mr. Pond; who, though he may not be
considered equal to his more celebrated predecessor, produced an extraordinary
number of observations, which prove him to have been a very laborious and able
astronomer. At his death, in 1836, the appointment was given to its present
possessor, Professor Airy, of Cambridge.



The views from the high ground on which the observatory stands are varied
and interesting. London spreads far and wide upon the left, above the woody
scenery of the park; the town of Greenwich, with its stately hospital, is just
beneath the eye; and the Thames, forming a large peninsula behind the town,
stretches away through the fertile distance to the right. The grand objects that
have been added to the natural beauty of the scene, are, for effect at least on the
spectator's mind, very happily associated. An observatory to which every

/* There is a good memoir of Dr. Maskeline in Rees' Cyclopaedia, from which most of the above
particulars have been taken.
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navigator looks for important direction, seems well placed, on a commanding
elevation, in the neighbourhood of men who have long been familiar with all the
dangers of the ocean. And surely the hospital that forms the noble retreat of
their old age could not have been more appropriately situated than where the
river, lined with dock-yards and crowded with shipping, still supplies a thousand
spectacles to remind the veterans of their past adventures, and of the naval
greatness of the country whose battles they have fought. It pleases the fancy
also to reflect that this hospital was once a palace, the chosen resort of some of
our most renowned princes, the birth-place of the queen whose fortune first
pointed out to England the dominion of the seas; that here she loved to hold
her brilliant and festive court; and here a new palace was rising, and still more
proudly than before, when it was given up, at the great epoch of British freedom,
to make a fit dwelling-place for the wounded and the worn out in the service of
the nation; and for the sake of these decrepid men, the palace of Elizabeth was
re-established in all its present splendour. Just reason seems here to be given
for loyal enthusiasm, not only within those walls, but wherever an English heart
is to be found.

BLACKHEATH. — This spacious plain, in earlier times, was the scene of
many important events and imposing spectacles: it has been occupied by foreign
invaders, and, repeatedly, by tumultuous assemblages during seasons of civil
disturbance: and, on the other hand, it has often been ennobled by royal pa-
geantry, and enlivened by joyous sports.

The memorable encampment of the Danes here has been already noticed in
the account of Greenwich. The followers of Wat Tyler, likewise, and after-
wards of Jack Cade, made this their place of rendezvous, while threatening the
metropolis: and here Henry VII., in 1497, defeated the Cornish insurgents
under Lord Audley and others. On Blackheath Henry IV. A.D. 1400, with
great magnificence, received Manuel Palaeogus, Emperor of Constantinople,
who had come for assistance against Bajazet, Emperor of the Turks. Here
also Henry V. after the battle of Agincourt, in November, 1415; Henry VI.
after his coronation in Paris, Feb. 1431; Edward IV. on his return from
France, whither he had been to conclude a treaty of peace with Louis in 1474;
and Charles Il. on his restoration, were met with great pomp by the Lord
Mayor, Aldermen, and Citizens of London, together with thousands of the
populace: and here, in 1540, was enacted a most splendid pageant, on the
occasion of Henry VIIl. meeting Anne of Cleves on Blackheath, of which Hall,
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in his "Chronicles," gives a particular account. In later days it has been the
arena of numerous reviews, exhibitions, and pastimes.

In 1710, near the junction of the roads to Dover and Lee, there were dug up
on the heath several Roman urns, among which were two made of a fine red
clay, one spherical, the other cylindrical. The former contained ashes, was



6ft. 3in. in circumference, and about the mouth of it were scratched the words,
"Marcvs Avrelivs IlIl." The latter contained a great quantity of ashes also,
together with a few coins, on one of which, was indistinctly legible "Clau-
divs," and on another "Galienvs."

The Ranger's Lodge, in the Parish of Greenwich, the residence of her Royal
Highness the Princess Sophia Matilda of Gloucester, is situated on the south-
west side of Greenwich Park. This mansion some few years ago was called
Chesterfield House; Philip, Earl of Chesterfield, having purchased, in 1753, the
assignment of the ground adjoining, and greatly enlarged and improved the
old house, where he occasionally resided. In 1807 the lease was purchased
by her Serene Highness the Duchess Dowager of Brunswick; and on her
decease it was bought by the Crown, and appropriated to the Ranger of the park.

West Combe, in the Parish of Greenwich, the residence of Thomas Brock-
elbank, Esq. is situate east from Greenwich, at a distance of about three-
quarters of a mile.

The manor of West Combe in the reign of Edward Il. was possessed by the wealthy family of
De Badlesmere; but Bartholomew, Lord Badlesmere, being attainted and executed for treason, it
escheated to the crown. Richard Il. granted it to Sir Robert Belknap, the judge, who also being
attainted in the 10th year of that reign, it again became forfeited to the crown, and was immediately
given in fee by the same king to his butler, Robert Ballard, Esqg. In the 14th year of Henry VII.
Anne Lady Audley held West Combe of the Countess of Richmond, whose heir was William Ballard.
In the beginning of Philip and Mary, Nicholas Ballard alienated this estate to John Lambarde, Esq.
of London, draper and alderman, and to him succeeded his son, William Lambarde, Esq. the
eminent antiquary, and author of the "Perambulation of Kent," whose son, Sir Multon Lambarde,
inherited it in 1601, and was followed in 1634 by his son Thomas Lambarde, Esq. Thomas Lambarde,
being a zealous royalist, was obliged to compound for his estates, which had been sequestered, at a very
high rate; and to do so was necessitated to alienate this property to Hugh Forth, who soon passed
it away to Theophilus, afterwards Sir Theophilus Biddulph, of London. His son, Sir Michael
Biddulph, Bart. next succeeded to it, whose heirs, soon after his death, which happened in 1718,
alienated it to Sir Gregory Page, Bart. and he dying in 1775, was followed here by his nephew,
Sir Gregory Turner, Bart. of Ambrosden, in Oxfordshire, who thereupon assumed the name of Page.
The present mansion was built by Captain Galfridus Walpole, (younger brother of Sir Robert,) who
had a long lease of the estate from Sir Gregory Page. This lease came afterwards into the hands of
Charles Duke of Bolton, who resided here several years with the celebrated Lavinia Fenton.

West Combe is distant from London about six miles.
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Woodlands, in the Parish of Greenwich, the elegant seat of John
Angerstein, Esq. was erected in 1772 by John Julius Angerstein, Esq. father
of the present proprietor. It contains some good paintings, among which may
be noticed the celebrated picture, by Sir Joshua Reynolds, of Garrick between
Tragedy and Comedy; Venus, and a Boy piping, by the same master; a Land-
scape, by Cuyp; and, a Portrait of Rubens, by Vandyck. The grounds are
remarkably pleasant, and the prospects good. The botanic garden is said to
contain one of the most extensive collections of rare plants and heaths in the
kingdom.

Woodlands is distant from Greenwich, eastward, about a mile, and from
London Bridge about six miles.

East Combe, in the Parish of Greenwich, the seat of the Countess of
Buckinghamshire, is situated about half a mile west from Charlton, on the
north side of the London road. It is a very delightful residence, command-
ing a fine prospect over the Thames, with distant views of the surrounding
country.

Combe, alias East or Nether Combe, was formerly an appendage to the manor of Lewisham, and



was given with that to the Abbey of St. Peter at Ghent, which possessed it till the suppression of the
alien priories by Henry V. in his second year. This monarch, the year following, settled it on his
newly founded Priory of Shene, part of whose possessions it continued till exchanged by the Prior
with Henry VIII. for other premises. At the restoration of Charles Il., this estate was possessed
under a lease by James Fortree, (the fee of it being in the crown,) who in 1665 assigned his term to
James Hayes, Esqg. and from his heirs it came into possession of Ralph Sanderson, Esq.: it after-
wards descended to Sir William Sanderson, Bart., who was succeeded by his son of the same name,
whose widow enjoyed it till her death in 1780, when it came to the Right Honourable Frederick
Montague, as heir at law, and he transferred it to John Hook Campbell, Esq.

The Church of St. Mary, Greenwich, is a neat edifice in the Grecian style,
after a design of George Bassevi, Esq. It is built of Suffolk white brick, with
stone facings, and a square tower, and portico of Bath stone. The interior is
particularly chaste and elegant; and over the inscribed tablets above the altar is
a beautiful painting by Richter, representing our Saviour giving sight to the
Blind, which was presented by the British Institution. The first stone of this
building was laid by her Royal Highness the Princess Sophia Matilda, June
17th, 1823; and it was consecrated by the Right Reverend Edward Lord
Bishop of Oxford, June 25th, 1825.

The Church of St. Alphege, Greenwich, is a very fine structure, of Roman
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architecture, from a design of Mr. John James. It was completed in the year
1718, and consecrated September 10th of the same year, by Bishop Atterbury.
Of the numerous monuments in the interior, the following appear most to
deserve notice.

On the north wall, one for the Rev. Sir Henry Bate Dudley, Bart. late Prebendary of Ely
College, and Rector of Willingham, in Cambridgeshire, &c. &c. who died at Cheltenham, Feb. 1st,
1823: near to which is one for Martha Bate, wife of Edward Bate, Esq. whose remains are deposited
in the Vicar's Vault; she died 30th August, 1823, aged 58 years: next to this is one for Anne Dewell
Masters, twin daughter of Bonham Smalman, Esq. of Bridgnorth, and widow of William Masters,
Esq. of this parish, who died Jan. 29th, 1833; and for William Masters, Esqg. above-named, who
departed this life Feb. 20th, 1803, aged 57 years; also, in the same vault, Anne, posthumous and
only daughter of Bonham Caldwell, of Bewdley, widow first of Bonham Smalman; she died Jan.
30th, 1803, aged 84 years; and of Edward Smalman, third son of Bonham and Anne Smalman, who
died Nov. 26th, 1792, aged 38 years. At the west end of the church, south of the organ, a mural
monument for Captain John William Wood, of Croom's Hill, in this parish, who departed this life
28th May, 1814, aged 61 years; also Arabella, relict of the above, who died 6th Feb. 1836, in the
77th year of her age: another for Captain Brown Wood, of 10th Regiment of Bengal Native
Infantry, who died at Barrackpore, August 29th, 1835, aged 36 years. On the south wall are the
following mural monuments, beginning from the west end: first, a handsome one for Mrs. Amelia
Vansittart, daughter of Nicholas Morse, Esq. formerly Governor of Madras, and widow of Henry
Vansittart, Esq. formerly Governor of Bengal; she died August 2d, 1819, aged 82 years; her
remains are deposited in the Vicar's Vault: also of her daughter, Sophia Vansittart, who died at the
house of her brother, the Right Honourable Lord Bexley, 18th May, 1836, in the 68th year of her
age: another for George Bridges, Colonel of the Royal Engineers, and a Major General in the army,
who died June 1st, 1825, in the 67th year of his age; also for Anne his wife, who died 29th October,
1832, aged 58 years: next to this a very handsome one for John Julius Angerstein, Esq. late of
Woodlands, in this parish, who died 23d January, 1823, aged 91 years; and of his two wives, Anne,
daughter and heiress of Henry Muilman, and widow of Charles Crockatt, Esq. who died June 19th,
1783, aged 50 years; and Eliza, daughter of Rev. Joseph Payne, of Buckland Newton, and widow of
Thomas Lucas, Esq. of Lee, who died 8th March, 1800, in her 51st year; also of Henry Frederick
Angerstein and George Angerstein, sons of John Angerstein, Esq. of Woodlands, and grandsons of
John Julius Angerstein, Esqg. and Anne his wife; the first of whom was unfortunately drowned at Eton,
26th March, 1821, in the 16th year of his age; and the latter died 15th April, 1808, aged only three
months: also one in memory of Tristram Maries Madox, Esq. of this parish, who departed this life



Sept. 29th, 1801, in the 47th year of his age; also Sarah his wife, who departed this life 28th Oct.
1828, aged 75 years; also Tristram Madox, who died 11th May, 1777, aged only nine months; and
Walter Taylor Madox, who died July 2d, 1780, aged three years; and Tristram Maries Madox, who died
March 15th, 1789, aged two years; and Henry Wall Madox, who died April 13th, 1790, in the 6th

year of his age; sons of the above Tristram Maries Madox and Sarah his wife: next to this is one for
Thomas Blair, Esqg. of Walton Grove, in the County of Surrey, who died 22d Nov. 1828, in the 77th
year of his age; and in the same vault, Harriet Anne Blair, his daughter, who died July 8th, 1828,

in the 22d year of her age: also George Mackenzie Blair, who died July 6th, 1830, aged 29 years.

At the east end, a monument for Jane Allen, of Croom's Hill, who died March 18th, 1807, aged 91
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years: and for Sarah Smith, of Lee, who departed this life 22d Aug. 1813, aged 73 years; also for
Mary Smith, daughter of the above, who died 13th March, 1816, aged 55 years: another for

Harriet Arabella, wife of Lieutenant Colonel William Lloyd, R.A. and fourth daughter of the late
Robert Campbell, Esq. of this place, who died at Bermuda, July 26th, 1830, aged 52 years; also the
above-named Lieutenant Colonel William Lloyd, R.A. who died also at Bermuda, May 26th, 1831,
aged 52 years. Here also is interred, (but if there be any monument, it must be so obscure aa to be
very easily overlooked,) the illustrious General Wolfe: he was buried in this church, near his father,
who, as well as the General himself, was for some years resident at Blackheath.

On the north wall there is a painting representing a monumental effigy of
Queen Elizabeth beneath a canopy, with the following distich:

"Olim parva fuit Grenovicum villa, sed ortu
Virginis Augusta clarior urbe micat."

This painting, it is said, was removed from the ceiling of the choir in the old
church.

Charlton House, in the Parish of Charlton, the seat of Sir Thomas Maryon
Wilson, Bart. a magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant of the county, is situated on
the south side of Charlton, in a small but beautiful park, which is well stocked
with deer, and surrounded by a high substantial brick wall. This ancient mansion
is a fine specimen of decorative architecture of the time of James I. It has a
noble hall, most splendidly embellished: the picture gallery is adorned with
some of the best specimens of the old masters; and there are various other
attractions which we regret we had not the opportunity of noticing in detail.

Charlton, in the time of Edward the Confessor, was considered two manors. In the 6th year of
William Rufus, Robert Bloett, Bishop of Lincoln, into whose possession it had come, granted the
manor of Charlton to the Monastery of St. Saviour, Bermondsey, in which it remained till surrendered
to Henry VIII. in the 29th year of his reign. By a grant of James . it was subsequently possessed
by Sir Adam Newton, Bart. who built here a noble gothic mansion. At his death, in 1629, 8ir
Henry Newton, Bart. his son, inherited this estate, who, being a firm royalist, and having suffered
much by sequestration, was obliged to dispose of this property by sale to Sir William Ducie, Bart. of
Tortworth, in Gloucestershire. He died s. p. in 1697, and his executors sold it to Sir William Lang-
horn, Bart. whose nephew, Sir John Conyers, Bart. succeeded him in 1714. His grandson, Sir John
Conyers, Bart. dying without male issue, the manor devolved by entail first on William Langhorn
Games, and afterwards on the Rev. John Maryon, of Essex, who devised it to his sister Margaretta
Maria, and at her death it became vested in her daughter Margaretta Elizabeth, married to Sir
Thomas Spencer Wilson, Bart. of East Bourne, in Sussex, whose descendant is the present pro-
prietor.

There is a curious circumstance mentioned by Dr. Plot, of a marble chimney-
piece in the drawing-room of this house; which, he says, was so highly polished,
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that Lord Downe saw reflected in it a robbery committed on Shooter's Hill, and
immediately sending out his servants, apprehended the thieves.

Charlton House is distant from London Bridge about seven miles.

Morden College was founded by Sir John Morden, of Wricklesmarsh;
which latter was a fine mansion, also in the Parish of Charlton, though now
there is no house standing, and the grounds are disparked. Sir John was a
Turkey merchant, and founded his college as a refuge for honest decayed
merchants. The trustees, in number seven, are all to be Turkey merchants;
or, in failure of the Turkey Company, members of the East India Company.
The treasurer, chaplain, and pensioners are obliged to reside in the college,
and no pensioner can be admitted who is not upwards of 50 years of age.
Sir John Morden died in 1708. The situation of Morden College is near
the most easterly point of Blackheath; it is distant from London about six
miles.

Brooklands, in the Parish of Charlton, the seat of George Smith, Esq. is
situated in Blackheath Park, formerly a part of the demesne of Sir Gregory
Page Turner. It was erected in the year 1825, in the lItalian style, and the
grounds were laid out by William Sawrey Gilpin, Esq. The interior is deco-
rated with some paintings. The grounds are limited, but the scenery around is
very beautiful.

The Hall, a little to the westward of the above, the residence of Richard
Day Squire, Esq. is on the same estate, and possesses great advantages of
situation.

The New Church in Blackheath Park was built and endowed at the sole
expense of John Cator, Esq. for his tenantry, at a cost of £10,000.

In Charlton Church are the following monuments:

On the south of the altar, a superb monument to the memory of the Honourable Brigadier Michael
Richards, Surveyor General of the Ordnance, who died 1721, aged 48, with his figure in armour, in
full proportion, and adorned with trophies. In the north aisle, a monument, with a bust, for Elizabeth,
wife of Robert Dingley, Esqg. of London, obt. 1759, at. 50: for Lady Catherine, wife of Sir Adam
Newton, Bart. obt. 1629: a noble one for Grace, Viscountess Ardmagh, second daughter of John
Earl of Rutland, who married secondly Sir William Langhorn, Bart. obt. 1700, at. 60: one for
Sir Thomas Spencer Wilson, Bart. General of his Majesty's Forces, and Colonel of the 60th Regiment
of Foot, father of Sir Thomas Maryon Wilson, Bart.; he died Aug. 29th, 1798, in his 73d year; on
the right of the last, one for Dame Jane Wilson, his wife, who died Aug. 17th, 1818, aged 71 years;
at the end of the aisle, a handsome mural monument for Sir Thomas Maryon Wilson, Bart. late
lord of the manor, and seventh baronet in succession from Sir William Wilson, of East Bourne, in
Sussex, (in whom the title was created, March 4th, 1660); he died July 22d, 1821, in the 48th year
of his age; and to the memory of Caroline, his second daughter, who died Sept. 7th, in the same
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year, aged 16 years; also to the memory of Spencer Maryon Wilson, Esqg. bis third son, who died
Aug. 31st, 1826, in his 22d year: at the west end of the aisle is a well sculptured monument, with a
bust, to the Right Honourable Spencer Perceval, First Lord of the Treasury and Chancellor of the
Exchequer, whose days were terminated by the hand of an assassin, May 11th, A.D. 1812, in the
Commons' House of Parliament, in the 50th year of his age; on the right, a brass memorial for Jane,
wife of the Honourable Edward Percival, nata 23d Oct. 1791, nupta 20th March, 1821, obiit 13th
Jan. 1824. In the south aisle, on the south side, is a monument for Sir William Congreve, Bart.
late Lieutenant General of his Majesty's Forces, Colonel Commandant of the 8th Battalion of the
Royal Regiment of Artillery, Comptroller of the Royal Laboratory, and Superintendant of the Royal
Military Repository, of which most valuable institution he was the founder; he commanded the
British Artillery under his Royal Highness the Duke of York, in Flanders: another for General
Morrison, who died Nor. 26th, 1799, aged 69; a small one adjoining for Mary his wife, daughter of
Edward Belcher, Esq. of Kingston, in Jamaica, who died June 24th, 1822, aged 86 years: a plain
mural monument for Sir John Douglas, Knt. Major General in the army, Lieutenant Colonel of the
Marines, and Groom of the Privy Chamber to his Royal Highness the Duke of Sussex, who died at



his house in Greenwich, March 4th, 1818, in the 52d year of his age: one for Augustus Simon
Fraser, K.C.B. F.R.S. Colonel of the Royal Horse Artillery, and a Director of the Royal Labo-

ratory, who died June 11th, 1835, aged 59 years. On the north side, between the pillars, one for
William Maryon Wilson, Esq. fourth son of Sir Thomas Maryon Wilson, Bart. by Dame Eliza his

wife, who died June 3d, 1808, aged 16 months; and opposite, also between the pillars, one erected by
Sir Thomas M. Wilson, Bart. in memory of his mother, Dame Elizabeth, wife of Sir Thomas M.
Wilson, who departed this life Nov. 5th, 1818, in the 48th year of her age: another for Major
General James Miller, of the Royal Regiment of Artillery, who died March 24th, 1825, aged 67
years; and Jane his wife, daughter of the late General Bramham, of the Royal Engineers, who died
7th March, 1838, aged 85 years; likewise her daughter, Jane Sarah Cooper, who died in the same
week, in her 58th year.

Charlton Church is dedicated to St. Luke.

WOOLWICH is so crowded with extensive public establishments, that the
town altogether possesses a kind of grandeur peculiarly its own; and the view of
the Arsenal especially produces a powerful impression of the national resources.
The Royal Dock, which first gave consequence to the place, appears to have ori-
ginated, (with others on different points of the river) in the reign of Henry VIII.,
when the Great Harry, or Harry Grace de Dieu, a vessel which mounted
upwards of 170 guns, was certainly built here. The present dock-yard is five
furlongs in extent, and contains two dry docks, and receptacles where seven great
ships may be in building at one time.

The Royal Arsenal, which forms the principal feature in the town, com-
prehends, with its various appendages, an area of 160 acres. Within this ground,
a recent description of it states, there are still arranged nearly 24,000 pieces
of ordnance, though, since the conclusion of the war, several thousands have
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been condemned and sold. The cannon-balls and bomb-shells amount to millions.
The storehouses usually contain equipments for 10,000 horses, and a vast display
of every kind of military weapon and accoutrement. In the cannon-foundry
there are four air-furnaces, the largest of which will melt 325 cwt. of metal. In
the process of casting, when the liquid mass is to be poured into the moulds, they
are fixed in the earth before the furnaces, and made red-hot to evaporate every
particle of moisture. The guns are cast solid, and afterwards bored by means of
a large bit, against which they are made to revolve. Eleven or twelve days are
required to complete a single cannon, which, after it has been cast, is four or five
days in growing cool enough to be removed from the mould. Yet in one busy
year of the war, (1809,) 180 guns were fabricated at Woolwich.

The cannon-foundry was transferred hither from Moorfields, London, in the
early part of the last century, in consequence of a catastrophe which warned the
Government that a business so full of danger should not be carried on among
the crowds of the metropolis. The accident was attended with a remarkable
circumstance, which proved instrumental to the removal of the establishment to
Woolwich. A large company had assembled to view the operation of re-casting
some French cannon, which, as trophies of the Duke of Marlborough's victories,
had previously adorned the front of the foundry at Moorfields and the adjacent
artillery-ground. Amongst the spectators was Andrew Schalch, a native of
Switzerland, at that time a young man, who, having been educated for an
engineer, was travelling to improve his professional knowledge. He alone, it
seems, detected some slight tokens of dampness in the moulds that were about to
receive the melted metal; and apprehending an explosion, he pointed out what
he had observed to Colonel Armstrong, the Surveyor General of the Ordnance,
who was also present. The Colonel, it is stated, having satisfied himself, by a
few questions, of the sagacity of the stranger's judgment, profited by the warning,
and retired with several of his friends. Probably the time, and various circum-



stances, rendered it impossible to apprize the people employed and the spectators
in general of their danger, as no attempt of the kind appears to have been made.
The anticipated event speedily took place, and great part of the roof of the
building was blown off; several persons were dreadfully injured, and some of

the workmen lost their lives. The next day an advertisement from Colonel
Armstrong, in the public prints, invited "the young foreigner who had predicted

the explosion" to an interview; and in the ensuing communications Schalch
showed himself so intelligent in his art, that he was immediately appointed to

the situation of master-founder, and commissioned to select any spot within
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12 miles of London for the erection of a new foundry. He made choice of
Woolwich; and the particular site determined on happening to be a rabbit-
warren, the Warren has ever since continued to be the usual name for the arsenal.
The first specimens of cannon cast under his direction were highly approved of; and
the situation to which he had been preferred under such extraordinary circum-
stances he held for 60 years, till his death, at the age of 90, in 1776. During the
whole of this period his skill and vigilance were so successfully exerted, that not
a single accident occurred at any of the dangerous operations in which his duty
engaged him.
The Artillery Barracks and the Royal Military Academy, (which had its
rise in the last century,) were formerly each included in the arsenal, but are now
independent buildings. They are both of them good structures, in the Grecian
style. The Barracks are very spacious, a quarter of a mile in extent from east
to west. The principal entrance is at a portal, divided into three arches by
colonnades, terminating at the back of the building, and separating the whole
into two quadrangular courts; around which there is accommodation for between
3000 and 4000 men, and stabling for nearly 1100 horses. Attached to the
Barracks is a very numerous park of artillery. The Academy, which was
built by Wyatt, is situated on Woolwich Common. It is an embattled brick
edifice, with turrets at the several angles; the wings united by corridors to the
quadrangle in the centre. This is the most important place of military education
in the kingdom. The pupils, who must all belong to genteel families, vary in
number from about 250 to 300. They are styled cadets, and the Master General
of the Ordnance is always Captain of their company. On the completion of their
studies they are commissioned in the artillery or engineer service. This institution
has numbered among its mathematical professors the eminent names of Derham,
Simpson, and Hutton; and the present Professor is Dr. Olinthus Gregory.
Woolwich Church. The interior of this edifice is nearly destitute of monu-
ments; one, however, we noticed for Daniel Wiseman, Esq. who contributed
largely towards the rebuilding of the church, obt. 1739, at. 65. The church-
yard abounds with memorials for persons of all degrees. There is one, though
merely a headstone, which we cannot omit noticing: to the memory of Tho-
mas Parker, Esq. late of Mulgrave Place, in this parish, who was barba-
rously murdered by an inhuman neighbour, his house plundered, and afterwards
set on fire, by which his body was nearly consumed. This melancholy catas-
trophe happened March 3d, 1820. Mr. Parker was in the 78th year of his age.
Woolwich Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
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Manor House, in the Parish of Lee, the property of Sir Thomas Baring,
Bart. is situated about half a mile south of the church.

It is distant from London Bridge about six miles.

Lee, in the time of the Conqueror, was part of the possessions of Bishop Odo. In the reign of
Edward I. we find it the residence of an ancient family named Bankwell, who, in the 31st year of the



same king, had a grant of free warren for all their lands in the parish. By a female heir of this
family the manor of Lee was carried in marriage to John Arrapon, in the reign of Edward lll. of
whom, in the next reign, it was purchased by Sir Thomas Stury. He retained possession of it till the
reign of Henry VI. when it became the property of Richard Widville, or Woodville, Esq. afterwards
Earl Rivers, and Constable of England, the father of Lady Elizabeth Grey, who was raised to the
throne by Edward IV. He, having been beheaded by the Lancastrians, was succeeded by his son
Anthony; who also being beheaded at Pontefract Castle, in 1483, by order of the Duke of Gloucester,
afterwards Richard Ill. and leaving no issue, was followed by his brother, Richard Woodville, who
devised it to his nephew, Sir Thomas Grey, Marquis of Dorset; whose son, Thomas, granted it, in
exchange, to Henry VIII. In the reign of Elizabeth this estate was held by Thomas Sackville,

Earl of Dorset, whose grandson, Richard, Earl of Dorset, exchanged his interest in it with James |.;
and Charles I. granted the fee simple of it to Ralph Freeman, Esq. of Aspeden, in Hertfordshire, at
the yearly rent of £87. 10s. 2d. whose daughter, Joan, carried it in marriage to Sir George Sondes,
of Lees Court, Sheldwich, K.C.B. afterwards Earl of Faversham.

Lee House, in the Parish of Lee, is situated a short distance south of the
church. Itis a handsome stately mansion of modern erection.
Lee House is distant from London Bridge about six miles.

This seat was in possession of Sir Thomas Fludyer at his death in 1769. His daughter Mary,
in 1773, carried it in marriage to Trevor Charles Roper, Esq. afterwards, in 1786, Lord Dacre,
the son of the Hon. George Roper, son of Lord Teynham, by his second wife, Anne Lady Dacre,
the daughter of the Earl of Sussex. Lord Dacre, at his death, in 1794, s. p. bequeathed it to his
widow Mary Lady Dacre.

Lee Grove, in the Parish of Lee, the seat of Thomas Brandram, Esq. a
magistrate for the county, is situated on the west of Lee Church, which is, in
fact, surrounded by its grounds. It is a handsome substantial house, and was
formerly the property of the Misses Byfield. It is of some antiquity, but has
been modernised and improved. The interior, particularly the dining-room, is
spacious and elegant. There are a few paintings by eminent masters, and some
fine Italian sculpture. The park, which, for this locality, is extensive, is well
wooded, fertile, and ornamented with a fine sheet of water.

Lee Grove is distant from London Bridge about six miles.

Lee Church. In the interior of this structure the only monument deserving
notice is that on the north of the altar for Bryan Anslye, Esq. obt. 1604, and
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Awdrey his wife, obt. 1591, having their figures lying at full length. But the
church-yard is crowded with tombs, and some of them very sumptuous, of which
the most remarkable are the following:

An elegant marble monument for the Right Hon. Lord Dacre and his Lady: near it one fur
Sir Samuel Fludyer, Bart. his brother Sir Thomas Fludyer, Knt. and several members of their
families: a superb one for Thomas Boone, Esq. of Lee Place (which house does not now exist),
who died in 1748, aged 62 years; and Charles Boone, Esq. who died March 3d, 1819, aged 90
years; and Harriet, wife of Charles Boone, Esq. who died Sept. 12th, 1811, aged 69 years; also
Harriet Lady Drummond, widow of Sir William Drummond, K.C. and daughter of the above
Charles Boone, Esq. and Harriet his wife, who died at Naples, May 10th, 1837, aged 69 years;
and for Charles, the only son of Charles Boone, Esqg. and Harriet his wife, who died of a fever,
Nov. 10th, 1786, in the 13th year of his age; and Elizabeth Boone, a daughter, who died April 3d,
1799, aged 28 years: a handsome monument for Anne, wife of Joseph Sladon, Esq. who died
Nov. 27th, 1814, aged 34 years; and for Emma Mary, youngest daughter of the above, who died
March 13th, 1829, aged 19 years: a neat one for Caroline Cruickshanks, late wife of William
Cruickshanks, who departed this life June 7th, 1824, aged 20 years; also Caroline, infant of the
above, who died Oct. 8th, 1824, aged four months: a plain tomb, beneath which are interred the
eminent astronomers Dr. E. Halley and Mr. Pond: an elegant one for Sir John Call, Bart. of



Whiteford, in Cornwall, F.R.S. F.A.S. who died March 7th, 1801, at his mansion, Old Burlington
Street, London; and his eldest son, John Battle Call, who was cut off in the bloom of life,

Nov. 2d, 1794, on the eve of completing his 17th year: and a plain head-stone in memory of
William Parsons the comedian, with the following epitaph:

Here Parsons lies; oft, on life's busy stage.
With nature, reader, hast thou seen him vie:
He science knew, knew manners, knew the age,
Respected knew to live, lamented die.

Lee Church is dedicated to St. Margaret.

LEWISHAM. — A little to the south of the church here a fine panoramic
view presents itself. On the north the church tower, through a break in the
luxuriant wood, forms the chief feature of a beautiful landscape. To the west-
ward is seen the Priory, the elegant castellated seat of John Thackeray, Esq.
with its gothic windows of stained glass, and the rich surrounding scenery,
including various objects of artificial ornament. Further southward is the
mansion of Henry Stainton, Esq. and beyond it, in the distance, Rosenthal,
the residence of Alexander Rowland, Esq. The eastern portion of the circle
is filled up by the neat residence and grounds of John Castendeick, Esq.

Camps Hill, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of Henry Lee,
gentleman, is situated at Hither Green, a quarter of a mile south-eastward from
Lewisham Church. The house, which is tastefully designed, was erected by
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Mr. Lee, in 1824. It fronts a beautiful lawn, and commands to the westward
a pleasing prospect.

Its distance from London is about six miles.

Brockley House, in the Parish of Lewisham, the seat of William Henry
Jackson, Esq. is situated one mile south-west from Lewisham Church. ltis
a handsome house, with beautiful grounds; and though so near the metropolis,
it has all the appearance of a retired country residence.

Its distance from London Bridge is about six miles.

Catford Hill House, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of Edward
Dod Colville, Esqg. one of the Registrars of the High Court of Chancery, is a
small but very elegant house, situated a mile and a half south-west from Lewis-
ham Church. The grounds have been laid out with great taste, at considerable
expense. The interior of the house, which is elegantly fitted up, is decorated
with paintings by Correggio, Rembrandt, Cranius, Domenichino, Claude, Teniers,
Rubens, and Salvator Rosa. There is also a very large, as well as very select
and curious collection of shells.

Catford Hill House is distant from London about seven miles and a half.

Perry Hill House, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of James
Moore French, Esq. is an ancient family mansion, situated a little more than a
mile north-east from Sydenham. This house stands on a gently-elevated site,
commanding good prospects. The gardens and pleasure-ground display a great
variety of choice trees and plants, among which are to be seen the iron-wood
tree, from Brazil, the cork-wood tree, the deciduous cypress, and different species
of the cedar. There is also, in the upper part of the grounds, a noble oak,
measuring round the trunk 15 feet, and covering with the expansion of its
limbs an area of 80 feet in diameter. The gardens are stocked with an abundant
variety of fruit-trees, in the highest perfection of growth and bearing. The
house has been partly modernised: its interior is decorated with some curious
carvings in wood, ornamented ceilings, &c. It was the residence of the late
Rev. P. A. French, A.M. son of Hugh French, Esq. M.D. of Sydenham, a
magistrate, and Deputy Lieutenant of the county during a period of 40



years.
Perry Hill House is distant from London, via Lewisham, about eight miles.
Dartmouth Lodge, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of George
Martin Bird, Esq. a Commissioner of Taxes, is situated about three quarters of
a mile northward from Sydenham, about two miles south-west from Lewisham,
and from London about seven miles.
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Forest Hill. On the high ground here are several good houses, com-
manding very extensive and interesting prospects. Mrs. Williams, widow of
the late John Williams, Esq. has a very pleasant residence here, about one mile
north of the Sydenham Wells.

At SYDENHAM are the noted medicinal springs, commonly called, from
their proximity to Dulwich, "Dulwich Wells," the waters of which possess the
same cathartical qualities as the Epsom waters. They were discovered about
the year 1640.

Here is also a considerable Mansion, with extensive grounds, well wooded
and neatly laid out, the property of the Misses Mary and Fanny Wynell Mayow.
The house appears to have been erected about the year 1660, and probably is
the oldest building of any consequence in the place. It has been partly modern-
ised, and is seen to the greatest advantage from the north. The interior, which
is spacious and convenient, is decorated with paintings by Cuyp, Zoffany, and
Vanderheyden; and several portraits and drawings by Sir Thomas Lawrence,
Jordaens, &c.

Southend Hall, in the Parish of Lewisham, the seat of Samuel Forster,

Esq. is situated on the left of the road from Lewisham to Bromley, distant from
Bromley about two miles. This place has acquired considerable notoriety from
the circumstance of so many coins having at different times been dug up in the
park and about the grounds. The recent discovery of a great number of these
curiosities must be fresh in the recollection of our readers.

Southend Park, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of Charles
Perkins, Esq. is situated north of Southend Hall, the grounds of the two estates
being contiguous. This is an ancient house modernised, and considerably en-
larged. In the interior are some good paintings by the old masters: and in the
library, which contains a valuable collection of rare works, is an Etruscan vase,
measuring 30 inches in length. The park, though small, is well wooded, and
adorned with fine timber, principally elm. From its eastern extremity, which
is elevated, a very extensive prospect presents itself over parts of this county
and Surrey.

It is distant from London Bridge about eight miles.

EIm Cottage, in the Parish of Lewisham, the residence of Henry Forster,

Esq. Captain in the Royal Artillery, is situated between Southend Hall and
Beckenham Place. This house is very ancient, supposed to have been built
about 300 years ago: its situation is particularly pleasant, in the centre of a
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very fashionable neighbourhood. Amongst the interior embellishments are some
good paintings by the old masters.

Elm Cottage is distant from London a little more than eight miles.

Bromley Hill House, in the Parish of Lewisham, the seat of the late
Right Hon. the Earl of Farnborough, is situated at the most southern point of the
parish, and distant from Bromley, in a north-westerly direction, about one mile.
The park is very beautiful; and the gardens are considered one of the greatest
attractions in this part of the county.

Bromley Hill is distant from the metropolis about nine miles.



The manor of Lewisham having been given by Elthruda, the niece, or according to some, the
daughter, of King Alfred, to St. Peter's Abbey at Ghent, the Abbot and Convent founded thereon
a priory. This priory was a conventual cell, consisting of a certain number of Benedictine monks,
under the government of a prior; and continued attached to the Abbey of St. Peter till the alien
priories, to the number of 142, were suppressed, in the 2d year of Henry V. in the parliament held
at Leicester.

Lewisham Church. In the interior, south of the altar, is a superb specimen of
sculpture, by Flaxman, to the memory of Mary, daughter of William and Pauline Lushington,
born Oct. 7th, 1771, and died Feb. 6th, 1797. On the south wall, near the east end, is a monument
for Thomas Wilkinson, of Chester Hall, Midlothian, Esqg. obt. July 7th, 1786, eet. 47; and Charles,
his younger brother, obt. 7th Sept. 1795, set. 49. On the north wall of the gallery are the following:
near the east end a handsome one for Lady Maria Churchill, who died 30th Aug. 1801, aged 75 years:
and immediately under, one for Charles Churchill, Esq. husband of the above Lady, who died in
April, 1812, aged 92 years; and three of their sons. Major General George Churchill, died 1808,
aged 57; Henry Churchill, Esq. died April 23d, 1821; and Major General Horatio Churchill, died
Sept. 22d, 1817, aged 58: one for Joseph James, who, in his 34th year, fell a victim to the toils of
public duty in Jamaica, which at that time was threatened with a French invasion: a handsome one
for General Sir Anthony Farrington, Bart. Colonel Commandant of 1st Battalion of the Royal Regi-
ment of Artillery, Director General of the Field Train Department, and D.C.L. of the University of
Oxford, died at Blackheath, 3d Nov. 1823, aged 83 years; and for his Lady, and other members of
the family. There are two magnificent specimens of sculpture at the west end, one on each side of the
organ, for the family of Petrie: the one on the south is by T. Banks, R.A. and is a master-piece of
workmanship, in memory of Margaret, relict of the Rev. Robert Petrie, who died Dec. 1st, 1791,
aged 82 years. On the south wall is a handsome one for Mrs. Harriet Kruce, wife of Adam Kruce,
Esq, who died 5th Jan. 1809, aged 24 years; and her two parents: and one for William Larkins, who
died April 23d, 1800, who had been a faithful and confidential servant of the East India Company
from 1772 to 1793, and filled the office of Accomptant-General at Fort William in Bengal.

Lewisham Church having been rebuilt, was opened for Divine Service on
Sunday, Sept. 7th, 1777. It is dedicated to St. Mary.

Fairy Hill, in the Hamlet of Mottingham, the seat of Henry Rice, Esq.
is situated a little more than one mile south-west from Eltham. It was the
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temporary residence of Henry Earl Bathurst, when Lord High Chancellor, who

dying in 1794, was succeeded by his son Henry Earl Bathurst, who sold it to

Mr. Naylor, and he died in 1796. The house was modernised, and the grounds

laid out and planted, in the Earl of Bathurst's time, according to the style of

that period. Fairy Hill is distant from London about eight miles and a half.
Opposite the house, on the crown of a hill, is a deep hollow that was produced

by several sinkings of the earth, mentioned by Philipott and other antiquaries,

which swallowed up full-grown trees, and afterwards closed over them.
Mottingham Hall, in the Hamlet of Mottingham, the seat of James

Moore, Esq. is a handsome house, with pleasure grounds, situated on the north

of Fairy Hill, distant from London about eight miles and a half.

ELTHAM. The name of this place was written by the Saxons, Ealdham, which signifies an
ancient mansion. From a remote period there was a royal manor-house here, which became a principal
residence of several of the Plantagenets. Henry lll. is recorded to have kept his Christmas at Eltham
in 1270. Edward I. granted it to John de Vesci, through whom, by some obscure means, it came into
the immediate possession of Anthony Bec, the powerful Bishop of Durham and Patriarch of Jeru-
salem. This prelate rebuilt the palace in a very splendid manner, and bequeathed it to Edward Il. a
son of whom was born in it, and called John of Eltham. Edward Ill. magnificently entertained here
his prisoner, King John of France; and twice, in the course of his reign, assembled a Parliament in



the great hall. Edward IV. and Henry VII. made costly additions to the building; but about the
same time Eltham began to be rivalled, and was soon outshone by Greenwich. The latter, being the
birth-place of Henry VIII. was much preferred by that Monarch, who held there frequent festivities,
but seems only, in one year of the plague, to have retired with a few attendants, to keep what was
called the still Christmas at this deserted seat of his predecessors. James |. was the last prince who
appears to have visited Eltham. During the civil wars the palace was for some time inhabited by
Robert, Earl of Essex, the parliamentary general, who died here in 1646. Under the Protectorate

it was sold for the value of its materials, which were estimated at £2754. Previously to this it had
been declared to be in a ruinous and untenantable state; and, except the banquetting hall and the
chapel, all the rooms were without furniture. After the Restoration it was resumed for a short time
by the Crown, but has ever since been suffered to fall by degrees entirely into decay. The neigh-
bouring splendour of Greenwich makes the condition of this older abode of our kings more strikingly
forlorn. The area of the palace is now a farm-yard, the great hall is used as a common barn, and its
rich gothic windows are mostly bricked up.

Of all that constituted the Palace of Eltham, the boundary walls (which are fast going to decay),
the handsome bridge across the moat, the subterranean passages lately discovered, and the mag-
nificent banquetting hall, alone remain to give an idea of the taste and manners of its ancient princely
occupiers.

In 1649, according to a parliamentary survey, the palace consisted of one fair chapel, one great
hall, 36 rooms and offices below stairs, 17 lodging-rooms on the King's side, and 78 rooms in the
offices round the court-yard. Some of the tapestry of the great hall was appropriated by the first Sir
John Shaw, Bart. to decorate the great room called the billiard-room or saloon of his mansion, which
was built in 1664. The tapestry is still there, in an excellent state of preservation; but some years
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ago it was covered over with canvas and paper. The length of the hall is 100 feet, the breadth

36 feet, and height 55 feet: its beautiful proportions, the massiveness and elegance of the roof, and
the lightness and exquisite workmanship of its stone windows, produce an effect equally imposing
and agreeable.

Tradition has always kept up a belief of there being an underground passage to Blackheath,
Greenwich, or the river; and that at Middle Park, connected with these passages, there were one or
more excavations large enough to admit 60 horses. Under the ground-floor of an apartment of the
palace a trap-door, where recently a new arch has been partly formed, opens into a room under
ground, 10 feet by 5 feet, and, proceeding from it, a narrow passage of about 10 feet in length con-
ducts to a series of passages with decoys, stairs, and shafts, some of which are vertical, and others on
an inclined plane. They seem to have been intended, not merely for the admission of air, but likewise
for the purpose of hurling down missiles upon enemies who might gain a subterranean entrance, as it
is observable that these shafts converge just where weapons from above might assail an enemy with
the greatest effect. One passage to the extent of 500 feet has been cleared out, and explored in a
westerly direction towards Middle Park; and another under the moat to the length of 200 feet. The
arch in the field leading from Eltham to Mottingham has been broken through, but the brickwork
may still be traced. The remains of two iron gates, completely carbonised, were found in the passage
under the moat, and large stalactites of super-carbonate of lime hung from the roof, which sufficiently
indicate the antiquity of the work. At present water enough cannot be obtained to fill the moat,
which possibly might always have been dry.

For much of the foregoing description we are indebted to Dr. King's Account of Eltham.

Shooter's Hill is said to be so named from its having been a usual place of exercise in
archery. It was one point of the intersecting line drawn from Hounslow Heath, at the commencement
of the grand trigonometrical survey of the kingdom, under the direction of the Board of Ordnance.

On May-day, in 1511, Stowe informs us King Henry VIII. with his consort Queen Catherine,
journeyed hither to fetch the May-blossom; and he describes a representation made in their presence,
of the exploits of the renowned Robin Hood and his men, which very much pleased the king and queen.
On the top of the hill is a mineral spring, which is said to overflow constantly, and to be never
frozen in the severest winters.



Eltham Lodge, in the Parish of Eltham, the residence of James Lewis
Knight Bruce, Esq. Queen's Counsel, was erected by Sir John Shaw, Bart. in
1664. It is a spacious square building, having the appearance of great antiquity.
The park is well wooded, and is one mile in length, extending from Eltham in
a direction due south, the house being in the centre. This mansion was lately
the residence of the Right Hon. Lady Rivers.

Its distance from the Metropolis is about nine miles.

Eltham Park, in the Parish of Eltham, the seat of Benjamin Currey, Esq.
is situated about half a mile eastward from the church. It was formerly called
Park Place Farm, and is so designated by Hasted.

Eltham Park is distant from London about nine miles.
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This property some years back belonged to Mr. Richard Nunn, and after his death was enjoyed
by his widow during her life. It next passed, by virtue of Mr. Nunn's will, to his grand-daughter
Mary Henrietta, wife of John Viscount Hinchingbrooke, who sold it to Thomas Lucas, Esq. of Lee: and
he again, about 1775, disposed of it to William James, Esq. M.P. for West Looe, who was created
a baronet in 1778. Sir William almost rebuilt the house, and inclosing it with a park, named it Park
Place Farm. At his death, in 1783, his widow was left in possession of it, and by her it was demised
to Sir Benjamin Hammett.

Clay Farm, in the Parish of Eltham, the property of Josias Stansfeld, Esq.
of Field House, New Cross, Surrey, a Magistrate for Kent, is a modern structure
in the Elizabethan style of architecture. It stands at the eastern extremity of
the parish, on the south side of the road from Eltham to Foots Cray, and is
distant from the former about two miles.

Well Hall, in the Parish of Eltham, the residence of Samuel Jeffrey,
Gentleman, is situated about half a mile north from Eltham.

The mansion of Well Hall, with the manor of Easthome, in the 1st year of Henry |. was in
possession of Sir Jordan de Briset, Lord of Clerkenwell. In the reign of Edward I. this estate was
held by Matthew de Hegham; and by Sir John de Pulteney in that of Edward Ill. This family
was succeeded, about the end of Richard Il.'s reign, by William Chichele, of London, younger
brother of the archbishop, whose son John afterwards inherited it; and his daughter Agnes
carried it in marriage to John Tattersall, Esq. whose daughter Margery entitled her husband, John
Roper, of Swacliffe, to the possession of it. In this family the manor remained till Elizabeth,
daughter of Edward Roper, Esq. carried it in marriage to Edward Henshaw, Esqg. of Hampshire,
whose three daughters, some time after their father's death, in 1726, jointly sold this property to
Sir Gregory Page, Bart. of Wricklesmarsh, who pulled down the mansion of Well Hall, and in lieu
thereof built a handsome farm-house, and at his death, in 1775, bequeathed it to his nephew, Sir
Gregory Turner, Bart. of Oxfordshire.

In the great hall of the old mansion was a painting, by Hans Holbein, of
Sir Thomas More and his family, which occupied nearly all the end of the hall.
It was valued at £1000.

Severndroog Tower, on Shooter's Hill, in the Parish of Eltham, was
erected by the widow of Sir William James, Bart. "in commemoration of his
achievements in the East Indies, when commanding the Company's marine forces
in those seas; and particularly to record his distinguished valour and meritorious
conduct in the capture of the Castle of Severndroog, on the coast of Malabar, on
the 2d of April, 1755." The tower, which is constructed in a triangular form, is
three stories high: the summit is embattled and turretted at the angles. In one
of these angles is a handsome winding staircase of 87 stone steps. In the
ground-floor room are suspended from the walls Indian flags, coats of mail, a
shield, a battle-axe, spears, swords, and numerous instruments of Indian warfare.
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From the summit of this tower the ships may be seen at the Nore, and there is a
general view of the surrounding country, unequalled in this part of the kingdom.
Sir William James died in Dec. 1783.

In Eltham Church was buried Susan, the wife of John Philipot, Esq. (Somerset Herald,
designed Norroy, and author of Villare Cantianum,) and daughter of William Glover, Esq.: also the
excellent Dr. George Horne, Bishop of Norwich, who died Jan. 17th, 1792, set. 62. The more modern
monuments deserving notice are the following: on the south wall, near the west end, one for French
Laurence, LL.D. M.P. Regius Professor of Civil Law in the University of Oxford, Chancellor of the
Diocese of Oxford, and Judge of the Cinque Ports, who died Feb. 26th, 1809, aged 51 years: a
handsome one for members of the family of Johnson: a tablet for Richard Lewin, Esq. who died 7th
June, 1832, aged 74 years: another for Elizabeth Jane, relict of the late Colonel P. W. Colebrooke,
and daughter of Major General Grant, of the Royal Artillery, who died 17th July, 1836, aged 73.

In the church-yard is a monument in commemoration of Sir Richard Welch, who died Dec. 19th,
1809, aged 57 years; also Dame Hester, his wife, who departed this life Dec. 22d, 1826, aged 81.

Eltham Church is dedicated to St. John the Baptist. In the year 1767 it was
much enlarged and beautified.

THE HUNDRED OF BROMLEY AND BECKENHAM.

Beckenham Place, in the Parish of Beckenham, the property of John Cator,
Esq. is situated in a very beautiful park, one mile north-east from Beckenham.
This is a very elegant edifice, built of stone, in a chaste style of architecture. It
has a handsome portico, supported by four magnificent columns: the interior is
spacious and elegant; and there is perhaps no place in the county, within the
same distance from the metropolis, so desirable for a gentleman's residence.

The manor of Beckenham, in the reign of Edward |. was possessed by a family named De la
Rochelle, or De la Rokele; by a female heir of which name it was carried in marriage to Sir William
Bruyn. About the beginning of Edward IV. Alice and Elizabeth, the daughters of Sir Henry Bruin,
divided the manor between them; and each, having had three husbands, entitled them successively
to the possession of a moiety of it. The moiety inherited by Alice had, in the reign of Henry VIII.
become the property of Henry Harleston, of Cooksale, who alienated it, in the 22d year of that king,
to Mr. Robert Leigh, of London, and his descendant, Mr. Robert Leigh, in the middle of the reign
of James I. alienated it to Sir Henry Snelgrave, whose grandson, Mr. Henry Snelgrave, at the end
of Charles |. passed it away to Walter St. John, Esq.

The other moiety inherited by Elizabeth had, in the reign of Charles I., become the property of
Sir George Dalston, of Cumberland, who alienated it to Sir Patrick Curwin, of Workinton. He, at
the end of the same reign, conveyed his interest in it to Sir Oliver St. John, of Battersea; at the
death of whose son it descended to Walter, afterwards Sir Walter, St. John, above-named, who thus
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became possessed of the entire fee of the manor. In this illustrious family it continued till Frederick
Viscount Bolingbroke, in 1773, passed it away to John Cator, Esq.

Manor House, in the Parish of Beckenham, the residence of the Hon.
M. Fortescue, is situated between the church and Kelsey Park. Itis a very
beautiful residence, with pleasure grounds and gardens; at the foot of which is
a fine sheet of water: the whole is seen to great advantage from the south or
principal front. The interior is elegantly fitted up, and decorated with paintings
and drawings of great merit. There are very fine copies of Guido's Aurora,
Andromache, &c. The Manor House is distant from London about nine miles.

Village Place, in the Parish of Beckenham, the seat of the Right Hon.
Samuel Wilson, Lord Mayor of London, and a Magistrate for the City of
Westminster and for the Counties of Kent and Middlesex, is a handsome



house surrounded with agreeable grounds, situated a short distance south-west
from the church. The proprietor of this seat holds the office of Harbinger to the
Queen, and has in his possession three silver sticks, of the reign of Geo. IV.
Wm. IV. and her present Majesty. He has also two full-length portraits in the
costume of Harbinger, by Ripingal; one in the original dress worn at the
coronation of Henry VIIl. who established the office; the other in that worn at
the coronation of Wm. IV. which dress has been twice since changed. In the
grounds there is a fine old elm measuring 14 ft. 7 in. in girth, with a spiral flight
of steps from the base to the summit, in which are several seats, and about
midway an arbour. Previous to Nov. 1836, the highest landing place was

93 ft. 7 in. from the ground, reached by an ascent of 161 steps; and from this
point there was a most extensive view of the country in every direction, including
the shipping on the Thames. But the tremendous hurricane which occurred that
month broke off two flights of steps, reducing the tree to the height of 93 ft. 9 in.
and the topmost landing to 66 ft. 10 in.; there being now but 126 steps.

Village Place, in the year 1688, was the residence of one Michael Leigh, of whom it was purchased
by William Davis, Esq. This gentleman having bought other land pulled down the house, and in
1717 rebuilt it, and at his own cost erected a large pew or gallery in the church, which still belongs to
this house, and is the only faculty pew in the church. Village Place afterwards became the residence
of Lady St. John, subsequently of the Right Hon. Lady Dacre, and then of the late Richard Lea, Esq.
(formerly an alderman of the City of London,) father-in-law of the present proprietor, of whose
executors it was purchased by Mr. Alderman Wilson.

The Oakery, in the Parish of Beckenham, the seat of Robert Gibson, Esq.
stands on an elevation on the south of the road from Beckenham to Bromley,
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distant from the former about three-quarters of a mile. The grounds southward
from the house are beautifully laid out and finely wooded.

Kelsey, in the Parish of Beckenham, the seat of Peter Richard Hoare, Esq.
was built by Richard Henry Alexander Bennett, Esqg. It is beautifully situated,
half a mile south from the church: the park is well wooded, and the grounds are
tastefully laid out. Kelsey is distant from London about 10 miles.

Kelsey, or Kelseys, in the time of Henry lll. was the property of a family of the same name, from
whom it passed, in the reign of Richard Il. to the family of Brograve, or Boroughgrave, a descendant
of Sir Roger Brograve, of Warwickshire. At length John Brograve, a short time before 1688, sold
this estate to Peter Burrell, Esq. ninth son of Walter Burrell, Esq. of Holmstead House, Cuckfield,
whose ancestors are said to have been seated in Northumberland as early as the reign of Edward I.
Peter Burrell, Esq. dying in 1718, was succeeded by his son Peter, whose grandson, Sir Peter Burrell,
Bart. created in May, 1796, Lord Gwydir, was subsequently the possessor of this property.

Kelsey Cottage, in the Parish of Beckenham, the residence of Herbert
Jenner, Esq. son of the Right Hon. Sir Herbert Jenner, of Goodlands, Chislehurst,
was built by John Wolley, Esq. about 1832. It is situated on the west of Kelsey,
and commands a most beautiful prospect into the adjoining County of Surrey.

Eden Park, in the Parish of Beckenham, the residence of Edward Lawford,
Esq. Solicitor to the East India Company, is a very elegant mansion, situate
about one mile southward from Beckenham Church.

Elmer Lodge, in the Parish of Beckenham, the seat of Edward Richards
Adams, Esqg. F.S.A. a Magistrate for the adjoining County of Surrey, is situated
on the west side of Eden Park, about one mile south-west from Beckenham
Church. The house was built about the year 1710. This estate was formerly
the property of Col. Raymond, whose daughter married Peter Burrell, Esq.
ancestor of the late Lord Gwydir, of whose executors it was purchased by
Mr. Adams.



Eden Lodge, in the Parish of Beckenham, the residence of John Marshall,
Esq. is situated between Eden Park and the road leading from Beckenham to
Wickham. It is a modern building, in the cottage style, and possesses peculair ad-
vantages of locality, being in the centre of a highly distinguished neighbourhood.
Langley Park, in the Parish of Beckenham, the seat of E. Goodheart, Esq.
a Magistrate for the County, is situated nearly two miles south from Beckenham
Church.

This place, which in early times was accounted a manor, was once the property of the Malmaines,
of which family it was purchased about the end of the reign of Edward Ill. by Langley, a name that
was probably assumed from the proprietorship of this estate. In the 30th year of Henry VI. Ralph
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Langley, the last of this family, directed his property in Beckenham to be sold for discharging his
debts, and accordingly Langley Park was purchased by John Violett, whose descendant, in the
beginning of Henry VIII. conveyed it to John, afterwards Sir John, Stile, of London. It continued
the property of this family for many years, till Elizabeth, daughter of Humphrey 8tyle, Esq. carried

it in marriage to Sir John Elwill, Bart. who died in 1727, and was succeeded by his brother Edmund,
who, in 1732, transferred it to Hugh Raymond, Esq. of Great Saling, in Essex. This gentleman
settled it in tail general on his only son, Jones Raymond, Esq. with remainder to his eldest daughter
Amy, who married Peter Burrell, Esq. and her issue male. Jones Raymond, Esq. was succeeded
here by his son Jones, who died unmarried in 1768, when this estate descended to Peter Burrell, Esq.
before-named, in right of his wife Amy. Mrs. Burrell, at her death in 1789, (being then a widow,)
was followed by her grandson, Sir Peter Burrell, Bart. afterwards (in May, 1796) crested Lord
Gwydir, of Gwydir, in Carnarvonshire, North Wales.

Langley Farm, in the Parish of Beckenham, the residence of Launcelot
Holland, Esq. is situated on the north of Langley Park, and belongs to that
estate.

Shortlands, in the Parish of Beckenham, the property of Thomas Carey
Palmer, Esq. is situated about one mile eastward from Beckenham Church, and
about the same distance westward from Bromley.

The Rectory. Beckenham, the residence of the Rev. Leveson Vernon
Harcourt, was built by the Rev. William Rose, A.M. It is situated near the
church on the West. It is a handsome, substantial house; surrounded by
beautiful grounds, well planted and sheltered.

Beckenham Church. In the interior of this edifice there are several
monuments for the family of Style, formerly of Langley; one of whom, Oliver
Style, Esq. of Wateringbury, built the two side aisles at his own expense: the
church, prior to this, consisting of but one aisle or nave.

On the east wall of the nave is a monument for Peter Burrell, Esq. obt. 1718, at. 69. In the
south transept, a sumptuous one for Mrs. Amy Burrell, of Langley Park, widow of Peter Burrell,
Esq.; she died Aug. 16th, 1789, aged 89 years: and near it a small plain tablet for Peter Burrell,
Baron Gwydir, Deputy Great Chamberlain of England; born July 16th, 1754, and died at Brighton,
June 29th, 1820, in the 66th year of his age. At the north-west end, a small plain tablet in memory
of Caroline, wife of John Henry Fletcher, Esq. who died Nov. 28th, 1823, aged 28 years. At the
west side of the north transept is a very neat monument for Harriet, wife of J. G. Lambton, Esq.
(now Earl of Durham,) of Lambton Hall, in the County of Durham, who departed this life July 11th,
1815, in the 25th year of her age: on the north side, a small neat one in memory of Sir Merrick
Burrell, Bart. of West Grinstead Place, in the County of Sussex, fourth son of Peter Burrell, Esq.
by Isabella, second daughter of John Merrick, Esq.; born April 3d, 1699, and departed this life April
6th, 1787: on the east side, a most elegant one, with a finely sculptured head in profile, to the memory
of William Lord Auckland, of Eden Farm, in this parish, third son of Sir Robert Eden, Bart. of
Windlestone, in the County of Durham; born April 14th, 1746, created a peer of England, 1793,
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and died May 28th, 1814; also for Eleanor Lady Auckland, daughter of Sir Gilbert Elliot, of Minto,
Bart.; born Feb. 1758, married Sept. 26th, 1776, and died May 14th, 1818; near to this is one equally
elegant, and in the same style, in memory of the Hon. Catherine Isabella Vansittart, their daughter,
whose remains are deposited in the same vault; she was born Sept. 20th, 1778, and died Aug. 10th,
1810; she was married July 23d, 1806, to the Rt. Hon. Nicholas Vansittart, now Lord Bexley.

Over the vestry door there is an elegant monument for Dame Frances Anne Hoare, daughter of
Richard and Anne Acland, relict of Sir Richard Hoare, Bart. of Barn Elms, in the County of Surrey,
who died Sept. 10th, 1800, in the 64th year of her age.

This church is richly embellished, and has a very elegant appearance. Its
light and beautiful spire is remarkable from different points of the surrounding
country. Itis dedicated to St. George.

Plaistow Lodge, in the Parish of Bromley, the seat of Robert Boyd, Esq.
is situated one mile north from Bromley. This is a large and handsome house,
built of brick, with facings of stone, and consists of a body with two wings;
the interior and exterior decorations are very elegant. The grounds which sur-
round it are well wooded, and very beautiful. It commands a good prospect
to the north.

Plaistow Lodge is distant from London about nine miles and a half.

Sundridge, in the Parish of Bromley, the seat of Sir Samuel Scott, is
situated rather more than a mile north-east from Bromley. This is a very
elegant mansion, most beautifully seated on a gentle elevation, in a particularly
picturesque park; the back grounds being covered with extensive plantations,
and in front the grounds are tastefully diversified.

Sundridge is distant from London between 10 and 11 miles.

The manor of Sundridge was formerly the residence of a family named Blund, or Blound, (lords of
Guines, in France, and ancestors of the Blounts of this country,) who came to England with William
the Conqueror, and was held by them of the Bishop of Rochester. A female descendant of this name
carried it in marriage to one Willoughby, of whom it was purchased by Booth. At length the
daughter of Sith Booth, Esq. carried it in marriage to Thomas Bettenham, Esq. of Pluckley, whose
great-grandson, Stephen Bettenham, Esq. gave it in marriage with his daughter Anne to Robert
Pynsent, Esq. He dying in 1679, without issue, was succeeded here by Thomas Washer, Esq. of
Lincoln's Inn, whose grand-daughter carried it in marriage to William Wilson, Esq. Sheriff of Kent,
in 1766. At his death, in 1776, his son William Wilson, Esq. inherited this estate, which he alienated
to Edward George Lind, Esq.

Bickley, in the Parish of Bromley, the seat of John Wells, Esq. a magistrate
and Deputy Lieutenant for the county, and formerly M.P. for Maidstone, is a
very substantial handsome mansion, situated in a beautiful park. It was erected
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some few years ago by John Wells, Esq. of Deptford, who at his death devised
it to his brother, William Wells, Esq. The house stands on elevated ground,
commanding extensive and diversified prospects. Here is a very valuable library
of rare and curious works, which occupies extensive apartments.

From Bromley, Bickley is distant one mile and a half east; and from the
metropolis about 11 miles and a half.

Bromley Palace, in the Parish of Bromley, the residence of the Bishop
of Rochester, is situated near Bromley, on the east, being distant not quite a
quarter of a mile. We read that King Ethelbert gave to Eardulph, Bishop of
Rochester, and to his church, certain lands in Bromley. King Ethelred, however,
on account of some dispute, laid waste the lands belonging to the Bishop, and
gave them, in 987, to his minister Athelsine; but, in 998, in presence of his
principal nobility, he restored to the church six plough lands, with the additional
privilege of woods in the Weald, expressing much contrition for his former



impious act. After the conquest the possessions of the Bishop of Rochester
were again seized by Odo; but Archbishop Lanfranc, in 1076, obliged him to
restore them: only three plough lands, however, were recovered. The church of
Rochester continued possessed of a mansion or palace, and lands at Bromley,
till the time of the Commonwealth; when an act being passed for the abolition of
archbishops, bishops, &c. and for the sale of their estates, this manor of Bromley
was purchased, in 1648, by Augustin Skinner, for £5665. At the restoration of
Charles Il. it was restored to its proper owner, the Bishop of Rochester, then
Dr. John Warner, and it has since been uninterruptedly transmitted to his
successors.

The present seat was built by Bishop Thomas, in 1776.

Near the Bishop's garden is a well of chalybeate water, which formerly had
an oratory attached to it, and was dedicated to St. Blaze. When the oratory
became ruinous the well was disused, and for a time altogether forgotten; but
being again discovered in 1754, it was, by the Bishop's orders, enclosed for the
benefit of all persons who might be recommended to drink its medicinal waters.

Bromley House, at Bromley, the seat of George Tweedy, Esq. Lieut. Col.
in the Bombay army, is situated on the south of the church. The grounds here
are exceedingly beautiful, and profusely adorned with rich shrubberies. Adjoining
to Bromley House, on the west, are the remains of an ancient building called
Simpsons, also the property of Col. Tweedy.

Simpsons was anciently possessed by the Banquels, of Lee. After this family had become extinct
here, we find this estate in the name of Clark, of a descendant of whom, in the reign of Henry VI. it
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was purchased by John Simpson, who much improved the mansion that had been built by William
Clark, in the time of Henry V. and gave it his own name, by which it has ever since been known.
Nicholas Simpson alienated Simpsons to Alexander Basset, who, in the reign of Henry VIII. sold it

to Sir Humphry Style, of Langley. By a female heir of this family it was carried in marriage to Sir

John Elwill, Bart. whose brother Edmund, about 1732, conveyed it to Hugh Raymond, Esq. of

Great Saling, in Essex, who settled it on his son Jones, with remainder to his daughter Amy, married
to Peter Burrell, Esqg. and her issue male. Jones Raymond, Esq. was succeeded by his son Jones, at
whose death, in 1768, this estate descended to Peter Burrell, Esq. above-named; and after the death
of Mrs. Burrell (who survived her husband) it passed to her grandson. Lord Gwydir.

Bromley Common, in the Parish of Bromley, the seat of George Ward
Norman, Esq. is situated two miles south-east from Bromley, west of the high
road to Farnborough. It is an ancient house, of commanding appearance. The
grounds are extensive, fertile, and well wooded.

The distance from London is about 12 miles.

Southborough Lodge, in the Parish of Bromley, the seat of John Joseph
Wells, Esq. is a modern structure, enclosed in a small park. It is situated one
mile south from Bickley, two miles south-east from Bromley, and from London
12 miles.

Blackbrook, in the Parish of Bromley, the residence of the Rev. James
Edward Newell, A.M. is situated rather more than two miles south-east from
Bromley.

Bromley College. This excellent charity, which was the first of the kind
ever established in England, was founded by Dr. John Warner, Bishop of Ro-
chester, (who died in 1666,) for 20 widows of clergymen of the established church,
and a chaplain. Since the founder's endowment it has received several noble be-
nefactions from benevolent individuals, among which the following are the most
considerable: a gift of £2000 by the Rev. Wm. Hetherington, £5000 by Bishop
Pearce, £10,000 by Mrs. Helen Betenson, and £12,000 by Mr. Pearce, brother
of Bishop Pearce. Itis under the management of 14 trustees, at the head of
whom are the Archbishop of Canterbury and the Bishops of London and



Rochester.

By means of the above magnificent donations, aided by several smaller ones,
the trustees have been enabled to enlarge the building so as to accommodate
double the original number of widows, at the same time providing funds for the
maintenance of the additional number, and increasing the chaplain's salary,
which by the founder was limited to £50 per annum.

Bromley Church appears to have been built at different times, the eastern
part seeming by far the most ancient. The interior is very light and elegant.
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Here were interred John Young, Bishop of Rochester, obt. 1606; Dr. John Buckeridge, first,
Bishop of Rochester, and afterwards of Ely, who died in 1631; Dr. Zachariah Pearce, Bishop of
Rochester, who died at Ealing, in 1774; and Dr. John Hawkesworth, in 1773. In the church are
also the following monuments: at the east end of the south aisle, a tablet to the memory of Elizabeth,
wife of Samuel Farmer, Esq. of Nonsuch Park, in the County of Surrey, who departed this life
Sept. 4th, 1805, in the 49th year of her age: another in memory of Jane Scott, wife of Charles Scott,
Esq. of Gorrenberry, North Britain, of the noble family of Buccleugh, who departed this life July 22d,
1767, aged 65. In the north aisle, a tablet in memory of William Lyndon, Esq. who died June 10th,
1803, aged 93 years: another in memory of Helena Lyndon, spinster, who departed this life Dec.
13th, 1829, in the 84th year of her age: and one for John Baker, A.M. who died April 17th, 1824,
aged 58; one for Henry Smith, D.D. 42 years minister of this parish, and 18 years rector of Headly,
in the County of Hants, who departed this life July 22d, 1818, in the 68th year of his age: another
for Jane, third daughter of the late William Stirling, Esq. of Keir, in the County of Perth, Scotland,
who departed this life Sept. 17th, 1835, at Bromley, in the 60th year of her age. At the east end of
the north aisle, a monument for Mary King and Edward Dawson King, the former of whom was the
eldest daughter of Walker King, Bishop of Rochester, and Sarah his wife; she departed this life
Feb. 22d, 1817, in the 21st year of her age; the latter, their second son, who died May 16th, 1816,
in the 16th year of his age. In the gallery, at the south-east end, a handsome one to the memory of
Thomas Chase, Esq. formerly of this parish, born in the City of Lisbon, Nov. 1st, 1729, and over-
whelmed by the ruins of the same house where he first saw the light, in the ever memorable and
terrible earthquake which befell that city, Nov. 1st, 1755, when, after a most wonderful escape, he by
degrees recovered from a very deplorable condition, and lived till Nov. 20th, 1788, aged 69 years:

a very neat one for John Gifford, Esq. the historian and biographer of William Pitt, who departed
this life March 6th, 1818, aged 60 years: an elegant one to the memory of Sir Claud Scott, of Lychet,
in the County of Dorsetshire, Bart. formerly of Sundridge Park, in this parish, who departed this life
March 27th, 1830, aged 88 years; also of Dame Martha his relict, who departed this life Feb. 22d,
1831, in the 82d year of her age. On the north side, a monument to the memory of Mary Lyndon,
who died June 27th, 1780: a handsome one for John Scott, of London, and of Gorrenbury, in
Roxburghshire, North Britain, M.D. a descendant of the noble family of Buccleugh, who died in
July, 1785; also of Jane Fox, relict of the above, and afterwards relict of Charles Fox, of Chacomb,
in the County of Northampton, Esg. who departed this life Aug. 3d, 1820; also their sons, Francis
Scott, an infant, who died in 1768, and Charles Scott, of London, M.D. who died in 1794; and of
Jane, mother of the above John Scott, who died in 1767: another to the memory of Sophia Maria,
wife of Thomas Raikes, of Berkeley Square, who departed this life April 5th, 1810, in the 27th year
of her age; and one for Thomas Raikes, who died Dec. 29th, 1814, in his 73d year: also one for
Thomas Newnham, Esq. late of Southborough, in this parish, who died Oct. 16th, 1827, in the 82d
year of his age; also Mary, daughter of Thomas and Mary Banister Newnham, who departed this
life July 11th, 1804, in her 23d year.

Bromley Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.
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THE HUNDRED OF LITTLE AND LESNES.

Lesnes Abbey, in the Parish of Erith. — Richard de Lucy, Chief Justice
of England, and one of the early proprietors of the Manor of Lesnes, in the year



1178 founded and endowed an Abbey of Canons regular of St. Augustine,
adjoining to the large wood called Westwood. It was dedicated to St. Mary and
St. Thomas the Martyr, and named at first the Abbey of Westwood, but after-
wards the Abbey of Lesnes. What still remains of the building has been
converted into a farm-house, which is called Abbey Farm. Nothing of any

great interest, in connexion with this monastery, is related during its existence.
It was suppressed in the year 1525. The abbey lands and possessions were
bequeathed by Mr. Haws, of London, about the time of Charles I. to the Mayor
and Commonalty of London, as Governors of the Hospitals of Bridewell, Christ-
church, and St. Thomas, with whom they still continue.

In the Archaeologia, vol. 1, p. 44, is an account of Lesnes Abbey, by Dr.
Stukely.

When Sir John Hippisley possessed the abbey estates he directed an exca-
vation to be made on the site of the old church; in consequence of which were
discovered several stone coffins, and a handsome monument, with a full length
figure of a man in coat armour, lying on a marble slab. In the tomb underneath,
wrapped in a sheet of lead, there were the remains of a body, quite perfect.

Belvidere, in the Parish of Erith, the seat of the Rt. Hon. Gregory
William Eardley Twistleton Fiennes, Lord Saye and Sele, is beautifully situated
on elevated ground, near the banks of the River Thames, north-west from Erith,
and distant thence rather more than a mile. This park exhibits, for its extent,
an almost unrivalled variety of picturesque scenery: it is abundantly wooded
with the finest timber: the grounds, walks, and gardens are kept in the neatest
order, and decorated with a profusion of shrubs, plants, and flowers of the
rarest and finest kinds. The mansion, a modern structure, is built of brick. It
has a handsome stone portico at the front or south entrance, supported by six
fine columns, in the lonic style. The interior is tastefully embellished with a
superb collection of valuable pictures of the ancient and modern schools. In the
ante-room to the library are several family portraits, by Sir William Beechy and
other eminent masters. The library is fitted up and decorated in a very beautiful
manner: the ceiling and compartments of the walls are enriched with exquisite
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devices, by Zacchi and Angelica Kauffman. The busts of Milton, Shakspeare,
Dryden and others occupy their respective stations in this elegant repository
of literature and science. In the passage from the library are two basso-relievos,
in brass, of Silenus, and Bacchus and Ariadne. In the dining-room are paintings
by Weenix, Teniers, Rembrandt, Antonio More, Basano, old Palma; a masterly
painting of the Parable of the Unmerciful Creditor, by Quintin Matsys; a
portrait of Van Tromp, by Francis Hals; a portrait, by Rembrandt, of himself;
and two splendid views of Venice, by Canaletti. In the Blue Drawing-room are
paintings by Lawrence, De la Hire, Rubens, Rothenamier, Paul Veronese,
Leonardo da Vinci, Carlo Dolce, Van Goyen, Peter Neefs, Wouvermans, Albert
Durer, Gasper Poussin, Teniers, Salvator Rosa, Peter Breughel, and Pynaker:
the subject of one, by Rubens, is Snyders and his wife and child: the painting,
in this room, of the animals collecting to go into the Ark, is by Rubens and
Peter Breughel; the Golden Age, by the latter, is a splendid picture. The
Assumption of the Virgin Mary, by Murillo, in the saloon, is also a magnificent
work; there is, in this apartment, another piece by the same artist, and several
fine productions of Claude Lorraine, Teniers, Rubens, Paul Veronese, Luca
Geordana, and Tinteret. As we passed through the different apartments of
this interesting mansion, our attention was often forcibly drawn from the works
of human genius within to the rich scenes of natural grandeur which surround it.
No spot could have been selected for the site of a noble residence more appro-
priate than that of Belvidere.

Belvidere is distant from London about 12 miles.



The original or previous mansion was erected by George Hayley, Esq. who sold it to Charles
Calvert, Lord Baltimore, and after the death of his lordship, which happened in 1751, it was pur-
chased of his devisee by Sampson Gideon, Esqg. who greatly improved it, and died here in 1762. To
him succeeded his son, Sir Sampson Gideon, Bart. (he having been elevated to this rank, in 1759,
during his father's lifetime,) who was, in 1789, created Lord Eardley. This noble lord, to whom the
present proprietor was son-in-law, rebuilt the mansion, and made it his principal residence.

Lesnes, alias Lesney, in the Parish of Erith. The mansion and grounds are
in a state of great dilapidation; the former being uninhabited, and the latter
literally disparked. But the high antiquity of the place, and the eminent families
which have owned it, make it worthy of attention.

The manor of Lesnes, alias Erith, was part of the immense possessions of Bishop Odo. It after-
wards passed through the illustrious names of De Lucy, De Dover, John de Asceles, Earl of Athol,
Margaret, Queen of Edward L, the wealthy De Bartholomew, and the powerful, and afterwards
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royal, family of Mortimer. This manor having become part of the royal revenue by the accession

of Edward Mortimer, Earl of March, to the throne, as Edward IV., continued in the crown, till

Henry VIII. in his 36th year, granted it to Elizabeth, Countess of Shrewsbury. This Lady settled it

on her daughter Anne, Countess of Pembroke, at whose death it descended to her son and heir, Henry,
by her first husband, Peter Compton, Esg. Henry, Lord Compton, settled it on his second son, Sir
Thomas Compton, who devised it to his great nephew, Sir William Compton, third son of Spencer, Earl
of Northampton. This gentleman conveyed it to Mr. Lodowick, of London, who again soon sold it to
Nicholas Vanacker, Esq. also of London. His son, Francis Vanacker, Esq. inherited this estate on

his father's death, whose widow, at her decease in 1702, was succeeded in it by her brother-in-law, Sir
John Vanacker, Bart. at whose death it passed to his sister's husband, Alderman Sir William Hedges.
His son, William Hedges, Esq. was next in possession of it, who, in 1734, devised it to John

Wheatley, Esq. whose grandson, William Wheatley, Esq. having succeeded to the property, built

the present mansion for his residence.

Lesney is a modern structure of brick, having a handsome stone portico.
The prospects it commands (the site being on high ground) are extensive
and beautiful.

The distance from Erith is about half a mile south-west, and from London
rather more than 13 miles.

Holly Hill, in the Parish of Erith, belongs to the estate of Lesnes; it is
situated on the south side of Belvidere. It is a very pleasant residence: the
grounds well wooded, and tastefully disposed.

Holly Hill is distant from Erith about a mile, and from London about
13 miles.

West Heath House, in the Parish of Erith, the seat of Lady Hulse, is
situated on high ground, about one mile westward from Belvidere, and nearly
two miles eastward from Plumsted. It commands extensive and beautiful
prospects.

It is distant from London about 12 miles.

The Church of Erith is rich in funeral monuments, too numerous to be
severally particularised. The following are the most conspicuous for beauty, and
for the distinguished persons reposing beneath them.

An altar tomb of white marble for Elizabeth, Countess of Shrewsbury, daughter of Sir Richard
Walden, with her effigy in her robes and coronet; she died in 1568: a mural monument for Francis
Vanacker, Esq. Lord of the Manor, obt. 1686; and beneath it, over the grave, is an elegant altar
tomb of white marble: several memorials for the family of Wheatley: a noble white marble monu-
ment, by Chantry, inscribed as follows: "Near this place are deposited the mortal remains of the
Rt. Hon. Baron Eardley; and also of the Hon. S. E. Eardley, his eldest son. This monument is
erected by three sisters, the only (then) surviving children of Lord Eardley, as a memorial of duty,



affection, and gratitude to their beloved and lamented father and brother." A female figure is
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represented in a kneeling posture, resting her head on a pedestal, upon which stand two urns; the first
is inscribed, "The Hon. S. E. Eardley died 21st May, 1823, aged 63 years;" the second, "Baron
Eardley died 25th Dec. 1824, aged 79 years:" opposite the above, a mural monument for Maria,
Countess De Gersdorff; she was the only daughter of Lord and Lady Saye and Sele, who, soon after
the birth of her first and still-born infant, departed this life 6th Aug. 1826: a mural monument for

Major General William Wheatley, of Lesney, who died of fever at Madrid, while serving in command
under the Marquis (now Duke) of Wellington, Sept. 1st, 1812, aged 41 years: another for Margaret,
daughter of John Randall, Esq. of Charlton, in this county, and relict of William Wheatley, Esq.

of Lesney, died 15th Jan. 1824, aged 72 years: and one for the above named William Wheatley,
Esqg. who was Lord of the Manor, and died June 20th, 1807, aged 64 years. Anne, Countess of
Pembroke, who died in 1589, is also interred in the church.

Erith Church is dedicated to St. John the Baptist. John Weever, the
author of the work entitled "Funereal Monuments," was possessed of this
rectory at the end of Elizabeth's reign.

CRAYFORD. — Crayford has been pointed out by certain eminent anti-
quarians as "Noviomagus," the first station from London on the Roman road.
The principal support of this opinion appears to be the similitude of its Roman
and present name; Noviomagus bearing exactly the same meaning with New-
bery, (a title applied to the manor,) i. e. the "new fortress." Among the advo-
cates for this conjecture are Somner, Burton, and Bishop Stillingfleet; and to
them we refer the curious reader. In the year 457 a bloody battle was fought
here between the Britons, under Vortigern, and the Saxons; in which Hengist
slew four of the British commanders and 4000 men, and entirely dispersed their
remaining forces. From this time Hengist assumed the title of King of Kent.

Manor House, in the Parish of Crayford, the seat of Mrs. Sarah Barne,
is a neat modern mansion, surrounded by beautiful grounds, shrubberies, &c.
Its situation is exceedingly pleasant.

Manor House is distant from Crayford half a mile, and from London 13 miles.

Crayford, in the time of the Saxons, was held by a man of note, named Elfege, who, by will, about
970, gave a third part of his estates to Christchurch, in Canterbury; and in possession of the arch-
bishop it continued at the survey of Domesday, although Leofsune, who had married the widow of
Elfege's nephew, had endeavoured to recover them. The Manor of Crayford, alias Earde, (also
called Newbery, that being the name of the manor house,) having become vested in the crown in the
reign of Henry VIII. by exchange for other lands, was granted by Queen Elizabeth, in her seventh
year, to Henry Partrich, who soon after conveyed it to Henry Apylton, or Appleton, of Marshall's
Court, in this parish, where his ancestors had long resided. His descendant, Sir Roger Appleton,
Bart. who died in the 13th year of James |. gave this estate, in dowry with his daughter Frances, to
Francis Goldsmith, Gent. who sold it to Robert Draper, Esq. of May Place. Of the heirs of this
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gentleman's grandson, Colonel Cresheld Draper, it was purhased, about 1694, by the eminent Sir
Cloudesley Shovel; whose lady, after her husband's melancholy death, enjoyed the property till her
decease, in 1732. It then, with other estates, passed to their daughters, Elizabeth, the widow of
Robert Marsham, Lord Romney, and Anne, the wife of John Blackwood, Esq.; and, on a division,
this manor was allotted to Elizabeth, who had married John, Lord Carmichael. They sold it to
Nathaniel Elwick, Esqg. and he (reserving a life estate) settled it on his daughter, Elizabeth, on her
marriage, in 1745, with Miles Barne, Esq. of Sotterly, in Suffolk, and from him it descended to his
son, Miles Barne, Esq.

May Place, in the Parish of Crayford, the residence of John Fassett



Burnett, Esq. is a spacious and handsome mansion, built about the time of
James |.; in whose reign it appears to have been the property and residence of
the family of Draper, who purchased the Manor of Newbery. Of the heirs of
Colonel Cresheld Draper it was bought, together with Crayford or Newbery
manor, by Admiral Sir Cloudesley Shovel, about 1694, and his widow, after the
death of Sir Cloudesley, resided here. For years afterwards the two estates
acknowledged the same proprietor. Part of the south-west front of this mansion
is in the Elizabethan style of architecture. The grounds and surrounding pros-
pects are very beautiful. The noble river, which divides this county from Essex,
contributes materially to the picturesqueness of the scene. The interior is
elegantly fitted up, and embellished with paintings by the most eminent masters
of the old school.

May Place is about half a mile from Crayford, and from London about
13 miles.

Crayford Church contains the following interesting monuments:

In the north aisle, an elegant mural monument for Mrs. Elizabeth, wife of Miles Barne, Esq. of
Sotterley, in Suffolk, only child of Nathaniel Elwick, Esq. of May Place, who died in 1747, aet. 24.
On the north side of the great chancel, an ancient alabaster one, with the effigy of a woman kneeling
at a desk, for Mrs. Blanche Marler, a descendant of the ancient family of Bury. In the north chancel
is another of the same description, enclosed in an iron railing, with the full-length figures of a man
and woman lying on it; at the head of the former is his son, and at his feet his daughter, both
kneeling; and underneath an infant reclining on a pillow. This is to the memory of William Draper,
Esq. of Crayford, obt. 1660, and Mary his wife, youngest daughter of Richard Cresheld, Sergeant at
Law, and Justice of the Common Pleas, and of their three children: Mrs. Draper died in 1652,
having bequeathed £30 to the poor of Erith, and £100 to the poor of this parish. In the great
chancel, on the north side, a memorial for Gilbert Crokatt, M.A. Minister of this parish 19 years,
obt. April 16th, 1711; and for his eldest son, William Fownes Crokatt, Esq. obt. 1727: another for
Rev. Robert Newman, Rector of this parish; he died Dec. 9th, 1626: a mural monument for Robert
Gardener, A.M. Rector of Ridley, in this county, obt. Aug. 8th, 1688, at. 40. In the south chancel is
a very handsome obelisk of black marble, under a canopy of white, for Dame Elizabeth, widow of Sir
Cloudesley Shovel, Rear Admiral of England, &c.; and adjoining is a mural monument for Robert
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Mansel, eldest son and heir of Thomas Lord Mansel, who married Anne, daughter of Sir Cloudesley
Shovel; he died in 1723. Near the pulpit, another of the same kind for Mrs. Mary Vint, widow of
Edward Vint, Esq. who died Feb. 9th, 1832, in the 95th year of her age: also one for Sir Stephen
Cottrell, Master of the Ceremonies to the King, and for more than 40 years Clerk in Ordinary to the
Privy Council; he died 23d May, 1818, aged 80 years; and, lastly, for his lady, who was eldest
daughter of Lieut. Gen. Thomas Desaguliers; born 6th June, 1747, died July, 27th, 1814.

Crayford Church is dedicated to St. Paulinus.

East Wickham House, in the Parish of East Wickham, the property of
Richard Jones, Esq. is a substantial modern mansion, situated about two miles
and a half south-east from Woolwich, and distant from London about 11 miles.
It came into this family about the year 1739, by the marriage of Thomas Jones,
Esq. Comptroller of the Royal Artillery, with Martha Pelham, daughter and
heiress of Charles Pelham, Esq. Shortly after his marriage, Mr. Jones pulled
down the old house, and built the present mansion, still retaining the extensive,
old-fashioned Dutch gardens with which it was ornamented. His son, Richard
Jones, Esq. Colonel in the First Regiment of Foot Guards, and father of the
present proprietor, modernised and altered the grounds to their present state.

East Wickham Court, in the Parish of East Wickham, the residence of
Robert Dickson, Gentleman, and property of Isaac Lyon Goldsmid, Esq. is
situated between East Wickham House and the church, in the midst of very
agreeable gardens and pleasure grounds. The house, which is ancient, has been



considerably modernised: the land appertaining to it presents a good specimen
of Kentish farming. It is distant from Woolwich a little more than two miles,
and from London about 11 miles.

Goldie Lee, in the Parish of East Wickham, the property of Basil Heron
Goldie, Esq. is situated about two miles south-east from Woolwich, and about
half a mile northward from East Wickham Church. It is a modern building,
on an elevated site, commanding a fine view of Shooter's Hill and the inter-
mediate country. It is distant from London about 11 miles.

Bramblebury, in the Parish of Plumsted, the seat of Mrs. Frances Dick-
inson, is beautifully situated on an elevation, about one mile south of the banks
of the Thames, which gives it a most interesting view of that river, with its ever-
varying scenery. The mansion is surrounded by grounds that, under the
superintendance of the proprietress, have been laid out and planted with the
happiest effect. Few places, of like extent, can boast of such picturesque
beauty, the natural advantages of the spot being improved by the fine taste of
its fair owner. The interior is not less admirable. The rooms are well arranged,
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and decorated with specimens of oriental, ancient, and modern embellish-
ments.

Bramblebury is distant from the metropolis rather more than nine miles.

Shrewsbury House, in the Parish of Plumsted, the seat of John Cooper,

Esq. is situated on the north-east edge of Shooter's Hill, and commands pros-
pects unequalled in any other part of the county. The metropolis, the shipping,
the winding course of the Thames to the verge of the horizon, the County of
Essex, and the most interesting parts of Kent, including the populous towns of
Greenwich and Woolwich, are all presented to the eye in a vast panorama from
the leads of this lofty mansion. This was the residence, for a considerable time,
of her late Royal Highness the Princess Charlotte, during her education: and
certainly no situation could have been selected more salubrious, or better adapted
to compose the attention to literary pursuits. In the study there is an immense
globe geographically delineated on the floor, formed, it is said, to familiarise the
science to the mind of the illustrious pupil. The interior of this house is
decorated with many works of art, among which are paintings by Waltean,
Permigiano, De Here, Weenix, Glover, Chamberlain, and others; some fine
sculpture, &c.

This mansion was erected by the Earl of Shrewsbury, and has been con-
siderably improved by its present owner. It is distant from London about nine
miles.

Among the monuments in Plumsted Church we selected the following:

A mural monument for Peter Denham, Esq. obt. 1736, whose ancestor made a large benefaction
to the steeple: a grave-stone for John Gossage, who caused this church to be repaired, after it had
lain in a ruinous state above twenty years; he died 1672: another for Benjamin Barnett, D.D.
Prebendary of Gloucester, and Vicar of Plumsted, obt. 1707, aet. 57. On the north wall of the
nave, an elegant monument for John Lidgbird, Esq. of Shooter's Hill, obt. 1772: a monument for
General Sir Thomas Bloomfield, Bart. late of Shooter's Hill, Colonel Commandant of the 9th
Battalion of the Royal Regiment of Artillery, Inspector of Artillery, and of the Royal Foundry at
Woolwich, who died Aug. 24th, 1822, aged 79 years; and for Elizabeth, relict of the above, who
died Aug. 21st, 1826, aged 81 years; she was daughter of Sir John Eardley Wilmot, Knt. Lord
Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas: another for Lieutenant General Douglas, Senior Colonel
Commandant of the Royal Artillery, and Director General of the Field Train; he was born August
14th, 1744, and died April 4th, 1827: also one for General Sir William Green, Bart. Chief Royal
Engineer, died Jan. 11th, 1811, aged 86 years; he was late of Bramblebury, in this parish. In the
church-yard are interred several officers of the Royal Artillery and their families, and other distin-
guished individuals.



Plumsted Church is dedicated to St. Nicholas.
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THE HUNDRED OF ROKESLEY.

Brampton Place, in the Parish of Bexley, formerly belonged to Austin
Parke Goddard, Esqg. who alienated it to Mr. Peter Warren, of London. He,
dying in 1772, left it to his son, Alport Peter Warren, Esqg. who sold it to
Mr. Francis Vanaghen, of London.

Danson, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of Mrs. Johnston, was built by
Sir John Boyd, Bart. after an Italian model. It is a very elegant structure, of
Portland stone, situated in a beautiful and extensive park, which is intersected
by a fine sheet of water. The grounds were laid out, in Sir John Boyd's time,
by the celebrated Brown. In the conservatory is an antique vase that was
brought from Italy by Sir John, an engraving of which will be found in Perene's
work. This vase ranks among the first specimens now existing of the ancient
Italian artists. The interior of this mansion is spacious and elegant, and
decorated with some fine antique statues: there is also an excellent landscape,
by Wilson.

Danson is distant from London nearly 11 miles.

The <e> name of Danson, formerly called Daunson, alias Daunsington, belonged, in the reign of
Elizabeth, to Matthew, second son of Matthew Parker, Archbishop of Canterbury, who, dying
without issue surviving, left it at his father's disposal, and he gave it to his son John. It afterwards
came into the possession of Mr. John Styleman, of London, who was five times married. At his
death, in 1734, he bequeathed the moiety of the manor in trust for certain charities mentioned in his
will. This moiety, including Danson and the adjoining land, was subsequently let to John Boyd, Esq.
of London, who, in the second year of George IIL having procured an Act, vested in the trustees a
rent-charge of £100 per annum, in lieu of the above-named moiety, which was vested in fee simple in
him and his heirs. In May, 1775, John Boyd, Esq. was elevated to the rank of baronet.

The Hollies, in the Parish of Bexley, is the seat of Thomas Lewin, Esq.
a magistrate and deputy lieutenant for the Counties of Kent and Hants. This
park is contiguous, on the west, to that of Lamaby, and is distant from Bexley
nearly three miles in a direction due west. lts situation is extremely pleasant.
The house was greatly improved, in 1776, by the father of the present pro-
prietor. Among the internal decorations is a portrait, by Sir Joshua Reynolds,
of Mrs. Sheridan, daughter of Thomas Linley, Esq. and a scriptural piece by
Poussin.

The Hollies is between 11 and 12 miles from London.
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Lamb Abbey, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of John Malcolm, Esq.
appears to have been rebuilt in 1744 by William Steele, Esq. who then possessed
it. This is a very delightful residence; the grounds well laid out, and par-
ticularly beautiful. The park abounds with fine trees, and a large sheet of
water, that sweeps eastward from the mansion, adds considerably to the beauty
of the scene. The interior is elegantly fitted up, and embellished with paintings
by Canaletti, Bassano, &c.

It is distant from Bexley rather more than two miles, and from the Metropolis
between 11 and 12 miles.

Lamb Abbey, a corruption of Lamaby, or Lamienby, belonged formerly to a family named
Lamienby, alias Sparrow; the last of whom, Thomas Sparrow, died in 1513, and left the estate to his
daughter, Agnes, who carried it in marriage to James Goldwell, a descendant of the Goldwells of
Great Chart. Of one of the posterity of this gentleman it was purchased by James, and John James



passed it away to Nicholas Warren, Esq. who conveyed it to Thomas Foster, and he again, about
1744, sold it to William Steele, Esq. above mentioned. His son dying, s.p. this property descended
to his four sisters, one of whom sold her share to Robert Dingley, Esq.; and the shares of the
other three, after passing through different hands, were purchased, in 1783, by David Orme, Esq.
M.D. of great St. Helen's, London, who also bought, the same year, of Mr. Dingley's son, the

Rev. R. H. Dingley, the remaining fourth part. Dr. Orme added to and greatly improved the seat.

Blendon Hall, in the Parish of Bexley, is situated somewhat more than a
mile westward from Bexley.

This place was anciently written Bladindon Court, and was possessed by a family of that name,
which in time was contracted into Blendon. Jordan de Bladindon, about the 1st year of Richard Il.
passed it away to Walsingham, who continued proprietors of it till the end of the reign of Henry IV.
and then sold it to Ferbie, of Paul's Cray Hill; one of whose descendants, in the beginning of
Henry VI. conveyed it to William Marshall, by whom it was alienated to Rawlins. Of this family it
was purchased by May, who, in the reign of Charles I. conveyed it to the Wroths: John Wroth, Esq.
was created a baronet in 1660. At his death, in 1671, this estate descended to his son, Sir John
Wroth, Bart. subject to a mortgage of 1000 years. In the year 1672 Edward Brewster became owner
of the residue of this term, and in 1673 conveyed his interest to Sir Edward Brett. At his death, in
1684, he bequeathed his interest in this estate to his sister's grandson, John Fisher, Esq. who
thereupon took the name of Brett, and who, in 1731, purchased of the heirs of Sir John Wroth the
fee and inheritance of the estate; and at his death, in 1732, s. p. devised it to Jacob Sawbridge, Esq.;
to him, in 1748, succeeded his second son, Jacob Sawbridge, Esq. of Canterbury, who, about 1763,
sold it to Lady Mary Scott, a daughter of Charles, the fourth son of George Compton, Earl of
Northampton, who had conferred on her, by special favour, the rank of an earl's daughter. This
lady erected a neat house on the old site, and at her death, in 1782, devised the property to William
Scott, Esq. (the brother of her late and second husband, and one of the family of Scott's Hall,) of
whom it was purchased by Lieutenant General James Pattison.
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Bridgen Place, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of the Rev. Edward
Cokayne Frith, a Magistrate for the County, is situated less than a mile to the
west of Bexley, and not more than half a mile eastward from Blendon Hall.
It stands on a gentle elevation, from which a grassy slope descends to the
Bourne Water, that passes through the grounds, contributing materially to the
beauty of the place. The mansion is handsome and spacious, and commands
extensive prospects over a fertile and highly interesting part of the county. It
was built about 60 years ago, by William Cope, Esq. and purchased by the
present proprietor in the year 1821.

Bridgen Place is distant from London about 12 miles.

Parkhurst, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of Frederick Holbrooke,
Esqg. F.S.A. is situated on the west of Bexley, about one-third of a mile from
the church. This house, erected in the middle of the last century, was for
several years the residence of the Rev. William Conybeare, D.D. of Christ-
church, Oxford, son of Dr. John Conybeare, Bishop of Bristol. It was consi-
derably altered and much improved in 1831, under the direction of the late
Mr. John Shaw, the Architect of Christ's Hospital, by whom the sitting-rooms,
the hall, and staircase were completed in the Elizabethan style. In the upper
compartments of the bay-window in the drawing-room are the armorial bearings
of the Sovereigns of Europe in the 16th century; which are splendid, and in good
preservation. The windows in the hall, and in several other rooms, are also
ornamented with antique stained glass, chiefly heraldic and scriptural subjects.
There are drawings and paintings, by Berchew, Polenbery, Clover, and Robson.
The following portraits are originals: John Donne, (the poet,) D.D. Dean of St.
Paul's, in the reign of James I. obt. 1631, by Vandyck; this is the only original
of Dr. Donne in existence: Anne Hyde, Duchess of York, daughter of the Lord
Chancellor Clarendon, obt. 1671, by Sir Peter Lely: Anne Wyndham, daughter



of Thomas Wyndham, Esq. Groom of the Bedchamber to Charles Il. obt. 1727,
by Sir Peter Lely.

The surrounding country is mostly irregular and picturesque, and the garden
and grounds are richly ornamented with American plants and evergreens.

Parkhurst is distant from London about 13 miles.

High Street House, in the Parish of Bexley, the residence of Mrs. Chap-
man, belonged formerly to the Goldwells, from whom it passed to the family of
Austen, of Hall Place. By two female co-heirs of this house it was at length
sold to John Thorpe, Esq. F.S.A. the only son of the learned antiquary Dr. John
Thorpe, M.D. and F.R.S. He rebuilt this seat in 1761, and, dying in 1792,
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left two daughters, his co-heiresses, the younger of whom having married Cuthbert
Potts, Esqg. of London, on a division of their father's property, received this as
part of her share; Mr. Potts, in her right, becoming entitled to it.
Bexley Manor House, in the Parish of Bexley, is situated on the north-
east, near the Church. Richard Leigh, Esq. of Hawley House, in the Parish
of Sutton-at-Hone, is the present lessee.

Cenulph, King of Mercia, having subdued the kingdom of Kent, gave Bexley, or Bixley, to
Wilfred, Archbishop of Canterbury, for the use of Christchurch, in Canterbury; and it continued
part of the possessions of that See till Cranmer, in the 29th year of Henry VIII. yielded it to that
Monarch. The manor of Bexley remained in the Crown till James I. granted it in fee to his jeweller,
Sir John Spilman, who shortly after sold it to William Camden, Esq. the antiquary, and Clarencieux
King at Arms. This great man, being desirous to promote the study of history, to which he had
contributed largely by his writings, founded an historical lecture in the University of Oxford, and
vested in the Chancellor, Masters, &c. of the University, as an endowment for it, his right in this
manor, with all the profits and emoluments; making, however, this proviso, that William Heather,
Esq. should enjoy, for 99 years from the death of the donor, the profits of the estate, and should pay
yearly to the University, during that period, the sum of £140. Camden died in 1623. Mr. Heather
parted with his interest in it to Sir Francis Leigh, of Addington, in Surrey, whose great grandson,
Francis Leigh, Esq. of Hawley, being in possession of the manor when the above term expired, had
a lease granted to him by the University for 21 years, which has been renewed from time to time.

Bridge House, in the Parish of Bexley, the residence of Edwin Cotting-
ham, Esq. is situated on the banks of the river Cray, near High Street House,
at Bexley. It is an agreeable place, surrounded by pleasure grounds, and
sheltered by lofty trees. Among the internal decorations we observed a good
painting of 'Birds,' by Melchior Hondekoeter.

Hurst House, in the Parish of Bexley, the residence of Walter Allen
Meriton, Esq. is situated about a mile south-west from Bexley. Mr. Meriton
has a good painting, over the mantel-piece in the dining-room, of the loss of the
Halswell, East Indiaman, off Peverel Point, January 6th, 1786; and a fine
portrait of Henry Meriton, Esqg. Superintendant of the Bombay Marine,
&c. We saw here, also, a remarkably good model of a three-decker of 130
guns.

Bourne Place, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of the Rev. Thomas
Garbett, M. A. is a modern structure, situated on the banks of the Bourne Water,
near its junction with the river Cray, whence it takes its name. It has been
much improved by the present proprietor. Among the decorations in the interior
are an Ecce Homo, by Carlo Dolce; and Roman Ruins, by Panini, &c.
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This house was built by Laurence Holker, Esqg. of London, a descendant of an ancient family

resident at Holker, near Furness Abbey, in Lancashire. Mr. Holker died, unmarried, in 1793,
having devised Bourne Place, with other estates, to his sister, Mrs. Thorpe; but as he survived her,



her two daughters became entitled to the property; and on a partition, this was allotted to the
youngest, married to Cuthbert Potts, Esqg. of London, who, in her right, became proprietor of it.

Bourne Place is about half a mile north from Bexley, on the east side of the
road thence to Crayford.

Hall Place, in the Parish of Bexley, the property of Francis Dashwood,
Esq. is situated about half way between Bexley and Crayford, fronting the road
westward.

This ancient mansion is at present occupied as a school for young gentlemen.

This estate belonged formerly to a family who, from it, were styled At-Hall, the last of whom,
Thomas At-Hall, in the 4Ist Edward Ill. conveyed it to Thomas Shelle, of Gaysum, in Westerham,
in which name it continued till William Shelley, in the 29th year of Henry VIII. passed it away to
Sir John Champneis, of London. His grandson, Richard Champneis, Esqg. conveyed it to Robert,
afterwards Sir Robert Austen, who died in 1666. By members of this family it was successively
inherited till Sir Robert Austen, Bart. of Tenterden, died in 1772, without issue, when the title
became extinct; and, he having been only tenant for life, the fee of the estate, by the will of one of
his predecessors, Sir Robert Austen, Bart. who died in 1743, became vested in Francis, Lord
Le Despencer, who, at his death, in 1781, devised it to Francis Dashwood, Esq.

Hallcot, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of Lady Anne Dashwood, is
the property of her son Francis Dashwood, Esq. It is situated not far from
Hall Place, on the opposite side of the road, nearer Crayford.

Lady Anne is a daughter of the Earl of Lauderdale.

Hallcot, formerly called Mount Pleasant, was built on a part of the Hall Place Estate, by Richard
Simms, Esq. of Blackheath, on his marriage with a sister of Sir Robert Austen, Bart. who died in
1743. His daughter carried her interest in it, in marriage, to Granado Piggot, Esqg. and at her death
(she having survived her husband), it was purchased by Thomas Edsall, Esq.; but, he becoming a
bankrupt in 1778, the remainder of his term was sold to William Selwyn, Esq. K.C. the inheritance,
nevertheless, belonging to Francis Dashwood, Esq. above mentioned.

East Lodge, in the Parish of Bexley, the seat of the Rev. Richard Davies,
M.A. Vicar of Erith, and a magistrate for the county, is situated about one
mile and a quarter north-west from Bexley, on the south side of the high road
from Crayford to London, and distant from the latter about twelve miles. It
is a small neat house, of modern architecture, very pleasantly situated. Here
is an excellent landscape, by Wilson, one of the only two (the other being at
Danson) which we can recollect having seen in the county.
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Vicarage House, in the Parish of Bexley, the residence of the Rev.
Thomas Harding, M.A. is a modern house, situated less than a quarter of a
mile south of the church. This is a highly favoured spot, enjoying pre-emi-
nently the advantages of a most respectable neighbourhood, with the richest
fertility, and a diversity of picturesque scenery.

Bexley Church. This fabric is dedicated to St. Mary, and consists of a
large chancel and two aisles. It is replete with interesting objects, not the least
striking of which are the numerous funeral memorials. The handsome altar-
piece was given, about 1705, by the Rev. Benjamin Huntington, the Vicar, to
whose memory there is a mural monument in the south chancel: he also left
£50 for the poor of the parish; obt. Jan. 1st, 1706, at. 66. On the south side of
the chancel is a confessionary, consisting of three divisions of pointed arches, and
a recess for holy water; and on the north side are seven old oak stalls, curiously
carved.

The following are the most remarkable monuments:



In the south aisle, a mural monument for John Styleman, Esq. of London, merchant, who pro-
vided in his will for the foundation and endowment of 12 alms-houses, for 12 poor families of this
parish; he died in 1734, aged 82: another of the same kind, for Mary Anne, wife of Neill Malcolm,
of Poltallock, in Argyleshire, Esq. sole surviving daughter and heiress of David Orme, of Lamb
Abbey, Esq. who died Oct. 14th, 1830, in the 56th year of her age: Neill Malcolm, Esqg. above
named, died Jan. 24th, 1837, in the 68th year of his age. In the north aisle, a mural monument for
Edward Austen, Esq. third son of Sir Robert Austen, Bart. of Hall Place, obt. 1712; also for John
Austen, Esq. his son, obt. 1750; and for his daughter Elizabeth, obt. 1755: a tablet to Sir Edward
Brett, Kt. descended from the ancient family of the Bretts, of Whitstanton, in the county of Somerset,
who served in the wars in Germany, under Gustavus Adolphus; he was recalled thence by Charles I.
who required his assistance at home, and was knighted on the field of battle for a signal service per-
formed in the county of Cornwall, A.D. 1644, under the command of Bernard, Earl of Lichfield.
Subsequently, he commanded in the Netherlands, by the favour of William, Prince of Orange. At
the time of his death, 12th Feb. 1683, in the 75th year of his age, he was Deputy Lieutenant to the
Earl of Craven, in the county of Middlesex, and Sergeant Porter of his Majesty's Palaces. Sir
E. Brett married Barbara, only daughter and heir of Sir John Fleming, descended from the ancient
family of Fleming, of Flemsted Castle, in the county of Glamorgan, who died at the Hague, 22d Oct.
1674, and was buried at Flushing. A handsome monument for Mrs. Mary Lewin, who died in 1772,
aged 38 years; and for Capt. Richard Lewin, who died Feb. 5th, 1810, aged 90 years; also for Mary,
wife of Thomas Lewin, Esq. of Hollies, in this parish, eldest son of the above, who departed this life
Nov. 20th, 1837, aged 70; she was eldest daughter of Gen. John Hall, of Gisborough, in the county
of York: another for Elizabeth, wife of John Smith, Esq. M.P. of Blendon Hall, in this parish, who
died April 16th, 1809, in the 35th year of her age. In the north chancel, on the north side, is a
mural monument, with the effigies of a man and woman kneeling at a desk, for Sir John Champneis,
sometime Lord Mayor of London, obt. 1556; he married Meriell, eldest daughter of John Barrett,
Esq. of Belhouse, in Essex. On the east side, a handsome monument, enclosed within iron rails, for
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Sir Robert Austen, Bart. who died 166G, aged 79. On the south side of the chancel, a mural monu-
ment, for Lady Mary Gerard Cosein, late wife of Sir Gilbert Gerard Cosein, Bart. of Yorkshire, sole
issue of Charles, Lord Berkeley, of Rathdown, Earl of Falmouth, &c. Before the altar, a grave-
stone, for Sir Richard Ford, Lord Mayor of London in 1671; he died in 1678, aged 65. On the
north side of the chancel, a monument in memory of the Rev. William Green, M.A. Vicar of this
parish, who died in 1808, aged 69 years. Over the door, another for Catherine, wife of John Thorpe,
Esq. F.S.A. who died in 1789, aged 60: and lastly, a tablet in memory of Mrs. Mary Mason, which
narrates that this most excellent woman bequeathed the residue of her fortune for the following bene-
volent purposes: one-third to be distributed among the poor of Bexley in provisions, on the day before
Christmas-day; another third in coals, and the remaining third to be divided among those parishioners
who have brought up the largest family without parochial relief.

A chapel of ease has been recently built by subscription, on Bexley Heath;
the Incorporated Society for building Churches having granted £300 in aid
hereof. It was consecrated and opened for divine service on Nov. 7th, 1836,
by the Archbishop of Canterbury.

Vale Mascal, in the Parish of North Cray, the seat of Charles John Law-
son, Esq. a magistrate for the county, is beautifully situated on the banks of the
river Cray, about half a mile south-west from Bexley. The house is modern,
and has a handsome appearance. From the principal front is seen a brilliant
cascade, formed by the whole body of the Cray, which, in the foreground,
expands into a lake, where the trout play in abundance. In the centre of the
lake is a small sylvan island, which might be fancifully compared to Calypso's
fairy isle.

The interior of the mansion is elegantly fitted up: we remarked among the
decorations a fine painting of Venus reproved by Vulcan in the presence of
Mars, but by whom we could not learn.

Vale Mascal is distant from London about 13 miles.

Vale Mascal was built by Thomas Tash, Esq. second son of Sir John Tash, of London, on part



of the estate of Mount Mascal, belonging to Sir John Barker, Bart. On his death, in 1737, by some
omission in Lady Barker's settlement, this estate passed to their son Sir John Fitch Barker, Bart.
who, dying s. p. in 1766, bequeathed it to Robert Nassau, Esqg. second son of the Hon. Richard
Savage Nassau, brother of the Earl of Rochford. Of this gentleman it was purchased, in 1782, by
John Maddocks, Esg. who was succeeded by his son of the same name.

Mount Mascal, in the Parish of North Cray, the seat of Bertie C. Cater,
Esq. Captain in the Royal Navy, and a magistrate, and Deputy Lieutenant
for the county, occupies an elevated site, as its name implies, about half a mile
south from Bexley. It is a handsome substantial structure, lofty, and turretted
at each corner, commanding extensive prospects over a rich and most interesting
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portion of the county. Among the elegant decorations with which the interior
abounds, are paintings by Salvator Rosa, Panini, Cuyp, &c. &c.

This mansion is supposed to have been built in the reign of Charles II.
it was modernised in the year 1817. The approach is through an avenue of
majestic elms, in double rows.

Mount Mascal stands on part of the estate of the ancient noted, but now almost forgotten, Jacket's
Court, the property of the Jacket family. From this name it passed by sale to that of Switzer, one
of whom, in the reign of Elizabeth, conveyed it to Edmund Cooke, Esq. of Lesnes Abbey, whose
grandson, George Cooke, Esq. passed away Mount Mascal with Jacket's Court to Sir John Leman,
second son of John Leman, Esq. of Gillingham, in Norfolk. He alienated them to William Wiffin,
of London, whose daughter Hannah entitled her husband, Thomas Bayles, Esq. of the Temple, to
this estate, and he sold it to Sir Thomas Fitch, of Eltham, whose grand-daughter, Alice, at the death
of her father, Sir Comport Fitch, Bart. in 1720, inherited it, and carried it in marriage, in 1740,
to Sir John Barker, Bart. of Sproughton, in Suffolk. Lady Barker, surviving her husband, became
by her marriage settlement possessed again of Mount Mascal and Jacket's Court; and outliving also
her son, Sir John Fitch Barker, Bart. left it, at her death, in 1771, to three of the daughters of her
second husband, Philip Brooke, Esq. of Nacton, in Suffolk; and they, in 1781, sold it to John
Maddocks, Esq. who died in 1794, leaving it in possession of his widow.

Wollet Hall, in the Parish of North Cray, the seat of Richard Gosling,
Esqg. Banker in London, is situated on the banks of the river Cray, about one
mile south-west from Bexley. It formerly belonged to Neighbour Frith, Esq.
of London, who, at his death, in 1776, devised it to his nephew, the Rev.
Edward Cokayn, who thereupon took the name of Frith. Of this gentleman
it was purchased by Captain Bertie C. Cator, who disposed of it to the present
proprietor.

Its distance from London is about 14 miles.

North Cray Rectory House. This house is very delightfully situated
on the east side of the road, about half way between Bexley and Foots Cray.
It was built by the Rev. Thomas Moore, with the aid of £700 and two acres of
land, contributed by the patron of the benefice, the Rev. William Hetherington.
The grounds are very beautiful, and agreeably surrounded with elegant villas
and mansions.

North Cray Place, the residence of Samuel Nettleshipp, Esq. is the
property of the Right Hon. Lord Bexley, from the grounds of whose elegant
seat it is separated only by a fine sheet of water, formed by the river Cray.
This is a stately modern mansion, pleasantly situated: the grounds are remark-
ably beautiful, and adorned with the choicest shrubs. The interior is spacious
and handsome.

North Cray Place is distant from London about 13 miles.
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The manor of North Cray, in the reign of Richard I. belonged to the family of Rokesle, which
name they assumed from their possessions in Rokesle, or Ruxley, then a distinct parish. In descend-
ants of this name it continued many years, passing, in the reign of Edward Ill. by failure of mmle
issue, to the De Poynings; and from these, in the 25th Henry VI. on the death of Robert De Poyn-
ings, to his cousin Alianore, wife of Sir Henry Percy. The ancient family of Percy derive their
origin from Mainfred de Perci, who came from Denmark into Normandy, and thence into England,
with William the Conqueror. The last of this family who possessed this estate was Henry, Earl of
Northumberland, who, the year preceding his decease, i. e. in the 28th Henry VIII. granted to that
monarch all his lands and possessions in this country. Henry VIII. in his 36th year, gave this manor
to Sir Roger Cholmeley, who held it but two years, and then alienated it to Sir Martin Bowes, to
whom succeeded his son William Bowes, Esq. whose daughter Elizabeth, receiving it as her portion
of her father's property in 1634, entitled her husband, Mr. William Buggin, to it. Their descendant,
John Buggin, Esq. sold it, about 1710, to Thomas D'Aeth, Esqg. who, in junction with his son
Narborough D'Aeth, Esqg. about 1738, sold it to Jeffery Hetherington, Esq. and he dying unmarried,
in 1767, devised it to his brother, the Rev. William Hetherington, Rector of Farnham Royal, in
Buckinghamshire. At his death, in 1778, he bequeathed it to Thomas Coventry, Esq. a descendant
of the ancestors of the Earl of Coventry.

In North Cray Church are the following memorials:

In the chancel, a grave stone for the Rev. Josias Bull, 24 years Rector of this church, obt. Oct. 22d,
1656. Near the altar, a tablet for the Rev. Charles Weale, Rector of this parish, who died May 8th,
1701, aged 51; and his two daughters. On the north wall, for Jonathan Reade, Rector, anno 1709.
Above the pulpit, a mural monument for Elizabeth, daughter of William Bowes, Esq. wife of William
Buggin, Esq. obt. 1657, aet. 79. Facing the entrance is a fine figure in white marble, in the attitude
of supplication, in commemoration of Octavia, Lady Ellenborough, wife of Edward Law, second
Lord Ellenborough, and daughter of Robert Stewart, Marquis of Londonderry, who departed this life
March 5th, 1819, in the 27th year of her age. Near the altar, on the north side, a tablet for the
Rev. Thomas Moore, instituted Rector of this church July 18th, 1766, and died Feb. 1st, 1823, aged
85 years.

This Church is dedicated to St. James.

Foots Cray Place, in the Parish of Foots Cray, the seat of the Rt. Hon.
Nicholas Vansittart, Lord Bexley, is a beautiful structure, after a design of
Andrea Palladio. This celebrated architect was born at Vicenza in 1508, and died
in 1580. He rose, by merit, from moderate circumstances to the rank of nobility.
He commenced as sculptor; but Tressino, the poet, perceiving his inclination for
the mathematics, explained to him the architecture of Vitruvius, and accompanied
him in three journeys to Rome, where Palladio studied and designed after the
ancient monuments in that city. In these pursuits he discovered the true prin-
ciples of an art, that in his time was buried in Gothic barbarity. One of the
chief of the noble structures which this illustrious architect raised, is the Theatre
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Degli Olympici, at Vicenza. Foots Cray Place and Mereworth Castle are the
only specimens of this order in the country.
Foots Cray Place is distant from London about 12 miles.

The Manor of Foots Cray, in the 21st year of Henry VIII. was purchased of Christopher Heron,
Esq. by Sir Edmund Walsingham, whose descendant, Sir Francis Walsingham, Principal Secretary
of State to Queen Elizabeth, in the seventh and eighth of her Majesty's reign, sold, by fine, part of
the demesnes of the manor to John Ellis, on which part was built Foots Cray Place. From the
name of Ellis this estate passed to that of Limen, and afterwards to Smith. The heirs of Mr. George
Smith alienated it to Bourchier Cleve, Esq. of London, who erected the present elegant mansion, and
enclosed it in a park, having purchased a further part of the demesne lands of Edward Townsend, Esq.
of Brockley, in Deptford, the proprietor of the manor. He died in 1760; and his daughter, Elizabeth,



in 1765, carried it in marriage to Sir George Younge, Bart. who, in 1772, sold it to Benjamin Harenc,
Esq. of London.

In the Church of Foots Cray there is a white marble urn, embedded in a mural slab
of black marble, and inscribed as follows: Emma Sydney Charlotte Harenc, Benjamin et Sophiee
nuper de villa adjacente filia secunda, nata indole ingenua, forma preestans. Quum annos nondum
decem vixerat subito oppressa morbo, hic infra deposita, die Junii vila M DCCC XXII. This is the sole
monument worthy of notice.

The Church is dedicated to All Saints.

Sidcup, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of Henry Berens, Esq.
Barrister at Law, is very pleasantly situated about three-quarters of a mile west
from Foots Cray. This house, we may presume, was built in 1743, that date
being visible on the gables. The interior is richly decorated with paintings,
among which the following attracted our attention: a remarkable one by Wouter
Crabeth, 1567; a fine painting by Sir Joshua Reynolds; a very animated
hunting piece by Abraham Hondius; beautiful copy from Titian; and the head
of a boy, by Furini, lately in Lord Warwick's collection. The panels of the
drawing-room are ornamented with sketches in oil, by Mr. J. West, a modern
artist, now in Rome.

Sidcup is distant from London about 12 miles.

Frognall, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of the Rt. Hon. John
Robert Townshend, Viscount Sydney, is situated about half a mile south-west
from Foots Cray.

Frognall is distant from London about 12 miles.

This place, in the reign of Henry Ill. belonged to the family of Barber, which, becoming extinct
in the reign of Edward Il. was followed by that of Cressel. From this name, about the end of Henry
Eighth's reign, it passed by sale to Dyneley, whose descendant, Sir John Dyneley, in the time of
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James |. passed it away to William Watkins, Esq. and he, in the latter part of Charles I. alienated it

to Philip Warwick, Esq. He was succeeded by his son, Philip Warwick, Esqg. after whose death
Frognall was purchased by the Tryons. After the decease of Thomas Tryon, Esq. this estate went into
Chancery, and under a decree of that court was sold to the Hon. Thomas Townshend, who, in 1780,
was succeeded by his eldest son, the Rt. Hon. Thomas Townshend, who was, in 1783, created Baron
Sydney, and, in 1789, advanced to the title of Viscount Sydney.

Scadbury, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the property of the Rt. Hon. John
Robert Townshend, Viscount Sydney, is situated on the south-west of Frognall,
from which it is distant nearly one mile. The grounds surrounding this ancient
site, though not definitely circumscribed as a park, have a very parklike ap-
pearance, and are adorned with fine timber, particularly oaks, of great age and
magnitude. An elm, that we noticed, 120 feet high and 24 feet in girth, may
convey some idea of the wood on this estate. The site of the ancient mansion is
clearly to be traced: the moat still contains water in some parts, and there are
the remains of the bridge over it.

This manor, in former times, belonged to a family who took their name from it. Anne, daughter
of John de Scadbury, in the reign of Edward Ill. carried it in marriage to Osmund de Walsingham,
in whose descendants it continued till Sir Thomas Walsingham, about the time of the restoration,
alienated it to Sir Richard Betenson, of Layer de la Haye, in Essex. He was succeeded, at his
decease, by his grandson, Sir Edward Betenson, who, dying unmarried in 1733, was succeeded by his
three sisters; the eldest of whom, Albinia, by her husband Major General Selwyn, left a son, John
Selwyn, Esq.; and he, partly in right of his mother, and partly by purchase of his aunt, Lady Hewet,
became possessed of this manor; but soon sold it to the Hon. Thomas Townshend, the husband of his



daughter, Albinia. Mr. Townshend, before his death, which happened in 1780, made over this estate
to his eldest son, the Hon. Thomas Townshend, afterwards Viscount Sydney.

Pheasant Grove, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of the Rt. Hon.

William Draper Best, Lord Wynford, is situated one mile south-east from
Chislehurst, and is distant from London about 12 miles.

On Chislehurst Common stands the beautiful seat of Mrs. Harenc, with its
delightful pleasure grounds and gardens. It is but a very short distance west-
ward from the church, and eastward from Camden Place. From London it is
about 11 miles.

Coopers, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of George Stone, Esq.

Banker in London, is situated on the south of Chislehurst, its beautiful and well-

wooded park extending from the church, southward, about a mile. This mansion
is handsomely built of brick, and consists of a body and two wings, the principal

front looking into the park. The interior is spacious and elegant, and adorned
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with many works of art. There is a splendid portrait of Herring, Archbishop of
Canterbury, by Hogarth; a landscape, by Cuyp; Dutch girl, by Schalcken;
landscape, by Ruysdael; sea piece, by Backhuysen; two paintings by Van
Goyen, two by Vandervelde; flowers and fruit, by Baptist, &c. &c. Those by
Schalcken, Ruysdael, and Backhuysen were from the collection of the Duchess
de Berri.

This delightful residence was purchased by this family of Sir Richard Adams,
one of the Barons of the Exchequer, in the year 1783.

Coopers is distant from London about 11 miles.

Goodlands, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of the Rt. Hon. Sir
Herbert Jenner, Kt. D.C.L. Dean of the Arches, and Judge of the Prerogative
Court of Canterbury, is situated on the south-west of Chislehurst. Itis a
handsome structure, pleasantly seated in picturesque grounds, and distant from
the Metropolis about 11 miles.

Camden Place, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the residence of Mrs. Martin,
is a handsome modern mansion, with beautiful grounds, gardens, and shrubberies.
This place is rendered famous by having once been the property, and now
bearing the name, of the learned William Camden, author of the Britannia,
who died here in November, 1623, aged 73. We next find Camden Place in
possession of Weston, afterwards of Harry Spencer, Esq. who sold it to Morrice;
and of him it was purchased by Charles Pratt, Esq. Chief Justice of the Common
Pleas, created, in 1765, Baron Camden, of this place, and the following year
advanced to the dignity of Lord High Chancellor. In 1786 he was further
elevated to the rank of Earl. At his death, in 1794, he was succeeded by his
son, John Jefferies, Earl Camden, from whom this estate passed to the family of
Bonar, the present proprietors.

Homewood Lodge, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the seat of Matthew
De Vitre, Esq. is situated about half a mile north-east from the Church of
Chislehurst. It is a handsome residence, and forms a prominent feature in the
scenery of this delightful neighbourhood.

The distance from London is about 11 miles.

Kemnal House, in the Parish of Chislehurst, the residence of William
Rice, Gent. is situated rather more than a mile north from the church. This
house has a stately appearance, and commands pleasant and interesting prospects.

It is distant from London about 11 miles.

There are also one or two other seats in this parish, concerning which we could
not obtain the necessary particulars to enable us to insert them satisfactorily.
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Chislehurst Church contains the following remarkable monuments:

In the south aisle, an the south side, a monument for Sir Philip Warwick, obt. 1682, at. 74; and
his wife, Joan Fanshaw, of Ware Park, first married to Sir Wm. Boteler, Bart.; and for Philip
Warwick, Esq. their only son, who died, an Envoy to Sweden, in 1682. In the north aisle, a
beautiful monument for Lord Thomas Bertie, Captain in the Royal Navy, obt. 1749, et. 29; he was
fourth son of Robert, Duke of Ancaster, by his second wife, Albinia, daughter of Lieutenant General
Farrington, who died in 1746, eet. 46, and was interred here. On the north side, an altar tomb of
Bethersden marble, under an arch of alabaster, for Sir Edmund Walsingham, Lieutenant of the Tower
22 years, obt. 1549; and for Sir Thomas Walsingham, Knt. the sixth in succession of that order,
obt. 1630, eet. 64. On the east side, an elegant mural monument, with an urn, by Rysbrache, for
Roger Townshend, son of Charles, Viscount Townshend, by his first wife, Elizabeth, daughter of
Thomas, Lord Pelham, of Langton, obt. 1760, unmarried: near this, a monument for Sir Richard
Betenson, Knt. and Bart. who died in 1679, et. 78; and his wife, Anne, eldest daughter of Sir
William Morryns, of Waldershare, who died in 1681, at a very advanced age: another, with a pyramid,
in memory of Sir Ed. Betenson, Bart. of Scadbury, son of Richard Betenson, Esq. of Surrey, and
grandson of Sir Richard Betenson, Bart. of this county, who died unmarried in 1733, aged 58. Near
the communion table, on the left, a magnificent monument, by Chantrey, to the memory of William
Selwyn, Esqg. who departed this life Aug. 21st, 1817, in the 85th year of his age; and of his son, the
Rev. George Selwyn, who died in the prime of life, Aug. 1st, 1800. On the south side of the east
window, one for Prince Hoare, Esq. F.S.A. Foreign Secretary of the Royal Academy, and a member
of the Royal Society of Literature, who died Dec. 22d, 1834; and, on the opposite side, another in
memory of Mary and Anne Hoare, all of them the children of William Hoare, Esq. of Bath, R.A.

Mary became the wife of Henry Hoare, Esq. of Beckenham, and Anne died unmarried. In the north-
east corner of the church there is a monument for Thomas, Lord Viscount Sydney, and his brother,
Charles Townshend, Esqg. Lord Viscount Sydney, by the favour of his sovereign, was appointed to the
several offices of Joint Paymaster of his Majesty's Forces, Secretary at War, Secretary of State, and
Lord Chief Justice in Eyre, south of the Trent; he was created Baron Sydney, A.D. 1783, and raised

to the dignity of a Viscount, A.D. 1789: he departed this life June 30th, 1800, aged 69 years. His
brother Charles executed the office of one of the Deputy Tellers of the Exchequer, under his father,
and under John, Earl of Camden, 41 years; and died unmarried Aug. 10th, 1799, in the 65th year of
his age. This monument commemorates also several other members of this noble family.

In this church are also interred Lord Montague Bertie, second son of Robert, second Duke of
Ancaster, by his second wife, who died in 1753; his brother. Lord Robert Bertie, who died in 1782;
and several of the family of Farrington. In the church-yard there is a monument for the unfortunate
Thomas Bonar, Esq. and Anne his wife, who were barbarously murdered in their chamber, May 3I8t,
1813, at their seat, Camden Place, in this parish.

Paul's Cray Hill, in the Parish of Paul's Cray, the seat of James
Chapman, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is situated,
not upon a hill, but at the foot of a gentle elevation that forms the west side of
the park. It is a handsome structure, in the Elizabethan style; rather ancient,
but in perfectly good repair. The grounds and walks are very pleasant, and
kept in the neatest order.
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It is distant from Paul's Cray about half a mile eastward, and from London
about 14 miles.

Paul's Cray Hill was very early the residence of the family of Fereby, or Ferby, descendants of
whom, in 1686, conveyed it to George Gifford, Esqg. of Penis, in Fawkham, whose son, Thomas
Gilford, Esq. dying without male issue, his property, partly by will and partly by descent, devolved
on his three daughters. A partition being made, in 1718, of the property bequeathed to his daughters,
Mary and Jane, one moiety of this estate was allotted to Jane and her husband, Francis Leigh, Esq.
who were already possessed of the other moiety, and they, in 1722, conveyed it to Mr. William
Chapman, who was succeeded by his son, Richard, whose daughter, Eleanor, carried it in marriage,
first to Richard Abbott, Esq. and secondly to James Chapman, Esq. This lady left by her last



husband a son James, by whom this seat was inherited at his father's death.

Rectory, Paul's Cray, the seat of the Rev. Robert Burr Bourne, M.A.
Rector, instituted 1836, is a handsome, lofty structure, having been greatly
altered and improved by the present incumbent. It is in the Grecian style.
The interior is very elegant; and among other decorations we remarked a
painting, by Partridge, of a Boy, which was exhibited at the British Institution,
in 1836, under the name of "The Happy Age."

The Rectory is distant from Foot's Cray about a mile, and from London
about 13 miles.

In the Church of Paul's Cray are the following memorials:

In the chancel, a memorial for the Rev. John Ashley, A.M. Rector of this parish 41 years, obt.
July 18th 17083, aet. 63; and Hannah his wife, obt. 1691, aet. 44; and two of his children, who died
young: another for the Rev. William Scrafton, A.M. Rector of this parish 38 years, obt. Jan. 31st,
1743, aet. 64; and Frances his wife, obt. 1738, at. 78; and for their grandson, Lieutenant Thomas
Sharpe, who was lost in the Ramilies, Feb. 15th, 1760, aet. 24. In the south aisle, on the south side,
a mural monument to the memory of Fanny, Lady Hoghton, relict of Sir Henry Hoghton, Bart. of
Walton Hall, in the County Palatine of Lancaster, who died at the Rectory House in this parish,
after a short iliness, April 25th, 1803, in the 60th year of her age: another for Robert Jenner Neve,
Esqg. Captain in the Royal Navy, who died Feb. 3, 1815; and Amelia his wife, who died July 30th,
1835: below this, one for Sophia, wife of Edward Sison, Esq. who died Oct. 25th, 1810, aged 65
years; also for Edward Sison, Esq. who died Dec. 4th, 1817, aged 72 years.

In the church-yard, inclosed with an iron railing, is an altar-tomb in memory of James Chapman,
Esq. of Paul's Cray Hill, in this parish, where he was born, 27th Sept. 1730, and where he died,
1st. Feb. 1824; and of Jane his wife, daughter of the Rev. Robert Maw, Rector of Rosminogue,
and Prebendary of Tuam, in Ireland; she died May 24th, 1820, in the 81st year of her age; also for
other members of this family: near this is another for Mary Chapman, wife of James Chapman, Esq.
and daughter of the late William Greenwood, Esq. of Hillingdon, in Middlesex; she died Sept. 6th,
1837, aged 75 years.

Paul's Cray Church is dedicated to St. Paulinus.
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Kevington, in the Parish of St. Mary Cray, the seat of Joseph Berens,
Esq. a Magistrate for the County, and Chairman of the Quarter Sessions for the
western division, is situated on the east of St. Mary Cray, at a distance of
about half a mile. This is a handsome, substantial family mansion, of ancient
erection, but improved and modernised in 1756, and again at several subsequent
periods. The grounds that surround it are very beautiful, and well planted.
Among the elegant decorations of the interior are paintings by Andrea Del
Sarto, Antonio Mengs, Cuyp, Canaletto, Wouvermans, Ostade, Jan Steen, Van
Achen, T. Van Huysen, Baptist, Vander Neer, and other eminent masters.
Kevington is distant from the Metropolis nearly 14 miles.

This manor was for many years the property and residence of the Manning family, who came very
early from Saxony. At length Richard Manning, Esq. dying without issue, in 1753, bequeathed it
to his nephew, Denzil Onslow, Esq. of Drungwick, in Sussex, whose son, Middleton Onslow, Esq.
sold it to Herman Berens, Esq. of London, and this gentleman, at his death in 1794, was succeeded
by his Son, Joseph Berens, Esq.

The Church of St. Mary Cray contains numerous memorials for the family of
Manning: also a mural monument, in the south chancel, on which are the effigies of a man, with his
son behind him, and his wife, kneeling at a desk, to the memory of Margaret, wife of Robert Crewet,
citizen and grocer, of London, and daughter of Francis Haddon, Gent. of this parish, who died 1602;
and of her son. In the north chancel, on a grave-stone, the figure of a woman in brass, with an
inscription in black letter, for Elizabeth, late wife of George Cobham, brother to Lord Cobham; and



her first husband, John Hart, Esq. they being father and mother to Sir Percival Hart: she died
in 1643.

This church is dedicated to St. Mary.

East Hall, in the Parish of Orpington, the residence of Capt. Dyke, is
situated rather more than a mile eastward from Orpington.

This manor, in the reign of Edward I. belonged to the family of Chellesfield, from whom it went
to Otho de Grandison, and from this time to the 2d year of Richard Ill. was handed down to the
same proprietors with the manor of Chelsfield. In the reign of Henry VII. it was in possession of
Sir Edward Poynings, K.G. who dying s. p. anno 14 Henry VIIl. and without any kindred, it
escheated to the Crown, whence it was granted to Thomas Cromwell, Earl of Essex. On his attainder
it again became forfeited to the Crown, and was again granted, by the same king, in his 36th year, to
Sir Martin Bowes, who alienated it, anno 1 Edward VI. to Sir Percival Hart, of Lullingstone.
From him it descended lineally to Percival Hart, Esq. of Lullingstone, whose daughter, Anne,
carried it to her second husband, Sir Thomas Dyke, Bart. of Horsham, in Sussex, to whom succeeded
their son, Sir John Dixon Dyke, Bart. of Lullingstone.

Crofton Hall, in the Parish of Orpington, the residence of the Misses
Percival, is situated one mile north from Farnborough.
It is distant from London nearly 14 miles.
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This manor was part of the possessions of Odo, Bishop of Baieux. In the reign of Edward I.
it had become the inheritance of Ralph de Wibourn, from which name it went, about the end of
Edward Ill. to Sir Robert Belknap. On the death of his descendant, Sir Edward Belknap, s. p.
anno 12 Henry VIII. this estate became the property of Sir William Shelley, the husband of his
sister Alice, who sold it to Sir Robert Read, Chief Justice of the King's Bench, and he conveyed
it to the Hospital of the Savoy, in London. At the suppression of this hospital, anno 7 Edward VI.
the king gave part of its estates, including Crofton Manor, to the citizens of London, towards main-
taining his house of Bridewell and the Hospital of St. Thomas; and on a division of the gift, this
estate was allotted to St. Thomas's Hospital, with the trustees of which the inheritance still remains.

Orpington Church. Between the chancel and the nave of this little
church there is a screen of oak, curiously carved. The western entrance is
Norman. The following are the monuments most worthy of notice:

In the great chancel, on the north side, a monument for Richard Gee, Esq. obt. 1727: another
for Philippa, relict of the above-named R. Gee, Esq. obt. 1744; and three elegant monuments; the
first for William Gee, Esq. of this parish, and of Beddington Park, in the County of Surrey, who
died August 3, 1815, in the 69th year of his age; also for Ann Paston Gee, his widow, who departed
this life March 28th, 1828, in the 71st year of her age; the second, for Richard Gee, Esq. of this
parish, who died July 9th, 1791, aged 85; also Mrs. Elizabeth Gee, his wife, who died Aug. 29th,
1771, aged 54; also Dame Philippa Isham, sister of the above Richard Gee, who died Dec. 17th,
1786, aged 79; and Philippa Gee, Spinster, who died Aug. 3d, 1817, aged 73; the third for
Richard Carew, formerly Richard Gee, Esq. of this parish, and of Beddington Park, who died Dec.
18th, 1816, aged 71 years. On the south side, a curious monument, without date, for Richard
Spencer, fourth son of the Hon. Richard Spencer, son of Robert, Lord Spencer: on adjoining grave-
stones are memorials for Mary, wife of William Gee, Esq. of Bishop's Burton, in Yorkshire, one of
the daughters and heirs of the Hon. Richard Spencer, obt. 1702; and for Margaret, wife of John
Venables, Esq. of Agdon, in Cheshire, one of the daughters and heirs of the Hon. Richard Spencer,
obt. 1676: a memorial for the Hon. Mary Spencer, widow of the Hon. Richard Spencer, daughter
of Sir Richard Sandys, of Northborne, obt. 1675, aet. 69; another for the Hon. Richard Spencer,
second son of Robert, Lord Spencer, Baron of Wormleighton, obt. 1661, aet. 68. On the south wall,
west of the pulpit, a monument for Sir Richard Clode, who served the office of Sheriff for the City
of London and Middlesex; he was born in Sept. 1752, and in the night of October 12th, 1804, was



called away from this world at a moment's warning; also for Martha, his widow, born 11th Sept.
1759, and died at Bath, July 10th, 1825. In the church-yard, over the vault of the Berens family,

is a handsome tomb to the memory of Herman Berens, Esq. of Kivington, who died in Dec. 1794, in
the 89th year of his age; also his wife, who died in July, 1790, aged 69 years; on the opposite side,
for Joseph Berens, Esq. only surviving son of Herman and Magdalen Berens, born in London,
1746; in 1772, married Elizabeth, daughter of Sir Edward Hulse, of Breamore, Bart. and died at
Kivington, Dec. 19th, 1825, leaving his widow above-named, four sons, and two daughters; the
above-named Elizabeth survived her husband only till April 22d, 1827.

Orpington Church is dedicated to All Saints.

Goddington, in the Parish of Chelsfield, the residence of Mrs. Harris, is
situated one mile north from the church.
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This manor was anciently one of the seats of a family of the same name, who had another mansion
at Great Chart. When this family became extinct here, it came into possession of Poynings, and
at the death of Edward, Lord Poynings, s. p. in the reign of Henry VIII. it escheated to the
Crown. We find it next in the name of Haddon, with whose descendants it continued to the end of
the seventeenth century, when it passed to James Styles, Esq. whose son, John Styles, Esq. passed
it away, about 1736, to Mrs. Mary Aynscomb, and her son; William Aynscomb, Esq. alienated it to
James Harris, Esq.

Chelsfield Court Lodge, in the Parish of Chelsfield, the seat of Robert
Crawford, Esq. is situated close to the church on the south-west. This is a
fine old house, partly modernised: the interior is spacious, and embellished with
some family portraits, by ancient and modern masters.

It is held of the manor of Farnborough, commonly called the Duchy Court,
by the annual rent of 1s. 6d.

Chelsfield Court Lodge is distant from London between 16 and 17 miles.

The Manor of Chelsfield was a part of the possessions of Bishop Odo. It afterwards belonged to
a family who took their surname from it, holding it as one knight's fee of Simon de Montfort;
and from a descendant of them it passed, in the reign of Edward I. to Otho de Grandison, whose
nephew, Otho, succeeded him, and he, dying anno 33 Edward lll. was followed by his son, Sir
Thomas Grandison, who died s. p. in the 50th year of the same reign. This manor, in the 22d year
of Richard Il. was the inheritance of Philippa, grand-daughter and heir of Sir Guy Bryan, married
to Sir Henry Le Scroope, of Masham, to whom succeeded her sister Elizabeth, wife of Robert Lovel,
Esqg. It was afterwards possessed by James Boteler, Earl of Wiltshire; but on his being beheaded
by the Yorkists, after the battle of Towton, in which he had been taken prisoner, it escheated to the
Crown, and was granted for life to Robert Poynings, youngest son of Robert, Lord Poynings.
It was next granted to Henry Viscount Bourchier, Earl of Essex, who, in 23d of Edward IV. was
succeeded by his grandson, Henry Bourchier, and he, in 31st Henry VIIl. was followed by his
daughter, Anne, married to Lord Parre, of Kendal. Again it reverted to the Crown, and was
granted, at an annual rent, to James Walsingham, Esqg. whose son, Francis Walsingham, Esq.
anno 4 Edward VI. parted with his interest to Robert Giles. His descendant, Francis Giles,
Gent. sold it, in the reign of James |. to Captain Henry Lee, of London; and next it came into
possession of Thomas Norton, Esq. the husband of one of Captain Lee's daughters. The grandson of
this gentleman, dying in 1749, bequeathed it to Henry Martyn, Esqg. who, in 1758, sold it to James
Maud, Esq. of London, on whose death, in 1769, it descended to his daughter Mary, widow of
John Tattersall, Esq. then married to B. Crosby, Esq. who, having survived her second husband,
possessed it in her own right.

Chelsfield Rectory, the seat of the Rev. John Edward Tarleton, D.C.L.
is situated about half a mile north-eastward from the church. It is a modern
house, surrounded by pleasure-grounds and gardens: the interior is remarkably
elegant, and contains some very good paintings. It is distant from Lullingstone



about three miles, and from Farnborough about the same; from Sevenoaks
seven miles, and from London about 17 miles.
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Woodlands, in the Parish of Chelsfield, the seat of Miss Fuller, is situated
nearly three quarters of a mile eastward from the church, commanding good
prospects. This very pleasant residence was erected in the modern style, in the
year 1815, by John Fuller, Esq. father of the present owner.

It is distant from Sevenoaks about seven miles, and from London about
17 miles.

Hewitts, in the Parish of Chelsfield, the residence of Thomas Waring, Esq.
(proprietor as well of this as of Farningham House and Farningham Hill House)
is situated about a mile south-east from the church. The exterior of Hewitts is
very plain, and bears no comparison, in point of appearance, with the mansions
above referred to: it may be regarded rather as a hunting-box than a seat. In
the interior are a few sporting pictures, by Cooper and others.

Hewitts is distant from Sevenoaks about six miles, from Farningham five
miles, and from London 17 miles and a half.

This manor was formerly the property of a family of the same name, and when Hasted wrote, their
descendants retained the possession or right of it; but the mansion, with the lands called Hewitts,
in Chelsfield, have for a long time been in other hands. Some years back they belonged to James
Rondeau, Esqg. who sold them to John Fuller, Esq.

Chelsfield Church contains the following selected monuments:

In the great chancel, on the south side, a memorial for the Rev. Michael Petty, Rector of this
parish, obt. June 28th, 1751, at. 84. On the south of the altar, a tablet for three Rectors of this
parish, grandfather, father, and son, named George Smith; of whom the first died May 22d, 1626,
2et. 80; the second died March 19th, 1646, at. 69; and the third died July 20th, 1650, set. 32: below
this, in an arch, is an altar tomb, of black marble, to the memory of George Smith, senior, above named;
opposite to which is a corresponding one of the same kind, very ancient, for Robert de Brun, Rector
of this church, obt. April 25th, 1417. On the north of the altar, a tablet for John Sandford, Rector
of this parish, who died July 17th, 1781; also for Mrs. Martha Sandford, his widow, who died
Oct. 27th, 1798. In the south chancel, on the south side, is a fine mural alabaster monument, having
underneath the figures of a man and woman kneeling at an altar; behind the man is a boy recumbent,
and behind the woman two girls kneeling, and another at full length; this is to the memory of Peter
Collet, Alderman and Citizen of London, obt. 1607, at. 64: adjoining to this a small mural one for
Peter, eldest son of Sir Peter Heyman, of Sellinge, and Sarah his wife, (daughter of Peter Collet,
above named,) who died an infant: a monument for Thomas and Catherine Saunders, of this place;
the former died June 25th, 1772, and the latter, June 1st, 1783; also for Thomas Saunders, last
surviving son of the above, late of Bethnal Green, Middlesex, Esq. who died May 7th, 1819: another
for James Maud, Esq. Lord of the Manor, who died July 19th, 1769; and for Mary Crosby, his only
daughter, relict of the late Alexander Crosby, who died Oct. 6th, 1800. On the north wall, near the
pulpit, a monument of grey marble, for George Morland, Esq. Deputy Lieutenant for the County, a
Governor of the Hospitals of Bridewell and Bethlem, and Lord of this Manor, born Jan. 22d, 1733,
and died in Jan. 1814, aged 81. On the other side of the pulpit is a handsome one for Brass Crosby,
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Esqg. Alderman of the City of London, who served the office of Sheriff in 1765, and that of Lord
Mayor in 1771: he was president of Bridewell and Bethlem Hospitals, and Governor of the Irish
Society: he died Feb. 14th, 1793, aged 68 years.

In the church-yard, under an iron canopy, surmounted by an urn which is encircled by a serpent,
is a stone for the Rev. Robert Cottam, M.A. Lecturer of St. John's church, Swansea, who died while
on a visit to his friend the Rev. James Williams, A.B. Curate of this parish, Feb. 6th, 1828, aged
56 years.



Chelsfield Church is dedicated to St. Mary. On the south side is a small
chapel, dedicated to St. John.

High Elms, in the Parish of Down, the residence of Joseph Esdaile, Esq.
Banker, of London, and the property of Sir J. W. Lubbock, Bart. is situated
about half a mile south from Farnborough. It is a beautiful seat, in the midst
of well-grown and flourishing plantations.

It is distant from London about 15 miles.

Down House, in the Parish of Down, the seat of the Rev. James Drum-
mond, M.A. is situated about a quarter of a mile southward from the church.

It is a modern structure, very pleasantly seated among well-cultivated pleasure-
grounds, and has the command of extensive prospects over an interesting part of
the county.

It is distant from London about 16 miles.

Down Lodge, in the Parish of Down, the residence of Edward Price,
Gentleman, is a small modern seat, a very short distance south-west from the
church.

The small Church of Down contains no monuments of public interest.

Keston. On the west of Holwood Hill, in this parish, there are fine
remains of a very extensive and strong fortification. That this was a Roman
work may be inferred, with great probability, from there having been frequently
dug up here Roman bricks, tiles, old foundations, and other fragments, as well as
coins of the middle and lower empire. And further, the derivations given for the
name of the place will lead to the same conclusion: Keston, anciently written
Chestan, being considered by some a corruption of 'Chesterton,' the place of the
camp; while others more boldly suppose it a contraction of 'Ceesar's,' or (as the
Britons pronounced the C) 'Kaesar's town.'

The area of the camp is nearly two miles in compass, including almost
100 acres of ground, and is partly enclosed with rampires and double ditches
of great height and depth. Various are the opinions concerning these remains.
Some antiquarians imagine that it was the camp which Julius Caesar formed
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before his last battle with the united forces of the Britons, prior to his crossing
the Thames. Some conjecture that here stood Noviomagus, the first Roman
station on the way from London to Dover. Others think that here the Preetor,
Aulus Plautius, encamped, after his fourth action with the Britons, to wait the
arrival of the Emperor Claudius, as mentioned by Dion; of this opinion was
Dr. John Tabor. And Horsley, in his Britannia Romana, says, that it is far
too extensive for a station, and rather believes it to have been a castra sestiva.
There are still to be seen the traces of a way from this camp to the spring-head
of the Ravensborne, which rises on the west of it, whence the soldiers were sup-
plied with water. In Hasted may be found a plan of the remains, as they
existed in 1774.
Holwood, in the Parish of Keston, the seat of John Ward, Esq. a magis-
trate, and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is seated on an elevated site, in a
well-wooded and picturesque park. It is a beautiful specimen of modern archi-
tecture, erected in 1825, by Decimus Burton, on the site of the residence of the
late Right Hon. William Pitt. Towards the south it commands a very fine
prospect, and is seen from that direction, amid its diversified grounds and the
rich foliage, to great advantage, forming in itself an exquisite coup d'ceil.
Holwood is distant from London about 14 miles.

In 1673, Holwood belonged to Richard Pearch, who, in 1709, settled it, in special tail, on his
niece, Elizabeth Whiffin, on her marriage with Nathaniel Gatton, Esq. of Beckenham. He left an
only son and heir, Nathaniel, whose daughter, Mary Dippen, was followed by her daughter, Anne



Dippen; and she, in 1765, alienated this seat to Peter Burrell, Esq. of Beckenham, who, in 1766,
conveyed it to William Ross, of London; and he, the following year, passed it away to Robert
Burrow, Esq. After the death of this gentleman, it was alienated to the celebrated minister, the
Right Hon. William Pitt, second son of the great Earl of Chatham.

Keston Lodge, in the Parish of Keston, the seat of Francis Hastings
Toone, Esq. is situated near the north extremity of Holwood Park. Itis a
handsome modern building, surrounded by beautiful grounds and plantations.
The distance from London is about 13 miles.
Hollydale, in the Parish of Keston, the seat of the Kirkpatrick family,
is situated in a small park, about three miles south-east from Bromley. This
is an ancient structure, but was greatly improved by Colonel James Kirkpatrick,
father of the late George Kirkpatrick, Esq. The interior is elegantly embel-
lished with paintings, and some fine sculpture in marble.
The distance from London is about 13 miles.
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Keston Church. The following are the most remarkable monuments here:

On the floor, in front of the gallery, is an inscription in memory of the Rev. Christopher Clarke,
A.M. Archdeacon of Norwich, Prebendary of Ely, and Rector of this parish, obt. May 19th, 1742,
2t. 70. In the great chancel, a memorial for Jane, relict of Edward Smith, Gentleman, of London,
daughter of Thomas Pyke, late Rector of this parish, obt. 1701, aet. 61. On the south side, a
memorial for Judith and Elizabeth, the wives of Captain Richard Perch, of Holwood Hill; the
former died in 1683, the latter in 1704.

In the church-yard there is an altar tomb in memory of Catherine Kirkpatrick, eldest daughter
of George and Eleanor Kirkpatrick, who died June 16th, 1824, aged 17 years and 8 months.

Baston, in the Parish of Hayes, the seat of Samuel Nevil Ward, Esq.
is situated one mile south from Hayes Church, on the southern boundary of
the common. Itis a pleasant villa: the view into the valley is very pictu-
resque. There are in this house some very curious old paintings, a description
of which may be found in the Gentleman's Magazine for December, 1830.
Baston is distant from London about 13 miles.

The manor of Baston was formerly the property of the Squerie family, one of whom, John Squerie,
dying s. p. in the 4th year of Edward IV. it came to his sister Dorothy, married to Richard Menrin,
Esq. of Fontels, in Wiltshire. Some time after this, but when is not exactly known, Baston Court,
with the demesne lands, was separated from the manor, and came into the possession of a family named
Wood. Richard and Anthony Wood, co-heirs, alienated it, in 1762, to John Luxford, Esq. who, in
1795, sold Baston Court and the adjoining land to James Randall, jun. Esq.

Hayes Place, in the Parish of Hayes, the residence of Miss Trail, is
situated in a small park adjoining the village of Hayes.
Hayes Place is distant from London about 12 miles.

Hayes Place was anciently the inheritance of a branch of the Scotts, of Halden, a descendant of
whom, Stephen Scott, Esq. alienated it to Mr. John Harrison, of Southwark, who, in 1757, sold it to
the Right Hon. William Pitt, second son of Robert Pitt, Esqg. of Boconnock, in Cornwall, afterwards
created Earl of Chatham. He rebuilt the mansion, and added several pieces of land to the grounds;
and in 17G6, sold the estate to the Hon. Thomas Walpole, second son of Horatio, Lord Wal-
pole, younger brother of Sir Robert Walpole, Earl of Oxford, who, two years afterwards, re-sold it
to the Earl of Chatham; and here this great man died, May 11th, 1778. In 1785 it was alienated
by this family to James Bond, Esq. afterwards Sir James Bond, Bart. who, in 1789, disposed of it
by sale to the Right Hon. George, Viscount Lewisham, eldest son of the Earl of Dartmouth. The
celebrated William Pitt, second son of the great Earl of Chatham, was born at Hayes Place,

May 28th, 1759.



On Hayes Common stands the seat of Lady Gibbs, widow of the Right Hon.
Sir Vicary Gibbs, who was first Lord Chief Baron of the Court of Exchequer,
and afterwards Lord Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas.
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It is situated between Hayes Place and Baston, and is distant from London
between 12 and 13 miles.

In Hayes Church are the following monuments that deserve the attention
of the curious:

In the chancel, a monument for John Scott, Esqg. eldest son of Sir Stephen Scott, of this county,
who married Lady Hester, widow of Sir Humphry Style, Kt. and Bart. of Langley: he was of the
King's Privy Chamber, and Justice of the Peace for this county, obt. 1670, aet. 45: another for Sir
Stephen Scott, son of John Scott, Esqg. of Halden, Gentleman Pensioner to Charles I. who married
first, Jane Morrall, widow, daughter of Sir Cuthbert Hackett; secondly, Elizabeth, daughter of John
Brograve, Esq.; he died at Cheshunt, in Hertfordshire, in the year 1658, aged 79: there are also
other memorials for the children of Sir Stephen Scott: and a handsome mural monument to the
memory of the Right Hon. Sir Vicary Gibbs, &c. &c. who was born at Exeter, Nov. 7th, 1751, and
died in London, Feb. 8th, 1820: lastly, a tablet, in memory of the Rev. John Till, who died
Feb. 13th, 1827, aged 83: he was Rector of this parish 50 years.

Hayes Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Wickham Court, in the Parish of West Wickham, the seat of the Rev.
Sir C. F. Farnaby, Bart. a Magistrate for the County, is situated rather more
than three miles south-east from Beckenham, on elevated ground, almost adjoin-
ing the church of West Wickham. It is an ancient castellated structure, embat-
tled and turretted. The grounds are very beautifully laid out.

Wickham Court is distant from the metropolis about 13 miles.

The manor of West Wickham, in very early times, was the property of the eminent family of
Huntingfield, which, towards the end of the Reign of Edward Ill. terminating in two female heirs,
on a division of their inheritance, it was allotted to Joan, married to John Copledike. In the reign
of Henry VI. it was owned by Thomas Squerie, whose son, John, dying s. p. in the 4th Edward IV.
it passed to his sister Dorothy, married to Richard Mervin, Esq. of Fontels, in Wiltshire. He
soon after passed it away to Richard Scrope, Esq. who, by fine, alienated it to Ambrose Creseacre,
and of him it was purchased by Henry, afterwards Sir Henry Heydon, of Baconsthorpe, in Norfolk.
His descendant, Sir William Heydon, about the end of Elizabeth's reign, alienated it to John Len-
nard, Esq. of Chevening. Sir Samuel Lennard, Bart. at his death, in 1727, bequeathed it to his
natural son, Samuel Lennard, Esq. whose daughter Mary afterwards carried it in marriage to John
Farnaby, Esq. younger brother of Sir Charles Farnaby Radcliffe, Bart.

Wickham Place, in the Parish of West Wickham, now the seat of John
Howell, Esq. but formerly part of the estate of Lord Gwydir, is situated in very
beautiful grounds, adjoining the village of West Wickham. The house has a
modern appearance: the interior is spacious and elegant, and contains paintings
by Canaletti, Teniers, Watteau, Vandermuling, Vanloo, Van Goyen, Morland, &c.
It is distant from London about 12 miles.
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West Wickham Church. In the north chancel there is a handsome monument for
Sir Samuel Lennard, born at Chevening, bred at Cambridge and Lincoln's Inn: he married Eliza-
beth, daughter of Sir Stephen Slanye, Lord Mayor of London, and died in 1618, aet. 65: on the
south wall, a marble monument, to the memory of Margaret, wife of Thomas Hobbes, Esq. eldest
daughter of Sir Samuel Lennard, who died in child-bed in 1608, aged 20. On the south side, west



of the pulpit, a neat mural monument, for Isaac James, of St. James, Westminster, citizen, who
departed this life Oct. 29th, 1828, in the 46th year of his age; also Belinda, his relict, who died
Aug. 12th, 1837, aged 60 years. On the north side of the church, a monument in memory of Sir
John Farnaby, Bart. of Wickham Court, who died Aug. 19th, 1802, aged 59; also for Mary, his
widow, only child and heiress of Samuel Lennard, Esq. formerly of Wickham Court, who died

May 9th, 1833, aged 83 years; also their only daughter and three sons, Penelope Ann, wife of
Lieut. Colonel William Cator, of the Royal Horse Atrtillery, who died at Dublin, Dec. 8th, 1833,

in the 44th year of her age; John Samuel Farnaby, Esq. of St. John's College, Cambridge, where
he died, Dec. 4th, 1813, aged 23 years; Lennard Motley Farnaby, Lieut. Fireworker in the Bengal
Artillery, killed at the storming of Fort Cornellis, in the island of Java, Aug. 11th, 1811, in the

19th year of his age; and William Thomas Farnaby, who died at Medhurst, in the county of
Sussex, Nov. 20th, 1809, in the 16th year of his age: a tablet, for Mrs. Elizabeth Richardson,
formerly of Sevenoaks, in this county, but for many years resident at Wickham Court, who died
June 14th, 1823, aged 85 years.

This Church is dedicated to St. John the Baptist.

Apperfield Lodge, in the Parish of Cudham, the seat of John <e> Cristy, Esq.
is situated nearly eight miles south from Bromley, on the east side of the road
leading from the latter place to Westerham. It is quite a modern house, and is
surrounded by grounds planted with great taste.

The manor of Apperfield, anciently written Appuldre and Appuldrefield, belonged to the family
of <e> Maurinot. Alice, sister of Wakelin de Maurinot, carried it in marriage to Geoffry de Say; and
of the family of Say it was held, in the reign of Henry Ill. as one knight's fee, by one of the
family of Appuldrefield, which surname was probably assumed from this property. In the reign of
Edward Ill. it was held by Stephen de Ashway, who annexed to it a free chapel. Of this family
it was purchased by Denny, and sold again by these, in the reign of Henry VIII. to George Dacre,
Esqg. who exchanged it with the Crown. It was then granted, under a fee-farm rent, to John
Lennard, Esq. of Chevening, who was succeeded by his son Sampson; and he, some time after-
wards, by reason of a jointure in the manor, was followed by his grandson, Francis Lennard, Lord
Dacre, who died in 1662. His eldest son Thomas, Earl of Sussex, inherited it after the death of
his mother, in 1686; and conveyed it, in 1707, to Thomas Know, Esq. whose son Roger, dying in
1737, devised it, with other estates, to his cousins, Leonard and John Know Bartholomew, sons of
Philip Bartholomew, Esqg. of Oxen Heath. On a partition of the property, this manor was allotted
to John Know Bartholomew, Esqg. and on his death, went to his brother Leonard, who, dying s. p.
in 1757, bequeathed it to Sir William Geary, Bart. the second son of Sir Francis Geary, Bart. of
Polsden, in Surrey, by his half-sister Mary.

This manor pays a fee-farm rent of £3. 11s. per annum to the Crown.
Apperfield Lodge is distant from London about 18 miles.
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Ashgrove Cottage, in the Parish of Knockholt, the beautiful rustic resi-
dence of Miss Susanna Arabella Thrale, is situated near the north-east corner of
Chevening Park, on high ground, commanding extensive and pleasing pros-
pects.

It is distant from Sevenoaks about five miles, and from London 19 miles.

Knockholt House, in the Parish of Knockholt, the seat of Joseph Marcus
Annesley Skeritt, Esq. Lieut. Colonel of the 55th Regiment, is situated on the
north of Chevening Park, and about half a mile north-east from the church.
Its position is elevated, and faces extensive prospects.

The distance hither from Sevenoaks is about five miles, and from London
19 miles.

Parsonage, Knockholt, the residence of the Rev. James Sutcliffe, A.M. is
a neat modern house, with agreeable grounds attached to it.

It is situated close to the church, and is distant from Sevenoaks five miles, and



from London about 19 miles.
HUNDRED OF DARTFORD AND WILMINGTON.

DARTFORD. The Priory of Dartford was founded, according to Tanner,
in 1355, by Edward Ill. and very liberally endowed by the same King, by
patent, dated in his 46th year: subsequently an additional grant of lands in
Norfolk, for the support of a chaplain for the Infirmary chapel, then lately built,
was made by Richard Il. in his 8th year. It was dedicated to St. Mary and
St. Margaret the Virgins.

The religious, at its foundation, were of the order of St. Augustine, and
under the government of the Friars Preachers; but at some subsequent period
they changed their order, being, at the time of the dissolution, Dominicans, and
under the government of the Black Friars of Langley, in Hertfordshire. Several
ladies of noble family were nuns and prioresses of this house: among the former
was Bridget, fourth daughter of Edward 1V. and of the latter were Lady Joane,
daughter of Lord Scroope, of Bolton; and Lady Margaret, the daughter of Lord
Beaumont.

The Priory was dissolved at the general suppression, and was then valued,
according to Speed, at £400. 8s. per annum. After its dissolution, the Lady
Anne of Cleves resided here, having received a grant of it for life from
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Edward VI. or for so long as she should remain in England: and Queen Eliza-
beth "rested in her own house here," when returning from her tour into Kent,
in the 16th year of her reign.

The present remains, called the Place House, are of brick, and appear to
have been built about the time of Henry VII.

Baldwins, in the Parish of Dartford, the seat of C. W. Minet, Esq. is
situated rather more than two miles south-west from Dartford. The mansion is
modern, the grounds extensive and well wooded.

The distance from London is about 14 miles.

Baldwins, says Hasted, is a corruption of Baudiwins, which name this estate received from its
early possessor, Sir John Baude. Baldwins afterwards came into the possession of the Abbot and
convent of Lesnes, with whom it continued till the suppression of the abbey, in the 16th year of
Henry VIII. It was then granted to Cardinal Wolsey, for the endowment of his college at Oxford;
but the Cardinal being cast in a preemunire before the estates had been firmly settled on his college,
it became forfeited to the Crown, and was soon again granted, in exchange for other lands, to Eton
College, to which it now belongs.

West Hill House, at Dartford, the seat of Mrs. Stainton Hall, is situated
nearly half a mile westward from the church, on the north side of the main road
through this town to London, from which it is distant 15 miles. It is a hand-
some modern building, adorned with pleasure-grounds and shrubberies, and
forms a prominent object in the well-peopled neighbourhood in which it stands.
Dartford Church is a large and handsome structure, consisting of three
aisles and two chancels. In the year 1793 it was repaired and beautified at an
expense of £1200; but the pavement within the altar rails, and the painting and
gilding above the altar, were executed, in 1702, at the sole cost of Charles
Manning, Esq. It contains the following remarkable monuments:

In the great chancel, on the north side of the altar, a monument enclosed within an iron
railing, for Sir John Spilman, who died in 1607, and his lady, with their effigies kneeling at a
desk. On the south side of the chancel, an altar-tomb, enclosed with rails, for Clement Petit, Esq.
of Joyes, in this parish, whose paternal seat was at Deutelion, in Thanet; he died in 1717. In
the south chancel, a mural monument for John Twisleton, Esq. of Horseman's Place, son and



heir of John Twisleton, Esq. of Drax, in Yorkshire, who was uncle and heir of Sir John Twisleton,
Bart. of Barley, in that county, the ancient family seat. At the east end, an altar-tomb for several of
the family of Beer of Dartford: a monument for Margaret, relict of John Pitt, Esq. President of the
South Sea Company at Vera Cruz, obt. 1731. In the middle aisle, several memorials of the Manning
family: and on the north side, a handsome monument, with a bust in profile, for the Rev. John
Curry, 47 years Vicar of this parish, and who was also Rector of Longfield; he died Oct. 18th, 1824,
aged 89 years, and is buried in Northfleet Church. In the south aisle, on the north side, a small
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tablet for Mrs. Anne Peete, daughter of Duncan Campbell, Esq. wife of Mr. William Peete, of this
Parish, who departed this life Dec. 22d, 1801, aged 32.

Dartford Church is dedicated to the Holy Trinity.

Oakfield Lodge, in the Parish of Wilmington, the seat of Robert Seton,
Esq. stands about one mile south from Dartford, at a short distance westward from
the high road from Dartford to Farningham. The house is modern, its situation
elevated and particularly pleasant.

The distance from London is about 16 miles.

Near the church, in the Parish of Wilmington, is the residence of Mrs.
Tasker, a handsome house, in an elevated and agreeable situation.

This place was part of the possessions of Dartford Priory. After the dissolution, Henry VIII.
granted it to John Byer, or Beer, of Horseman's Place, in Dartford; by a descendant of whom,
Edward Beer, it was bequeathed, about 1627, to his cousin, John Twisleton, Esq. of Drax, in York-
shire. In his posterity it remained till John Twisleton, Esq. dying s. p. in 1757, devised it to his
nephew, Thomas Cockshutt, Esq. of Kegworth, in Leicestershire, who thereupon assumed the name
of Twisleton. He passed away the estate to Mr. Thomas Williams, of Dartford, who alienated it to
John Tasker, Esq. of the same place. It is now the property of John and William Tasker, sons of
Mrs. Tasker, who resides in it.

Hulswood Villa, in the Parish of Wilmington, the seat of John Hayward,
Esq. is situated about a mile and a half south-west from Dartford. This struc-
ture was lately erected under the professional direction of Mr. Edward Cresey,
architect, in imitation of the Burgundian Chateau, in France.

It is distant from London about 15 miles.

Wilmington Common House, in the Parish of Wilmington, the property
of George Russell, Esq. is situated nearly a mile south-west from Wilmington
Church. It is a handsome building, rather secluded, and embosomed in luxu-
riant plantations and pleasure-grounds.

Wilmington Common House is distant from Dartford about two miles, and
from London 15 miles.

This seat was built in 1743, by Edward Bathurst, Esq. who pulled down the old house. This
gentleman inherited this estate of his father, William Bathurst, Esq. who had become possessed of it in
right of his wife, Anne, widow of Launcelot Bathurst, Gent. Edward Bathurst, Esq. conveyed it to
Thomas Motley, Esq. of Beckenham, whose daughter carried it in marriage to Francis Austen, Esq.
of Sevenoaks, who was succeeded by his son Francis Motley Austen, Esq. It was recently purchased
by the present proprietor.

Mount Pleasant, in the Parish of Wilmington, is seated about three-
quarters of a mile southward from Wilmington Church. It was built by Mr.
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Stephen Perry, of London, who, at his death in 1730, devised it to his nephew,
Stephen Perry, Esq. whose son, John, in 1765, became entitled to it. After his



death, he leaving no issue, it was sold to Mr. Thurston Ford, who, dying in
1770, also without issue, left it to his brother, Gilbert Ford, Esq. and this
gentleman was succeeded by his son, Thurston Ford, Esq.

Wilmington Church contains no monuments of public interest.

In the church-yard there is a handsome tomb for Sir Edward Hulse, Bart. M.D. First Physician
to George Il. obt. 1759, &et. 77, and other members of this family; and several stones, enclosed
within a railing, for the family of Tasker: also a monument for Edward Fowke, of Hawley , who died
in 1789.

This church is dedicated to St. Michael.
THE HUNDRED OF AXSTANE.

Hawley House, in the Parish of Sutton at Hone, the seat of Richard
Leigh, Esq. is situated one mile and a half south-east from Dartford. This
house is of great antiquity, but at what particular period it was founded does
not clearly appear. The interior is very elegant: among the embellishments
are several interesting paintings, particularly one of Lady Hinchingbrook, the
mother of John, Earl of Sandwich.

Hawley House is distant from London about 17 miles.

Haw Sawters, alias Sapters, in the reign of Edward Ill. belonged to the noble family of Hastings.
John de Hastings, Earl of Pembroke, being killed at a tournament, anno 3 Richard Il. left it in
possession of his widow, Philippa, daughter of Edmund Mortimer, Earl of March, who carried it to
her second husband, Richard Fitzalan, Earl of Arundel. At her death, anno 2 Henry IV. as she
survived her second husband, it devolved, by entail of John de Hastings, on his cousin, William de
Beauchamp, Lord Bergavenny, who, in the 12th year of Henry IV. was succeeded by Richard
Beauchamp, his son, whose daughter, Elizabeth, conferred it on her husband, Edward Nevill,
younger son of Ralph, Earl of Westmoreland. In the first year of Henry VIII. it had become the
property of John Poulter, whose daughter, Anne, carried it in marriage to Thomas Mayo; and his
descendants, in the beginning of James I. sold Hawley House, with the reputed manor of Sawters, to
Edmund Hunt, Esq. After his death, in 1609, it was possessed by Mr. William Hewson, whose
son, William, after the death of Charles I. transmitted Hawley House, with the estate (for the Manor
of Sawters was now quite forgotten), to Edward Badby, Esqg. whose heirs, after his death in 1682,
sold it to the Hon. John Stafford Howard. His estates being forfeited for his adherence to James II.
King William, in 1695, granted this seat to Sir Francis Leigh, of Tring, whose grandson, Francis
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Leigh, Esq. dying s. p. in 1774, left it for life to his fourth and surviving wife, bequeathing the
inheritance to his nephew, Richard Leigh, Esq.

Sutton Place, in the Parish of Sutton at Hone, the seat of Mumford
Campbell, Esq. a Magistrate for the County, is situated about half a mile north
from Sutton at Hone, and rather more than two miles south-east from Dartford.
This appears to have once been a mansion of great note and magnificence, as
may be inferred from the following account of it.

Sutton Place, formerly called Brook Place, belonged, in the reign of Henry VIII. to Nicholas Statham,
Gent. whose widow, Elizabeth, after his death, carried it in marriage to Sir Maurice Denys, on whose
death, anno 6 Elizabeth, it came to his brother, Sir Walter Denys, of Durhams, in Gloucestershire.

He sold it to Rowland Hayward, Esq. of London, who passed it away to Martin Bowes, Esq. and he
conveyed it to Anne Haddon, widow of Walter Haddon, Esq. who married, secondly, Sir Henry
Brook, fifth son of George, Lord Cobham. Of this lady it was purchased by George Cole, Esq.
who, in the 20th year of James I. sold it to Sir Thomas Smith, who much improved and enlarged
this magnificent mansion, that had been first erected by Sir Maurice Denys. In his posterity Sutton
Place continued till Catherine, widow of Robert Smythe, Esq. and Henry, their son, conveyed it, in



1699, to Sir John Le Thieullier, who very injudiciously pulled down a great part of the building.
Afterwards Anne, widow of his grandson, John Lethieullier, Esq. sold it, in 1776, to Nathaniel

Webb, Esq. who the following year conveyed it to Mr. John Mumford, who pulled down a further

part of the house, and modernised and improved the remainder. At his death, in 1787, he bequeathed
it to his widow for life, and after her decease, to his eldest son, William Mumford, Esq.

Sutton Place is distant from London about 17 miles.

St. John's, in the Parish of Sutton at Hone, the seat of Mrs. Anne Eleanor
Mumford, is situated about half a mile south-east from Sutton at Hone, and
rather more than two miles north-east from Farningham.

St. John's is distant from London about 18 miles.

In the reign of King John, Robert Basing gave the Manor of Sutton at Hone to the Knights
Hospitallers of St. John of Jerusalem, who established here a commandery. It remained in their
possession till the dissolution of the order in the 32d Henry VIIl. and in the 35th year of the same
reign it was granted to Sir Maurice Denys, who had before been appointed Receiver General of the
Revenues of the Hospital, and who thereupon assumed the name of St. John. His widow. Lady
Elizabeth, at her death in the 19th year of Elizabeth, gave this manor to her daughter Elizabeth,
widow of Vincent Randyll, Esqg. and to their daughters, Catherine and Martha, who at their mother's
death became possessed of it in undivided moieties. Martha Randyll carried her moiety in marriage
to Thomas Cranfield, Esqg. of London, which moiety included the ancient mansion and chapel of the
knights, and was considered a separate manor, retaining the title of St. John's, alias Sutton Manor.
Vincent Cranfield, Esq. the grandson of Thomas Cranfield, Esq. above mentioned, conveyed it by deed
and fine, in 1649, to Thomas Hollis, Esqg. of London, and he, in 1660, passed it in the same way to
Abraham Hill, Esq. of London, a learned man and great promoter of the Royal Society at its first
institution. His daughter, Frances, dying unmarried, in 1736, possessed of it, left it to her relative,

73

William Hill, Esqg. of Carwythinick, in Cornwall, who, in 1780, sold it to John Mumford, Esq. of
Sutton Place, and he, dying in 1787, begneathed the manor to his eldest son, William Mumford, Esq.
and the mansion, which was almost rebuilt in 1755, to his youngest son, John Mumford, Esq.

Highlands, in the Parish of Sutton at Hone, the residence of John Staples,
Gent. is situated at Swanley, two miles south-west from Sutton at Hone, and
about three miles and a half south-west from Dartford.

Cold Harbour House, in the Parish of Sutton at Hone, the property and
residence of James Shepherd, Gent. is situated eastward from Swanley, and
about one mile and a half south-west from Sutton at Hone. Its distance from
Dartford is about three miles and a half.

Sutton at Hone Church contains the following beautiful monuments:

On the south side of the south aisle, a monument, with the half-length figure of a woman in white
marble, in alto relievo, for Mrs. Frances Hill, daughter of Abraham Hill, Esq. great-grand-daughter
of William, Lord Willoughby, of Parham, who died unmarried, 1736, aged 78. In the small south
chancel, at the east end, a mural monument for Abraham Hill, Esq. of St. John's, in this parish, the
son of Richard Hill, Esq. descended out of Devonshire; he died 1721, aged 88: another for Richard
Hill, Esqg. above mentioned, who died in 1722. On the south side is a superb monument, under a
richly ornamented arch, with the full-length figure of a man in robes, for Sir Thomas Smith, of Sutton
Place, in this parish, Governor of the East India and other trading companies, Treasurer of the
Virginian Plantation, prime undertaker of the discovery of the north-west passage in 1612, and some
time Ambassador to the Emperor and Great Duke of Russia and Muscovy, &c. &c.; obt. 1625: a
memorial for Henry Smith, Esq. son and heir of Robert Smith, Esq. great-grandson of Sir Thomas
Smith, above mentioned, who died in 1706, aged 29, leaving a widow and one child, Sydney Stafford
Smith. Near the pulpit is a small elegant mural monument to the memory of John Mumford, Esq.
of St. John's, in this parish, who departed this life Aug. 23d, 1825, in the 74th year of his age;
he married, first, Elizabeth, daughter of John Nash, M.D. of Sevenoaks; secondly, Elizabeth,



daughter of Mr. Sergeant Leigh, of Hawley, in this parish; and, thirdly, Anne Eleanor, second
daughter of James Chapman, Esq. of Paul's Cray Hill, who survives him. In the north aisle,
under the pew belonging to Hawley, are interred several of the family of Leigh, and other owners of
that seat.

In the church-yard is a monument for John Lethieullier, Esqg. of Sutton Place, and his two wives;
he died in 1760: and another for William Mumford, Esq. of Sutton Place, who departed this life
May 27th, 1821, in the 75th year of his age; also Mary, his relict, who died July 4th, 1834, aged 84
years; and other members of this family.

The Church of Sutton at Hone is dedicated to St. John the Baptist.

Court Lodge, in the Parish of Darent, the residence of Henry Chapman,
Gent. is a handsome modern house, most pleasantly situated on the south side of
the church, at a short distance eastward from the river Darent. It is rather
more than two miles from Dartford.
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DARENT. — An elegant house has recently been erected here by William
Fleet, Esqg. who resides in it.

Vicarage, Darent, the residence of the Rev. John Eveliegh, A.M. is a neat
modern house, at a very short distance north from the church, and about two
miles from Dartford.

Darent Church. The font here is very ancient: it is carved out of a single
stone, and is composed of eight compartments, between which are columns, alter-
nately angular and circular, supporting semicircular arches. On the compart-
ments are scriptural and symbolical figures in alto relievo, rudely engraved.
The upper part of the chancel is paved with black marble, the gift of Mr.
Edmund Davenport in 1680, as appears by this inscription on the upper step
next the rails, "Ex dono Edmund Davenport, 1680."

On the north side of the chancel there is a mural monument for Catherine, wife of Wm. Lee, Esq.
daughter of Wm. Johnson, Esq. M.P. for Aldborough, in Suffolk, who died in 1746; and a memorial
for Wm. Lee, Esq. above mentioned, Surveyor of the Navy in the reign of Queen Anne, who died in
1757, aged 87. There is also a very ancient brass, against the wall of the south aisle, for John
Crepehege and Jane his wife, of this parish, who lived in the reign of Edward Ill.: it was formerly
placed over their remains.

Darent Church is dedicated to St. Margaret.

Woodside House, in the Parish of Stone, the seat of the venerable Arch-
deacon King, is a handsome modern house, recently erected in a very pleasant
situation about half a mile south from the church. It is surrounded by extensive
grounds, and commands a fine view of the river Thames.

Woodside House is distant from Dartford about two miles, from Gravesend
five miles, and from London 17 miles.

Stone Cottage, in the Parish of Stone, the property and residence of
Samuel Notley, Gent. is situated about three-quarters of a mile south from Stone
Church, and distant from Dartford about two miles.

Stone Castle, in the Parish of Stone, is an elegant structure, in the
castellated style: some part of it is ancient, but it has been considerably im-
proved and enlarged within these few years. The grounds and walks are very
beautiful.

Stone Castle is distant from Gravesend about five miles, and from London 17
miles and a half.

In the reign of Edward Ill. this place was held of the Bishop of Rochester, as half a knight's fee,
by Sir John de Northwood. It afterwards came to a family named Bonevant, or Bontfant, from whom



it passed to that of Chambley, and from these again, at the end of the reign of Henry VIII. to Robert
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Chapman, of London, whose grand-daughter, Anne Chapman, conferred it on her husband, William
Carew, Esq. of London. From this family it passed to that of Atkins, and thence to Dr. Thomas

Plume, Archdeacon of Rochester, who died in 1704. Dr. Plume was the founder of the Plumian
Professorship at Cambridge, for the maintenance of which he gave to the University about £18,000.
He bequeathed Stone Castle for certain charitable purposes in the diocese of Rochester, in trust to 20
clergymen of the diocese, and in these feoffees it still remains.

Stone Church. — This edifice is, perhaps, the finest specimen of Gothic
architecture in the diocese. It consists of a nave, two side aisles, and a chancel;
and at the west end is a large square tower. The windows are particularly
remarkable for their fine symmetry, and for the brilliant stained glass with which
they are ornamented. The interior is spacious and lofty: on each side of the
chancel is a row of ancient stalls, curiously carved; and here, as well as in other
parts of the church, are pilasters of brown marble.

The following are the principal monuments:

In the chancel, a mural monument for Robert Talbot, A.M. Rector of this parish, who died May 12th,
1754, aged 59; and Anne his wife, daughter of John Lynch, Esq. of Groves, in this county; also Mary
their daughter. Over the door of the chapel, on the north side, is another of the same kind, with the
figures of a man and his wife kneeling at desks; behind the man are two sons, and behind the woman
eight daughters; it is to the memory of Robert Chapman, Esqg. of London, merchant adventurer and
draper, who died at Stone Castle in 1574, aged 65. South of the altar, a mural monument for Sarah,
wife of Lieutenant Colonel Berkeley, daughter of John Talbot, Esq. of Stone Castle, who died Aug.
5th, 1801, in the 36th year of her age; also her infant son, James, who died July 1st, 1801, aged
three months: another for John Talbot, Esq. of Stone Castle, who departed this life Sept. 20th, 1806,
in the 72d year of his age; and for Anne his wife, who died March 13th, the same year, aged 71 years;
also for Robert Talbot, Esqg. of Stone Castle, eldest and only surviving son of John and Anne Talbot,
who died April 10th, 1830, in the 69th year of his age; and Elizabeth Sophia, wife of Robert Talbot,
Esqg. daughter of J. T. Savary, Esq. of Greenwich, who died Nov. 18th, 1830, aged 70 years. North
of the altar, a superb monument in memory of the Rev. Thomas Heathcote, LL.B. second son of Sir
Thomas Heathcote, Bart. of Hursley Lodge, in the County of Southampton; he was collated to the
Rectory of Stone by Zachary Pearce, Lord Bishop of Rochester, Jan. 1st, 1772, and died at the
Parsonage House, in this parish, July 13th, 1811, in the 63d year of his age; also of Leetitia his wife,
youngest daughter of the Right Hon. Lord Chief Baron Parker, by Martha, his second wife, daughter
and co-heiress of Edward Strong, Esq. of Greenwich; Laetitia was herself co-heiress with Martha,
Countess of St. Vincent, her only sister; she departed this life July 20th, 1802, in the 57th year of
her age. The above Thomas and Laetitia were buried in the mausoleum at Hursley. In the south
aisle, on the south side, is a neat monument for George Sharp, Gent. who died May 5th, 1810, aged
82 years; and for Mary, his wife, who died Jan. 23d, 1820, in the 86th year of her age.

In the church-yard, amongst many other tombs, is one of marble, in memory of Sarah, wife of
Samuel Notley, Gent. of this parish, who died June 16th, 1822, aged 72 years.

Stone Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
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Ingress Abbey, in the Parish of Swanscombe, the seat of Alderman
Harmer, is a magnificent structure of Gothic and Elizabethan architecture, built
of the stone of the old London Bridge. It is situated in a beautiful park on the
banks of the Thames, and is decidedly the finest object seen from the river on the
coast of Kent, after passing Greenwich. The dairy and larder are fitted up with
stone from the late Sir William Curtis's mansion at Southgate, Middlesex.

Ingress Abbey is distant from London 18 miles.



Ingress, anciently Ingries, belonged formerly to the Priory of Dartford, and after the suppression
of that house the fee of this estate remained in the Crown till Queen Elizabeth, in her fifth year,
granted it to Edward Darbyshire and John Bere, who soon after conveyed it to one Jones. He, at the
end of James |. alienated it to Mr. Whaley, who settled it on his relative, Thomas Holloway, Esqg. and
he again conveyed it to one Shires, whose widow, with her two sons, transferred it, in 1649, to Captain
Edward Brent, of Southwark. At his death, in 1676, his widow enjoyed it for life, and afterwards
it devolved on their son, Edward Brent, Esq. who, in 1689, conveyed it by mortgage to John Smith,
Esq. of Camberwell, whose sons, Nathaniel and Jonathan, in 1710, purchased the fee of it of the heirs
of Edward Brent, Esq. In 1719 Captain Nathaniel Smith conveyed his interest in Ingress to his
brother, Jonathan, who, in 1737, alienated the estate to John Carmichael, Earl of Hyndford, and he,
in 1748, alienated it to William, Viscount Duncannon, who succeeded, on his father's decease, to the
title of Earl of Besborough. Of this nobleman it was purchased by John Calcraft, Esq. who, dying in
1772, devised it to his eldest son John, and he, in 1788, sold it to John Disney Roebuck, Esq. who, in
1796, was succeeded by his son, Henry Roebuck, Esq.

GREENHITH, in the Parish of Swanscombe. Within the angle of the road,
at the west end of this place, is the handsome mansion of William Colyer, Esq.
which was built by this gentleman about 1802. It commands a fine view of the
Thames, (which flows immediately before the north front,) and of the county
of Essex.

It is distant from Gravesend nearly five miles, and from London 18 miles.

Eagle CIiff, in the Parish of Swanscombe, the seat of Thomas Forrest,
Esq. is situated at Greenhith. Its grounds, which are divided by the road from
those of Ingress Abbey, afford, for so small an extent, an unequalled diversity of
beautiful and picturesque scenery; the majestic Thames appearing through breaks
in the luxuriant foliage. The house is modern, having been built within the last
40 years, and became the property of the present owner by purchase, in 1831.
In the interior are a few paintings; a Dutch girl, by one of the old masters;
Oliver Cromwell, supposed by Sir Peter Lely; portraits of Garrick and Quin;
and a few family portraits.

Eagle Cliff is distant from Gravesend about four miles, and from London
18 miles.

77

Adjoining the Eagle Cliff is the residence of Thomas Sharp Hill, Esq.
erected in 1800, by Mr George Sharp. It is the property of Mrs. Hill, widow
of the late Commander Thomas Hill, R. N. of the same place.

Knockhold Lodge, in the Parish of Swanscombe, the property and re-
sidence of Charles Bayly, Gent. is a modern house, built by the late Samuel
Bayly, Gent. about 11 years since. It is situated about half a mile south-east
from Greenhith, and is distant from London about 18 miles.

Swanscombe Church contains, among many other monuments, the fol-
lowing:

In the north aisle, a mural monument for Mr. John Sloman, who died 1706, aged 21. On the
north side, a plain tablet for the Rev. Charles Robert Marshall, B.D. Rector of Cold Hanworth,
Lincolnshire, and Vicar of Exning, Suffolk: he was youngest son of William Marshall, Esq. of
Thedlethorpe, Lincolnshire; he died April 12th, 1823, aged 69 years: and two small tablets, one
above the other, the first for Charles Gore Lefebure, Esq. who was interred here July 29th, 1829,
aged 82; the other for Elizabeth, his wife, interred here Aug. 18th, 1826, in her 83d year: a hand-
some mural monument for Eliza Thomson Wilson, only daughter of William Wilson, surgeon in the
Royal Navy; she died April 29th, 1835, in her 20th year. In the great chancel, a memorial, within
the rails, for the Rev. John Watts, obt. Jan. 12th, 1670: another for John Taylor, Clerk, B.D.
Rector of this parish, who died Sept. 2d, 1757, aged 60 years: another for Martin Barnes, B.D.
Rector of this parish, obt. Sept. 27th, 1759, et. 69. On the south side, a mural monument, with the
figure of a woman kneeling at a desk, for Dame Ellinor, wife of Sir Anthony Weldon, daughter of
George Wilmer, Esq. obt. 1622: on the south side of the rails, a corresponding one, with the figure



of a man kneeling at a desk, for Anthony Weldon, Clerk of the Green Cloth to Queen Elizabeth,
brother of Sir Ralph Weldon, obt. 1613. In the south chancel, a monument for Elianor, relict of
William Say, Esq. obt. 1678: another for Elizabeth, relict of William Hart, Esq. obt. 1677: another
for Anne, relict of Sir Percival Hart, of Lullingstone, obt. 1712. At the upper end of the south side
is a fine monument of alabaster, on which are the figures of a knight in armour and his lady, lying at
length, with a son and daughter at their feet, cumbent, and in front, under two tablets, three sons and
five daughters kneeling; it is to the memory of Sir Ralph Weldon, Chief Clerk of the Kitchen to
Queen Elizabeth, afterwards Clerk Comptroller to King James; and at the time of his death, anno
1609, Clerk of the Green Cloth. On another tablet is an inscription, setting forth that his grand-
father, Edward Weldon, Esq. served Henry VII. and was Master of the Household to Henry VIII.;
likewise that his uncle, Thomas Weldon, Esq. was Cofferer to Edward VI. and Queen Elizabeth.
This family of Weldon is very ancient, being descended from Bertram de Weltdone, who was of the
retinue of Walther, Earl of Northumberland and Bishop of Durham, at the time of the Conquest:
they were proprietors of the manor of Swanscombe. In the south aisle is a tablet for John Bryan,
Esqg. who died June 6th, 1824, aged 69 years: he bequeathed £13,000 to alms-houses for aged women,
and to other useful institutions; also for Mrs. Mary Bryan, his wife, who died Sept. 13th, 1822, in
the 82d year of her age. North of the altar, a small but very elegant monument, by R. Westmacott,
jun. in memory of Henry William Disney Roebuck, Esq. who departed this life March 27th, 1796,
in the 63d year of his age.

In the church-yard there is a handsome monument for Richard Forrest, Esq. of Greenhith, who
died Feb. 7th, 1796, aged 60; and for Sarah his wife, who died Aug. 6th, 1818, aged 81; also for
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James Forrest, son of James Forrest, of this parish, who died May 9th, 1794, aged three years and
six months; and for Richard Forrest, who died Feb. 16th, 1807, in the 38th year of his age: another
near the gates, to the memory of Commander Thomas Hill, R. N. of Greenhith, who departed this
life Dec. 8th, 1836, in the 69th year of his age.

Swanscombe Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.

Southfleet. The old Watling Street, after leaving Wingfield Bank, passes
through Swanscombe park wood, and runs along the northern boundary of this
parish towards Shinglewell, and thence to Cobham Park and Rochester. On
this road, about half a mile west from Wingfield bank, near Springhead, some
years ago, a stone was dug up, which was supposed to be a Roman milliare.
When found, it was standing nearly upright, and the top of it, being only six or
seven inches below the surface of the ground, was much furrowed by the plough.
It measured 2 ft. 6 in. in height; two of the sides were 16 in. broad, and the
opposite two 14 in. The corners were chiselled, but the faces were rustic; and
on one side was a cross or numerical X. deeply cut, telling that it stood 10 miles
from some particular station.

Coins, especially one of the Empress Faustina, in good preservation, have
also been found about the same place.

Hasted, supported by Dr. Thorpe, conjectures that at Southfleet was the
Roman station Vagniacae (and not at Northfleet, as Somner and others suppose),
the distance being about 10 Italian miles from the Medway at Rochester: and
further, he adds, this is the more probable, from the valley between Northfleet
Hill and the opposite hill to the westward being (as it would be now, but for the
main road and the bank alongside) a broad sheet of water, the Thames flowing
up at that time almost to Southfleet; in consequence of which the Roman road
would turn southward, where the aestuary was narrower, and where there was the
benefit of a fine spring.

North End, in the Parish of Southfleet, the property and residence of
William Wingfield Armstrong, Gentleman, is an ancient house, situated about
three quarters of a mile north-west from the church. In the interior are a few
old paintings.

It is distant from Gravesend rather more than three miles, and from London



nineteen miles and a half.

Joyce Hall, in the Parish of Southfleet, the seat of Thomas Colyer, Esq.
is situated a short distance westward from the church. It is a handsome house,
partly modern, and partly ancient: the modern part forms the south front, and
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is elegant and spacious. The site is very pleasant, and the gardens and grounds
well laid out.

It is distant from Gravesend about three miles, and from London between
19 and 20 miles.

Hook Green House, in the Parish of Southfleet, the seat of Zachariah
Piggot, Esq. is situated a short distance southward from the church. Itis an
ancient house, but we understand will shortly undergo considerable improvement,
by the substitution of a new front in the Elizabethan style, which (to judge from
a drawing that we saw of the proposed building) will be a beautiful specimen of
that kind of architecture.

Hook Green House is distant from Gravesend rather more than three miles,
and from London about 20 miles.

Hook Green House, or as Hasted calls it, Hook Place, was possessed, in the reign of James I. by
Sir William Swan, who died in 1612, a descendant of whom, Sir William Swan, Bart. conveyed it to
Aaron Harrington, Esq. who died in 1739. Elizabeth Russel, the daughter of this gentleman's sister
Sarah, as devisee under her uncle's will, carried it in marriage to Joseph Brooke, Esq. Recorder of
Rochester, who devised it, after his wife's decease, to the Rev. John Kennard Shaw, of Town Malling,
who then took the name of Brooke. Mr. Joseph Brooke died in 1792, and his widow in 1796.

The Rectory, Southfleet, is a fine ancient house, with extensive grounds and
shrubberies. Some few years ago it was altered and modernised by the Rev.
Mr. Rashleigh, then Rector; but although it was made more commodious, the
venerable appearance and uniform gothic beauty of the structure were very much
impaired. It stands a short distance south from the church.

Southfleet Church. In the chancel of this church are six ancient stalls
that were formerly appropriated to the monks of Rochester: there is also a
curious octagonal font, ornamented in the compartments with rude carving.
Among the monuments are the following:

In the chancel, a grave-stone, with the figures of a man and woman, for John Urban, Esq. who died
in 1420; and Joane his wife, daughter of Sir John Reskymmer, of Cornwall, who died in 1414: another,
with the figure of a man, for John Tubney, Rector of this parish, Archdeacon of St. Asaph, and Chap-
lain of John Lowe, Bishop of Rochester; he died in 1457. In the south aisle, an altar monument, for
John Sedley, Esq. one of the Auditors of the Exchequer, who died in 1500; and Elizabeth, his wife:
also for John Sedley, Esq. of Southfleet, who died in 1581; and Anne, his wife, daughter of John Cole-
peper, Esq. of Aylesford. On the south wall is a handsome monument, on which lies the figure of a
man in armour, to the memory of John Sedley, Esq. who died in 1605, aged 44: it was erected by Sir
William Sedley, Bart. In the north aisle, a memorial for Hester, Lady Swan, who died in 1712; and
for her son, Sir William Swan, Bart. who died a few weeks after his mother: another for Cecilie, Lady
Peyton: a handsome mural monument, for Joseph Brook, Esq. of the Inner Temple, one of the
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Masters of the Bench of that Honorable Society; also for Elizabeth, his wife, the only child of Samuel
Russell, of London, Merchant, by Sarah, his wife, one of the sisters of Aaron Harrington, Esq. of
Hook Place, in this parish; also for Sarah, the only child of the said Joseph and Elizabeth Brooke;

all of whom, excepting Samuel Russell (buried in London) are interred in this chancel. Joseph Brooke
was for many years Recorder of the City of Rochester; but in the year 1784, in the 74th of his age, he
retired from that office, and resided at his house at West Malling, in this county; and the year fol-
lowing, the Mayor and Corporation of Rochester waited upon him in their official capacity at his said



residence, and out of esteem for his services, and as a memorial of their gratitude, presented him with
an elegant piece of plate. He died Jan. 27th, 1792, in the 81st year of his age. Elizabeth Brooke died
Nov. 3d, 1796, aged 78.

Southfleet Church is dedicated to St. Nicholas.

Pennis House, in the Parish of Fawkham, the property of Joseph Almond
Cropper, Esq. Barrister at Law, is situated about half a mile southward from
the church. It is a neat modern structure, erected about 30 years ago, on an
ancient site.

Pennis House is distant from Gravesend about six miles, and from London
21 miles.

The Manor of Fawkham, soon after the reign of William |. became the property of a family who
took their name from it. In the reign of Henry Il. it became divided into Old and New Fawkham,
the latter of which, in the 8th Edward lll. was held by Gilbert de Kirkby. After the Kirkbys had
become extinct here, New Fawkham passed to the family of Rokesle, and afterwards to that of Percy,
Earls of Northumberland. We find it subsequently in the name of White, whose heirs, in the reign
of Elizabeth, sold it to Thomas Walter, Gentleman, who rebuilt the mansion belonging to it, which was
called Pennis. He was succeeded by his son, John Walter, Esq. whose heirs sold it to George Gif-
ford, Esqg. and on his death, in 1704, it devolved on his son Thomas Gifford, Esq. After the death
of this gentleman, on a division of the property among his three daughters, Pennis, with the lands
belonging to it, became the property of John Selby, in right of his wife Mary, whose son John con-
veyed it to his elder brother William, and on his death, in 1773, it came to his son, William Selby,
Esq. who died in 1777. After the decease of his widow, in 1788, Pennis devolved on John Brown,
Esq. of the Moat Ightham, who then took the name of Selby.

Rectory, Fawkham, the residence of the Rev. Richard Salwey, B.A. who
was instituted Rector here in 1829, is situated a short distance south-west from
the church. It is a modern house, built by Dr. Hemming, and has since been
altered and enlarged by the present incumbent.

The distance from Gravesend is about six miles, and from London 21 miles.

Fawkham Church. In the chancel of this church is a stone with a brass plate, inscribed,
Richard Meredith, Esq. Clerk of the Catry to Queen Elizabeth and King James; obt. 1607. On
the south side, a mural monument for Bennet, widow of Captain Ambrose Ward, of Hythe, and
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daughter of Thomas Turney, Esq. of Brockwell, in Saltwood; she died 1641. On the east side,
another, with the fissures of a man and woman kneeling at an altar, for John Walter, Esq. of this
parish, Justice of the Peace; he married Dorcas, eldest daughter of Humphrey Michell, Esq. of Old
Windsor, and died in 1626. This gentleman was a benefactor to the poor of this parish, and of Ash
and Hartley.

Fawkham Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Rands House, in the Parish of Ash, the seat of James Fletcher, Esq. is
situated about three miles north-east from Wrotham. It is an ancient house,
but has been modernised and considerably improved. Among the internal deco-
rations is a fine picture by Andrian Vandiest.

Rands House is distant from London about 23 miles.

Ash Church consists of three aisles and three chancels. The altar-piece
was presented by the Rev. Samuel Atwood, A. M. Rector of this church, who
died April 24th, 1735.

In the rector's or principal chancel, on the south wall, is a monument for Thomas Maxfield, 8.T.P.
Rector of this church and Ridley, who died Sept. 12th, 1605. In the north chancel, that belongs to
the family of Hodsoll, are several memorials of that family. In the south or Fowler's chancel, on the



south wall, is a marble monument for Lady Anne, second wife of Sir Edmund Fowler, of this parish,
daughter of Sir Edward Brabison Baron, of Ardey, sister of William, Earl of Estmeath, and widow
of Samuel Alymer, Esq. of Suffolk; she died in 1645, as did also Sir Edmund Fowler, her husband.

This church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.

New Cottage, in the Parish of Kingsdown, the residence and property of
William Newell Campbell, Esq. is situated on the north-east side of the road
from Farningham to Wrotham, about three miles and a half from the former
place; and distant from London 21 miles.

Oakland House, in the parish of Kingsdown, the property and residence
of George Morgan, Gent. is situated south-west of the road from Farningham to
Wrotham, distant from Farningham about four miles, and from London 21
miles and a half.

Franks Hall, in the Parish of Horton Kirby, which we regretted to find
fast going to decay, is a fine old specimen of the Elizabethan style. The interior
has been richly decorated, as appears by the ruined remains; but at present few
of the rooms are habitable.

Franks, in the reign of Henry Ill. belonged to a family from Yorkshire, who subscribed them-
selves, in deeds, Frankish. This name becoming extinct, Franks passed by sale into that of Martin,
of whom Edward Martin, in the beginning of the reign of Elizabeth, alienated it to Launcelot
Bathurst, of London, who rebuilt the seat on the side of the river Darent, opposite to its old site, and
died in 1594. His descendants continued proprietors of this seat till Berenice, daughter of Francis
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Bathurst, Esg. who died in 1738, carried it in marriage to Joseph Fletcher, Esq. of London, whose
daughter, Susan, carried it in marriage to John Tasker, Esq. of Dartford, and he, on her death in
1757, became sole proprietor of this seat. He afterwards married Anne, eldest daughter of Thomas
Faunce, Esq. of Sutton at Hone, and dying, in 1796, left her in possession of it.

Kirby Hall, in the Parish of Horton Kirby, the residence of Ingram Rider,
Esq. is situated on the banks of the Darent, about one mile north-east from
Farningham. It is a handsome modern structure, with beautiful grounds and
shrubberies. The interior is spacious, and decorated with much taste and
elegance.

Kirby Hall is distant from London about 19 miles.

The manor of Horton received the additional title of Kirkby, or Kirby, from its early possessors,
de Kirkby, who were descended from the family of that name seated at Kirkby Hall, in Lancashire.
At the end of the reign of Elizabeth, the mansion of Kirkby Court was separated from the manor by
Sir Thomas Walsingham, and passed to Cuthbert Hacket, Esq. of London, whose heirs passed it
away to one Payne. With this family it continued till Joel Payne, in 1681, conveyed it to John
Collett, Esq. whose daughter, Elizabeth, in 1698, sold it to John Arnold, and his son, William, in
1730, conveyed it to Thomas Polhill, Esq. whose three daughters, at his death in 1732, inherited it,
and transmitted it to their heirs. In 1738, Richard and Thomas Collins, the heirs of one of the
daughters above mentioned, who had become sole proprietors of this seat, conveyed it to Richard
Hornsby, Esq. whose widow afterwards enjoyed it; and the year following her decease, Edward
Homewood, Esq. purchased it of her heirs.

Vicarage, Horton Kirby, the residence of the Rev. George Rashleigh, A.M.
is situated near the church, on the south-east. It is an elegant modern house,
having the advantage of grounds exceedingly well laid out and planted. The
river Darent flows in front, at a short distance westward, which, together with
the varied scenery of this beautiful valley, renders it a most agreeable spot. The
decorations of the interior are enriched by some good paintings.

The distance hither from Farningham is about one mile and a half, from



Dartford four miles, and from the Metropolis 19 miles.
South Darenth, in the Parish of Horton Kirby, the seat of Edward
Cresey, Esq. Architect, is situated about half way between Horton Kirby and
Darent. This is a modern structure, in the style of the Lombard houses in
Italy. The situation is very pleasant, being a little elevated eastward from the
river Darent.
It is distant from Dartford about three miles, and from London 18 miles.
Giffords, in the Parish of Horton Kirby, the residence and property of
Mrs. Muggeridge, is situated on the banks of the Darent, about two miles north-
east from Farningham. This house seems an ancient structure. The ground
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in front is ornamented with a fine cedar, which gives the place a striking ap-
pearance.

It is distant from Dartford about three miles and a half, and from London
18 miles and a half.

Horton Kirby Church. In the chancel of this church there is a monument for Sir
Thomas Bathurst, son of Sir Edward Bathurst, obt. 1688; and several others for members of this family.
In the high chancel, under an arched recess in the wall, which is ornamented with carved work, is a
tomb, most probably (as Hasted conjectures) for one of the family of De Ros, lords of this place. In
the south end of the transept, on the east side, is a monument for Richard Hornsby, Esq. of Kirby
Hall, and Elizabeth, his wife; he served the office of Sheriff of this County in 1749, and was also a
Magistrate: he died Dec. 27th, 1772, aged 65 years, and was interred at Cobham. Mrs. Hornsby
died Nov. 24th, 1791, aged 61 years, and was interred here; as are also eight of their children.

The Church of Horton Kirby is dedicated to St. Mary.

Farningham House, in the Parish of Farningham, the property of Thomas
Waring, Esqg. and present residence of George Russell, Esq. is situated in
Farningham. It is a substantial ancient mansion, of very respectable appearance,
and well sheltered.

The distance hence to London is about 17 miles and a half.

Mill House, Farningham, the residence and property of Charles Colyer,

Gent. is a modern building, situated on the banks of the river Darent. The
grounds surrounding it are very tastefully disposed: on the side of the cliff,
westward from the house, is a winding ascent, conducting to an artificial

ruin, which is considered the chief attraction of the place; and certainly it is
arranged with much skill, and produces an imposing and perfectly natural effect.
In the house are two remarkable paintings: one of game; the other of a salmon
trout, which was caught in the river close to the house, in the time of the late
Mr. Colyer, about the year 1808, and weighed nine pounds two ounces; an
extraordinary weight for a fish of that species.

Vicarage House, Farningham, the residence of the Rev. Benjamin
Winston, LL.B. is principally modern, having been rebuilt, in 1808, by the
Rev. Dr. Van Mildert, afterwards Bishop of Durham, soon after his collation to
this benefice. Dr. Van Mildert was succeeded here, in 1816, by the Rev. B.
Sandford, now bearing the name of Winston, the present Vicar.

Croft House, Farningham, the property of George Edwards, Esq. is a
modern structure in the Grecian style, situated near the angle formed by the
London road, and the road branching off to Eynsford.

Farningham Hill House, in the Parish of Farningham, the property of
Thomas Waring, Esq. is situated on the summit of the hill north of the old road

84

to London, about three-quarters of a mile from Farningham. It is a handsome



modern house, in a very salubrious and pleasant situation, commanding agreeable
prospects over a considerable extent of country.

The distance from London is about 17 miles.

Farningham Church. From the monuments in this church we select the
following, as most worthy of notice:

In the chancel, a grave-stone for Sir William Gylborne, Vicar, obt. July 15th, 1451: another for
Henry Farebrace, A.M. Rector of Ightham, and Vicar of Farningham, a benefactor to the poor of
both parishes; obt. Feb. 21st, 1601: and another for John Pendleberry, 35 years Vicar here; obt.
Dec. 19th, 1719, eet. 66: a memorial for Elizabeth, daughter of William Emmerton, Esq. and
Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of Sir John Beale, Bart.; obt. 1689: another for Lady Jane Beale, obt.
1676; and another for Sir John Beale, Bart. obt. 1684. On the south side, west of the pulpit, a neat
monument for Thomas Nash, who died Dec. 31st, 1809, aged 66 years; and his second son, Edward,
who died Jan. 3d, 1821, in the 42d year of his age; and for his eldest son, Thomas, who died June
27th, 1828, aged 54 years; likewise for Mary, widow of the first named, who died Jan. 8th, 1829, in
the 87th year of her age; and for Sarah, his eldest daughter, who died June 9th, 1833, aged 57 years.
On the north side, a small neat monument for Mrs. Elizabeth Warre, widow of William Warre, Esq.
of Bradford, in the County of Somerset, descended from the ancient family of Warre, of Hestercombe,
in the said county, who died Aug. 23d, 1788, in the 60th year of her age.

In the church-yard there is a noble mausoleum, the building of which was commenced by Thomas
Nash, Esq. citizen of London, and one of his Majesty's Justices of the Peace for the Counties of Kent
and Surrey, (who died at Paris, April 7th, 1778, and whose remains are deposited within it,) and
finished by his executors for a burying place for himself and his family. It contains the following
memorials: one for the founder, recording as above; one for John Nash, M.D. who died June 8th,
1783, aged 75: another for John Allen, Esq. of Milton, near Gravesend, who died Oct. 15th, 1802,
aged 91 years; one for Elizabeth, his wife, who died May 5th, 1785, aged 69; also for John Allen,
Esq. of Hazels, in the Parish of Northfleet, who died May 15th, 1827, aged 87; another for Elizabeth,
wife of John Allen, who died Aug. 31st, 1782, aged 34: one for Thomas Harman, Esqg. of Wombwell
Hall, who died Dec. 12th, 1805, aged 69; and one for Mary, his wife, who died Oct. 31, 1813, aged
78; another for Thomas Harman, Esq. of Wombwell Hall, who departed this life Feb. 15th, 1837,
in the 71st year of his age; also one for Rachel, wife of Thomas Harman, Esq. of Wombwell Hall,
who departed this life 24th April, 1835, in the 71st year of her age: another for William Hall
Timbrel, Esq. who died June 14th, 1814, aged 62; and, lastly, one for Anne Timbrel, his relict,
who died April 28th, 1825, aged 70.

In the church-yard there is also a handsome monument over the vault of William Hardyman and
Henry Colyer, in memory of Mary, wife of William Hardyman, who died May 24th, 1784, aged 63;
also of Elizabeth Colyer, daughter of Henry and Charlotte Colyer, who died Feb. 26th, 1803, aged 12
years; also of Charlotte Colyer, who died Sept. 8th, 1815, aged 34 years; and of Ann Colyer, wife of
Charles Colyer, who died Dec. 20th, 1816, in the 29th year of her age.

Farningham Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.

Lullingstone Park, in the Parish of Lullingstone, the seat of Sir Percival
Hart Dyke, Bart. stands on the banks of the River Darent, at the eastern
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extremity of a very extensive and beautifully diversified park, which is stocked

with about 800 head of deer. It is a fine old English mansion, and forcibly
impresses the mind with ideas of the grandeur of its ancient possessors. In the

hall are several handsome family portraits, in the costume of the times to which

the persons belonged. There is a magnificent room above stairs, of large
dimensions, which has a vaulted ceiling of exquisite workmanship, and round it

a most unique ancient wainscot: here we observed a fine portrait of Queen

Anne. The arched entrance <e> of the house from the park has the appearance of
great antiquity, and is probably some hundred years older than the rest of the
building.



Lullingstone, in the beginning of the reign of Edward |. was possessed by the family of Rokesle.
At length the feoffees of John de Rokesle, who died in 1361 , conveyed his estates here to Sir John
Peche,
in whose posterity they continued till Elizabeth, sister and heir of Sir John Peche, about the reign
of Henry VII. entitled her husband, John Hart, Esq. to the possession of them. This property
was inherited by the descendants of this gentleman, bearing his name, and men of high repute in the
county, till it passed with Anne, daughter of Percival Hart, Esq. who died in 1738, to her second
husband, Sir Thomas Dyke, Bart. of Horeham, in Sussex, from whom it lineally descended to the
present proprietor.

The park was restored to its present state by Sir Thomas Dyke, having for
many years previously been suffered to lie waste; for, according to Lambarde,
there was a park at Lullingstone in the reign of Elizabeth. The distance hither
from Sevenoaks is about seven miles, and from London 18 miles.

Lullingstone Church. This little church is an object of almost as great
attraction as the mansion itself, being remarkable for the great neatness with
which it is kept, as well as for the many noble and interesting memorials which
adorn it. Between the chancel and the nave is an ancient gothic oak screen,
with a balustrade on the top, beautifully carved. The church throughout is
paved with black and white marble.

In the chancel is a grave-stone for Galfridus, once Rector of this church: another for John de
Rokesle, Lord of Lullingstone, obt. 1361: and one for Sir William Peche, obt. 1487. On the
south side of the altar is a very sumptuous monument, and under the roof of it a sarcophagus, on
which lie the figures of a man in armour and his lady, to the memory of Sir Percyval Hart, (heir to
the Peches,) who lived in the service of four princes; he matched into the family of the Lord Bray;
obt. aet. 84. On the north side, separating the two chancels, is another magnificent stone monument,
enriched with gothic work, and ornamented with various coats of arms: below, under an altar-table,
lies the figure of a knight in armour; this is to the memory of Sir John Peche, Knight Banneret,
who, in the reign of Henry VIII. was Constable of Dover Castle, Lord Deputy of Calais, &c. &c.
He founded the alms-houses at Lullingstone, and gave £500 to the Grocers' Company, for pious
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purposes. At the east end, under the window, is a handsome tomb of alabaster, on which are the
figures of a man in armour and his lady, lying with their hands joined; it is for Sir George Hart,
second son of Sir Percival Hart, who died in 1587, aged 55. The west side of the chancel is entirely
covered by a beautiful gothic monument, executed in stucco, and in the form of a screen, ornamented
with a great number of shields of arms. In the centre is a white marble slab, in imitation of a door,
on which is an inscription for Percyval Hart, Esq. the munificent repairer and beautifier of this church,
and representative of this county in the two last parliaments of Queen Anne: he died in 1738, aged
70. On the north side is an elegant mural monument, with a profile of a lady, encircled with
ornamental sculpture, and on each side two urns of brown marble, in memory of Dame Anne Dyke,
who died in 1763, aged 71, only child of Percyval Hart, Esq. of this place: she was twice married;
first, to John Bluet, Esq. of Holcomb Court, in Devonshire, and afterwards to Sir Thomas Dyke,

Bart. of Horeham. Mr. Bluet died in 1728, aged 29, and was buried here: Sir Thomas Dyke

died in 1756, aged 58, and was also interred in this chancel.

Lullingstone Church is dedicated to St. Botolph.

On the banks of the River Darent, in the Parish of Eynsford, stand the
ruins of Eynsford Castle, which have rather a picturesque effect. The circuit
of the walls is very irregular, inclosing about three-quarters of an acre of ground:
they are built of squared flint, and are nearly four feet thick. In the middle is a
strong keep, or dungeon. The moat that encompassed the castle may still be
traced, though now quite dry.

In the church-yard of Londfield, adjoining the south wall of the church, is an altar-tomb for



Archdeacon Plumer, who died Nov. 20th, 1704, aged 74, of whom honourable notice has been
already taken.

Longfield Church is dedicated to St. Mary Magdalen.
HUNDRED OF CODSHEATH.

Otford Court, in the Parish of Shoreham, the seat of Humphrey St. John
Mildmay, Esq. is situated on the banks of the River Darent, adjoining Shore-
ham southward. This mansion has within these few years been rebuilt in the
Elizabethan style, and is now a very elegant residence. The grounds, which
slope to the river, are beautifully laid out: the park is small, but well wooded
and picturesque.

It is distant from Sevenoaks about five miles, from Lullingstone two miles,
and from London 20 miles.
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This place, which at its original foundation was named New House, was built on the estate of
Preston, in this parish, by John Borrett, Esq. who had purchased the property, in 1716, of Paul
D'Aranda, Esq. of Putney. At his death, in 1739, he was succeeded by his son, Thomas Borrett,
Esqg. who, dying in 1751, left it for life to his widow, and at her decease it devolved on their daughter,
Martha, who had married her relative, Thomas Borrett, Esq.

Dunstall Priory, in the Parish of Shoreham, the seat of J. Ryder
Burton, Esq. Captain in the Royal Navy, K.C.H. is situated about half a mile
eastward from Shoreham, on rising ground, commanding a full view of thia
beautiful valley, and its most conspicuous feature, Lullingstone Park. Itis a
modern structure, after an Italian model: the interior is tastefully fitted up, and
there are some fine paintings by the old masters.

Dunstall Priory is about five miles north from Sevenoaks, and 20 miles from
London.

Shoreham Church. At the west end is a mural monument for Anne, second daughter
of John Borrett, Esq. of the Inner Temple, obt. 1735. In the north aisle, on a grave-stone, is a brass
for William Wall, S.T.P. obt. Jan. 13th, 1727, at. 82, Vicar of this church 53 years, and Rector of
Milton almost 20 years. At the entrance of the great chancel is a grave-stone for Thomas Polhill,
Gent. obt. 1588; and Anne his wife, daughter of William Plumley, of Otford: a mural monument,
with the bust of a lady, for Susannah, wife of Edward Borrett, Esq. who died 1751. In the north
chancel, at the east end, a grave-stone for Paul D'Aranda, Esqg. of Shoreham, obt. 1712, at. 60;
another for Paul D'Aranda, Esq. of Putney, son of the above, obt. 1732, eet. 46. At the west end, a
mural marble for John Polhill, Esq. late of Preston, in this parish, descended from the elder house
of the Polhills of that place, obt. 1651, aet. 39; he married Anne, daughter of Sir Edward Gilbourne,
of Shoreham: a beautiful monument, by Sir H. Cheere, with the busts of a man and woman, for
John Borrett, Esq. Master of the Inner Temple, and Prothonotary, obt. 1739, at. 82. In the great
chancel, on the south side of the altar, a large elegant monument, with the busts of a gentleman
and lady, for Sir Abraham Shard, eldest son of Sir Isaac Shard, of Lambeth, whose second wife was
Ruth, daughter of John Borrett, Esq. of this parish; he died in 1746. In the north cross aisle, a
plain monument for Susannah, Lady Stirling, of Faskine, in the County of Lanark, Shoreham
Castle, and the Honour of Otford, interred in the family vault, Harmondsworth, Middlesex; paternally
descended from William of Wykeham, which entitles her heirs to the benefit of Winchester College:
she died June 8th, 1806, in childbed, aged 37 years. Near the pulpit, east side, a neat tablet for
Charlotte, the wife of John Gregory, Esq. of this parish, who died April 17th, 1832: and a monu-
ment for the Rev. Vincent Perronet, who was Vicar of this parish 59 years, and died May 9th, 1785,
in the 918t year of his age; also for Charity, his wife, who died in 1763.

Shoreham Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paid.



Halstead Place, in the Parish of Halstead, the seat of Alderman Atkins,
a Deputy Lieutenant of the County, is situated in a beautiful park, about five
miles and a half north-west from Sevenoaks. The house is of modern archi-
tecture, handsome and spacious: the interior is very elegant, and decorated
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with some valuable paintings by Correggio, Salvator Rosa, Caravaggio, Vander-
velde, Brueghel, Marcenay, Clevely, Wycke, Cuyp, &c. &c. The grounds here
are beautiful, and well adorned with shrubberies.

Halstead Place is distant from London about 18 miles.

The manor of Halstead, in very early times, was held by a family named Malavil, of the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury. From his descendants it passed through several proprietors, till it came into
possession of Admiral Lord Vere, third son of Charles, first Duke of St. Alban's, who, in 1755,
separated the Court Lodge from the manor, and sold it, together with a small portion of land
adjoining, to Robert Bagshaw, Esqg. who afterwards passed away Halstead Place to Robert Ralph
Foley, Esq. created in 1767 a Baronet. Of this gentleman it was purchased by John Sargent, Esq.
who died in 1791; and it was then sold to Arnold Arnold, Esq.

Halstead Church. In the north chancel is a grave-stone for Sir Thomas Watson, of
Halstead, a great benefactor to this church, who died in 1621: another for Elizabeth, his wife, which
was placed here by her grandson, Thomas, Earl of Downe. At the east end, a mural monument for
Sir James Ashe, Bart. of Twickenham, who died in 1733: a monument for John Sargent, Esq. of
Halstead, who died Sept. 20th, 1792, aged 76 years; also for Rosamond, his wife, who died Dec. 5th,
1792, aged 70 years: near it another for George Arnold Arnold, Esq. of Halstead Place, who died
Aug. 18th, 1805, aged 57 years.

This Church is dedicated to St. Margaret.

Chevening Park, in the Parish of Chevening, the seat of the Right Hon.
Philip Henry Stanhope, Earl Stanhope. The park is extensive, and distinguished
for variety of scenery and picturesque beauty. The southern part is a spacious
level, adorned with numerous uncommon shrubs; the northern end stretches up to
the summit of Madamscot Hill, which is clothed with its luxuriant groves. The
house is a noble edifice, and contains, among its costly decorations, some superb
paintings. We were struck, on entering the hall, with the curious disposition of
fire-arms and other warlike weapons that are there displayed. The ample library
occupies a separate suite of apartments, and comprises many rare and expensive
works, both modern and ancient. The conservatories, pleasure-grounds, gardens,
and shrubberies, evince the most successful cultivation and refined taste.

Chevening Park is nearly four miles north-west from Sevenoaks, about the
same distance north-east from Westerham, and 21 miles from London.

Chevening manor, a subordinate one to another of the same name, in the reign of Henry Il
was possessed by Adam de Chevening, whose descendants were succeeded by the family of De la
Pole, of whom it was purchased by that of Isley, in the reign of Henry VI. William Isley, in the
reign of Edward IV. gave it by deed to John Harneys, from whose posterity it was carried in
marriage by a female heir, in the beginning of Henry VIII. to John Mills. His son John conveyed
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it by deed poll, anno 3 Edward VI. to Henry Fitzherbert, who, the following year passed it away to
John Leonard, Esqg. In his illustrious descendants, the Lords Dacre, it continued till the Ladies
Barbara and Anne, daughters of Thomas, Lord Dacre, Earl of Sussex, sold it, in 1717, to Major
General James Stanhope, grandson of Philip, first Earl of Chesterfield, afterwards for his signal
services created Viscount Mahon and Earl Stanhope, who died in 1721. From this nobleman it has
lineally descended to the present noble proprietor.



Chevening Park is nearly four miles north-west from Sevenoaks, about the
same distance north-east from Westerham, and 21 miles from London.

Rectory House, Chevening, the residence of the Rev. John Austen, A.M.
a Magistrate for the County, is beautifully situated on the confines of Chevening
Park, and has the advantage of part of its delightful scenery. The house was
chiefly erected in the year 1814, by the present incumbent, in the ancient style
of architecture: the interior is very elegant, and embellished with paintings by
Michael Angelo; Caravaggio; one by W. Mieris, of our Saviour driving the
money-changers out of the temple; Death of Cleopatra, by Vanderneer, &c. &c.

Chevening Rectory House is about four miles north-west from Sevenoaks,
and 21 miles from London.

Chepstead Place, in the Parish of Chevening, the seat of Frederick
Perkins, Esq. is situated west of Riverhead, on the south side of the road from
thence to Sundridge, which passes through the centre of the park. The grounds
surrounding the house possess great beauty, and are ornamented with fine
timber. The interior of this spacious mansion is very elegant, and boasts a
choice collection of paintings, the works of Murillo, Claude, Poussin, Cuyp,
Teniers, Ostade, Both, Reynolds, Vandervelde, Wilson, &c. &c.

At the end of Elizabeth's reign this seat belonged to Robert Cranmer, Esq. whose daughter, Anne,
on her father's death, in 1619, carried it in marriage to Sir Arthur Herrys. He was succeeded by
his second son, John Herrys, Esg. whose widow carried it to her third husband, William Priestly,
Esq. of Wildhill, in Hertfordshire, who, with his wife and her son, Cranmer Herrys, Esqg. conveyed
it, in 1652, to Jeffrey Thomas, Gent.: he, in 1654, conveyed it to Ralph Suckley, who, in 1658,
again parted with it to David Polhill, Gent. of Otford. At his death he was succeeded by his
brother, Thomas Polhill, Esq. of Clapham, (who had married the daughter of the famous Ireton,)
who, in 1665, conveyed it to Sir Nicholas Strode, of Westerham, whose widow and two daughters,
in 1693, passed it away to William Emerton, Esq. of London, who built the present seat. In the
8th year of Queen Anne, after his death, it was purchased by David Polhill, Esq. son of Thomas
Polhill, Esq. before mentioned, whose descendants inherited it for many years.

Chepstead Place is about two miles north-west from Sevenoaks, and 23
miles from London.
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Everlands, in the Parish of Chevening, the seat of Sir Richard Henry
Charles Rycroft, Bart. is situated rather more than two miles south-west from
Sevenoaks, and one mile and a half east from Ide Hill. It is one of those
delightful situations afforded by this range of hills, which have been selected for
the site of several elegant villas. Well sheltered against the north, east, and
west, it commands toward the south a prospect of admirable extent and beauty.
Everlands is a modern structure: the building of it was commenced by the
Rev. Sir Richard Rycroft, Bart. continued by the predecessor of the present
proprietor, and completed by Sir R. H. C. Rycroft, Bart.

It is distant from London about 26 miles.

Chevening Church contains the following magnificent monuments:

In a pew adjoining the south chancel is a fine altar-tomb, of Bethersden marble, for John
Lennard, Gent. obt. 2d and 3d Philip and Mary, et. 76. In the south chancel, a noble tomb of
alabaster, on which lie the figures of a man in armour, and a lady in her robes; on the south side
of it are three sons, kneeling, and on the north side five daughters: it is to the memory of Sampson
Lennard, Esq. and his wife Margaret Fienes, Lady Dacre, obt. 1615. On the north side, a fine
altar-tomb, with the figures of a man in armour and his lady, for John Lennard, Esqg. and Elizabeth,
his wife, obt. 1590, aet. 82. In the great chancel are memorials for the Watsons, of Madamscourt.
On the north side is a monument for Lady Anne Herrys, sole daughter and heir of Robert Cranmer,



Esq. of Chepstead, wife of Sir Arthur Herrys, of Crixey, in Essex, obt. 1613, aet. 27. At the east
end, a mural monument, with the figures of a man and woman kneeling at a desk, and in an

arch below, a daughter, sitting, for Robert Cranmer, Esq. of Chepstead, son of Thomas Cranmer,
Esq. of Asflacton, in Nottinghamshire, who died in 1619. In that part of the church appropri-

ated to the noble family of Stanhope, the chief object of attraction, and one of Chantrey's most
successful efforts, is a female with an infant at her breast, reclining on a couch, sculptured in
white marble, as large as life, in memory of Lady Frederica Louisa Stanhope, daughter of the

Earl of Mansfield, and wife of the Hon. James Hamilton Stanhope, who died in child-bed,

Jan. 14, 1823, in the 23d year of her age. Every admirer of art must be struck with the effect

of this exquisitely beautiful monument. Never, perhaps, did sculptor produce a more touching

or more lively tableau. In the same tomb is also interred Lieutenant Colonel the Hon. James
Hamilton Stanhope, third son of Charles, Earl Stanhope, who departed this life March 5th, 1825, in
the 37th year of his age: near this is a mural monument in memory of Charles, third Earl Stanhope,
who died at Chevening, Dec. 15th, 1816; and several others for members of this family. Over the
door is one in memory of the Right Hon. Lady Lucy Taylor, wife of Thomas Taylor, Esq. Comp-
troller General of the Customs, third daughter of Earl Stanhope, by Lady Hester Pitt, daughter of
the Earl of Chatham, who died March 2d, 1814, in the 34th year of her age.

Chevening Church is dedicated to St. Botolph.

OTFORD. History narrates that two great battles were fought here: one
A.D. 773, between Offa, King of Mercia, and Aldric, King of Kent, for the
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sovereignty of his kingdom of Kent, in which the former was victorious; and

the other A.D. 1010, between Edmund Ironside and Canute, in which Edmund
overthrew the Danes with great slaughter, and pursued them as far as Aylesford,
in their retreat to the Isle of Sheppey. The remains of the slain have been
frequently discovered in several fields in the parish, particularly in one called
Dane Field.

Here also the Archbishops of Canterbury had a palace, and many fabulous,
and even impious tales, are told of the miracles wrought by Thomas a Becket
while he resided here.

Broughton House, in the Parish of Otford, the seat of John Wreford,
Gent. is situated about three miles north-west from Sevenoaks, on the east side
of the London road. It is a handsome modern structure, commanding, westward,
a beautiful prospect of this interesting district. The young plantations by
which it is surrounded will, in a few years, add materially to its beauty, and give
it a more secluded appearance.

Broughton House is distant from London about 21 miles.

Broughton's, anno 33 Henry VIII. was exchanged by Sir George Harper with the Crown for
other lands in Essex. In the 1st and 2d Philip and Mary it was granted to Humphrey Colwych, to
hold by knight's service; and afterwards it came into possession of the family of Polhill, in whose
descendants it continued for several years.

Otford Church contains the following monuments that particularly deserve
the attention of the curious:

In the south aisle, on the south side, a mural monument of elegant structure, with a marble bust,
for David Polhill, Esqg. of Chepstead, son of Thomas Polhill, Esq. of Otford, by Elizabeth, daughter
of Henry Ireton, by Bridget, daughter of Oliver Cromwell; he was one of the Kentish petitioners
in the reign of William Ill. and at the time of his death, M. P. for Rochester, and Keeper of the
Records in the Tower; he died in 1754, aged 80. He married three wives; first, Elizabeth, daughter
of Thomas Trevor, Esq. of Glynd, in Sussex; secondly, Gertrude, sister of Thomas Holles, Duke of
Newcastle; and lastly, Elizabeth, daughter of John Borrett, Esqg. of Shoreham. In the south
chancel, a memorial for William Sydney, and Alice his wife, descended from William Sydney, Lord



of Kingsham, by Chichester, and of Isabella St. John, daughter of Lord St. John, obt. 1625. In the
great chancel, on the north side, a noble monument, with the statue of a gentleman, as large as life,
standing, and leaning on an urn; and above him the profile of a lady, with marble figures on each
side, for Charles Polhill, Esq. youngest son of Thomas Polhill, Esq. by Elizabeth, daughter of

Henry Ireton, obt. 1755: he married Martha, daughter of Thomas Streatfield, Esq. of Sevenoaks.

At the end, a mural monument for George Petty and Anne his wife, daughter of John Polhill, Esq.

of Otford; he died in 1719: also for Robert, their eldest son, obt. 1727. On the south side of the
altar, a memorial for Robert Polhill, Gentleman, of Otford, son of John and Jane, of Otford, obt.
1699, aet. 67: a superb monument, by J. Bacon, jun. for Charles Polhill, Esq. who died July 23d,

92

1805, aged 81 years: he was twice married, first, to Tryphena Penelope, daughter of Sir John
Shelley, of Mitchell Grove, Sussex, by whom he had issue one daughter only, named Tryphena
Penelope, who married Mr. George Stafford, of Apsley Mills, Herts; she died before her father,
leaving issue two sons, Charles and Thomas George: secondly, to Patience, daughter of Thomas
and Sarah Hasswell, of Woodmanston, Surrey, who died April 23d, 1803; by her he had issue six
sons and one daughter, viz. George, Charles, David, Patience, David, Thomas Alfred, and Francis,
three only of whom survived him, viz. George, Patience, and Francis. North side, near the altar,

a plain tablet, for Elizabeth Arnold, late of Brackley, Northamptonshire, who died May 9th, 1806:
also for Richard Goodman, late of this parish, who died Oct. 3d, 1821, aged 49; and for Elizabeth
Goodman, his wife, who died June 4th, 1828, aged 56. On the south wall, a monument for Robert
Bostock, Esq. who died March 2d, 1747; and for Ellis Bostock, son of the above Robert, who died
Feb. 2d, 1788, aged 66; also for Sarah, his wife, who died July 17th, 1799, aged 78; and for
Robert, their son, who died April 1st, 1821, aged 62.

Otford Church is dedicated to St. Bartholomew, and was formerly in high
repute for an image and shrine of that saint.

Stone Pitt, in the parish of Seal, the residence and property of Richard
Round, Gentleman, is situated about one mile east from Seal. It is a very
ancient place, in the Elizabethan style, and from its antiquity, possesses consider-
able interest. The wainscoting and ceilings in the interior are curious, and
admirably executed; there are also several excellent family portraits, but by
whom we could not ascertain.

This seat, in the reign of Elizabeth, was possessed by a family named Tybold, or Theobald, from
whom it was carried in marriage, by Catherine, daughter of John Theobald, Esq. to Lawrence Piers,
of Westfield, in Sussex, whose great grandson, Sir George Piers, Bart. died possessed of it A.D.
1720. It was shortly afterwards purchased by Richard Goodhugh, Esg. whose descendant, Sarah,
carried it in marriage to Richard Round, Gentleman; and his son Richard, at his death, left it in
trustees for the benefit of his infant children.

Wilderness, in the Parish of Seal, the seat of the most noble John Jeffreys
Pratt, Marquis Camden, Lord Lieutenant for the CoUnty, is situated on the
south of Seal, in a very beautiful, picturesque park, extremely well wooded, and
in point of scenery greatly resembling that of Knole. The mansion is modern.

Wilderness is distant from Sevenoaks nearly two miles, and from London
about 24 miles.

Wilderness (anciently Stidulfe's Place) was the property of a family who from it assumed their
surname. William Stidulfe, about the 11th Henry VI. conveyed it to William Quintin, whose
descendant, Robert Oliver, alias Quintin, in the beginning of Queen Elizabeth's reign, sold it to
Richard Tybold, alias Theobald. Two female heirs of this name at length (in 1619), inheriting their
father's property, this seat, on a division, was allotted to Catherine, married to Edward Michell, Esq.
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a descendant of whom, in the reign of Charles Il. sold it to Sir Charles Bickerstaffe, of the ancient
family of that name, in the County of Lancaster, who changed the name of the place to Wilderness.
After his death, in 1704, it was purchased of his trustees by John Pratt, Esq. (a descendant of a
family originally from Devonshire), Chief Justice of the Court of King's Bench, whose grandson,
John Pratt, Esq. at his death, in 1797, gave it to his nephew, the Right Hon. John Jeffreys, Earl of
Camden.

Seal Church. In the north aisle there is a mural monument for Maximilian Buck, Vicar
of Kemsing and Seal for 46 years, obt. April, 1720, et. 70: a tablet for Ann Margaret, second
daughter of the late Jeremy Lock, Esq. Major in the East India Company's Bombay Service, wife of
the Rev. William Stamer, B.D. Curate of this parish, second son of Sir William Stamer, Bart.; she
died May 13th, 1833; and for William Lovelace, their only son, who died May 22d, 1829, aged
16 months. In the chancel, a memorial for Harward Bickerstaffe, Esq. late of Chelsham, in Surrey,
obt. 1648: another for Charles Bickerstaffe, his son, late of Wilderness, obt. 1704: another for
Elizabeth Hunt, of Bounds, in Bidborough, first married to Henry Smythe, Esq. of Bounds, by
whom she had one child, Sir S. S. Smythe, Baron of the Exchequer; she married, secondly, William
Hunt, Esq.; she died in 1754, and was buried here, near her mother, Elizabeth Lloyd, widow of
Dr. John Lloyd, and sister of Sir Charles Bickerstaffe, of Wilderness: another for Sir John
Chichester and Lady Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of Sir Charles Bickerstaffe, both of whom died in
1680: a grave-stone, with the figure, in brass, of a man in armour, for Sir William de Bryene, Lord
of Kemsing and Seal, who died in 1395: a monument for Stephen Theobald, Esq. and his two wives,
obt. 1619. In the south chancel, a memorial for Sir Thomas Piers, Bart. of Stonepit, obt. 1680;
a small mural monument, for John Theobald, sen. Gentleman, who died in 1577; he had seven sons
and nine daughters by Clemence, who, before she died, was mother, grandmother, and great grand-
mother to 115 children: here are also other memorials for this family. In the south-east corner of
the church are five elegant mural monuments; the central one has a sculptured profile, a coronet and
cushion, being for Charles Pratt, Earl of Camden, who died in 1794, in the 81st year of his age: he
filled the office of Attorney-General to the King from 1769 to 1761, when he was made Lord Chief
Justice of the Court of Common Pleas, which office he held till 1765, and then was elevated to the
high situation of Lord High Chancellor of England: in 1770 he resigned the great seal, having
opposed those measures which led to the war with America: in 1782 he was made Lord President of
His Majesty's Most Honourable Privy Council, which office he resigned in 1783, and was again
appointed in 1784, and retained that situation in his Majesty's councils till his death: on the right of
this, one for John Pratt, Esq. eldest grandson; and for Thomas Pratt, Esq. fourth son of Lord Chief
Justice Pratt, each successively possessors of those estates in Kent and Sussex to which the Marquis
Camden has succeeded; John Pratt, Esq. died April 3d, 1797, aged 74 years; Thomas Pratt, Esq.
died March 25th, 1805, aged 98 years: above this, one for Lady Frances Margaret Pratt, eldest
daughter of the Marquis and Marchioness Camden; she died in 1822, aged 35 years: on the left of
that first mentioned, a fourth, for the Right Hon. Sir John Pratt, Lord Chief Justice of England,
born 1656, died 1724: and over this, the fifth, in memory of Lady Caroline Stewart, wife of Alex-
ander Robert Stewart, Esq. of Ards House, County of Donegal, Ireland, and third daughter of the
Marquis Camden, who died Oct. 7th, 1827, in the 33d year of her age: near these there is a monu-
ment for Mrs. Eleanor Mortimer, of Sevenoaks, who died Sept. 25th, 1803, aged 84 years; also for
Mrs. Eleanor Slye, of the same place, who died Feb. 3d, 1835, aged 75 years: an elegant one for the
Rev. William Humphrey, M.A. 45 years Vicar of this parish and of Birling, who died July 13th,
1816, aged 73; and for Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of the Rev. Francis Woodgate, Vicar of Mounts-
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field and Whatlington, in the County of Sussex, who died Feb. 14th, 1835, aged 84: another for
George Upcot Humphrey, second son of the Rev. William Humphrey and Elizabeth his wife, born

Dec. 10th, 1784, died May 14th, 1803; and for John, their third son, born April 30th, 1794, and died
March 8th, 1807; also Elizabeth, their eldest daughter, born Jan. 18th, 1782, died Jan. 5th, 1815;
and for William Ozias Humphrey, of the Council Office, Whitehall, their eldest son, who died May

26th, 1836, aged 46. Over the door, a tablet for Thomas Thompson, of Hall Place, in this parish,

who died Jan. 11th, 1805, aged 61; and for Sarah, his wife, who died Nov. 2d, 1784, aged 35; also
for Sarah, their daughter, who died May 25th, 1779, aged 4 years. At the west end of the south aisle,
a tablet for the Rev. William Winder Clerk, who died Oct. 31st, 1790, aged 71; and for Mary, his



wife, who died March 28th, 1793, aged 73. On the south side, a mural monument for Richard
Round, Esq. of Stone Pitt, who died Oct. 23d, 1779, aged 54; and two of his children, Stephen, who
died Dec. 3d, 1777, aged 8 months, and Sarah, who died Sept. 8th, 1805, aged 25; also for Sarah
Round, wife of the above Richard Round, who died March 23d, 1831, aged 84. Thomas de Brinton,
Bishop of Rochester, who died in 1389, is said to have been interred in this church.

Seal Church is dedicated to St. Peter.

Greatness, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the property of Sir Edmund Filmer,
Bart. is situated one mile westward from Seal. This mansion is at present
unoccupied.

It is distant from Sevenoaks about one mile and a half, and from London
23 miles and a half.

Bradbourn, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of Henry Hughes, Esq. is
situated on the east side of Riverhead, at a distance of not more than half a mile.
It is a large, handsome, substantial structure, surrounded by beautiful grounds.
The interior is elegantly fitted up, and ornamented with paintings by Poussin,
Ostade, Sir Godfrey Kneller, &c. &c.; and in the drawing-room is some fine
tapestry in compartments, supposed to have been given by Queen Elizabeth to
Sir Ralph Bosville. This seat is the centre of a very noble neighbourhood,
having Knole to the south-east, at a distance of about two miles; Wilderness
more to the east, at the same distance; Chevening Park to the north-west;
Chepstead Place and the ancient mansion of the Petleys, at Riverhead, to the
west; Montreal to the south-west; and Kippington to the south; besides many
other distinguished houses within the circle we have thus partially drawn.

Bradbourn is distant from Sevenoaks one mile and a half, from Tunbridge
Wells about 12 miles, and from London 23 miles.

The Manor of Bradborne was possessed by the proprietors of Knole, till Sir Thomas Grandison,
in the reign of Edward Ill. sold it to Walter de Pevenley, or Pemley, who, it seems probable, first
erected this mansion, it having been anciently called Pemley Court. To this family, in the reign of
Henry VI. succeeded that of Ashe, who, after some generations, were followed by the Isleys; and, in
31st Henry VIII. Sir Henry Isley exchanged it with the king. In the Reign of Elizabeth it had
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become the property of Sir Ralph Bosville, whose descendant, Henry Bosville, Esq. rebuilt the

manor house, and, dying in 1761, unmarried, bequeathed it in tail to his relative, Sir Richard Betenson,
Bart. On the death of Sir Richard, s. p. Bradbourn descended, by the limitation of Mr. Bosville's

will, to Thomas Lane, Esq. of Sevenoaks.

Chapel House, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the residence of the Rev. John
Thomas Wilgress, M.A. is situated in the triangle formed by the roads bounding
the parks of Montreal and Bradbourn on the east and west, and that from
Riverhead to Seal on the north. It is of modern architecture, in the cottage style.

The distance from Sevenoaks is about one mile and a quarter, and from
London 23 miles.

Riverhead, in the Parish of Sevenoaks. Here is the seat of Charles
Robert Carter Petley, Esq. a Magistrate for the County. This mansion has
been for many generations the property and residence of a branch of the Petley
family; Ralph Petley, eldest son of Thomas Petley, Esq. of Filston, or Vielston,
in Shoreham, who lived in the reign of James I. having been the first of that
name resident here. From this gentleman it has descended lineally to the
present proprietor.

Riverhead is distant from Sevenoaks one mile and a half, from Tunbridge
Wells about 12 miles, and from London 22 miles.

Montreal, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of the Right Hon. William
Pitt Amherst, Earl Amherst, is situated about one mile and a quarter north-west



from Sevenoaks, in a very beautiful park, well wooded, and in the highest state of
cultivation.

Montreal is distant from Tunbridge Wells about 12 miles, and from London
23 miles.

The old mansion of Brooks Place (the predecessor of this seat) was built, according to tradition,
by one of the family of Colepeper, out of the materials taken from the neighbouring suppressed
Hospital of St. John. It afterwards came into possession of a younger branch of the Amhersts, of
Pembury, a descendant of whom was Field Marshal Jeffry Amherst, Lord Amherst, of Holmsdale,
who was ennobled for his victorious achievements in North America, in the middle of the last century.
Lord Amherst, soon after his return from America, pulled down the old house of Brooks Place, and
built the present elegant mansion, naming it Montreal, in commemoration of his capture of that city,
Sept. 8th, 1760.

On an obelisk, in the grounds, are inscriptions detailing the successes of Lord Amherst during his
glorious career in America. At his death, in 1797, he was succeeded by his nephew, William Pitt
Ambherst, Lord Amherst.

Kippington, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of Thomas Austen, Esq.
a Magistrate for the County, is situated on the east side of Sevenoaks, on an
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elevation commanding extensive prospects over this interesting part of the
county.

Kippington is distant from Tunbridge Wells about 11 miles, and from London
24 miles.

It was formerly the inheritance of a younger branch of the family of Cobham, till Anne, daughter of
Sir Thomas Cobham, carried it in marriage to Sir Edward Borough. His descendant, Sir William
Borough, in the beginning of the reign of Elizabeth, alienated it to one Burges, whose sister carried
it in marriage to a gentleman named Hanger, of whom it was purchased by Mr. Cowper, and he, in
the time of Charles I. conveyed it to Mr. Thomas Farnaby, the eminent schoolmaster. His grand-
son, Charles, was advanced to the dignity of Baronet in 1726; and by his descendant, Sir Charles
Farnaby Radcliffe, Bart. Kippington was sold to Francis Motley Austen, Esq.

Ash Grove, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of Alexander Glendining,
Esq. is situated one mile south-west from Sevenoaks. This elegant villa has
lately undergone considerable improvements. The grounds are laid out with
great taste, and ornamented with extensive shrubberies and plantations.

Ash Grove is distant from Tunbridge Wells nearly 11 miles, and from
London about 25 miles.

Belle Vue, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the residence of Henry Austen,
Esq. is situated one mile and a quarter south-west from Sevenoaks. The name
of this delightful seat is very appropriate. It stands on the summit of the range
of hills which here intersect the county, and from whence is seen that magnificent
coup-d'ceil already slightly noticed in the article on Everlands. This vast expanse
of view comprehends the southern part of Kent, one half of Sussex, a considerable
portion of Surrey, and, we believe, at its most remote point, a segment of Hamp-
shire. The several seats along these hills, as St. Julians, River Hill, Beechmont,
and Mariners, participate equally with Belle Vue and Everlands in the beauty
of this prospect, which alone is sufficient to render them objects of no ordinary
interest.

Belle Vue is distant from London about 25 miles and a half.

Beechmont, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of William Lambarde, Esq.
is situated about one mile and a quarter south from Sevenoaks, on the summit of
River Hill. It is a modern villa, surrounded by pleasure-grounds, and com-
manding, perhaps pre-eminently, all the charms of the scenery described in the
preceding article, with the additional advantage of a prospect towards the north.



The ancient family residence of the Lambardes, however, is at the south
entrance into Sevenoaks, and will be found on our map; but we could not learn
that it bears any particular designation.
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Beechmont is distant from Tunbridge Wells about 10 miles, and from London
25 miles and a half.

River Hill, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of Henry Buckley, Esq.
is situated on the east side of the road from Sevenoaks to Tunbridge, about one
mile and a half south-east from the former. This seat has been just mentioned
in the description of Belle Vue: it is sufficient here to say that it commands to
the utmost extent, "the gay, the open scene" outspread beneath it.

It is distant from Tunbridge about five miles, and from London 25 miles
and a half.

St. Julians, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of the Right Hon. John
Charles Herries, one of her Majesty's Privy Counsellors, and Member of Parlia-
ment for Harwich, (formerly Chancellor of the Exchequer, Master of the Mint,
&c.) is beautifully situated in the bosom of River Hill, about two miles south-
east from Sevenoaks. The house is an elegant specimen of the florid Elizabethan
style, built of grey brick and Bath stone. The grounds are laid out in the best
taste, and finely planted. On the west side of the mansion is a splendid con-
servatory, and in front a terrace, the centre of which is occupied by an orna-
mental fountain. From this terrace, and still more from the summer-house above
it, that stands nearly at the top of the hill, north of the mansion, the views are
most extensive and interesting.

St. Julians is distant from Tunbridge Wells about 10 miles, and from London
26 miles.

The situation of St. Julians is near that of the old manor house of Rumpsted, alias Rumpshot,
which belonged formerly to a family of the same name, one of whom, Sir William de Rumpsted, was
the foster father of William de Sevenoke. In the reign of Henry VI. Rumpsted was in possession of
the family of Nisell, of Wrotham, with whom it remained till Alice, only daughter and heir of William
Nisell, Esq. carried it in marriage to John Bere, of Dartford, who, in the reign of Henry VIII.
alienated it to Peckham, and he, not many years after, conveyed it to one Bedell. In the 3d and 4th
year of the reign of Queen Mary, Nicholas Bedell passed it to John Stacy, of Hollenden, in Tun-
bridge, who soon sold it to Mr. Richard Lone, of Sevenoaks, son of Robert Lone, of Ellow, in Suffolk,
whose second son, Richard, disposed of it by sale to Thomas Lambarde, Esqg. son of Sir Multon Lam-
barde, Bart. and grandson of William Lambarde, the antiquary.

Knole, in the Parish of Sevenoaks, the seat of the Right Hon. the Countess
of Plymouth, is a place of such grandeur as not only to distinguish this part of
Kent, but in a manner to dignify the county. It is a princely domain, complete
in every requisite of a noble residence; whether we consider the architectural
magnificence of the ancient mansion, the splendid embellishments within its walls,
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or the combination of every circumstance of picturesque beauty in the wide
seclusion of its surrounding grounds. The park extends over an area of nearly
1000 acres of the richest land; it is abundantly wooded with stately timber, and
supplied with deer. The house is a grand pile of building in the Elizabethan
style. The following list of the numerous collection of paintings, distributed
through the principal apartments, will convey some idea of its magnitude, and
of the interesting nature of these costly decorations.

PAINTINGS AT KNOLE.



The Hall, measuring 74 feet by 27, and in height upwards of 26 feet, contains the following: —
Silenus and Bacchanalians, by Rubens; John, Lord Somers, Lord Chancellor to Queen Anne, whole
length, by Kneller; the Death of Mark Antony, by Dance; the Finding of Moses, by Giordana;
Animals, by Snyders; Lionel, Duke of Dorset, and his Sister, when children, by Kneller; King and
Queen, by Ramsay; a View of Dover Castle and the adjacent Country, in which are introduced the
portraits of Lionel, Duke of Dorset, Sir Bazil Dixon, Maximilian Buck, Chaplain to his Grace, and
others, painted by Wootton; the Duke D'Espernon, Constable of France, by Sir Anthony More;
Richard, third Earl of Dorset, a copy; Lionel Cranfield, Earl of Middlesex, a copy; Martha Cranfield,
Countess of Monmouth, by Mytens; Edward, Earl of Dorset, a copy; the Figure of Demosthenes in
the act of delivering an oration, a fine Grecian work of art in marble, the size of the life, purchased in
Italy by the Duke of Dorset for £700; a Statue of Egeria.

The Brown Gallery, 80 feet in length. — The portraits, which form the principal part of the
collection in this room, are in the style of Holbein, and either by that master or by others of his school;
they are half-lengths, nearly of equal dimensions, and of the following persons: — Alphonso D'Avalos,
Marquis de Guasto, Lieutenant-General of the Armies of the Emperor Charles V. in Italy, and
Knight of the Golden Fleece; Don John of Austria; Charles, Duke of Bourbon, Constable of
France; John Wickliffe; Admiral Blake; Charles of Lorrain, Duke of Guise; John, Duke of Bourbon
and Auvergne, Constable of France; Henry of Lorrain, Duke of Guise; George Clifford, Earl of
Cumberland; Alexander Farnese, Duke of Parma and Placentia; John Dudley, Duke of Northum-
berland; William Herbert, Earl of Pembroke; Henry Howard, Earl of Northampton; Sir James
Welford, Knight; Friar Bacon; Thomas Cranmer, Archbishop of Canterbury; Stephen Gardiner;
Queen Mary; John Fisher, Bishop of Rochester; Thomas Cromwell, Earl of Essex; Henry
Fitzallan, Earl of Arundel; Sir Thomas More; Thomas Howard, Duke of Norfolk; Henry VIII;

Sir Christopher Hatton, Keeper of the Great Seal to Queen Elizabeth; Cardinal Wolsey; Sir Francis
Walsingham; Sir Francis Drake; William Cecil, Lord Burleigh, Lord Treasurer to Queen Eliza-

beth; Queen Elizabeth; Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester; Thomas Sackville, Earl of Dorset;

Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury; Sir John Norris; Sir Walter Mildmay; William of Nassau, first

Prince of Orange; Thomas Howard, Earl of Suffolk; Thomas (son of Henry) Ratcliffe, Earl of
Sussex; John Whitgift, Archbishop of Canterbury; Richard Bancroft, Archbishop of Canterbury;
Thomas Egerton, Baron Ellsmeer; Charles Howard, Earl of Nottingham; Mary, Queen of Scots,
when a child; Catharine of Arragon, Queen to Henry VIII.; Isabella Clara Eugene; Luther,
Melancthon, and Pomeranus, Reformers, by Holbein; Agricola and Erasmus; a Florentine Noble-
man, of the Strozzi family; Isabella Monata, Countess of Mone; St. John and the Lamb, by Correggio,
a beautiful picture; William, Baron de Montmorency; the Duke de Alvarez; Ninon de I'Enelos;

the Countess of Desmond, who lived more than 100 years, the lady who described the Duke of
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Gloucester (Richard Ill.) as a very handsome prince, having danced with him in her youth: an Earl
of Surrey; Philip, Count Horn; James I. of England; Anna Boleyn; the Emperor Charles V.;
Edward VI. of England; Henry V. of England; a Masquerade, by Bronimo; Louis XV. of France;
the Honourable Edward Cranfield; James Cranfield, Earl of Middlesex; a Doge of Venice; the

Earl of Abergavenny; the Countess of Abergavenny; Edward, Earl of Dorset, a copy; Sir Kenelm
Digby, a copy; Oliver Cromwell, by Walker.

Lady Betty Germain's Room. — Judith, with the Head of Holofernes; Cymon and Iphigenia, by
Sir Peter Lely; Charles, Lord Backhurst, when a child; Lord Gowrey and Vandyke, in tapestry;
Vandyke was son-in-law to Lord Gowrey; Mouse Montague, Earl of Halifax.

Lady Betty Germain's Dressing-Room. — Maurice, Prince of Orange; Lady Raleigh, wife to
Sir Walter; Nymph and Echo, by Sir Peter Lely; William Paulet, first Marquis of Winchester;
Thomas, first Earl of Dorset; his Countess, Cecilia Baker; Richard, third Earl of Dorset; bis
Countess and the Lady Margaret, their daughter, by Cornelius Jansen; Henry Cary, Lord Hunsdon,
cousin to Queen Elizabeth.

The Spangled Bed-Room. — The Duke of Monmouth; a Mrs. Sackville, by Sir Peter Lely.

The Dressing-Room. — A Miser; a Venus, by Titian; a Candle-Light, by Schalken; the Salu-
tation, by Rembrandt; Sibylla Persica, copied by Old Stone, at Rome; Miss Stewart, Mistress of
Charles Il.; Duchess of Richmond, by Sir Peter Lely; Ann, Duchess of York, by Sir Peter Lely;
the Nativity, by Bassano; a Satyr and Venus, by Correggio; the Countess of Shrewsbury; a Land-
scape, by Salvator Rosa; Sir Theodore Mayerus, Physician to James |. by Dobson; a Card Party



and other Figures, by Hemskirk; Venus reposing, after Titian, by Ozeis Humphrey; William
Compton, Earl of Northampton, by Vandyke; Abraham entertaining the Angels, by Guercino; a
Magdalene, by Albini; Lady Ossory; Lady Stafford.

The Billiard-Room. — Diana and Nymphs discovered by Actaeon; its companion, the Fault of
Calisto; Sir Kenelm Digby, by Vandyke; Sir Thomas More, by Holbein; a Masquerade; Lady
Frances Cranfield, afterwards Countess of Dorset, and her brother, James, Lord Cranfield; a Mas-
querade, by Paul Veronese; an Old Man, by Bassano; St. Peter, by Van Rein Rembrandt; a Head of
a Youth blowing a Flute; two Landscapes, by Nicholas Poussin; Frank Hals, by himself; Sir Henry
Fermor; the Prince Palatine of the Rhine; the Princess Palatine and her two Daughters; these were
painted by Lucas de Heere; Lord and Lady Arundel; Lord Sunderland; Sir Anthony Cope; Peace,
with the Arts and Sciences; Charles Il.; Heraclitus and Democritus, the Laughing and Crying
Philosophers, by Mignard; Thomas Betterton; the Earl of Carlisle; Major Mohun; Sir Ralph
Bosville; James |.; Henry, Prince of Wales; Lady Milton, by Pompeio Battoni; Philip 1l. of Spain,
and his Queen, by Sir Anthony More; Nicolo Molino, a Venetian Nobleman, by Mytens; James,
Duke of Hamilton, by Vandyke; the Countess of Bedford, by Sir Peter Lely.

The Venetian Bed-Room. — Catherine Il. of Russia; Lady Hume; Lionel, Duke of Dorset;
Elizabeth, his Duchess. In this room is the state bed and furniture said to have been prepared for
the reception of James II.

The Venetian Dressing-Room. — Poultry, by Honderkooter; Mrs. Abington, the Actress, by
Sir Joshua Reynolds; Lionel, Duke of Dorset, on horseback, by Wootton; Sir Thomas More; an
Old Head; a Study; the Death of Meleager; a Sketch by Rubens; Mr. Brett; a Landscape, with
figures and cattle, by Berchem; Miss Axford, by Sir J. Reynolds; a Flemish Peasant, by Teniers;

a Companion to it; Ann, Countess of Pembroke and Montgomery; the Earl of Shaftesbury, by
Riley; Signora Schialleni, by Reynolds; the Death of Cleopatra, by Dominichino; Monsieur
Campchinetze, by Gainsborough; Isabella, Duchess of Brabant; Margaret of Austria, Infanta of
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Spain; a Battle Piece, by Borgonone; a Fancy Picture, after Titian; a Landscape, by Zucherrelli;
Albertus, Archduke of Austria.

The Passage. — Jane Seymour, Queen of Henry VIII.

The Ball-Room. — Lord Sackville; Mary Curzon, Countess to Edward, Earl of Dorset; Edward,
fourth Earl of Dorset, by Vandyke; Lionel, first Duke of Dorset, by Kneller; Elizabeth, his
Duchess, by Hudson; John Frederick, third Duke, said to have been the handsomest man of his
time, by Reynolds; Arabella Diana, the Duchess of Dorset, by Hopner; Thomas Sackville, first
Earl of Dorset; Robert Sackville, second Earl of Dorset; Margaret Howard, his Countess; Charles,
sixth Earl of Dorset, by Kneller; Richard, fifth Earl of Dorset, by Gerard Soest; Frances Cran-
field, fifth Countess; Lionel Cranfield, Earl of Middlesex, by Mytens; Anne, Countess to Lionel,
Earl of Middlesex; Anne, Countess to Richard, third Earl; Richard, third Earl of Dorset.

The Chapel Room. — Abigail meeting David; Sir Fleetwood Shepherd.

The Organ-Room. — Richard Bancroft, Archbishop of Canterbury; Sir John Suckling; Margaret
Woffington, the Actress; a Head of Milton, when a boy, by Mrs. Beale.

The Drawing-Room. — The pictures in this room are by the first masters. A Chinese Youth,
named Warnoton, by Sir Joshua Reynolds; a Madonna and St. John, by Andrea del Sarto; Holy
Family, by Titian; Holy Family, by Parmegiano; a Post House, by Wouverman; the Fortune-
teller, by Sir Joshua Reynolds; Holy Family, by Paul Veronese; a Madonna and Child; the Rape
of the Wife of Hercules, by Annibal Carracci; a Landscape, with figures and cattle, by Berchem;
the Angel liberating St. Peter, by Teniers; a small Head of Raphael, by himself; a Pieta, by
Annibal Carracci; the Countess of Castlemaine, by Sir P. Lely; Frances, Countess of Dorset, by
Vandyke; St. John and the Lamb; a Holy Family, by Vandyke; Judith with the Head of Holo-
fernes; the Marriage of St. Catherine, by Parmegiano; Henry VIII. by Holbein; Cosmo, Duke of
Tuscany, by Tintoret; Count Ugolino, by Sir Joshua Reynolds; Card Players, by Ostade; the
Death of the Maccabees, by Vandyke; Mary, Queen of Scots, by Zucherrelli; a Magdalene, by
Guercino; a Sibyl, by Dominichino.

A distinct apartment contains large copies of the Cartoons; viz. the Death of Ananias; Peter and
John restoring the Lame Man; Draught of Fishes; Jesus and his Disciples; Paul and Barnabas at
Lycaonia. In this room also are the portraits of Lady Mary Compton, Countess of Dorset, by Sir
P. Lely; Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester; the Earl of Surrey, by Holbein.



This manor, in the reign of King John, was possessed by Baldwin de Betun, Earl of Albemarle,
from whom it was carried in marriage to the family of Mareschall, Earls of Pembroke. William
Mareschall, Earl of Pembroke, joining the rebellious barons in the reigns of John and Henry IIl.
forfeited this manor to the Crown, whence it was granted to Fulk de Brent, whose estates being also
seized by the Crown, for the treasonable support that he afforded to Lewis of France, it was after-
wards restored to the Earl. Subsequently it passed in like manner to Hugh Bigod, Earl of Norfolk,
whose heir, anno 11 Edward I. conveyed it to Otho de Grandison, who was succeeded by his brother
William; and his grandson, Sir Thomas Grandison, passed it away to Geoffry de Say. In the reign
of Henry VI. its proprietor was Ralph Leghe, of whom it was purchased by James Fynes, Lord Say
and Sele, a descendant, by the female line, from the Says above mentioned. His son, Sir William
Fynes, Lord Say and Sele, sold it, in the 34th Henry VI. to Thomas Bourchier, Archbishop of
Canterbury, whose successors in that see, the Archbishops Morton, Deane, Warham, and Cranmer,
inherited it on their preferment; but Cranmer, in the 29th Henry VIIl. complying with the rage of
the times, gave it up (with other estates) to the king. Edward VI. in the 4th year of his reign,
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granted it in exchange to John Dudley, Earl of Warwick, afterwards Duke of Northumberland; but
on his execution, in the 1st year of Queen Mary, it became forfeited to the Crown, and was imme-
diately conferred on Cardinal Reginald Pole, Archbishop of Canterbury, for the term of his life and
one year after. Cardinal Pole died in 1558, on the same day that Queen Mary died, without having
made any devise of this estate: consequently it reverted to the Crown, and Elizabeth, in her 3d year,
bestowed the manor and house of Knole on Sir Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester, who surrendered
it to the Queen, in her 8th year, and her Majesty then granted it to Thomas Sackvill, Earl of Dorset,
whose grandson, Richard, sold it, under a reservation, to Henry Smith, Esq. of London, who, on his
death, in 1627, vested it in trustees for certain charitable purposes. In the 13th Charles Il. Richard,
Earl of Dorset, nephew of Earl Richard above-mentioned, received from the trustees the fee simple
of this estate, in consideration of a clear annual rent-charge on his other estates in Bexhill and
Cowding, of £130. Knole has since been uninterruptedly transmitted to the descendants of this
nobleman, now Dukes of Dorset.

The family of Sackville derive their origin from Herbrand de Salchevilla, Salcavilla, Saccavilla, or
Sacvill, (the name of a town in Normandy,) who came into England with William the Conqueror.

Knole is distant from London about 25 miles.

The Hospital or Alms-House, and Free Grammar School at Seven-
oaks, were founded and endowed by Sir William de Sevenoke, by will, in 1432.
This gentleman was found, a poor friendless child, about the end of the reign of
Edward Ill. by Sir William Rumpsted, of Rumpsted, in this parish, as some
say, in a hollow tree; and being brought up and put apprentice by the benevo-
lence of Sir William and other charitable persons, he was, in the course of time,
admitted to the freedom of the Grocers' Company, and succeeded eventually in
accumulating great wealth. In the 6th year of the reign of Henry V. being
then Lord Mayor of London, he received the honour of knighthood; and in the
8th year of the same reign he served in parliament for the City of London. Sir
William de Sevenoke was interred in the Church of St. Martin, Ludgate.
Sevenoaks School is possessed of six exhibitions to the Universities, two of
which were founded, about 1675, by Lady Margaret Boswell, daughter of Sir
Ralph Bosville, and widow of Sir William Boswell.

Sevenoaks Church. In the north aisle there is a memorial for John Fermor, Esq. obt.
1722: a mural monument, that was removed hither from Greenwich, for William Lambarde, Esq.
the perambulator, who died in 1601, at West Combe, in that parish; and for Sir Moulton Lambarde,
of that place, his son and heir, who died at West Combe, in 1634. On the north side, a monument
for John Fermor, Esq. son of William Fermor, Esqg. of Walshes, in Sussex, who died in 1722. In
the chancel, a memorial for Ralph Petley, Esq. of this parish, who died in 1704; and Jane his wife:
another for Sir Charles Farnaby, Bart. of Keppington, who died in 1741; and Lady Elizabeth, his



wife, who died in 1757; and for Sir Thomas Farnaby, Bart. their only surviving son, who died in
1760; also for Thomas Farnaby, Esq. who died in 1647: another for Dame Anne Coell, eldest
daughter of John Howson, Bishop of Durham, first married to Thomas Farnaby, Esq. of Kippington,
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and afterwards to Sir John Coell, of Suffolk; she died in 1683: a monument, with the figure of a
lady, kneeling, and holding a book, for Lady Margaret, relict of Sir William Boswell, Ambassador

at the Hague for James |. twenty-one years; she died in 1692: another for Lady Margery Gierke,

of the ancient family at Ford, in Wrotham, wife of Thomas Scott, Esqg. of Congherst, in Hawk-

hurst, who died in 1618. On the left of the altar, a sumptuous monument, by W. Tyler, sculpt.

for John Amherst, who died Feb. 14th, 1778, aged 59; and William Amherst, who died May 13th,
1781, aged 49: an urn on the pedestal is inscribed as follows; John Amherst, Esq. was Admiral of
the Blue; William was a Lieut. Gen. and Col. of the 32d Regiment of Foot, Lieut. Governor of

St. John's, and Adjutant General of his Majesty's Forces; they were the sons of Jeffrey Amherst,
Esq. of Brook's Place, in this parish, (on the site of which, Montreal, the present seat of this family,
was raised,) by Elizabeth, his wife: a small tablet for Louisa Macdonald, third daughter of Alexander
Macdonald, Esq. who died at Vine Lodge, Jan. 26th, 1833, in the 19th year of her age. Opposite
the pulpit is a monument for Jane Randolph, daughter of T. Lambarde, Esq. of this parish, and
widow of John Randolph, D.D. Bishop of London, who died Feb. 14th, 1836, aged 82. At the west
end, over the vault of the Lambardes, is a tablet for a son and three daughters of Multon and Aurea
Lambarde; Multon, who died Feb. 13th, 1808, aged 7 years; Jane, who died April 10th, 1810, aged
14 years; Frances, who died Dec. 24th, 1821, aged 30 years; and Bridget Aurea, married to John
Gurdon, Esq. of Assington, Suffolk (where her remains are interred), who died Jan. 1st, 1826, aged
33 years; also for Calthrop Parker Gurdon, infant son of John and Bridget Aurea Gurdon, who

died May 14th, 1826. On the north wall, a magnificent monument, by J. E. Carew, sculpt. to the
memory of Charles, Earl Whitworth, who represented our King at the Imperial Court of Russia, at

the Court of France during the Consular Government, and finally, as Lord Lieutenant of Ireland,

and died May 13th, 1825, in the 71st year of his age: a tablet for Anne, wife of George Calverley
Cole, Esqg. born March 11th, 1805, died Jan. 30th, 1830: a very elegant monument for Field Marshal
Jeffrey, Lord Amherst, of Holmsdale, in this county, born Jan. 29th, 1717, died Aug. 3d, 1797, who
commanded in America before the peace of 1763, and who afterwards was twice honoured with the
command of the army in Great Britain.

Sevenoaks Church is dedicated to St. Nicholas.

SUNDRIDGE, in the Parish of Sundridge. Here is the seat of George
Polhill, Esq. situated about midway between Riverhead and Westerham, on the
south side of the road. In the interior of this house are portraits of Oliver
Cromwell and Ireton, by Cooper; of Mrs. Ireton, supposed by Sir Peter Lely;
and very valuable miniatures of Oliver Cromwell, Richard Cromwell, and Ireton;
also family portraits of Thomas Polhill, Esq. who married Miss Ireton; of David
Polhill, Esq. who married, first, Miss Trevor, secondly, Gertrude Pelham, and,
thirdly, Elizabeth Borrett; and of Charles Polhill, Esq.

Comb Bank, in the Parish of Sundridge, the seat of the late Right Hon.
Lord Templemore, is a handsome structure, having been greatly improved
by his Lordship; indeed the alterations were scarcely completed at the time
of his decease. The grounds are beautifully diversified with wood and
water.
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It is distant from Westerham about two miles and a half, and from Seven-
oaks, four miles.

Comb Bank was for many generations the property of the Isley family, having been formerly
esteemed part of the manor of Sundridge. In the 18th year of the reign of Elizabeth, it was vested
in trustees, to be sold for the payment of the debts of William Isley, and was purchased by the family



of Ash, the last of whom here sold it to Colonel John Campbell, of Mammore, who succeeded, in
1761, to the title of Duke of Argyle. His Grace died in 1770; but in his life time gave Comb Bank
to his third surviving son, the Right Hon. Lord Frederick Campbell. Subsequent to this period it
was in possession of William Manning, Esq. M.P.

Ovenden House, in the Parish of Sundridge, the seat of William Grasett,
Esq. is situated near the south-west corner of Chevening Park.

Ovenden House is distant from Sevenoaks about four miles, and from London
21 miles.

This manor or farm (formerly called Overney, alias Overney's Green) was once a part of the
property of the Freminghams. Afterwards it belonged to the family of Isley, of one of whom it was
purchased by Leven Bufkin, Esq. and of him re-purchased by Henry Isley. Subsequently it came
into possession of John and Sampson Lennard, and from these descended to Thomas, Earl of Sussex,
whose two daughters conveyed it to Major General James Stanhope, afterwards Earl Stanhope, whose
descendant, the Right Hon. Earl Stanhope, is the present proprietor.

Sundridge Church. On the north side, under a Gothic arch, is an ancient altar tomb,
which, according to Philipott, is for John Isley, Esqg. Sheriff of Kent anno 14 Edward IV. who died
in 1484; but the inscription, as well as two figures that were on the side of it, are lost: there are also
other memorials for this family. In the south chancel, a mural monument, for John Hyde, Esq. Lord
of the Manor of Sundridge Weald and Millbrook, who died in 1729: another for John Hyde, Esq.
who died in 1677: an oval one, for Elizabeth, wife of Humphry Hyde, Esq. who died in 1713: a
monument for Frances, widow of Peter Shaw, M.D. and daughter of John Hyde, Esq. who died in
1767: a memorial for Henry Hyde, Gentleman, A.M. who died Oct. 26th, 1706; and for Humphry
Hyde, Gentleman, second son of John Hyde, Esq. Lord of Sundridge manor, who died in 1709, aged
18 years. On a pillar, east of the pulpit, there is an elegant tablet for Mary, wife of Sir Richard
Hardinge, Bart. who departed this life Aug. 6th, 1824, in the 50th year of her age. On each side of
the altar is a head, beautifully sculptured in marble: on the north side, under a canopy, a tablet for
Harriet Eleanor Manning, youngest daughter of William Manning, Esq. M.P. and Mary Manning,
who died at Comb Bank, Jan. 29th, 1826, in the 19th year of her age: under it a very neat one, for
William Manning, Esq. interred in the same vault: nearer the altar there is an inscription on stone,
elegantly carved, for Lord Frederick Campbell, son of John, fourth Duke ofArgyle, Lord Clerk
Register of Scotland, who died June 8th, 1816, aged 87; also for Mary Meredith, his wife, who
unfortunately lost her life at Comb Bank, July 26th, 1807, in the 71st year of her age. On the south
side, a Latin inscription, for Anna Seymour Damer, who died March 28th, 1828, aged 80 years.
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PARISH AND VILLE OF BRASTED.

Brasted Place, in the Parish of Brasted, the residence of Mrs. Douglas, is
situated near Brasted on the south-east; the park or grounds joining, on the
south, the Westerham and Sundridge road.

Brasted Place is distant from Westerham about two miles, from Sevenoaks
nearly four miles, and from London 23 miles.

This seat (formerly called Stockets, and Crow Place, from its proprietors) was, in the reign of
Edward I. held by Walter de Stocket of the Earl of Gloucester, as the fourth part of a knight's fee.
Lora, daughter of Simon Stocket, carried it in marriage to Richard Boare, whose great grand-
daughter, Joane, took it in marriage also to Thomas Crow, jun. Esg. Their descendant, William
Crow, Esq. at the end of the reign of James I. alienated it to Robert, afterwards Sir Robert Heath,
of Mitcham, from whom (he being a firm loyalist) this estate was sequestered during the Common-
wealth; but restored by Charles Il. to his son, Edward Heath, Esqg. In this family Brasted Place
continued till Margaret, daughter of Sir John Heath, carried it in marriage to George Verney, Lord
Willoughby de Broke, D.D. afterwards Dean of Windsor, descended from the family of De Verney,
of Compton Murdock, in Warwickshire. This nobleman's great grandson, John Peyto Verney, Lord
Willoughby de Broke, alienated it to the Right Hon. Lord Frederick Campbell, who subsequently



passed it to John Turton, Esq. M.D.

Rectory, Brasted, the residence of the Rev. John Gibbons, M.A. is situated
near the church on the south-east. It is a fine ancient house, surrounded with
highly-cultivated and beautiful grounds. The interior is elegantly fitted up, and
adorned with some good paintings, and other works of art.

The Rectory is distant from Westerham about one mile and three-quarters,
from Sevenoaks four miles, and from London 23 miles.

Philippines, in the Parish of Brasted, the property of William Bradshaw,

Esq. is situated about one mile and a half south from Brasted, on the north side
of the high hills which intersect this part of the county, consequently com-
manding very extensive and interesting prospects. The house, which is a hand-
some structure, was erected in 1834, by the late Mr. Bignold.

Philippines is distant from Westerham about two miles, from Sevenoaks four
miles, and from London 23 miles.

Brasted Church. Here we found the following monuments, some of them
very beautiful:

In the north chancel, a memorial for Margaret, daughter of the Hon. John and Abigail Verney,
who died in 1733, aged 17; and for George, eldest son of the Hon. George and Margaret Verney,
who died in 1698, aged 7 years: a mural monument, for Margaret Mennes, daughter and heiress of
Sir Matthew Mennes, K.B. and Lady Margaret Stuart, married secondly to Sir John Heath; she
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died in 1676. On the north side, a noble monument, on which are the figures of a judge in his
robes and cap, and his lady, for Sir Robert Heath, Justice of the Common Pleas, son and heir of
Robert Heath, Esqg. by Anne, daughter and co-heir of Nicholas Posier, Gentleman, who died in
1649; and for Margaret, his wife, who died in 1647. In the great chancel, a monument for the
Rev. Michael Bull, who was rector of this church 50 years; he died Aug. 27th, 1763, aged 88: on
the north side of the altar, a monument for Margaret, wife of Thomas Seyliard, daughter and heir
of Francis Rogers, Esq. of Otford, who died in 1616: beneath this last, a handsome altar tomb, for
Dorothy, daughter of William Crowmer, Esq. of Tunstall, first married to William Seyliard, Esq.

of Brasted; secondly, to Michael Beresford, Esq. of Westerham; she died in 1613. In the south-
east corner, a tablet for Mary Croasdaile, who died March 6th, 1784, aged 60; also for Henry
James Alexander Croasdaile, of Hargrave Lodge, in the County of Essex, her son, and the only
survivor of 24 children; he died April 4th, 1831, aged 66. On the north wall, a tablet for William
Walton, Bencher, of Lincoln's Inn, King's Counsel, and for 22 years Attorney-General of the Duchy
of Lancaster, who died April 15th, 1833, aged 76. In the north aisle, a fine piece of sculpture, by
Westmacott, in memory of Mary Turton, widow of John Turton, M.D, who died June 28th, 1810,
aged 69: and near the corner, a superb monument, also by Westmacott, for John Turton, M.D. who
died in 1806, aged 70 years.

Brasted Church is dedicated to St. Martin.
HUNDRED OF WESTERHAM AND EDENBRIDGE.

Hill Park, in the Parish of Westerham, the seat of David Baillie, Esq. is
situated about one mile eastward from Westerham.

This place (formerly called Valons) was the residence of a family named Valons, and afterwards of
that of Casinghurst, by whom it was conveyed, in the reign of Henry VII. to John Islip, Abbot of
Westminster, who gave it to his servant, William Middleton. His descendants, towards the end of
the reign of Elizabeth, conveyed it to Jacob Verzelini, Esq. of Downe, whose daughter, Elizabeth,
carried it in marriage to Peter Manning, Esqg. of Trowmer; and one of his posterity, in the reign of
Charles I. passed it away to Ranulph Manning, Esq. of London. By this family it was alienated, in
1718, to Colonel Henry Harrison, who, about 1732, passed it to William Turner, Esqg. and of him,
in 1763, it was purchased by Captain Peter Dennis, R. N. About the year 1766 Captain Dennis sold



it to William M'Gwire, Esq. and he again, soon after, alienated it to Wills Hill, Earl of Hillsborough,
who greatly improved the house and grounds, and changed the name from Valons to Hill Park.
Soon after the death of his Lady, which happened in 1780, the Earl sold it to John Cottin, Esq.

Hill Park Is distant from London about 22 miles.
106

Squerries, in the Parish of Westerham, the seat of the late John Warde,
Esqg. a Magistrate for the County, is situated south-west of Westerham, its
beautiful park extending to the boundary that separates this county from Surrey.
In front of the mansion is a broad sheet of water, on each side of which the
rising ground, clothed with noble timber, has a very picturesque effect. The
house contains an excellent collection of paintings by the old masters.

Squerries is distant from Sevenoaks about six miles, from Edenbridge five
miles, and from London 22 miles.

This manor gave surname to its ancient proprietors. In the reign of Henry VI. it came into
possession of Sir William Cromer, of Tunstall, in right of his Lady, Margaret, daughter of Thomas
Squerrie, Esq. In the reign of Henry VIII. by some means, it passed to the Crown, and that King
afterwards granted it to Thomas Cawarden, whose descendant, about the middle of Elizabeth's reign,
alienated it to Michael Beresford, Esq. He passed it to George Strood, Esqg. and from this gentle-
man it went to Thomas Lambert, Esq. the parliamentary general, who conveyed it to John Leach,
Esqg. and his son, Sir William Leach, sold it, in 1681, to Sir Nicholas Crisp, Bart. of Hammersmith.
About 1701 Sir John Crisp, Bart. son of Sir Nicholas, sold it to the Right Hon. William Villiers,

Earl of Jersey, of whose son and successor, William, Earl of Jersey, it was purchased by John Warde,
Esq. from whom the present proprietor is lineally descended.

Vicarage House, Westerham, the residence of the Rev. Richard Board, B.L.
This house is remarkable for having been the birth-place of General Wolfe, who
was born in it, Jan. 2d, 1727.

Charts Edge, in the Parish of Westerham, the seat of the Rev. Thomas
Streatfeild, F.S.A. is situated rather more than half a mile south from Wester-
ham, and about the same distance east from Squerries, west of the high road to
Edenbridge, from which there is a lodge-entrance into its beautiful grounds.

This interesting seat was erected in 1819: a handsome hall and library have
recently been added, in the style of William of Wykeham. The finishing of the
interior is very elegant: the ceilings and windows are richly embellished with
armorial bearings. We observed several portraits of Kentish worthies; also
some of the finest specimens of Fuseli, Stothard, and Sir Thomas Lawrence.
The scenery westward is very picturesque.

Charts Edge is distant from Sevenoaks about five miles, and from London
22 miles.

Mariners, in the Parish of Westerham, the seat of Mrs. Whittaker, is
situated about two miles south from Westerham, in the bosom of the high ground
which here intersects the county, whence it commands a grand prospect over a
considerable portion of Kent, Surrey, and Sussex. The house is ancient, but
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was modernised and greatly improved about thirty years ago: the interior is
particularly neat, and most conveniently arranged. It is well sheltered with
ornamental timber: the lawn in front is enclosed by a sunk fence.

Mariners is distant from Edenbridge about four miles, and from London
23 miles.

Westerham Church is a large handsome building, and contains a numerous
assemblage of memorials and monuments, from which we select the following as
most interesting:



In the cross aisle, at the west end, a grave-stone, for Sir William Dyne, Priest, some time Parson
of Tattisfylde, obt. 1567: at the east end, an elegant mural monument for Thomas Knight, Esq.
Clerk of the Assize for Norfolk, who died in 1708: near this, another for Eleanor, youngest daughter
of Sir Thomas Seyliard, second Baronet of that ancient family, and of Lady Frances, his first wife,
sole daughter and heir of Henry Wyat, Esq. eldest son of Sir Francis Wyat, of Boxley Abbey, who
died in 1726. In the middle aisle, on the south side, a mural monument for Ranulph Manning,
Gentleman, who died in 1712; and Catherine, his wife, daughter of Saul Missenden, Esq. Deputy
Governor of the Merchant Adventurers of England resident at Hamburgh, who died in 1732. Over
the south door, a neat monument in memory of General James Wolfe, son of Colonel Edward Wolfe,
and Henrietta, his wife, who was born in this parish, Jan. 2, 1727, and died in America, Sept. 13th,
1759, Conqueror of Quebec. The stone is inscribed with the following lines:

"Whilst George in sorrow bows his laurelled head,
And bids the artist grace the soldier dead,

We raise no sculptured trophies to thy name,
Brave youth! the fairest in the list of fame.

Proud of thy birth, we boast the auspicious year, —
Struck with thy fall, we shed a general tear:

With humble grief inscribe one artless stone.

And from thy matchless honours date our own."

In the south aisle, a memorial for John Thorpe, descended from an ancient gentleman's family iu
Kent and Sussex, obt. 1703: on the south side, a monument for John Henry Barrow, Esq. who died
Feb. 20th, 1811, aged 71; also for Frances Barrow, his wife, who died May 5th, 1825, aged 81 years;
both formerly of the Island of Barbadoes, and late of Hill Park, in this parish: on the north side, an
elegant one for General Sir Henry Warde, G.C.B. who died at his residence in Hampshire, Oct. 1st,
1834, in the 68th year of his age: a small tablet for Samuel Welch, Esq. of Dunsdale, in this parish,
who died July 6th, 1836, aged 77; Charlotte, his wife, died at Bromley Common, May 15th, 1822,
aged 62, and was interred in Bromley church-yard: at the upper end, next the chancel, a mural
monument, with the figures of a man and woman kneeling at a desk, for Thomas Potter, Esq. of
Westerham, who married Mary, daughter and co-heir of Richard Tichbourne, Esqg. of Eatonbridge:
in the north aisle are several memorials for the family of Dallings or Daulinge: on the north side, a
mural monument for Thomas Hardy, citizen of London, who died in 1747; he was a benefactor to
the poor of this parish: at the east end, a mural monument for Mary, wife of Henry Street, Esq.
daughter of Sir John Gerrard, Bart. who died in 1651: another monument for Wenham Lewis, Esq.
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of this parish, who died Oct. 30th, 1833, aged 56; he was the son of George Wenham Lewis, Esq.

of Westerham, grandson of the Rev. George Lewis, M.A. and great grandson of the Rev. George
Lewis, M.A. both of whom were Vicars of this parish: on a tablet attached, is an inscription to the
memory of Randolph, fifth son of the above John Wenham Lewis, Esqg. and Dorothy Frances, his

wife, who died April 17th, 1833, aged 25: near the altar, a neat monument for the Rev. John Bodi-
coate, A.M. Patron and Vicar of this church, son of the late John Bodicoate, Esq. one of His
Majesty's Justices of the Peace for this county; and for Elizabeth, his wife, interred in the same

vault: under this a very elegant one for Harriet, Countess of Winterton, daughter of William Board,
Esqg. and widow successively of the Rev. J. Bodicoate, and of Edward, Earl Winterton; she died at
Shillinglee Park, in the county of Sussex, April 25th, 1831, aged 77 years: north wall, at the east

end, are three memorials, very elegant and tastefully disposed; the highest one, represented as a flag
folded over a spear, is to the memory of Lieutenant General William Minet, of Bovingdon, Hants,
eldest son of Hughes Minet, Esq. who, after 40 years spent in the service of his King and country,
departed this life, Dec. 27th, 1827, in the 66th year of his age; the middle one commemorates Hughes
Minet, Esq. who died at his residence, near this place, Dec. 23d, 1813, aged 83; and the lowest one
is for John Lewis Minet, Esq. of Hevers Wood, near this place, second son of the above Hughes
Minet, Esq. who died Nov. 21st, 1829, aged 64; and for Elizabeth, his widow, who died July 10th,
1831, at the age of 59. Within the altar rails is a grave-stone, showing that Sir John Crisp, Bart.
paved the communion space, in remembrance of Nicholas Crisp, Esq. eldest son of Sir Nicholas



Crisp, Bart. who died in 1697, aged 17.
Westerham Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
HUNDRED OF SOMERDEN.

Hall Place, in the Parish of Leigh, the property of Thomas Farmer Baily,
Esq. (a minor), is situated about three miles west from Tunbridge, and about
two miles and a half north-east from Penshurst, in a small but beautiful park,
well stocked with deer.

When the district of land called Hollenden was parcelled out among different owners, a part of it,
in the reign of Henry VIII. was conveyed to William Waller, who was succeeded in it by his son
Richard, about which time it acquired the name of Hall Place. His widow, Anne, afterwards carried
this estate to her second husband, Stephen Towse, Gentleman; and after their death it passed to
Crittenden, whose descendant, in the reign of Charles Il. alienated it to one Harrison. From these it
passed to the name of Burges, of whom Robert Burges, Esq. rebuilt the seat, and died in 1794. His
widow subsequently marrying James Harbroe, Esq. this gentleman became possessed of Hall Place.

Hall Place is distant from Sevenoaks about six miles, and from London
30 miles.
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Leigh Church. In the chancel of this church there is a memorial for Anne and Philadel-
phia, the infant daughters of the Rev. Joseph Carte, Minister of this church, by Lady Anne, his wife,
daughter of Robert, Earl of Leicester; also grave-stones for the family of 8tace, of Hollenden: a
memorial for Lady Anne Carte, who died in 1693: another for Sidney Carte, who died in 1582,
aged 13: on the north side, a mural monument for Abraham Harrison, Esq. of Hall Place, alias
Hollenden, who died in 1788; and Elizabeth, his second wife, who died also in 1718.

In the church-yard there is a handsome tomb, to the memory of Farmer Baily, Esq. of Hall Place,
owner of the manor.

Leigh Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Penshurst Castle, in the Parish of Penshurst, the seat of the Rt. Hon.
Philip Charles Sidney, Lord de L'Isle and Dudley, is a castellated structure,
partly ancient and partly modern, the ancient part being in the Elizabethan style.
It has recently been enlarged, and has undergone considerable improvement.
The hall is a fine specimen of the grandeur of olden times, and marks the im-
portance which must have attached to this place at an earlier period. The Ball
Room, Queen Elizabeth's Room, the Tapestry Room, Picture Gallery, and
Picture Closet, contain a magnificent collection of paintings. We give a list
of the principal pieces:

Queen Elizabeth's Room. — Robert Spencer, first Earl of Sunderland, Vandyck; Hon. Charles
Egerton, Ryely; a Family (group) of the Sydneys, 1596, by Mark Gerard; Robert, Earl of Leicester,
Vandyck; Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester, M. Gerard; a large painting of Lady Sherrard; Por-
traits of Mrs. Perry and Robert Sydney; Lady Elizabeth Sydney, by Sir Peter Lely; Ambrose
Dudley, Earl of Warwick, by M. Gerard; Algernon Percy, Earl of Northumberland, Vandyck;
Henry, Earl of Holland, Vandyck; a full length of the Earl of Pembroke, by Cor. Jansen; Lady
Catherine Cecil, Sir Peter Lely; Jane Wroth, Countess of Rochford, S. Netscher; a full length of
Sir William Sydney, by M. Gerard; a Sleeping Venus, by Titian; Queen Mary, by Holbein;
Jupiter, &c. Titian; Fall of Phaeton, by G. D. Arpino; Mary de Medicis, Queen of France; Eliza-
beth Barnsly, wife to Weedon Perry, Esq.; Algernon Sydney, beheaded Dec. 7lh, 1683; Charity,
by Guido; Sir Philip Sydney; Countess of Pembroke, Sister to Sir Philip; a large Portrait of Lord
Lisle, Vandyck; George lll. by Ramsay; Elizabeth Howard, Countess of Northumberland, Van-
dyck; Robert Spencer, Earl of Sunderland, by Vandyck.



Tapestry Room. — Dorothy Percy, Countess of Leicester, and Lucy Percy, Countess of Carlisle,
by D. Mytens; Nell Gwyn, by Sir Peter Lely; two portraits of William and Mary; Miss Perry,
by Vanloo; Discovery of Calista, P. Lauri; Lady Catherine Cecil, by Sir Peter Lely; Nymph
and Satyr, by Poelemburg; William IIl. and Mary, two large portraits; Sea Piece, by Vandervelde;
St. Peter delivered out of Prison, by Stenwyck; King Edward VI. by Holbein; Duke of Clarence,
(late King William 1V.) by Sir Thomas Lawrence; Mr. Perry, by Vanloo. In this room also are
two fine pieces of tapestry, the subject of one, the Triumph of Ceres; the other, Aolus unbarring the
Wind; a curious card-table, covered partly by the needle-work of Queen Elizabeth; and, suspended
in the centre, a chandelier of glass, presented by the Queen to the Earl of Leicester, which is said
to have been the first of the kind ever made.

Picture Closet. — Henry Sydney, Earl of Romney; Head of a Saint, by Giorgione; a Fire, by
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Francisco Francks; Banditti, by Spagnoletto; Madonna and Sleeping Christ, by Guido; a Crucifixion;
Lady Sydney, by Vandyck; a Landscape, by Paul Bril; Procession of Saint Januarius to stop an
Eruption of Vesuvius; Titian's Mistress, by himself; Algernon Percy, Earl of Northumberland,

Lord High Admiral of England.

Picture Gallery. — Church of Florence; Deneef Figures, by Old Francks; Lady Mary Dudley,
wife to Sir H. Sydney, and mother of Sir Philip Sydney; Algernon Sydney, J. Verrus; Languet,
tutor to Sir P. Sydney; Weedon Perry, Esq. and his Lady; Lady Sherrard and her Son; Bacchanals,
by N. Poussin. On marble, Lambert Chrish Gori; Flowers, by Daniel Segers; James Stuart, Duke
of Richmond, by Vandyck; the Dying Mother; Abraham and Isaac, by Guercino da Cento; Pro-
cession, by Rubens; Telemachus, in the Island of Calypso, by Vandyck; William Perry, Esq.;
Dorothy, Countess of Sunderland, by Hoskins; Thomas Sydney, when a boy; Virgin and Child, and
St. John, a copy from Raphael; Holy Family, Bassano; Meleager and Atalanta; Forge, &c. F. Franks;
Beggars, by Old Weenix; a Head, by Currachi; Holy Family, by Rothenamer; Mercury and
Argos, by Bartolmo; Endymion and Diana; St. John in the Wilderness, by Peter Schenck;
Bacchanals, N. Poussin; Thomas, Earl of Surrey, L. de la Hire; the Perry Family, by David
Loder; Ann Percy, Lady Stanhope, by Netscher; Prince Rupert and his Attendants, by T. Fitzallen;
Archbishop of Canterbury; Drunken Gondolier, by Rubens; Apollo and Muses, by Sir Peter Lely;
Dorothy Sydney, Countess of Sunderland, Vandyck (Waller's Sacharissa); William Ill. by Wissing;
Madonna and Child, &c. Andrew del Sarto; Sir Philip Sydney and his Brother Robert, Earl of
Leicester, by Gerrard; Elizabeth, daughter of Colonel Sydney, and wife of William Perry; Philip,
fifth Earl of Leicester, by Sir Godfrey Kneller; Elizabeth Egerton, Countess of Leicester, by Sir
Peter Lely; Christ at Emmaus, by John Stone; Robert, Earl of Leicester, by Sir Peter Lely; Jane
Wroth, Countess of Rochford, by Netscher; Adam and Eve, by Holbein; Madonna and Child, by
Leonardo da Vinci; a Head, by Simon Mercati, which, with one or two other paintings in this part
of the room, formed part of the collection of Charles I.; Holy Family and St. John; Flemish Woman,
by Terburg; Sir Thomas More, Holbein; Barbara Gamage, first Countess of Leicester, by Mark
Gerard; Venus reclining, by Titian; Head of a Monk, by Peter Del Vaga; Venus attired by the
Graces, copied from Guido, by Sir Peter Lely; a small Fruit Piece, by De Heem; Martyrdom of
St. Sebastian.

Pages' Room. — Practising for a Masque, by Antonie Massena; Old Parr, 1635, aetat. 152; Fall
of Phaeton, by Julio Romano; Frost Piece, by Francis Crowpen; Duchess of Portsmouth, favourite
of Charles Il.; Henry Sydney, Earl of Romney.

Ball-Room. — Triumph of Cupid; Venus, &c.; Cupid stringing his Bow; Europa; (these four,
by Henry Vanderborcht, are very large, and cover the sides of the room;) Lady E. Sydney, by Sir
Peter Lely; and some fine sculpture.

The park is extensive, well wooded, and picturesque.

Penshurst, at a short period subsequent to the reign of the Conqueror, was the property of a family
who, from their proprietorship, assumed the name of Penshurste. From these it went in marriage with
Alice de Penshurste to John de Columbers, and afterwards was conveyed to the eminent Sir John de
Pulteney. After passing through the families of Lovaine, Devereux, Chamberlayn, and St. Clere, it was
purchased of the last named by John, the Great Duke of Bedford, third son of Henry IV. by Mary,
daughter of Humphrey de Bohun, Earl of Hereford, &c. and Regent of France during the minority of



his nephew, Henry VI. who, at his death, (anno 14 Henry VI.) was succeeded here by his next
brother, Humphrey, the Good Duke of Gloucester, who dying s. p. Penshurst was inherited by his
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Nephew, Henry VI. This manor was then granted to Humphrey Stafford, Duke of Buckingham,
whose great-grandson, Edward, Duke of Buckingham, was executed for treason in the 14th year of
Henry VIII. and his estates consequently were forfeited to the Crown. Subsequently it was conferred,
by Edward VI. on John, Earl of Warwick, who exchanged it with the Crown for other lands; and it

was then given, to hold by knight's service, to Sir Ralph Fane, who shortly afterwards was hanged on
Tower Hill, as an accomplice of the Duke of Somerset. The king then, by letters patent, bestowed

it on Sir William Sidney, of the family of Sydney, of Cranleigh, in Surrey, and Kingesham, in Sussex,
which originally descended from Sir William Sidney, who came with Henry II. from Anjou. After

being transmitted through the illustrious descendants of this gentleman to Joceline, Earl of Leicester,
the last heir male, this manor came into possession, in undivided moieties, of Sir Brownlow Sherard
and William Perry, Esq. in right of their wives, Mary and Elizabeth, the daughters of Colonel

Thomas Sidney, an elder brother of Earl Joceline, above named, and son of Robert, Earl of Leicester,
who died in 1702. Lady Anne Yonge and her son, Sir George, the heirs of Lady Mary Sherard, who
died a widow and s. p. in 1768, sold, in 1770, their moiety to Mrs. Elizabeth Perry, then a widow,
who, at her death, bequeathed the whole, in trustees, to her grandson, John Shelley, Esqg. who then
took the name of Sydney.

The celebrated oak in this park, now called Bears Qak, is said to have been
planted at the birth of the accomplished Sir Philip Sydney. It is celebrated both
by Waller and Ben Johnson.

Penshurst Castle is distant from Sevenoaks about eight miles, from Tun-
bridge five miles, and from London 32 miles.

Redleaf, in the Parish of Penshurst, the seat of William Wells, Esq. is
situated nearly one mile north from Penshurst, in a park remarkable for the
many natural beauties with which it is enriched. The house is sumptuously
adorned with works of art, which we regret that we were not at leisure to survey
with as much attention as they merit; for, judging not merely from such cursory
notice as we were able to bestow, but from the high terms in which they are men-
tioned by others, we may observe, without fear of exaggeration, that this
collection, in proportion to its extent, is not surpassed by any in the county.

The grounds are extremely well cultivated, and the shrubberies embellished with
many rare and beautiful plants. The mansion is ancient, with some modern
additions.

Redleaf is distant from Sevenoaks about seven miles and a half, from Tun-
bridge five miles, and from London 31 miles.

Redleaf was for many years in possession of the family of Spencer, descendants of the Spencers of
St. Albans, in Hertfordshire, having been the property of Gilbert Spencer, Esq. in the reign of Charles Il.
At length Abraham Spencer, Esq. dying unmarried, in 1740, bequeathed it to Thomas Harvey, Esq.
of Tunbridge, who, at his death, in 1779, left it to his eldest son, the Rev. Thomas Harvey.

Rectory House, Penshurst, the residence of the Rev. Philip Stanhope
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Dodd, M,A. is situated close to the church, and near Penshurst Castle. It is
a handsome house, with beautiful lawn and pleasure grounds.
The distance from London is about 32 miles.

PENSHURST. About a quarter of a mile south-west from the village, on
the west side of the road to South Park, is the pleasant residence of Mrs, Yates.
South Park, in the Parish of Penshurst, belongs to a family of the name of
Jones, who were removing from it at the time we visited the place. This house



has been much enlarged, we believe by the present proprietor: it is situated on
an elevated part of the park, and has a handsome appearance.
It is distant from London about 33 miles.

South Park was formerly the southern part of Penshurst Park, till alienated from it, in 1770, by
Lady Anne and her son, Sir George Yonge, Bart. to Richard Alnutt, Esq. The house was built
by Mr. Alnutt, who died in 1789; and, until within a few years past, the estate remained in his
descendants.

Penshurst Church. From among the numerous memorials in this church
we select the following:

In the chancel, within the altar rails, a grave-stone for William Egerton, LL.D. grandson of John,
Earl of Bridgewater, Rector of Penshurst and Allhallows, Lombard street, Chancellor and Pre-
bendary of Hereford, and Prebendary of Canterbury, who died Feb. 26th, 1737; he married Anne,
daughter of Sir Francis Head. On the north side of the altar, a mural monument for Gilbert Spencer,
Esq. of Redleaf, who died in 1709: a brass in memory of Martha, wife of the Rev. Philip Stanhope
Dodd, M.A. Rector of this parish, who died Oct. 17th, 1833, in the 42d year of her age. In the
south chancel, a stone, with brasses, for Pawle Yden, Gent. and Agnes, his wife, son of Thomas
Yden, Esq. obt. 1564: two others for infant children of the Sydney family: another for Thomas
Bullayen, son of Sir Thomas Bullayen: here was lately a monument for Lady Mary —, eldest
daughter of the famous John, Duke of Northumberland, and sister of Ambrose, Earl of Warwick, of
Robert, Earl of Leicester, and Catherine, Countess of Huntingdon, wife of the Right Hon. Sir Henry
Sydney, K.G. At the west end, a mural monument for Sir William Coventry, youngest son of
Thomas, Lord Coventry, who died at Tunbridge Wells, in 1686. On the south side, a fine old monu-
ment, and below, an altar-tomb, for Sir William Sydney, Knight Banneret, Chamberlain and Steward
to Edward VI. and the first of the name Lord of the Manor of Penshurst; he died in 1553: on the
front are the names of Sir William Dormer, Mary Sydney, Sir William Fitzwilliam, Sir James
Hannington, Anne Sydney, and Lucy Sydney. On the south side, a handsome monument for Lord
Philip Sydney, fifth Earl of Leicester, who died in 1705, and was succeeded by John, his brother and
heir; also for John, sixth Earl of Leicester, cousin and heir of Henry Sydney, Earl of Romney, who
died in 1737; his heirs being Mary and Elizabeth Sydney, daughters and heirs of his brother, the
Hon. Thomas Sydney, third surviving son of Robert, Earl of Leicester; for Josceline, seventh Earl
of Leicester, youngest brother and heir male of Earl John, died s. p. in 1743, with whom the title
expired, as has been mentioned above, in the article on Penshurst Castle. On the monument is an
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account of the several personages of this noble family, their descent, marriages, and issue, and shields
of their arms and quarterings. On the north side, a fine monument for several infant children of this
family; beneath is an urn and inscriptions, for Frances Sydney, fourth daughter, obt. 1692, aet. 6;

for Robert Sydney, fourth Earl of Leicester, who married Lady Elizabeth Egerton, by whom he had
fifteen children, of whom nine died young, and whose figures, as cherubim, are placed above, obt.
1702; Robert, the eldest son, obt. 1680, at. 6; Elizabeth, Countess of Leicester, obt. 1709. Standing
against the door, on the south side of this chancel, is an ancient stone figure of a knight in armour,
for Sir Stephen de Penchester, Lord Warden and Constable of Dover Castle in the reign of

Edward I.; it formerly lay on an altar tomb. Here we may remark that Penchester (a corruption

of Pencestre) was an ancient name of this place, being derived from the old British word Pen, the
height or top, and caestre, a camp. On the north wall, a neat monument for two sisters, daughters

of Richard Allnut, Esqg. and Frances, his wife, of South Park, in this parish; Frances Anne died

July 3d, 1820, aged 23; Susanna died May 4th, 1821, aged 21: near this, a tablet for Richard

Allnutt, Esqg. of South Park, who died Nov. 19th, 1827, aged 65. Behind the pulpit, a tablet for
Elizabeth, wife of Charles Brooke, Esq. who died Nov. 7th, 1821, aged 67. On the north side of

the middle aisle, one for Nicholas Halhead, Esq. who died at Tunbridge Wells, July 12th, 1785,

aged 67: and a tablet near the pulpit, with a Latin inscription, for Jonathan Hammond, who died

Feb. 13th, 1819, aged 62.

Penshurst Church is dedicated to St. John the Baptist.



Chiddingstone Park, in the Parish of Chiddingstone, the seat of Henry
Streatfeild, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is
situated westward of Penshurst Castle and Redleaf. It is a fine gothic castel-
lated mansion, surrounded by extensive grounds, which are well-timbered and
picturesque: they include a large sheet of water. The improvements and ad-
ditions, commenced some years ago, and lately completed, have taken from
this seat much of its antique appearance.

Chiddingstone Park is distant from Westerham about seven miles and a half,
from Tunbridge Wells nine miles, and from London 28 miles.

Chiddingstone was formerly divided into two manors, distinguished by the names of their
respective owners; one called Chiddingstone Cobham, and the other Chiddingstone Burghersh.

Chiddingstone Cobham belonged, in the reign of Edward Ill. to a younger branch of the family
of Cobham, of Cobham, in this county. At length Anne, the daughter of Sir Thomas Cobham,
carried it in marriage to Sir Edward Borough, of Gainsborough, whose direct descendant, Thomas,
Lord Burgh, alienated it, in the 38th year of Elizabeth, to Richard Streatfeild, Esq. of Highstreet
House, in this parish, and in his posterity, by purchase and inheritance from branch to branch, it has
since remained.

Chiddingstone Burghersh (formerly Burwash Court) was very early a part of the possessions of
the eminent family of Burghersh. Bartholomew de Burghersh, about the 43d Edward Ill. conveyed
it to Sir Walter de Pavely, whose descendant, at the end of the reign of Richard Il. conveyed it to
Mr. Vaux, of Northamptonshire, from whom it was alienated in the reign of Henry VI. to John
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Alphew, of Bore Place, in this parish, whose daughter, Margaret, carried it to her husband, Sir
Robert Read; and his daughter, Bridget, married to Sir Thomas Willoughby, at her father's death
received this manor as her portion of his property. Their descendant, Sir Percival Willoughby,
alienated it to John and Robert Seyliard, of Delaware, whose descendant, Sir Thomas Seyliard, Bart.
about the year 1700, conveyed it to Henry Streatfeild, Esqg. in which family of Streatfeild it has since
remained.

The elder line of this family was resident at Highstreet House in the time of James |.

Stone Wall, in the Parish of Chiddingstone, the seat of Mrs. Whitton, is
situated about two miles south from Chiddingstone. It is a handsome house,
with beautiful grounds, and stands on an elevated site, distant from Penshurst,
south-west, about two miles, and from London 30 miles.

Chiddingstone Church. In the middle aisle there is an iron plate for Richard
Streatfeild, obt. 1601; a stone, with a brass, for Richard Streatfeild, of Cransted, obt. 1584.
In the south aisle, memorials for the family of Basset. On a pillar, in the body of the church,
a monument for Henry Streatfeild, Gent. late of Great Highstreet House, eldest son of Richard
Streatfeild, of the same, who died in 1709; and Sarah, his wife, who died in 1716. In the chancel,
a memorial for Richard Nurse, Rector of Chiddingstone, obt. June 10, 1705, at. 65. On a pillar,
a hatchment for Thomas Streatfeild, Gent. obt. 1628. On the north side is a chapel, called
Bore Place Chapel, that was built by Sir Robert Reid in 1516, and dedicated to St. Catharine:
here, against the wall, is a brass for Strode Hyde, Esq. of Bore Place, who died in 1742: an altar-
tomb for Frances, daughter of John Reeve, married first to Thomas Streatfeild, secondly to John
Seyliard; she died in 1650. In the south chancel, against a pillar, a small monument for W. Streat-
field, Gent. late of Burghersh Court, second son of Henry Streatfeild, Gent. of Highstreet House,
who died in 1724: on the same pillar, an escutcheon inscribed for Richard Streatfeild, of this
parish, Gent. who died in 1676. Over the small door, a stone carved in three compartments, each
containing a brass; the first for Robert, son of John and Elizabeth Boissier, buried at St. John's,
Hackney, April 20th, 1795; the next for the Rev. G. R. Boissier, A.B. Curate of Chiddingstone,
who died June 12th, 1833; the last for Barrona Goring, wife of Robert Boissier, buried at Wadhurst,
Aug. 2d, 1806. West end, north corner, a small elegant mural monument for William Whitton,
Esq. late of Stone Wall, who died July 27th, 1832, in the 69th year of his age. North wall, a



handsome monument for William Streatfeild, Esq. late of Holden Southborough, in the Parish of
Tunbridge, who died Nov. 14th, 1798, aged 42; he was the only surviving issue of William Streat-
feild, Esq. of Hever Castle, by Sarah his wife, heiress of Oliver Thorpe, Esq. of New House, in
Penshurst; another for Robert Streatfeild, Esq. of Wandsworth, Surrey, second son of Robert
Streatfeild, of Hever Castle, who died March 26th, 1768, aged 45; and of Sandiforth Streatfeild,

Esq. of Long Ditton, Surrey, who died at Bath, July 28th, 1809, aged 58. North of the altar, a
sumptuous one, with a tablet over it, on which is a shield, with quarterings, and this inscription "Spe
certa resurrectionis Harrieta, Alexandri Champion Armigeri filia et coheeres, a Thoma Streatfeild

clerico conjux prudentissima, ab octo parvulis spectatissima parens abrepta, obiit decimo die Novem-
bris, anno domini 1814, aetatis suae 39;" on the monument is the following, "Thomee Cl. et Harietee
quondam uxoris ejus, F. F. Robertus Champion Streatfeild, obt. Jan. 16, A.D. 1829, aetat. 26; Thomas
Champion Streatfeild, obt. Jan. 20, A.D. 1823, aetat. 17; Alexander Champion Streatfeild, obt. Jan. 11,
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A.D. 1833, aetat. 25; Thomee ejusdem et Clarae tanti luctus omnino consortis, F. F. Amelia
Streatfeild, obt. Feb. 7, A.D. 1830, setat. 6; Henricus Rivers Streatfeild, obt. Apl. 9, A.D. 1831,
eetat. 5. Hoc Marmor, desiderii simul et amoris ergo, pater posuit;" and encircling the lower part,
"1814, Francesca Maria Nixon, apud Neapolin, obt. Sept. 21, aetat. 26; Edwardus Champion
Streatfeild, obt. Dec. 16, et. 24; hinc novae lacrymae!"

Chiddingstone Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Hever Castle, in the Parish of Hever, now occupied as a farm residence,
is still entire. It is a mixture of the castellated and Elizabethan styles. The
south front consists of an embattled tower over an arched doorway, surmounted
with ornamental carvings in stone: at each of the four corners is a small square
turret. The other fronts exhibit a preponderance of the Elizabethan style.
There are still the remains of a moat, supplied by the River Medway, on the
south bank of which this ancient fabric is situated.

Hever Castle is about one mile and a half west from Chiddingstone, and
rather more than that distance south-east from Edenbridge.

Hever was formerly the seat of a family of the same name, whose still more ancient possessions
were at Hever, near Northfleet. A descendant of these, William de Hever, in the reign of Edward
Il. left two daughters, of whom Joane carried one moiety of this manor in marriage to Reginald
Cobham, whence it was named Hever Cobham; the other daughter, Margaret, carried the remaining
part to her husband, Sir Oliver Brocas, which was thence called Hever Brocas. Reginald Cobham
was succeeded by his son, Reginald, Lord Cobham, and he by his son of the same name, who
purchased of the descendants of Sir Oliver Brocas the moiety called Hever Brocas, and died possessed
of the whole, anno 6 Henry IV. His grandson, Sir Thomas Cobham, sold them to Sir Geoffry
Bulleyn, mercer, of London, ancestor of the Lady Anne Bulleyn, whose father, Sir Thomas Bulleyn,
Viscount Rochford and Earl of Wiltshire, completed the buildings which his grandfather, Sir Geoffrey,
began, and named the seat Hever Castle. After the death of the Earl, Henry VIII. seized on this
property in right of the late Lady Anne, and afterwards granted it to the repudiated Lady Anne of
Cleves during her life, or so long as she should remain in England. Subsequently reverting to the
Crown, these manors were sold, in the reign of Philip and Mary, to Sir Edward de Waldegrave,
whose descendant, James, Earl Waldegrave, conveyed them in 1715 to Sir William Humfreys, Bart.
He was succeeded by his son, Sir Orlando Humfreys, whose two daughters, in 1745, sold them to
Timothy Waldo, Esq. afterwards knighted. At his death, in 1786, Lady Waldo became entitled to
Hever Castle.

Hever Church. In the chancel there is a memorial for Robert Humfreys, Esq. Lord
of the Manor of Hever, only son and heir of Sir Orlando Humfreys, Bart. of Jenkins, in Essex, obt.
1736. In the north chancel, an altar-tomb for Sir Thomas Bullen, K.G. Earl of Wilcher and Earl
of Ormunde, obt. 1538: a small slab, with a brass for —— Bullayen, son of Sir Thomas Bullayen.
In the belfry is a stone with a brass, and inscription in French, for John de Cobham, Esq. obt. 1399;
and Dame Johane, Dame de Leukenore, his wife; and Renaud, their son.



This church is dedicated to St. Peter.
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Edells House, in the Parish of Cowden, the residence and property of
Colonel William Woodhouse, a Magistrate for the County, is situated about one
mile north-east from Cowden. A superior mansion, we understand, is about to
be erected here, for which the grounds, being diversified and picturesque, form a
suitable situation.

Edells House is distant from Edenbridge nearly four miles, and from
London about 30 miles.

Bottings, in the Parish of Cowden, the seat of F. H. Brandram, Esq. a
Magistrate for the County, is situated rather more than half a mile north-east
from Cowden, near the borders of Sussex. It is a modern building, on a very
pleasant elevated site, commanding a good prospect.

It is distant from Edenbridge between three and four miles, and from London
about 30 miles.

Rectory, Cowden, the seat of the Rev. T. Harvey, a Magistrate for the
County, is situated on the south side of the church, the grounds extending to the
boundary of Sussex. It stands on a gentle acclivity, and is a very agreeable
residence. The distance hither from London is about 31 miles.

Cowden Church is dedicated to St. Mary Magdalen. In the chancel, on the south side,
there is a memorial for Thomas Aynscomb, Rector of this parish, who died April 16th, 1668: and
another for Edward Harley, LL.B. Rector of this parish, who died May 22d, 1761, aged 61.
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The Lathe of Aylesford

CONTAINS THE HUNDREDS OF WACHLINGSTONE, BRENCHLEY AND HORSMONDEN, WROTHAM,
LITTLEFIELD, TWYFORD, EYHORNE, MAIDSTONE, LARKFIELD, CHATHAM AND GILLINGHAM,
SHAMWELL, TOLTINGTROW, HOO, AND LITTLE BARNFIELD; ALSO THE LOWY OF TUNBRIDGE,
THE CITY OF ROCHESTER, AND THE TOWN OF MAIDSTONE.

HUNDRED OF WACHLINGSTONE AND LOWY OF
TUNBRIDGE.

Burrswood House, which takes its name from the estate of Burrswood, in
the Parish of Speldhurst, the seat of David Salomons, Esqg. a Magistrate for the
Counties of Kent and Sussex, is situated near the boundary dividing this county
from Sussex, four miles south from Penshurst, and the same distance south-
west from Tunbridge Wells. It is a handsome structure, chiefly in the Elizabe-
than style, recently erected under the professional superintendence of Decimus
Burton, Esq. The situation is picturesque, and its contiguity to Tunbridge
Wells renders it a very desirable residence. It may be remarked, that the
proprietor of this estate is the first gentleman of the Jewish religion who has
filled the important and honourable offices of Sheriff and Justice of the Peace
in this country. Mr. Salomons was Sheriff of London and Middlesex in the year
1835-6.

Burrswood House is distant from London about 36 miles.

Groombridge Place, in the Parish of Speldhurst.

The Manor of Groombridge, in the reign of Edward |. was possessed by a younger branch of the
eminent family of Cobham. From these it passed to that of Clinton, one of whom, William de Clinton,
Lord Clinton and Say, alienated it, at the end of the reign of Henry IV. to Thomas Waller, Esq. of
Lamberhurst; whose grandson, Richard Waller, was at the battle of Agincourt, where he took captive



the Duke of Orleans, having found him almost dead under a heap of slain. On his return to England
he confined his prisoner for some time at his seat in Groombridge, which, says Hasted, was so bene-
ficial to the Duke, that he rebuilt the house, and was moreover a benefactor to the church of Speld-
hurst. In the descendants of Richard Waller, Esq. this manor continued till Sir Thomas Waller
alienated it to Thomas Sackville, Earl of Dorset, who died in 1608, whose grandson, Richard, Earl

of Dorset, conveyed it to John Packer, Esq. By the posterity of this gentleman it was thrown into
Chancery, whence it was purchased by Mr. William Camfield, whose three sons, after his death, in
1781, sold it to Robert Burges, Esq. of Leigh, who died in 1794. Mrs. Sarah Surges, his widow,
re-marrying James Harbroe, Esq. entitled that gentleman to the possession of it.

118

Ashurst Park, in the Parish of Ashurst, the residence of William H.

Hoare, Esqg. M.A. (a younger brother of Henry Hoare, Esq. of Staplehurst
Place), and the property of William Jones, Esq. is a modern house, pleasantly
situated, about three miles and a half west from Tunbridge Wells. It is sur-
rounded by extensive and highly-cultivated grounds, and commands a good
prospect over part of Sussex, where the eye is attracted by the picturesque
domain of Eridge Castle. The drive hence to the Wells, and also that to
Sevenoaks, is exceedingly pleasing.

The distance from this latter town is about 12 miles, and from London
36 miles.

Ashurst Lodge, in the Parish of Ashurst, the seat of Hugh Parkin, Esq.
is an elegant castellated structure, most beautifully situated, exactly three miles
west from Tunbridge Wells. The grounds which surround it are particularly
well cultivated, and judiciously adorned.

It is distant from London about 36 miles.

Langton, in the Parish of Speldhurst, the seat of Baden Powell, Esq. a
Magistrate for the County, is situated adjoining the grounds of Ashurst Park
and Ashurst Lodge, close to Langton Green, and distant from Tunbridge Wells
about two miles and a half. It is a handsome residence, with extensive grounds
and shrubberies, and partakes in all the natural advantages of those mansions to
which it is contiguous.

Langton is distant from London rather more than 36 miles.

Holland Farm, in the Parish of Speldhurst, is the seat of the Rev. Horace
Cholmondeley, M.A. This beautiful residence is situated two miles and a half
westward from Tunbridge Wells, a short distance south of the road from thence
to Ashurst Park, and fronting a glen that descends to the boundary which
separates this county from Sussex. Nothing can exceed the beauty of this well-
selected spot: the grounds are sheltered on the north by trees in the pride of
full maturity; and the view southward, from a terrace in front of the mansion,
over the glen below, is particularly fine.

Holland Farm is distant from London about 37 miles.

Holland Farm, or Holands, was once the property of a noble family of that name, allied to the
Holands, Earls of Kent. By these it was alienated, about the reign of Henry VI. to Richard Waller,
Esq. of Groombridge, whose descendant, Sir Thomas Waller, sold i, in the reign of Elizabeth, to
Thomas Sackville, Earl of Dorset. His grandson, Richard, Earl of Dorset, conveyed it to Lindsey,
who, in the reign of Charles I. sold it to Caldicot, and he, in the following reign, alienated it to
Mr. William Canfield, who sold it to the Rev. George Lewis, of Westerham. His son, Erasmus
Lewis, Gent. sold it to Sir George Kelly, who, dying in 1772, was succeeded in this manor by his

119
sister, Mrs. Hannah Tanner, widow; and she, at her death, in 1780, bequeathed it in trust to her

nephew, George Gardner, with remainder to his brother, Thomas Christopher Gardner, who eventually
inherited the property.



Rusthall House, in the Parish of Speldhurst, the seat of Miss Jane
Bowen Harding, is a very pleasant residence, situated on the south side of the
road from Tunbridge Wells to Langton and Ashurst Park, being distant from
the Wells only one mile and a half. From the front, southward, there is a most
interesting view of part of Sussex, the High Rocks, Bridge Castle, &c. The
grounds extend in this direction, with a gentle declivity, nearly to the borders of
the county and the High Rocks, and are diversified by walks, wood, and water.

The distance from London is about 37 miles.

Rust Hall, in the Parish of Speldhurst, the seat of Robert Henry Cooper,

Esqg. a Captain in the Army, stands on the west side of Rusthall Common, south
of the road to Langton from Tunbridge Wells, being distant from the latter rather
more than one mile. This is a handsome building, in the ornamented cottage
style, and the situation being highly elevated, commands extensive views in every
direction, particularly of Eridge Castle, and the adjoining parts of the County

of Sussex.

It is distant from London about 37 miles.

This place, as well as the preceding, was formerly a part of the old manor of
Rust Hall.

Bishop's Down Grove, in the Parish of Speldhurst, the seat of D. J.
Robertson, Esq. is situated near Tunbridge Wells, on the north-west, at a dis-
tance of about three-quarters of a mile. Though this structure has but little
architectural beauty, there is an air of neatness and elegance about the place,
which, combined with the advantages that nature has conferred, renders it a very
agreeable residence: indeed, no spot in this part of the county can boast of
richer or more picturesque scenery.

Bishop's Down Grove is distant from London about 36 miles.

Speldhurst Church is dedicated to St. Mary, and contains the following
monuments:

In the chancel, on the south wall, a tablet for Jane, wife of John Mayo, M.D. who died 9th May,
1808, aged 48; also John Mayo, M.D. who died 29th Nov. 1818, aged 68; and Frances Lavinia
Mayo, relict of the above-named John Mayo, who died 31st May, 1837, aged 61: a brass plate, for
the eminent family of the Wallers, that was placed here by Sir J. W. Waller, Bart. of Braywick
Lodge, Berks, and Twickenham, Middlesex, to perpetuate the memory of his ancestors. In the nave,
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south wall, a monument for John Harvey Yorke, Esq. of Bishop's Down Grove, Col. in H. M. Royal
Artillery, who was drowned off the coast of Brazil, 1st Nov. 1805, aged 50: a tablet for John Becher,
Esq. late of Mount Ephraim, Tunbridge Wells, who died 28th March, 1830: north wall, a tablet for
Thomas Henry Lloyd, who died 19th July, 1810, aged 22: a monument with a tablet, surmounted
by emblems of war, for Martin Yorke, Esq. of Bishop's Down Grove, who died 27th April, 1798,
aged 67; also his brother, Lieut. Col. William Yorke, of the 69th Regiment of Foot, who died

22d March, 1793, aged 50. North aisle, a tablet for Philip Brembridge, Esq. of Rust Hall, a
Magistrate for the County, who died 26th April, 1833, aged 64; also Mary, relict of the above, who
died 12th Oct. 1835, aged 78: another for Honora Mary Georgina, eldest daughter of the late
Lieut. Col. Vassall, of the 38th Regiment, and wife of the Rev. E. P. Henslowe, who died at Tun-
bridge Wells, Aug. 28th, 1834, aged 32: and another for two sons and one daughter of Col. Chris-
topher Hodgson. In the pavement of the nave is a stone for Emily, daughter of the Hon. John
Douglas and Lady Frances Douglas, who departed this life 15th Dec. 1815, aged 22 years.

This is a modern structure, the old church, with the monuments and every
thing it contained, having been set on fire and destroyed by lightning, during a
dreadful tempest, Oct. 22d, 1791.

TUNBRIDGE. The town of Tunbridge stands on the banks of the river
Medway, nearly in the centre of the parish of the same name, and on the high
road from London to Tunbridge Wells, Lamberhurst, and Rye. Formerly it



consisted of little more than the cottages of the villeins and dependants of the
Lord of the Manor, and formed a kind of suburb to the castle; but becoming
gradually more important, from its advantageous locality, it has risen to the
present respectable market-town. There are still existing some small remains of
the castle, a more particular description of which will be found in the article
immediately following.

The Priory of St. Mary Magdalen, at this place, was founded and
endowed, about the end of the reign of Henry II. by Richard de Clare, first
Earl of Hertford, and Lord of the Manor, for monks of the Premonstratensian
order, or White Canons. It was one of the eighteen small religious houses that
were suppressed in 1524 by the Pope's bull, on the application of Cardinal
Wolsey, for the purpose of enabling the Cardinal to found two colleges; one
at Ipswich, the other at Oxford; but in consequence of his being cast in a
preemunire before the endowments had been finally settled on his new college
at Oxford, all its possessions and revenues became forfeited to the Crown.

At the time of its dissolution the spiritualities of this priory amounted to
£48. 11s. 4d. and the temporalities to £120. 18s. 11d.

The Free Grammar School, which is a large handsome building, situated
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at the north end of the town, was founded by Sir Andrew Judde, a native of
Tunbridge, citizen and skinner, of London, anno 7 Edward VI. and the govern-
ment of it vested in the Skinners' Company. Since the founder's endowment it
has received various bequests, and now possesses several exhibitions to the
Universities. The school has for many years been in considerable repute, and
among the masters who have contributed to raise its character, may be men-
tioned the late Dr. Vicessimus Knox, father of Dr. Thomas Knox, the gentleman
who now fills the same situation.

Tunbridge Castle, immediately overlooking the Medway, is the residence
of James Eldridge West, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the
County, who married, in December, 1804, Alicia, only daughter of the late, and
sister of the present, Sir William Ashburnham, Bart. of Broomham Park, in
Sussex. The interior of this interesting house, which is built within the area of
the old castle, is decorated with paintings by Baptiste, Otho Venius, Sir Peter
Lely, and other artists, and with a good collection of birds. There is also,
in one apartment, a splendid and fine-toned organ, by the eminent builder,
Mr. Joseph Walker, of High Holborn. The castle and its domain having
become the property of the noble family of Stafford, has lately descended to the
Hon. Edward Stafford Jerningham, second son of the late Lord Stafford. The
ruins are picturesque, and the grounds have been much and tastefully improved
by the present occupier, who has resided here several years, and who is the
proprietor of very valuable estates in the neighbourhood. Of the ancient castle
little now remains but the noble gateway, flanked with round towers, still very
perfect, and the artificial mount on which stood the keep, or barbican. It was
probably built about the beginning of the 12th century, by Richard Fitz Gilbert,
Earl of Brionne, to whom the surrounding district, called the "Lowy of Tun-
bridge," (with certain privileges and exemptions,) was assigned by William
Rufus, to reward the earl's attachment to his interest, in opposition to his brother
Robert, and compensate him for the ruin of his estate in Normandy by the latter.
Fitz Gilbert, from his property in Suffolk, took the title of De Clare, and his
descendants became Earls of Hertford and Gloucester. The castle was a place
of great strength, and during the wars of the barons, in the reign of Henry lIl.
was defended against Prince Edward by Rufus Fitz Gilbert, who burnt the
town to prevent the houses being of use to the besiegers. The castle, how-
ever, was taken, but restored to its owner on his joining the royal standard.
He afterwards entertained Edward here, on his return from Palestine, with a
splendour which detained that prince for three days from proceeding to take
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possession of the crown. Edward's son, afterwards Edward Il. also made this
place his residence for a year, while Lieutenant of the kingdom, during his
father's absence in Flanders.

The property of Tunbridge, before its allotment to the Fitz Gilberts, belonged
to the see of Canterbury; but, at the instance of William Rufus, it was ex-
changed for Brionne, the estate in Normandy which Duke Robert's enmity would
not allow the first Fitz Gilbert to retain. Notwithstanding this exchange, the
abrogated claim of the church was often afterwards insisted on; and at length it
was decided that the De Clares should hold their lands here of Canterbury, by
the grand serjeantcy of serving as High Stewards and Chief Butlers at the
Archbishop's installation, an office which continued for many generations to be
personally discharged by the proprietors of Tunbridge, who, at one time, were
among the wealthiest noblemen in the kihngdom. One of the Chief Butler's
perquisites on these occasions was the silver gilt cup in which it was his duty
to present the wine: he was also entitled to two nights' provender for one
hundred and forty horses; and on his return from the feast, he might claim enter-
tainment for three days at some one of the Archbishop's manors in Kent, on
condition that he brought no more than fifty horsemen in his retinue. Such
circumstances are characteristic of the feudal and ecclesiastical grandeur of those
times. In the reign of Edward lll. the castle and manor of Tunbridge passed
by marriage into the hands of Ralph, Earl of Stafford; the last of whose power-
ful line, (and the last of these noble High Stewards at the ceremony of an Arch-
bishop's inthronization,) was the Duke of Buckingham, who perished on the
scaffold in the reign of Henry VIII.

TUNBRIDGE WELLS, in the Parishes of Tunbridge and Speldhurst in
Kent, and Frant in Sussex, about six miles from Tunbridge, and now full as
populous a place, or more so, than the latter town, owes its origin to the chalybeate
springs in its neighbourhood. The medicinal virtue of these waters was first disco-
vered, or (more probably) only brought into more general notice, in the time of
James |. by Dudley, Lord North, a dissolute young nobleman, who tried them
with success on a broken constitution. In the next reign, the Queen, Hen-
rietta Maria, resided here during two months, for the recovery of her health, after
the birth of Prince Charles. The village afforded yet but little accommodation,
and her gay court sojourned in tents amid the wild forest, which, at that time,
overspread the district. In the general confusion that soon followed, the place
appears to have been much neglected; but after the Restoration it was honoured
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with another royal visit from the consort of Charles Il. and in the coarse of his
reign Tunbridge Wells became a highly fashionable resort. Its aspect and
society at this period are described with much vivacity in the French memaoirs
of the Count de Grammont. Two of the present divisions of the hamlet, how-
ever, which were formed about this time, are of republican or puritanical origin —
Mount Ephraim and Mount Sion, names assigned by rival parties of Baptists
and Independents, who had here their separate places of amusement and religious
assemblage. Till near the end of the 17th century, there was no church at the
Wells belonging to the Establishment: at length the present chapel was built
by subscription, and zealously dedicated to King Charles the Martyr. James Il.
also visited Tunbridge Wells, with his queen and his two daughters, afterwards
the sovereigns, Mary and Anne. The latter princess, before her accession to the
throne, was a frequent visitant, and the well itself, on which she bestowed a
stone basin, was afterwards denominated the Queen's Well.

Tunbridge Wells derives much of its fame from the pleasantness of its situa-



tion, and the beauty of the surrounding country. The views from the various
points of elevated ground in its immediate vicinity are picturesque, and replete
with interesting objects; and even the irregularity of the town adds to it a

peculiar charm, the principal houses, many of them handsome buildings, which
stand apart, embosomed in groves and gardens, presenting the appearance of so
many independent villas, and connecting themselves well with the neighbouring
scenery.

For the benefit of invalids there are excellent and commodious baths of every
description, composed of the mineral water. Previous to the building of the
present edifice by Mrs. Shorey, the Lady of the Manor, the want of baths at the
Wells was much felt, there being but one in the neighbourhood, near Rusthall
Common, which was not only at a very inconvenient distance, but, the house
becoming latterly much dilapidated, it was almost unfit for use.

The Parade is a handsome piazza, which terminates at the spring, and is
connected with sheltered walks and avenues of lime-trees: here, during the
season, a good band plays three times a day.

The adjacent Downs afford a fine space for exercise, and the air of the whole
neighbourhood is considered remarkably pure. Of the scenery around, the most
interesting portion is included in what are called the High Rocks, which form
one side of a romantic valley. Among the clefts here, there is a rock which,
when struck, is so peculiarly sonorous, that it has obtained the name of the Bell
Rock. The easy distance of Tunbridge Wells from the metropolis and the sea-
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coast, has contributed, together with the salubrity of its situation and the efficacy
of the waters, to make it deservedly popular.

The new church is a handsome structure, from a design by Decimus Burton,
Esqg. The first stone was laid on 17th August, 1827, the birthday of H. R. H.
the Duchess of Kent, who was then residing at Calverley House, and it was
consecrated 3d Sept. 1829. It is dedicated to the Holy Trinity, and contains a
tablet for Mrs. Thomas, the sister of the Rev. Stephen Woodgate, Vicar.

Tunbridge Wells contains so many residences of distinction that we can do
no more than enumerate those which have come under our particular notice:
viz. — In Calverley Park, those of Mrs. Haily and Decimus Burton, Esq.;
Bloomfield Cottage, the seat of Lady Maria Meade; Mount Pleasant, William
Marsdin, Esq.; Monson House, William Offley, Esq.; Parade, J. Hargraves,
Esq.; Cumberland Villa, John Forbes, Esq.; Howard Lodge, William Stanhope
Taylor, Esq.; Richmond House, Edward Scudamore, Esq.; Mount Calverley
Lodge, A. St. John Baker, Esq.; Cumberland House, James Deane, Esq. a
Magistrate for the County; Mount Ephraim, John Stone, Esqg. Here is also
a beautiful castellated structure, called Romanoff House, an academy under the
superintendence of Thomas R. Alfree, Esq.

Great Culverden, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of Mrs. Jeddere
Fisher, is an elegant structure, situated near Mount Ephraim, at Tunbridge
Wells. The pleasure grounds are laid out with much taste, and comprise an
elegant shrubbery. Among the interior decorations are two paintings of a Boar
Hunt, by Snyders.

The distance from London is nearly 36 miles.

Huntley's Villa and Huntley's Tower, both in the Parish of Tun-
bridge, are situated contiguous to each other, about one mile north-west from
Tunbridge Wells, and little more than half a mile from Great Culverden: they
are the property of Mrs. Jeddere Fisher.

Blackhurst, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of Ford Wilson, Esq.
is situated about two miles north-east from Tunbridge Wells, on the right of
the road from thence to Pembury. This is a very elegant structure, recently
erected under the direction of Decimus Burton, Esq. The situation is plea-
sant, commanding extensive prospects over parts of Sussex and Kent.



Blackhurst is distant from London about 35 miles.
Southfield Park, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of the Rev. William
Wilkin Stephens, M.A. is situated two miles north from Tunbridge Wells, on
the east side of the road from thence to Southborough. This is an ancient house,
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sheltered on the west by thriving plantations, and surrounded by extensive and
fertile grounds. The interior is ornamented with a small collection of paintings,
by Sir Joshua Reynolds, Sir Peter Lely, Spagnoletto, Romney, Hogarth,
Francesca, Mola, and others.

Southfield Park is distant from Tunbridge three miles and a half, and from
London 33 miles and a half.

Bentham Hill, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of Arthur Pott, Esq. a
Magistrate for the County, is an elegant modern structure, partly Elizabethan,
with a mixture of the cottage style, from a design of Decimus Burton, Esq.

The situation is well chosen; the view from the eastern front of the mansion is
very picturesque, and the grounds are exceedingly beautiful. Its interior is
spacious and convenient, highly finished, and tastefully decorated.

Bentham Hill is distant from Tunbridge Wells about three miles, from Tun-
bridge the same, and from London 33 miles.

Broom Hill, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the residence of David Salomons,

Esq. of Burrswood House, is a handsome modern villa, in the Italian style of
architecture, situated two miles north-west from Tunbridge Wells, and distant
from London 34 miles.

Southborough Hall, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of Thomas
Lotherington, Esq. is situated two miles and a half north from Tunbridge Wells,
on the east side of the road from thence to Tunbridge. It is distant from
London about 33 miles.

Great Lodge, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of Sir J. F. Colebrook,

Bart. is a modern mansion, situated about three miles north-east from Tunbridge
Wells. lts site being low, the prospects are limited, though the grounds them-
selves are very extensive. It is distant from London about 33 miles.

Parsonage, Southborough, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the residence of
the Rev. Thomas William Carr, M.A. is situated eastward of Southborough,
having a very cheerful prospect in the direction of Somerhill. It is distant from
Tunbridge Wells about three miles, and from London 33 miles.

Mabledon Park, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of John Deacon,

Esqg. was founded by the late James Burton, father of the eminent architect,
Decimus Burton, Esq. of Spring Gardens. This elegant castellated structure
stands on an eminence, one mile and a quarter south-west from Tunbridge, com-
manding a most interesting and beautiful prospect, and forming a conspicuous
ornamental feature of this part of the county, which is favoured in a high degree
with objects of picturesque beauty.
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Mabledon Park is distant from Tunbridge Wells about four miles, bounding
on the west the high road from thence to London.

Somerhill, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the seat of James Alexander, Esq.
a Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is a noble mansion, of the time of James I.
It stands south-east from Tunbridge, on an elevated site, surrounded by grounds
in the highest state of ornamental cultivation and beauty. The park, which is
extensive, is well timbered, diversified, and picturesque. In the lower grounds,
which can be seen from the Tunbridge and Lamberhurst road, after passing the
lodge, is a fine sheet of water, encompassing a woody island. Ascending the
hill by the carriage-way, we are struck by the increasing magnificence of the
landscape, and at the same time the house, a grand specimen of an old English



mansion, meets the view. The interior is of corresponding splendour: its
spacious hall and apartments are fitted up in the most costly style, having
recently been re-decorated and beautified by Mr. Salvin, of Somerset Street,
Portman Square. It abounds with curiosities and works of art.

Somerhill is distant from Tunbridge Wells about five miles, from Tunbridge
two miles, and from London 32 miles.

At the southern part of the Lowy of Tunbridge there was a large district of land, or chase,
including an enclosed park, that was anciently called South Frith, and which, Hasted says, was part
of the demesnes of the family of Clare, Earls of Gloucester and Hertford, the possessors of the castle
and manor of Tunbridge. Gilbert de Clare, the last of this family, died in 8th Edward Il. without
issue surviving, and his three sisters became his co-heirs; of whom Elizabeth, the youngest, widow of
John de Burgh, received, as part of her share of her brother's property, this district of South Frith.
Her son, William, who on his grandfather's death became Earl of Ulster, next inherited this estate,
and his daughter and heir, Elizabeth, carried it to her husband, Lionel, Duke of Clarence, third son
of Edward Ill. at whose death, in the 43d year of his father's reign, it passed to his only daughter,
Philippa, married to Edmund Mortimer, third Earl of March. Edmund, Earl of March, grandson
of this last nobleman, bequeathed it at his death, anno 3 Henry VI. to his nephew, Richard, Duke of
York, who, having aspired to the throne in the reign of Henry VI. lost his estates by forfeiture, but
soon after, on a change of fortune in the struggles of this period, he regained possession of them, and
Cecilie, his widow, mother of Edward IV. enjoyed this manor till her death, which happened in the
10th Henry VIII. when it reverted to the Crown. Edward VI. in his 4th year, granted South Frith
to John Dudley, Earl of Warwick, afterwards Duke of Northumberland, which he, in the 7th year of
the same reign, re-conveyed to the King. Subsequently Queen Mary granted it to Cardinal Reginald
Pole, Archbishop of Canterbury, at whose death, in 1558, it again reverted to the Crown, and was
afterwards conferred by Elizabeth, in her 14th year, on Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester, for a
term of years, at the expiration of which she gave them to Frances, widow of Robert Devereux, Earl
of Essex, sole daughter of Sir Francis Walsingham. This lady re-married Richard Burgh, Earl of
Clanrickard, who built on this estate the present noble mansion, (which was not finished till the end
of the reign of James |.) and gave it the name of Somerhill. Ulick, his son and heir, having espoused
the cause of Charles I. lost his estates by sequestration, and the Parliament, in the year 1645, granted
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this manor for life to their general, Robert, Earl of Essex. At his death, in 1646, they gave it to

John Bradshaw, President of the High Court of Justice, who, dying in 1659, was succeeded by his
natural son; but he did not long retain it, for at the Restoration it returned to its lawful owner, in the
person of Margaret, only daughter of Ulick, Marquis of Clanrickard, above mentioned, who had died in
1659. This lady was at that time married to Charles M'Carty, Viscount Muskerry, who being killed in
the engagement with the Dutch in Solebay, in 1665, she re-married John Villiers, Viscount Purbeck,
elder brother of George Villiers, Duke of Buckingham, at whose death she married the celebrated
Beau Fielding, and living in a very extravagant way, was obliged to sell at different times a great

part of the demesne lands. Her son, John Villiers, alienated the seat and park of Somerhill, and the
Manor of South Frith, to one Dekins, who dying s. p. bequeathed them to Cave, and he, about

the year 1712, conveyed them to Mr. John Woodgate, of Chepsted, in Penshurst, whose descendants
possessed this property till within a recent period.

Postern Park, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the property of James Eldridge
West, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, (who resides
at Tunbridge Castle,) is situated one mile south-east from Tunbridge.

Warders, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the property and residence of
William Jewhurst, Gent. is a new building, in the Elizabethan style of archi-
tecture. Its situation is near the church, on the opposite side of the road from
Tunbridge to Hadlow.

TUNBRIDGE. On the left of the high road from hence to Sevenoaks,
close to the town, is the residence of Lieut. Edmond Peel.
Mountains, in the Parish of Tunbridge, the residence and property of



S. Turley, Gent. is situated about two miles and a half north-west from Tun-
bridge, on the left of the main road from thence to Sevenoaks. It is a neat
house, with pleasant grounds and shrubberies.

The distance from London is about 27 miles.

The Church at Southborough was built by subscription, from a design
of Decimus Burton, Esq. and consecrated on 25th August, 1830. Over the
vestry door is a tablet for John Broadley Wilson, Esq. of Clapham, the principal
projector of the sacred edifice.

Tunbridge Church is a large edifice, dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.
Of the numerous monuments which it contains, the following are the most
remarkable:

In the chancel, north wall, a tablet to the memory of Vicessimus Knox, LL.B. late Master of
Tunbridge School, who died Feb. 3d, 1780, aged 49 years; also Ann, his wife, who died 13th April,
1795, aged 62 years: above this, a tablet for Sarah, daughter of Dr. Knox, wife of Robert Clement
Sconce, Esqg. who died 17th June, 1818, aged 36 years: a monument for the Rev. Henry Harpur,
Vicar of this church, who died 5th Oct. 1790, aged 59: a tablet for Thomas Castell, of Tunbridge,
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who died 8th Sept. 1696, aged 28 years: a monument for the family of Rokeby: a neat tablet for Peter
Perchard Le Mesurier, who died 19th April, 1834, in the 16th year of his age: another for Vicessimus
Knox, D.D. Master of Tunbridge School, who died 6th Sept. 1821, aged 69; also Mary, his wife,

who departed this life May 29th, 1809, aged 61 years: another for Mrs. Anna Maria Meyrick, who

died 20th April, 1731, aged 21: another for the Rev. Francis Woodgate, M. A. who died 10th Nov.
1790, aged 84 years; and Mary, his wife, who died 12th Jan. 1785, aged 71: a handsome one, sur-
mounted by a large urn, for Philadelphia Lyttelton, who died 2d August, 1663, aged 32 years. In

two recesses, in the south wall, are the ancient figures of a man in armour, and his wife, reclining, for
Sir Anthony Denton, Knt. obt. 26th Aug. 1615, at. 54: an urn tablet for Thos. Panuwell, Esq. who
died 21st Feb. 1749, aged 78 years. In the nave, on the north side, a handsome marble monument
to the memory of Richard Children, Esq. who died in 1753, at the age of 83 years: another very neat
one, that was erected by the inhabitants of Tunbridge as a tribute of respect to the memory of George
Children, Esq. of Ferox Hall, in this town, who departed this life in 1818, aged 76 years: another

for John Danvers, Esq. who died 12th Dec. 1724, aged 78; also Sarah, his widow, who died 21st
March, 1731, in the 74th year of her age. North aisle; a monument for the family of Weller: a

tablet to the memory of the Rev. Henry Austen, who died 22d July, 1807, aged 81; also Mary

Austen, who died 31st Dec. 1799, at the age of 69 years; and two of their sons: a monument for
George Hooper, Esq. who bequeathed the sum of £500 to defray the expenses of repaving and pewing
the church; he died 6th March, 1759, in the 33d year of his age. On the south wall, in the gallery,

a tablet for Eliza Bradford, wife of Edward Bradford, Esq. who died 23d July, 1829, aged 48 years:
another for William Kearsey Kirby, only son of Robert and Sophia Elizabeth Kirby, who died

6th Jan. 1826, aged 14 years. North of the organ there is a monument for Henry Woodgate, Esq.

of Somerhill. Richard Burgh, Earl of Clanrickard, Baron Somerhill, Earl of St. Albans, &c. &c.

who died in 1636, was buried in Tunbridge Church.

Great Bounds, in the Parish of Bidborough, the seat of the Rev. Sir
Charles Hardinge, Bart. is an ancient Elizabethan structure, situated in a
beautiful well-wooded park, at the entrance to which is an elegant lodge, that
corresponds in style with the mansion. The interior is richly embellished, and
contains many curiosities and interesting works of art.

In a very retired part of the park there is a handsome monument, that was
erected in memory of Lady Catherine, the wife of Brigadier General Charles
William Stewart, and sister to Lord Darnley, who died after a few days iliness,
in Feb. 1812.

The Manor of Bidborough, from very early times, appears to have been united to the ancient seat
of Boons, or Bounds, both which, in the reign of Edward IV. were in possession of the family of
Chaun. From these, in the reign above mentioned, they passed to the name of Palmer, one of whom,



John Palmer, in the beginning of the reign of Henry VIII. alienated them to the family of Fane,
alias Vane. Sir Ralph Fane, Knt. Banneret, having zealously espoused the interest of the Duke of
Somerset, was executed for high treason, on Tower Hill, anno 6 Edward VI.; consequently this
manor and seat escheated to the Crown, and remained there till Elizabeth, in her 1st year, granted
them to her relative, Henry Carey, Lord Hunsdon, who was succeeded by his eldest son, George,
Lord Hunsdon, whose only daughter and heir, Elizabeth, at his death in 1603, carried them to her
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husband, Sir Thomas Berkeley, K.B. eldest son of Henry, Lord Berkeley, and he soon alienated
them to Sir Thomas Smith, second son of Customer Smith, of Westenhanger. In this family they
continued down to Sir Sydney Stafford Smythe, Chief Baron of the Exchequer, who dying s. p. in
1778, left them to his widow, Lady Sarah Smythe, the eldest daughter of Sir Charles Farnaby, Bart.
of Kippington, who at her death, in 1790, devised them in trust to be sold for the benefit of her
nephews and nieces, and they were accordingly purchased by the Rt. Hon. John, Earl Darnley. Lord
Darnley's mother, the Dowager Countess Darnley, resided at Great Bounds for many years. Some
time after her decease it was occupied by the famous Baron de Roll; and at a subsequent period it
passed into the hands of Lord Caledon, of whom it was purchased by the present proprietor.

Bidborough Church is dedicated to St. Lawrence.

In the church-yard is a beautiful sarcophagus, by Bacon, to the memory of Baron de Roll,
inscribed, at one end, as follows: "Louis Robert, Baron de Roll, de Emmenhobz in the Canton of
Soleure, Count of the Holy Roman Empire, Knight of the Military Order of St. Louis, Adjutant
General to his Royal Highness Monsieur Count D'Artois, Major General and Colonel of De Roll's
Swiss Regiment, in his Britannic Majesty's service, died at Bounds, in this parish, Aug. 27th, 1813,
aged 64."

Green Trees, in the Parish of Hadlow, the seat of Mrs. Kibble, widow of
the late Thomas Kibble, Esq. is a very handsome modern house, in the Grecian
style, with pleasure-grounds and a beautiful paddock extending from the mansion
to the road leading from Tunbridge to Hadlow. It contains some choice works
of art, including a fine bust, and a collection of paintings by several of the great
masters of the Italian, Dutch, and Flemish schools.

It is distant from Tunbridge nearly two miles, and from Hadlow rather more
than two miles.

Fish Hall, in the Parish of Hadlow, the seat of Mrs. Porter, is a handsome
modern mansion, situated on the right of the road from Tunbridge to Hadlow.

Fish Hall is distant from Tunbridge about two miles, and from Hadlow the
same.

This place was formerly the residence of John de Fisher, who was so named from his being allowed
by Gilbert de Clare, Earl of Gloucester, Lord of the Lowy of Tunbridge, the privilege of fishing freely
within his jurisdiction. John Fisher, in the reign of Henry VIII. alienated Fish Hall to the family
of Fane, or Vane, of whom it was purchased by that of Rivers, of Chafford. A descendant of this
family conveyed it, in the reign of Charles Il. to Jeffry Amhurst, Gent. who sold it to John France,
and he bequeathed it to his youngest daughter, Elizabeth, married to George Swayne, Gent. of whose
son, Thomas Swayne, it was purchased by John Porter, Esq. of this parish.

Hadlow Castle, in the Parish of Hadlow, the seat of Walter B. May,
Esq. has a very attractive appearance, being an extensive pile of Gothic archi-
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tecture, floridly decorated. The interior is handsomely fitted up, and richly
embellished.

The Manor of Hadlow was a part of the immense possessions of Odo, Bishop of Baieux. It was



afterwards held of the Archbishop of Canterbury by the family of De Clare, Earls of Gloucester and
Hertford, Richard de Clare having entered into an agreement with the Archbishop, (who claimed the
seigniory,) in the 42d year of Henry lll. to do homage for it. On the death of Gilbert, Earl of
Gloucester and Hertford in the year 1313, without issue surviving, this manor was allotted to his
second sister, Margaret, wife of Hugh de Audley, whose only daughter and heir, Margaret, married to
Ralph Stafford Lord Stafford, inherited it at her father's death; and in their descendants, Earls of
Stafford and Dukes of Buckingham, it continued till the execution of Edward, Duke of Buckingham,
for high treason, in the 13th year of the reign of Henry VIII. when it was forfeited to the Crown.
Henry VIII. in his 16th year, granted it to Sir Henry Guildford, on whose death, in the 23d year of

the same reign, it reverted to the Crown. Edward VI. in his 4th year, conferred the Manor of Hadlow
on John Dudley, Earl of Warwick, afterwards Duke of Northumberland, who, three years after,
exchanged it with the king for other lands. From this time it remained in possession of the Crown, till
Elizabeth, in the first year of her reign, gave it to her kinsman, Henry Carey, Lord Hunsdon, whose
grand-nephew, Henry Lord Hunsdon, in the following reign, sold it to James Faircloth, M.D. of
London, who alienated it to George Rivers, Esq. of this parish. A descendant of this gentleman
conveyed it, in the reign of Charles Il. to Jeffry Amherst, Gent. of whom, in 1699, it was purchased
by John France, who was succeeded in the possession of this property by his daughter Mary, married
to Walter Barton, Esq. whose grandson Walter, who had assumed the name of May, inherited it on
the death of his father, John Barton, Esq.

The Vicarage, in the Parish of Hadlow, the seat of the Rev. James
Monypenny, a Magistrate for the County, is a modern structure, in the
Elizabethan style of architecture. It is situated a very short distance north of
the church, and about 10 miles from Maidstone.

Hadlow House, in the Parish of Hadlow, the seat of the Rev. Philip
Monypenny, of Matham Hall, Rolvenden, is a neat substantial modern structure,
well sheltered, and surrounded by beautiful pleasure grounds. It is distant from
Hadlow about a quarter of a mile, and from Maidstone nine miles and three
quarters.

Hadlow Church contains the following memorials:

In the chancel, north wall, a tablet for Sarah, wife of William Town, of St. George's, Hanover
Square, London, third daughter of Mr. Thomas Martin, of Addlested House, who died 4th Feb. 1829,
aged 28 years. South wall, a tablet for Thomas Swayne, of Fish Hall, who departed this life
25th Dec. 1800, aged 66 years; also Anne, his wife, who died 21st Jan. 1808, aged 72 years; also
John Fellowes Claridge, of Sevenoaks, who died 7th May, 1822, in the 58th year of his age; and
Anne, his wife, daughter of Thomas and Anne Swayne, who died 3d March, 1806, aged 46 years.
Some of the family of Rivers are also buried in this church.

Hadlow Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
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Capel Church is dedicated to St. Thomas-a-Becket, the Martyr.

Against the north wall of the chancel is a tablet for Mr. Thomas Martin, of Addlested House, East
Peckham, who died 23d June, 1834, aged 59 years. On the door, in the altar rails, is cut the name,
Michael Davis, 1682.

The Church of Tudeley is dedicated to all Saints.

In the chancel there is an old monument, but not entire, to the memory of George Fane, and
Joane, his wife, and others of this eminent family; one date which it bears is 1545. Here is also a
grave-stone for the Rev. Stephen Cowper, vicar of this parish, who died 15th July, 1750, aged 48 years:
and a tablet for the Rev. Edward Dering, M.A. Vicar of this parish, who died in 1715, at the age of
39 years. In the nave, a tablet for the Rev. John Hedges, A.M. Vicar of Tudeley for 30 years, who
died 1st Aug. 1787, aged 68 years; and Mary Hedges, his sister, who died 4th July, 1779, aged
52 years.



Spring Grove, in the Parish of Pembury, the seat of Alexander Brymer
Belcher, Esq. is situated on the east side of Pembury Church. It is a beautiful
modern mansion, in the cottage style, highly ornamented, and surrounded by
grounds very tastefully laid out and planted.

Spring Grove is distant from Tunbridge about three miles and a half, and
from London 33 miles and a half.

Vicarage, in the Parish of Pembury, the residence of the Rev. Stephen
Woodgate, is a neat house, very pleasantly situated, a short distance westward
from the church, and about 33 miles and a half from London.

Grovehurst, in the Parish of Pembury, is situated on the south of the road
from Pembury Green to Tunbridge Wells, and distant from the former less than a
mile. Its site being elevated, gives it a command of extensive prospects. The
grounds are exceedingly beautiful, and well planted.

Grovehurst is distant from London about 35 miles.

Pembury Church. In the chancel, on a very ancient stone in the pavement, is an
inscription in old French, for Margaret, daughter of Sir Thomas Colepeper. North wall, a tablet for
Henry Woodgate, Esqg. who died 27th Dec. 1818, aged 47 years: another in memory of the Rt. Hon.
Lord George Henry Spencer Churchill, third son of George, the fourth Duke of Marlborough, who
died at Tunbridge Wells, 30th May, 1828, aged 32. Nave, south wall, a monument for the
Rev. John Whitaker, A.M. for fifty years Vicar of this parish, who died 10th June, 1803, aged 80;
also Thomas William Whitaker, his son, who died 2d June, 1802, aged 24 years; also for Elizabeth, his
wife, daughter of Charles William Rambouillett, Esq. Lieut. Col. of First Regiment of Guards, who
died in London 1st Jan. 1814; and several of their children. In the pavement, a grave-stone in memory
of Thomas Charles Colebrooke Lillie, third son of Sir John Scott Lillie, Knt. who died 8th May, 1831,
at the early age of one year and nine months. Here are also several memorials for the family of
Ambherst, of Bay Hall, in this parish.

Pembury Church is dedicated to St. Peter.
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HUNDRED OF BRENCHLEY AND HORSMONDEN.

Court Lodge, in the Parish of Lamberhurst, the seat of William Alexander
Morland, Esq. a Magistrate for the Counties of Kent and Sussex, and Deputy
Lieutenant for Kent, is a handsome structure of the time of James |. but repaired
and altered about 80 years ago. The situation of this house is exceedingly good,
commanding a fine view over the adjoining part of Sussex, to the boundary of
which county the park extends. The grounds are picturesque and well wooded.
The mansion is spacious and convenient, and decorated in the interior with family
portraits, by Hudson, Crank, and others.

Lamberhurst, or Lamhurst, was anciently part of the possessions of the eminent family of Crevequer,
and was a limb of their Barony of Leeds. That part of the parish in which the manor was included,
was held of the Crevequers, in the reign of King John, as half a knight's fee, by Nicholas de Kenith,
who gave it to the Abbot and Convent of Robertsbridge, in Sussex, with whom it continued till the
suppression of the Abbey, in the 31st year of Henry VIII.; after which the king granted it to
Sir William Sydney, and Anne, his wife, and their heirs male. His grandson, Sir Robert Sydney,

Earl of Leicester, alienated it to John Porter, Esq. who rebuilt the Court Lodge. The two

grandsons of this gentleman dying without issue, the estate passed to his daughter Elizabeth, married
to Sir John Hanby, of Lincolnshire, whose daughter Elizabeth carried it in marriage to John Chaplin,
Esq. of the same county, and his great-granddaughter Elizabeth, in conjunction with her husband,
Edward Ayscoughe, Esq. alienated it to William Morland, Esq. who then resided at the Court

Lodge. The ancestors of the last-named gentleman were originally seated at Morland, in West-
moreland.



Lamberhurst Court Lodge is distant from Tunbridge Wells about seven
miles, from Tunbridge nine miles, and from London about 39 miles.

The Vicarage, Lamberhurst, the residence of the Rev. Robert Hawkins,

M.A. is a neat house, adjoining the park of the Court Lodge, and consequently
situated at the same distance from the places mentioned in the preceding
article.

In the neighbourhood of Lamberhurst, within the County of Kent, there was,
some few years since, a large iron furnace, which, on account of its having
been visited, in 1698, by the Duke of Gloucester, son of Queen Anne, in an
excursion from Tunbridge Wells, received the name of the Gloucester iron
furnace. Here was cast the magnificent iron balustrade that surrounds St. Paul's
Church-yard, in London, the total weight of which, including the seven gates,
was 200 tons and 81 pounds, and the cost £11,202. 0s. 6d.
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Lamberhurst Church. In the chancel, on the north side, is a tablet for Letitia
Charlotte Lupton, eldest daughter of Sackville Bale Lupton, Esqg. of Thame, Oxfordshire, who
departed this life 15th Sept. 1821, aged 39 years: a marble monument to the memory of William
Dewe, Esq. of this parish, who died 22d Nov. 1725, aged 68; and others of this family: and an old
one for the family of Thomas. In the south chancel, a monument for Margaret Bedingfield, daughter
of Henry Bedingfield, Esq. of Suffolk, who died at Scotney, 26th July, 1761, aged 37 years; also her
sister Catherine, wife of John Darell, Esq. who died at Scotney, 16th Oct. 1761, aged 25 years:
another for Thomas Bridge Hussey, son of Edward Hussey, Esq. of Scotney, in this parish, who died
13th April, 1793, aged 15 years; also Elizabeth Sarah Hussey, wife of Edward Hussey, Esq. above-
named, who died 25th May, 1793, aged 37. In the south aisle, a tablet for Daniel Webb, Esq.
formerly of Audley Square, London, who died 7th April, 1828, aged 63. In the north aisle, a tablet
to the memory of Col. Charles Morland, youngest son of the late Thomas Morland, Esq. of the Court
Lodge, in this parish, Aide-de-camp to His Majesty, George IV. and Lieut. Col. of the 9th Lancers;
having retained the command of that corps 16 years, he resigned in April, 1828, and died at Paris
14th June in the same year, aged 53: a handsome marble monument to the memory of Ellen Morland,
wife of William Morland, Esq. of the Court Lodge, daughter of Sir Thomas Johnson, late of
Liverpool, who departed this life 20th Oct. 1750, aged 50; also William Morland, Esq. who died
April 9th, 1774, aged 82 years; also Thomas Morland, Esqg. who died Jan. 18th, 1784, aged 50 years;
and Ann, his widow, daughter and co-heiress of William Matson, Esq. of Titcup, in Lancashire, who
died 30th April, 1808, aged 63: adjoining this, a tablet for Mrs. Margaret Matson, late of Sevenoaks,
daughter and co-heiress of William Matson, Esq. of Titcup, who died 17th May, 1827, aged 80.

In the porch is buried one Lindridge, who was born in the year 1566. He made a stone causeway
here, which still retains the name of Lindridge Causeway.

Lamberhurst Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Rectory House, in the Parish of Horsmonden, the seat of the Rev. William
Marriott Smith Marriott, M.A. a Magistrate for the County, is an ancient house,
with modern additions, surrounded by extensive and well-wooded grounds. It
has a picturesque appearance, and commands a beautiful view of Goudhurst, and
the adjacent country. The interior is decorated with paintings by Canaletti,
Schneider, and Opie; also a fine copy from Murillo, and a very curious old
picture of "The Rape of the Sabines." Mr. Marriott has likewise in his
possession a handsome crimson silk scent-bag of Charles Il. with the royal arms
and date, 1662, worked on it in gold tissue: it was brought into the family by an
aunt of the late Rev. Dr. Marriott, who formerly held the office of housekeeper
at Hampton Court.

This seat is distant from Tunbridge Wells about 10 miles, from Tunbridge
12 miles, and from London about 42 miles.

The Manor of Horsmonden appears to have belonged, in very early times, to the See of Canterbury.
In the 42d year of the reign of Henry Ill. it was agreed between Archbishop Boniface, and Richard



de Clare, Earl of Gloucester, that the latter should hold this manor, on the performance of certain
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conditions. In the beginning of the reign of Edward Il. we find it in possession of the family of
Rokesle, from which it passed to that of Poynings, the last of whom, Robert de Poynings, was
succeeded at his death, in the 25th year of Henry VI. by his daughter Alianore, the wife of Sir Henry
Percy, Lord Percy, eldest son of Henry, Earl of Northumberland, in whose descendants it continued
down to Henry, Earl of Northumberland, who died without issue, anno 29th Henry VIII. having, the
year preceding his decease, conveyed all his estates by deed to the king. Henry VIII. in the 36th year
of his reign, granted it to Stephen Darell, Esqg. whose son, George, anno 10th Elizabeth, alienated it
to Richard Payne, who some time afterwards passed it to William Beswicke, Esqg. of Spelmonden, in
this parish. His granddaughter, Mary, settled this manor, in her life-time, on Mr. Haughton,
descended from the family of that name at Haughton Tower, in Lancashire, whose eldest daughter,
Anne, carried it in marriage to James Marriott, Esq. of Hampton, Middlesex, in whose descendants

it has since continued.

Horsmonden Church contains memorials of the families of Grothurst,
Austen, Courthop, and Campion, once proprietors of estates in this parish.

In the chancel, on the north side, a neat marble monument to the memory of the Rev. James
Marriott, LL.D. twenty-four years Rector of this parish, who died July 31st, 1809, aged 65 years:
adjoining it, another for Catherine, relict of the above, last representative of the family of Bosworth,
of London, who departed this life 9th Jan. 1819, aged 76 years: below this, another for Mrs. Anne
Hassell, who died 5th May, 1798, aged 71; also her father, the Rev. William Hassell, M.A. sixty
years Rector of this parish, who died 3d March, 1785, aged 90. South side, a tablet in memory of
the Rev. Henry Morland, A.M. Rector of this parish, who died 14th Aug. 1821, aged 49: two
monuments for the family of Browne, and an old altar-tomb, without inscription. In the south
chancel, a tablet for Anne Marriott, spinster, daughter of Hugh Marriott, Esq. formerly of
Spelmonden, in this parish, and sister of the late Rev. James Marriott, LL.D. who died in London
5th Jan. 1831, in the 83d year of her age.

Horsmonden Church is dedicated to St. Margaret.

Porto Bello, in the Parish of Brenchley, the property and residence of
Stephen Monckton, Esq. is a very neat house, on the approach to Brenchley
from Matfield Green.

In the Church of Brenchley are the following monuments:

In the chancel, on the north side, a monument for William Courthop, Clerk, Vicar of this parish,
who died 7th Dec. 1772, aged 57. North of the altar, another for John Courthop, Esq. who died
17th Sept. 1649. South of the altar, another for Elizabeth, wife of George Fane, Esq. of Tudeley,
who died 6th Sept. 1566, aged 73. In the nave, against one of the pillars on the north side, is a
handsome marble monument, with the half figures of a gentleman and lady, to the memory of Walter
Roberts, Esq. of Glassenbury, Kent, second son of Sir Walter Roberts, Knt. and Bart. who departed
this life 30th Sept. 1652, aged 37 years: another for Stephen Hooker, Esq. of Broad Oak, who died
13th Dec. 1775, aged 70. Against one of the south pillars is another monument for William Collens,
Gent. who died 31st Dec. 1797, aged 54; also Hannah Maria Collens, relict of the above, who died
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31st July, 1804, aged 57; and three of their children. In the north aisle, a handsome altar-tomb for
John Hooker, Gent. of this parish, who died 18th Sept. 1717, aged 46; also Elizabeth, his wife, who
died 15th Nov. 1755, aged 83 years.

Brenchley Church is dedicated to All Saints. On each side of the church-
yard path, leading to the western doors, is a row of yew-trees, which have been
cut into fanciful shapes.



HUNDRED OF WROTHAM.

In the Parish of Wrotham is Blacksole Field, famous for having been the
scene of an encounter between Sir Robert Southwell, Sheriff of Kent, assisted by
Lord Abergavenny, with about 500 gentlemen and yeomen, on the one hand, and
Sir Henry Isley and his followers, on the other, partizans of Sir Thomas Wyatt,
during the rebellion in the first year of the reign of Queen Mary, on which
occasion the rebels were completely routed.

About a century ago a considerable number of British silver coins was found in
this parish, through the circumstance of a mole casting up the earth.

The Archbishops of Canterbury had, at a very early period, a palace at Wro-
tham, which stood adjoining the east side of the church-yard; and here they fre-
quently resided, till Simon Islip (who came to the See in the 23d year of the reign
of Edward IIl.) pulled down a great part of the house, and removed the materials
to Maidstone, for the purpose of completing the palace there, which his pre-
decessor, John Ufford, had begun.

Fairlawn, in the Parish of Wrotham, the seat of Miss Yates, is an elegant
mansion, situated in a fertile and picturesque park, that slopes with gentle
inclination towards the south. The architecture of the house, the costly deco-
rations of the interior, the beauty of the surrounding grounds, and the rich and
finely varied scenery that it overlooks, combine to render this place one of the
most agreeable residences among the many in this part of the county. The
beautiful little church at Shipborne is also the property of Miss Yates.

Fairlawn anciently belonged to the family of Bavent, of whom it was afterwards held by that of
Colepeper. Atthe end of the reign of Henry IV. it was alienated to Chowne, in whose descendants
it continued till Sir George Chowne conveyed it to Sir Henry Vane the elder, Comptroller of the
Household to Charles I. William Viscount Vane was the last of this family that possessed Fairlawn,
who, dying without issue in 1789, bequeathed it to David Papillon, Esq. of Acrise.
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Fairlawn stands on the east side of the Ightham road, four miles north from
Tunbridge, and distant from London about 27 miles and a half.

Rectory House, Wrotham, the residence of the Rev. George Moore, M.A.

a Magistrate for the County, is an elegant modern house, built by Samuel Wyatt
in 1801-2. Among the interior decorations are paintings by Titian, Claude,
Borgognone, Mieris, &c. The grounds are well laid out and planted.

It is situated at the foot of Wrotham Hill, (which shelters it from the bleak
north wind,) distant from Maidstone about 10 miles, and from London 24
miles.

Nisell's, Wrotham, in the Parish of Wrotham, the seat of Henry
Buttanshaw, Esq. is an ancient house, in the Elizabethan style, situated in the
village on the south side of the High Street, from which it is screened by a lofty
wall. The principal front opens on the grounds, and here there is an uninter-
rupted and pleasing view to the south. The interior is spacious, and elegantly
fitted up.

Nisell's is distant from Maidstone about 10 miles, and from London 24
miles.

Nisell's, or Nyssell's, received its appellation from a family of that name, who in early times
possessed it. In the reign of James I. it was purchased by John Rayney, Esq. of London, a
descendant of Sir John de Reignie, who was proprietor of lands in Cumberland in the reign of
Henry Ill. and in this family it continued till the three daughters of Sir John Rayney, Bart. who
died in 1705, conveyed it to one Stephenson, who, about the year 1723, alienated it to Captain,
afterwards Admiral Nicholas Haddock, son of Sir Richard Haddock, Comptroller of the Navy.

At his death, in 1746, he was succeeded by his son, Nicholas, who, dying in 1781, was followed



by his brother, Charles Haddock, Esq. of Canterbury.

Wrotham Church is a large handsome building, dedicated to St. George;
the chancel was re-paved and beautified about eighty years ago, at the expense of
the Rev. Dr. John Potter, then Rector. In the interior are the following
interesting monuments:

Chancel, north wall, a tablet to the memory of the Rev. Charles Tarrant, S.T.P. Dean of Peter-
borough, and Rector of this church, who died 22d Feb. 1791, aged 67: another for three daughters of
the Rev. George Moore, Rector of this parish: another for Nicholas Haddock, Esq. eldest son of
Admiral Nicholas Haddock, who died 20th July, 1781, aged 59: an old monument for Robert
Rychers, Esqg. who died 13th Dec. 1588, aged 76: and a monument for the family of Green. On
the south wall, an old one for Dame Vere, wife of Sir John Rayney, Bart. and daughter of Sir Thomas
Beaumont, of Grace Dieu, in Leicestershire, who died 7th Dec. 1697; also Dame Jane, second wife
of Sir John Rayney, who died 14th Feb. 1700; and Sir John Rayney, Bart. who was born in 1660,
and died in 1705; and Jane, his third wife, daughter of Sir Demetrius James, of Ightham, who
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departed this life 27th Feb. 1714, aged 62: a neat tablet for Elizabeth Bell, of Wrotham Heath,

relict of John Bell, Esq. of Harefield, Middlesex, who died 8th August, 1829, aged 79 years: another
for Maria Elizabeth, daughter of James, Earl of Errol, and wife of the Rev. George Moore, Rector

of this parish, who died June 3, 1804, aged 33 years. In the nave, on the south wall, a monument
for Mr. John Know, of Forde, in this parish, who died 10th Feb. 1721, aged 66 years. In the south
aisle, another for Nicholas Miller, Esq. of the Oxon Hoath family, A.D. 1661. In the north aisle, a
monument to the memory of Helen Betenson, who died 9th Nov. 1788, aged 68 years; she gave

by will the munificent donation of £10,000 to each of the following charities, viz. Emanuel Hospital,
St. Luke's Hospital, and Bromley College, in addition to several smaller sums to other institutions:
another for Sir Richard Betenson, Bart. brother of the last-mentioned lady, and son of Sir Edward
Betenson, Bart. who died 15th June, 1786, aged 64: another for Sir Edward Betenson, Bart. grand-
son of Sir John Rayney, Bart. of this town, who died 24th Nov. 1762, aged 74 years; also Dame
Ursula, his wife, who died 11th June, 1763, aged 67: and another for Lucretia, wife of Richard
Betenson, Esq. only son of Sir Edward Betenson, Bart. and daughter of Martin Folkes, Esq. of
Norfolk, President of the Royal Society.

On Oldbury Hill, in the Parish of Ightham, there are the remains of a
very considerable Roman intrenchment, larger even than that at Keston. It is
of an oval form, and encompasses an area of 137 acres. In the centre are two
fine springs.

The Moat, in the Parish of Ightham, the residence of Mrs. Selby, is an
ancient house, surrounded by a moat, that is still flowing with water. It is
situated two miles and a quarter south-west from Ightham Church, on the west
side of Fairlawn Park.

This manor was possessed, in the reign of Henry Il. by Ivo de Haut, whose descendant, Richard
Haut, having engaged with the Duke of Buckingham in favour of Henry, Earl of Richmond, was
beheaded at Pontefract, anno 1 Richard Ill. and, consequently, his estates were confiscated. The
king then granted this property to Robert Brackenbury, Lieutenant of the Tower of London, on whose
death, at the battle of Bosworth Field, it was restored by Henry VII. to the heirs of Richard Haut
above-named. In the reign of Henry VIII. the Moat was in possession of Sir Richard Clement,
whose niece, Anne, carried it in marriage to Hugh Pakenham, Esqg. who, in conjunction with Sir
William Sydney, the husband of his only daughter, Anne, conveyed it, in the reign of Edward VI.
to Sir John Allen, a gentleman of eminence, and a great benefactor to the City of London. His
grandson, Charles Allen, Esq. sold it, at the end of Elizabeth's reign, to Sir William Selby, younger
brother of Sir John Selby, of Branxton, in Northumberland, whose nephew, Sir William Selby,
dying without issue, bequeathed it (for the sake of name, says Hasted) to Mr. George Selby, of
London, who was Sheriff in the 24th year of Charles I. William Selby, Esq. the great-grandson of
this gentleman, died in 1773, leaving the Moat to his widow, Elizabeth, who died in 1788, having



survived all her family, upon which this estate devolved on John Brown, Esq. who thereupon took the
name of Selby.

Warren House, in the Parish of Ightham, the property and residence of
William Taylor, Gent. is situated about half a mile south from the church, on
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the east side of the high road to Tunbridge, from which town it is distant about
six miles.

Oldbury Place, in the Parish of Ightham, the seat of Captain Thomas
William Barrow, of the East India maritime service, is a neat, small, modern
mansion, standing on a gentle elevation, and surrounded by pleasure-grounds and
plantations. It is situated nearly three-quarters of a mile south-west from the
church, distant from Tunbridge about six miles, from Maidstone 11 miles and
a half, and from London 26 miles.

Rectory House, in the Parish of Ightham, the residence of the Rev.

Samuel Wyatt Cobb, a Magistrate for the County, is situated a very short
distance south-east from the church. The country immediately around is very
pleasant and diversified. The distance from Maidstone is rather more than 11
miles, from Tunbridge about six miles, and from London 25 miles and a half.

Ightham Court, in the Parish of Ightham, the seat of Demetrius G.

James, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is an ancient
structure, of very interesting and imposing appearance. Here are paintings by
Hogarth and Sir Peter Lely; the subject of one by the latter is Ann Wynd-

ham, daughter of Sir Thomas Wyndham, Bart.; also several family portraits

by Flemish masters.

Ightham Court is distant from Tunbridge seven miles north, from Maidstone
11 miles westward, and from London about 25 miles.

Ightham, in the reign of Henry Ill. was held by Hamo de Crevequer, who was succeeded, at his
death, anno 1262, by Robert, his grandson, whose son, William, dying without issue, this estate
passed to Nicholas de Criol, son of Bertram de Criol, who married Elene, one of the daughters of
Hamo de Crevequer, above-mentioned. A descendant of Nicholas de Criol alienated Ightham to
William de Inge, at whose death, in the 15th year of the reign of Edward Il. it was inherited by
Ivo la Zouch, the son of William, Lord Zouch, of Harringworth, who had married his daughter,
Joane. In this family it remained till the reign of Henry VII. when it passed to Sir Robert Read,
Serjeant at Law, Chief Justice of the Common Pleas, who was succeeded here, at his decease, by
Sir Thomas Willoughby, the husband of Bridget, his eldest daughter. Their son, Robert, alienated
this manor to William James, Esqg. by whose posterity it has since been successively inherited.
William James, Esq. was third son of Roger James, Esq. of London, who came into England at
the end of the reign of Henry VIIl. and who was descended from Jacob Van Hastrecht, of Cleve,
near Utrecht. He was at first called, according to the Dutch custom, Roger Jacobs, which surname
of Jacobs was finally changed for that of James.

St. Clere, in the Parish of Ightham, the seat of the late Colonel Eveleyn, is
an elegant, spacious mansion, pleasantly situated in the bosom of the range of
hills that runs from Otford to Wrotham. It is distant from Tunbridge about
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eight miles, and from London about 24 miles. The present proprietor of this
estate is in his minority.

St. Clere, or, as it was more anciently called, West Aldham, was possessed, in early times, by a
family named Aldham. Sir Thomas de Aldham dying, in the reign of Edward II. without male
issue, was succeeded in this manor by his daughter, Isolda, and her husband, John St. Clere, whose
descendants were proprietors of it till the beginning of the reign of Henry VII. when it was alienated



to Henry Lovel, from whom it passed to his daughters, Agnes, who married John Empson, cousin to
Sir Richard Empson, the grand projector, and Elizabeth, married to Anthony Windsor. John Empson
conveyed his moiety, anno 8 Henry VIII. to Sir Thomas Bulleyn, afterwards created Earl of Wiltshire
and Ormond, the father of Lady Anne Bulleyn: and Anthony Windsor, in the 10th year of the same
reign, sold his moiety to Richard Farmer, who the same year purchased of Sir Thomas Bulleyn the
other part. In the 28th year of that reign, Richard Farmer conveyed the whole to George Multon,
Esq. of Hadlow, whose grandson, Robert Multon, Esq. alienated it, in the reign of Charles I. to Sir
John Sidley, or Sedley, Knt. and Bart. a younger branch of the Sedleys of Southfleet and Aylesford, of
whose posterity it was purchased by William Eveleyn, fifth son of George Eveleyn, Esq. of Nutfield,
in Surrey, who was Sheriff of this county in 1723. His son, William Glanvill Eveleyn, Esq. was
succeeded by his daughter, Frances, married to Alexander Hume, Esq. of Hendley, in Surrey,
brother to Sir Abraham Hume, who, in 1797, received the royal license to take the name of Eveleyn.

Ightham Church. In the chancel, on the north side, under an arch, is a tomb of free-
stone, on which is an ancient full-length figure, of excellent workmanship, of a knight in armour, his
head resting on two cushions, and a lion at his feet, supposed to be for Sir Thomas Cawne, originally
from Staffordshire, who married Lora, daughter and heir of Sir Thomas Morant. On the south side
is a handsome marble monument, with the bust of a female, in an oval niche, for Dame Dorothy
Selby, relict of Sir William Selby, Knt. who died March 15th, 1641, aged 69 years: another very
handsome one, with two male figures, of full proportion, in armour, to the memory of Sir William
Selby, of the Moat, in this parish; and others of this family: a neat one for the Rev. George
Bythesea, M.A. Rector and Patron of this church, who died 14th Dec. 1800, aged 36: a tablet for
Catherine Bythesea, wife of the above, who departed this life 1st Dec. 1807; also George Kemp
Bythesea, their only child, who died 6th June, 1800, in the 9th year of his age; and Cecilia, daughter
of Catherine, and wife of Lieut. Charles Brome, R. N. who died 30th Nov. 1826. North of the altar,
a tablet for the Rev. Thomas Cobb, M.A. Rector of this church, who died 26th Nov. 1817, aged 44
years. Nave, north wall, a very neat monument for Richard James, Esq. of Ightham Court Lodge,
Col. of the West Kent Regiment of Militia. South aisle, an old monument for Sir John Howell, Knt,
Sergeant at Law, sometime Recorder of London; and Dame Elizabeth, his wife: he died in 1682,
aged 77; she in 1683, aged 75.

Ightham Church is dedicated to St. Peter.
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HUNDRED OF LITTLEFIELD.

Oxon Hoath, in the Parish of West Peckham, the seat of Sir William
R. P. Geary, Bart. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is a
large edifice, situated in a well-wooded park, and commanding extensive propects
over the southern part of the county.
Oxon Hoath is distant from Maidstone about 10 miles, and from London
30 miles.

The Manor of Oxon Hoath, alias Toxenhoath, was formerly part of the possessions of a
branch of the family of Colepeper. Sir Richard Colepeper, who died in the 2d year of the reign of
Richard Ill. was succeeded in this estate by William Cotton, Esq. third son of Sir Thomas Cotton,
of Landwade, in Cambridgeshire, who had married his daughter, Margaret, whose son, Sir Thomas
Cotton, alienated it to John Chowne, Gent. of Fairlawn, and his great-grandson, Sir George Chowne,
of Fairlawn, passed it away to Nicholas Miller, Esqg. of Horsnells Crouch, in Wrotham. In this
family it continued till Sir Borlase Miller, Bart. died without issue, in 1714; after which it came by
survivorship to his sister, Elizabeth, married to Leonard Bartholomew, Esq. of Rochester, whose
grandson, Leonard Bartholomew, Esq. dying without issue, in 1757, bequeathed Oxon Hoath to the
second son, then unborn, of Francis Geary, Esq. of Polesden, in Surrey, (afterwards raised to the
rank of Admiral of the Royal Navy, and created a Baronet, Aug. 10th, 1782,) who had married his
half sister, Mary, from which second son the present proprietor is lineally descended.

Hamptons, in the Parish of West Peckham, the seat of Maximilian Dudley



Digges Dalison, Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, and
Major in the West Kent Militia, is an elegant modern structure, erected in 1820,
of pale brick, with beautifully modelled freestone facings. The portico to the
principal entrance is built entirely of stone, and is supported by four lonic
columns. The conservatory, shubberies, and plantations add their respective
beauties to the general effect of this delightful place. Among the decorations in
the interior are the following paintings: a Magdalen, by A. Caracci; Christ
restoring Sight to the Blind, by Leonardo da Vinci; Shipping, by Powell; a
Landscape, by Ruysdael; Shipping, by Backhuysen; Col. W. Dalison, by Sir
Joshua Reynolds; and other family portraits.

Hamptons commands extensive prospects over the southern part of the
county. Itis distant from Tunbridge nearly five miles, from Maidstone about
nine miles, and from London 30 miles.

This seat, in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, was in possession of John Stanley, Gent. of the family
of Stanley, of Wilmington, in Lancashire, which were direct descendants of William de Stanley, Lord
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Stanley and Stourton, anno 10 Richard Il. John Stanley was succeeded here, in 1616, by his eldest
son, Thomas Stanley, Esqg. who died in 1668, leaving an only daughter, Frances, married to
Maximilian Dalyson, Esq. of Halling, who in her right became entitled to this property, and in his
posterity it has ever since remained.

The family of Dalison is of great antiquity, and of eminent note, several members of it having, in
times of disaffection, particularly distinguished themselves by their zealous loyalty. The first ancestor
on record is William D'Alanzon, who came to England with William the Conqueror, and whose
direct descendant, in the eighth generation, was of Laughton, in Lincolnshire, and first wrote himself
Dalyson. Their original residence in this county, was at the Bishop's Palace, Halling.

The Church of West Peckham contains the following interesting monu-
ments:

In the Chancel, south side, a neat marble monument for Thomas Dalyson, Clerk, second son of
Thomas Dalyson, Esq, by Isabella, his second wife, daughter of Peter Burrell, Esq. of Beckenham,
who died 7th April, 1792, in the 59th year of his age: near this, another for Thomas Dalyson, Esq.
son of Maximilian Dalyson, Esqg. of Hamptons, who died 16th July, 1736, aged 77 years: near this,
another for Maximilian Dalyson, Esqg. who died 22d June, 1671, aged 38. In the nave, south wall,
a tablet for Lieut. George Buttanshaw, late of the Madras Rifle Corps, son of John and Ann Buttan-
shaw, of this parish, who died in Gen. Munro's camp, at Hulteed, in the East Indies, 23d May, 1818,
aged 22 years: another for the Rev. George Richards, B.A. late Vicar of this parish, who died
2d Feb. 1783, aged 70 years; also Elizabeth, his wife, who departed this life 6th March, 1795,
aged 75. In the north aisle, a tablet for Anna, wife of Henry Buttanshaw, Esq. and daughter of the
late William Francis Woodgate, Esqg. of Somerhill, who died 25th June, 1829, aged 31; also their
infant son, Henry, who died July 24th, 1829, aged two months: another for Judith Geary, spinster,
second daughter of Admiral Sir Francis Geary, Bart. of Polesden, Surrey, who died 2d Oct. 1796,
aged 46: a stone for the family of Bartholomew May, Vicar of this parish, who died 21st June, 1709,
aged 59. In the north chancel there is a magnificent marble monument, having the full-length
figures of a lady and gentleman reclining on cushions beneath a canopy, and between them is a death's
head, laurelled, in memory of Leonard Bartholomew, Esq. only son of Philip Bartholomew, Esq. of
Rochester, who died 13th Jan. 1720, aged 64; and Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of Sir Humphrey
Miller, Bart. of Oxon Hoath Place, who died 2d May, 1720, aged 56: an old monument, for Sir
Nicholas Miller, Knt. of Oxon Hoath, eldest son of Nicholas Miller, Esq. of Horsnails Crouch,
Wrotham, who died 20th Feb. 1658, aged 66: a neat tablet, in memory of Sir William Geary, Bart.
of Oxon Hoath, who died 6th Aug. 1825, aged 70: he married Henrietta, widow of Edward Dering,
Esq. son of Sir Edward Dering, Bart. of Surrenden, and served in Parliament three times as Knight
of the Shire for Kent. On each side of the chancel, within the altar rails, is an ancient stone
altar tomb.



West Peckham Church is dedicated to St. Dunstan.

Mereworth Castle, in the Parish of Mereworth, the seat of the Baroness
Le Despencer, was built in 1748, by John, the 7th Earl of Westmoreland, after
a plan of Palladio, that was designed for Paolo Almerico, a noble Vicentine
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gentleman. It is an elegant structure, situated in a beautiful and finely-wooded
park, through which flows a stream that expands in front of the mansion into a
large sheet of water. From the eminences in different parts of the park may be
seen pleasing and extensive prospects. This house and Foot's-cray Place, the
seat of Lord Bexley, are the only instances of the Palladian architecture in
the county.

Mereworth Castle is distant from Maidstone, south-west, about six miles,
from Hadlow four miles, and from London 30 miles.

Mereworth, at the time of taking the survey of Domesday, was in possession of Hamo de Creve-
quer, who came over with the Conqueror, and being made Lieutenant of the County, was often called
Hamo Vicecomes. In the reign of Henry Il. it was held of the Earls of Clare, as two knights' fees,
by a family who took their surname from it, the last of whom, John de Mereworth, died without issue,
in the 44th year of the reign of Edward Ill. and it then passed to his heir, John de Malmains, of
Malmains, in Pluckley, who, two years afterwards, alienated it to Nicholas de Brembre, citizen and
grocer, of London, son of Sir John de Brembre. In the 10th year of the reign of Richard II.

Nicholas, or as he was then Sir Nicholas de Brembre, was executed for high treason, and his estates
were forfeited to the Crown; soon after which the king granted this manor to John Hermensthorpe,
who passed it away to Richard Fitz Alan, Earl of Arundel, Lord Treasurer of England, whose son
Thomas, Earl of Arundel, died without issue, in the year 1415, when it passed to his second sister,
Joane, who had married William Beauchamp, Lord Abergavenny. From this family it passed in
marriage to that of Nevill; afterwards, in the 29th year of Elizabeth's reign, to that of Fane, or

Vane, Earls of Westmoreland; and subsequently to that of Le Despencer.

Rectory House, Mereworth, the seat of the Hon. and Rev. Sir Francis
J. Stapleton, Bart. of Grey's Court, Oxfordshire, is a handsome house, plea-
santly situated on the south-west of the church. The grounds are beautifully
diversified with wood and water.

The old parsonage-house stood a short distance north-east from Mereworth
Castle; but as it obstructed the view from the front, it was pulled down, by
virtue of a faculty, by Lord Le Despencer, and this house erected in its stead,
in the year 1780.

The Rectory House is distant from the Castle nearly a mile, from Maidstone
seven miles, and from London about 29 miles.

Yotes Court, in the Parish of Mereworth, the seat of the Right Hon.

Viscount Torrington, is an ancient mansion, pleasantly situated on the side of a
hill, commanding an extensive prospect over the Weald, and sheltered from the
north-west by plantations and woods.

Yotes Court is distant from Maidstone about seven miles, from Tunbridge six
miles, and from London 29 miles.
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This place, in the reign of Henry lll. was in possession of Fulco de Sharstede, who held it of the
Earl of Gloucester. From this family it passed to that of Leyborne, the last of whom was Juliana
de Leyborne, who, having survived her three husbands, died without issue, and without any apparent
heir, upon which this, with her other immense estates, escheated to the Crown. We find it possessed,
soon afterwards, by a family who implanted their name of Jeotes or Jotes upon it, from whom it
passed, in the reign of Richard Il. to Richard Fitzalan, Earl of Arundel, and then continued in the
same descent as the manor of Mereworth till Sir George Nevill, Lord Bergavenny, who died in the



year 1491, bequeathed it to his fourth son, Sir Thomas Nevill, whose only daughter, Margaret,
married to Sir Robert Southwell, Master of the Rolls, &c. entitled him to the possession of it at her
father's decease, in 1642. In the following year Sir Robert alienated it to Sir Edward Walsingham,

of Scadbury, with whose descendants it continued till Sir Thomas Walsingham, at the end of the reign
of Charles |. conveyed Yotes Place to James Master, the son of Lady Walsingham, who was the
widow of Nathaniel Master, merchant, of London. Martha, one of the daughters of this gentleman,
married Lionel Daniel, Esq. of Surrey, by whom she had a son, William, who, at a subsequent

period, inherited this estate by bequest, and died s. p. in 1792, having taken the name of Master;
and a daughter, Elizabeth, married to George, Lord Viscount Torrington.

Mereworth Church is a neat structure, in the Grecian style, with a tall
and elegant spire at the west end, and a semicircular portico, supported by
Corinthian columns. It was built by John, the 7th Earl of Westmoreland, and
consecrated by the Bishop of Rochester, in the year 1746. The old church
stood on the site now occupied by the west wing of Mereworth Castle, and was
taken down, when the mansion was rebuilt, to make way for the projected
improvements. The interior is handsomely adorned with stencilled ceilings.
In a chapel, at the west end of the south aisle, are the following monuments:

A very large and magnificent marble monument, having full-length figures of a lady and knight
lying on a tomb; over them are two angels holding a coronet, and above is a projecting portico,
supported by four marble pillars with gilt capitals, and surmounted by a tablet bearing the family
arms; in front of the tomb is a small desk, on each side of which is a male figure kneeling, in memory
of Mary, Baroness Despencer and Burwash, who died 28th June, 1626, aged 72; she was sole
daughter and heir of Henry, Baron Abergavenny: it commemorates, also, others of this family.
Under a recess lies an ancient marble figure of a knight in armour, his head resting on a helmet.
Here is another antique stone monument (that has been repaired), in memory of Sir Thomas Nevell,
Knight, some time one of the Most Hon. Council to Henry VIIl. The window in this chapel is
composed of shields of arms of the Fane family; and the window over the altar is formed also of
painted glass.

Mereworth Church is dedicated to St. Lawrence.
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HUNDRED OF TWYFORD.

Court Lodge, in the Parish of Hunton, the seat of Thomas Turner Alkin,
Esq. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, and High Sheriff for
the present year (1838), is an ancient house, surrounded by beautiful grounds,
the effect of which is greatly improved by a tasteful display of water.

Hunton Court Lodge is distant from Maidstone about five miles south-west,
and from London 34 miles.

The Manor of Huntington, alias Hunton, was anciently part of the possessions of Christ Church, in
Canterbury, and at a period almost immediately subsequent to the Conquest, was held of the Arch-
bishop by the family of Lenham, whose descendant, William de Lenham, left an only daughter,
Alianor, who carried it in marriage, about the beginning of the reign of Edward Ill. to John de
Gyfford. Of his heirs it was purchased by William, second son of John de Clinton, who married
Juliana de Leyborne, the Infanta of Kent, and on his decease it descended to Sir John de Clinton,
Lord Clinton, the son of his eldest brother, by whose posterity it was inherited, till Edward Lord
Clinton alienated it, in the reign of Henry VIII. to Sir Thomas Wyatt. His son, Sir Thomas Wyatt,
being attainted for rebellion in the first year of the reign of Queen Mary, forfeited his estates to the
Crown, and the Queen then granted this manor to Sir John Baker, her Attorney-General, whose
descendant, Sir John Baker, Bart. of Sisinghurst, sold it, in the reign of Charles Il. to Mr. Clarke,
of Boughton, who bequeathed it for life to Mr. Thomas Turner, of this parish, with remainder to his
own brother, of whom Mr. Turner purchased the reversion, and at his death left it to his nephew,
Mr. Thomas Turner, of Hunton. This last gentleman died in 1776, leaving one son, Thomas



Turner, Esq. who succeeded to this property, and four daughters, of whom Mary married the
Rev. Thomas Verrier Alkin, Vicar of Lenham.

Jennings, in the Parish of Hunton, the property of Thomas Law Hodges,
Esqg. M.P. for the Western Division of the County, is a handsome old house,
situated in very picturesque grounds, four miles south-west from Maidstone.

Jennings is distant from the Metropolis 33 miles and a half.

Jennings, or Gennings, was formerly the property of one Snatt, of whom it was purchased by
Sir Walter Roberts, Bart. of Glassenbury, who rebuilt the mansion. His only daughter, Jane,
carried it in marriage to George, Duke of St. Albans, and at her death, in 1778, bequeathed it to
Miss Davies, who took possession of it after the decease of the Duke, and subsequently sold it to the
Dowager Lady Twysden.

Rectory House, Hunton, the residence of the Rev. R. Moore, is a good
house, situated about four miles from Maidstone, and 33 miles and a half from
London.
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Hunton Church. Within the altar rails, on the north side, is a very large and handsome
marble monument, having the figures of a knight in armour, and his lady, lying on a tomb, in memory
of Sir Thomas Fane, of Buston, Knt. Lieut. of Dover Castle, and Dame Helen Somersett, his wife,
both of whom died in 1606. On the south side, another handsome white marble monument, surmounted
by a large urn, for Lady Anne Fane, wife of the Hon. Sir George Fane, of Buston, daughter of
Sir Oliver Boteler, who died 5th March, 1663. In the chancel, south side, a tablet for Charles Robert,
son of the Rev. Robert and Dulcibella Moore, who died 25th Oct. 1837, aged 28 years. North side,
a neat one, in memory of Amelia, daughter of the Rev. Robert Moore, above-mentioned, who died
7th Jan. 1823, aged 18 years. North-east corner of the nave, a large and very handsome monument,
with the half-figure of a man holding an open book, and a little angel standing on each side of him,
for Thomas Fane, Esq. son and heir of Sir George Fane, Knt. only brother to Francis, Earl of
Westmoreland, both of whom were the sons of Sir Thomas Fane, by Mary, his wife, Baroness Le
Despencer, sole daughter and heir of Henry Lord Abergavenny: he died 5th Sept. 1692, aged 66.
In the south aisle, a very neat monument for Thomas Durant Punnett, Gent. many years Deputy
Recorder of Maidstone, who died 21st March, 1785, aged 41; also Jane Punnett, his widow, who died
10th July, 1810, in the 69th year of her age; and Mrs. Caroline Hodgson, sister of Mrs. Jane Punnett,
who died 17th Oct. 1812, aged 65 years: and a tablet for the family of Turner. Here is also a
memorial for Alderman Head, of London, and for one of the eminent family of Clinton, Lords of this
Manor.

Hunton Church is dedicated to St. Mary.

Hale Place, in the Parish of East Peckham, the property and residence of
Edward Monckton, Gent. is distant from Maidstone nearly eight miles in a
south-west direction, and from Wrotham a similar distance south-east. From
London it is about 32 miles.

Orchard House, in the Parish of East Peckham, the property and residence
of Samuel Vine, Gent. is a neat modern house, situated a short distance north
from Hale Place, about seven miles from Maidstone, the same from Wrotham,
and 32 miles from London.

Hextle House, in the Parish of East Peckham, the residence and property
of Thomas Martin, Gent. is a handsome house, built by the father of Mr. Martin
in 1825, and enlarged since by himself. The grounds are very pleasant, and well
laid out. The distance from Maidstone is nearly eight miles, and from London
about 31 miles.

Hextle, or Hextall's Court, was formerly the residence of a family named Hextall, that was originally
seated at Hextall, in Staffordshire, with a female descendant of whom it passed in marriage to William



Whetenhall, Esq. son of William Whetenhall, Citizen and Alderman of London, who resided here

at the end of the reign of Henry VI. In his posterity it continued till a few years ago, when it came
into possession of John, Earl of Westmoreland, and after his decease, in 1762, devolved on the
Right Hon. Thomas, Lord Le Despencer.
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Leavers, in the Parish of East Peckham, the residence and property of
William Golding, Esq. is a handsome modern house, seated on the right of the
road from Hadlow to Maidstone, distant from the latter town about nine miles.

Roydon Hall, in the Parish of East Peckham, the property of — Cook,

Esq. of Clapham Rise, in Surrey, is an ancient Elizabethan house, in a dila-
pidated state, occupied at present by a bailiff.

This place was anciently called Fortune, and received the name of Roydon Hall from Thomas
Roydon, a descendant of the family of Roydon, of Roydon Hall, in Suffolk, who came into this county
in the reign of Henry VIII. and built the present seat. On the death of his three sons, without issue,
his second daughter, Elizabeth, received this estate as part of her share of her father's property,
and entitled her husband, William Twysden, Esq. of Chelmington, in this county, to the fee of
it, in whose posterity it continued till within a very recent period, when it was purchased by
the present proprietor.

East Peckham Church contains the following monuments:

In the chancel, north wall, a tablet for the family of Henham. South of the altar, a tablet for
Elizabeth Cholmeley, daughter of Sir Hugh Cholmeley, Bart. of Whitby, Yorkshire, and Elizabeth,
his wife, daughter of Sir William Twysden, Bart. who died 14th Nov. 1699. In the south chancel,
a large handsome marble monument for the family of Twysden: adjoining this, another, in memory of
Sir Hugh Cholmeley, of Whitby, who died 30th Nov. 1667, aged 57; also, Elizabeth, his wife,
daughter of Sir William Twysden, Bart. of East Peckham, who died 17th April, 1655, aged 55;
and Sir William Cholmeley, Bart. their son: a tablet for Heneage Twysden, Esq. second son of
Sir William Twysden, Bart. of Roydon Hall, in this parish, formerly Lieut. Col. of the 4th Regiment
of Foot, who died 11th Feb. 1826, aged 62 years.

East Peckham Church is dedicated to St. Michael.

Kenwards, in the Parish of Yalding, was for several generations, from the
time of Henry VIII. the residence of the family of Kinward, or Kenward.
At the death of John Kenward, Esq. in 1749, his daughter and heir, Alicia,
carried this, and other estates in the neighbourhood, in marriage, to Sir John
Shaw, Bart. of Eltham, a descendant of whom is, we believe, the present
proprietor.

Yalding Church. In the pavement of this church there are several large broad stones,
a kind of testaceous petrifaction, that were dug up in the lowlands in this parish. Against the south
wall is a very ancient altar-tomb, much defaced, and the brass lost. In the chancel, north side,
a handsome marble monument, having the figures of a man and woman kneeling at a desk, for
Ambrose Ward, Esq. of this parish, who died 18th Feb. 1637; he gave £50 to the poor of the
parish; also Elizabeth Ward, widow of the above, who died 21st Dec. 1679; and Bennet. their eldest
daughter, who died 23d Nov. 1656. South side, another, more modern, for the same family: a tablet
for Sarah, wife of the Rev. Richard Warde, A.M. Vicar of this parish, and eldest daughter of the
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late Rev. James Ramsay, Vicar of Teston, who died 11th April, 1832, aged 68; also Anne Rebecca,
their third daughter, who died 26th Oct. 1807, aged 16 years; and Henry Douglas, their fourth son,
who died 24th July, 1806, aged two years. In the nave, north side, a white marble monument

for Aretas Akers, Esq. late of the Island of St. Christopher, who died 15th Dec. 1816, aged 58 years;



also Leigh Douglas, third son of the above, who died 30th Dec. 1810, in the 6th year of his age.
South side, a tablet for Rebecca Ramsay, widow of the Rev. James Ramsay, late Vicar of Teston, who
died 19th Oct. 1804, aged 65; also Rachel Frith, widow of Thomas Frith, Esq. late of St. Vincent's,
who died 24th June, 1806, aged 52, both daughters of Edmund Akers, Esq. of St. Vincent's. Against
one of the pillars, a very neat marble monument, on which is represented an angel, transporting

a young female to the skies, in memory of Jane Charlotte Akers, eldest child of Aretas and Jane
Akers, of London, who died Nov. 7th, 1804, at the age of 8 years and 10 months: a stone for

Robert Penhurst, descended from Sir Robert Penhurst, of Penhurst, in Sussex, who died in 1610.

In the north cross aisle, an old marble monument for John Ousnam, who died in April, 1716, aged 82;
also Mary Waller, who died in Oct. 1732, aged 59; and Mr. Micah Waller, who died in Oct. 1745, in

the 84th year of his age. In the north aisle, a monument for the family of Kenward, of this parish.

And in the south aisle, south wall, a tablet for the family of Underwood.

On the cover of the font is a neat model of a portico, from which rises a
spire.

About a century ago, there existed at Wateringbury a singular custom of
unknown origin.

A log of wood, about three feet in length, with an iron ring at the top,
a square iron spike, four inches and a half long, fixed in the bottom, and four
rings at the sides, and dignified with the appellation of the dumb horsholder of
Chart, (a manor in this parish,) was always the first called at the Court Leet for
the Hundred of Twyford; and its keeper, when answering for it, held it up
by a handkerchief put through the ring at the top. This keeper was elected
annually, and with the title of the Borsholder's Deputy, claimed liberty over
15 houses in the Precinct of Pizein Well, in Wateringbury, and to him every one
of these householders was obliged to pay yearly one penny. The powers of this
wooden officer appear to have been very extraordinary. The iron spike, above
alluded to, was used in the act of breaking open doors; and it seems that the
deputy, with this in his hand, might, without the authority of a Justice's warrant,
force an entrance into any house within his jurisdiction, where it was suspected
stolen goods were concealed.

The last person who officiated as deputy, was Thomas Clampard, a black-
smith.

Wateringbury Place, in the Parish of Wateringbury, the seat of Matthew
Prime Lucas, Esq. Alderman of the City of London, is a fine stately house,
with beautiful grounds, situated in a rich district of the county, on the north of
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the high road from Mereworth to Teston, five miles from Maidstone, and
eight from Tunbridge. It was built in the year 1707 by Sir Thomas Style.
The interior is ornamented with some good paintings.

Wateringbury Place is distant from London about 30 miles.

Wateringbury, at the time of the survey of Domesday, was in possession of Bishop Odo. It was
afterwards held by a family, who from it assumed the surname of Otringeberge, or Wateringbury,
from whom it passed to that of Leyborne; and at the death of Juliana de Leyborne, the Infanta of
Kent, in the 41st year of the reign of Edward Ill. it escheated, through failure of heirs, to the Crown.
In the 50th year of the same reign, the King granted this manor for the endowment of his newly-
founded Cistertian Abbey, called St. Mary Graces, near the Tower of London, with which it remained
till the dissolution of the Abbey, in the 30th year of the reign of Henry VIII. Six years afterwards,
the King gave it to Giles Bridges, citizen and baker, of London, who immediately passed it to
Sir Robert Southwell, of Mereworth, and he alienated it to Sir Edward North, Chancellor of the
Court of Augmentation, of whom, anno 6 Edward VI. it was purchased by Sir Martin Bowes. This
gentleman soon alienated it to Sir John Baker, of Sisinghurst, whose great-grandson, John Baker,
Esq. in the 17th year of Elizabeth's reign, conveyed it to Nevill de la Hay; and his son, George
de la Hay, passed it to Mr. Wilkinson, of Lenham. From this family it came into possession of
Oliver Style, Esq. second son of Sir Humphry Style, of Langley, in Beckenham, who died at



Wateringbury Place, in 1622, in whose posterity it continued until a few years past.

Wateringbury Lodge, in the Parish of Wateringbury, the residence and
property of James Woodbridge, Esq. is a neat modern house, standing on the
south side of the high road from Mereworth to Teston, about five miles from
Maidstone, and 30 miles from London.

Wateringbury Church is an ancient Gothic structure, with a high spire,
dedicated to St. John the Baptist. It contains the following monuments:

In the chancel, north side, a large and very handsome marble monument, consisting of an altar-
tomb beneath an arch, on which lie the figures of a man in robes and a female; an angel stands on
one side holding a coronet, on the other is a skeleton, and in front below, kneeling face to face, are
the figures of a man and woman; it was erected 1st Sept. 1628, by Sir Thomas Style, in memory of
his parents: near it, a tablet for Mrs. Charlotte Style, second daughter of Sir Thomas Style, Bart.
who died 12th Nov. 1787, aged 66. South of the altar, a monument for Sir Charles Style, Bart.
who died 24th April, 1774, aged 50 years; he married the Hon. Isabella Wingfield, daughter of
Richard, Viscount Powerscourt: below, a tablet for Mrs. Elizabeth Style, eldest daughter of Sir
Thomas Style, Bart. who died 3d of October, 1795, aged 79. South wall, a tablet for the Rev. Robert
Style, third son of Sir Thomas Style, Bart. who died 6th June, 1800, in the 73d year of his age; also
Priscilla, his widow, who died 18th June, 1832, aged 85: another for Thomas Style, Capt. R. N.
fourth son of the last-mentioned gentleman, who died 28th May, 1820, aged 32. North wall, a tablet
for Lieut. Gen. William Style, Col. of the Third Regiment of Foot, fourth son of Sir Thomas Style,

Bart. who died 12th March, 1786, aged 57: another for Sir Thomas Style, Bart. Ensign in the First
Regiment of Foot Guards, eldest son of Sir Charles Style, Bart. who died at Irun, in France, 5th Nov.
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1813, aged 19 years: and another to the memory of Sir Charles Style, Bart. who died 5th Sept. 1804,
aged 32.

In the south part of the church-yard there is a handsome tomb in memory of Sir Oliver Style, Bart.
who died in 1702.

Smith's Hall, in the Parish of West Farleigh, the seat of Sir Henry
Fitz Herbert, Bart. is an elegant ancient mansion, situated about three-quarters
of a mile south from Teston.

Smith's Hall is distant from Maidstone about four miles, and from London
31 miles.

This seat, in the reign of Henry VI. came into possession of the family of Brewer, of Brewer's
Place, in Mereworth, with whom it continued till Jane, the daughter of John Brewer, Esq. who
died in 1724, bequeathed it at her decease, in 1762, to her relative, John Davis, D.D. Rector of
Hamsey, in Sussex, and Prebendary of Canterbury, and his son, Sir John Davis, Knt. sold it, in
1774, to William Perrin, Esq.

Court Lodge, in the Parish of West Farleigh, the seat of —— Jackson,
Esq. stands on the south bank of the Medway, east of the church, surrounded
by agreeable pleasure-grounds. It is distant from Maidstone about three miles
south west.

The Manor of West Farleigh was given by William the Conqueror to his half brother, Odo,
Bishop of Baieux, but he, falling into disgrace in the year 1084, lost all his possessions by confis-
cation, and this place was then granted to Robert, son of Hamo de Crevequer, whose descendant,
Robert de Crevequer, taking part with the rebellious barons, forfeited his estates to the Crown. From
this time West Farleigh was held by the Sovereigns of England successively, till Edward I. gave it to
Eleanor, his Queen, who, in the 18th year of this reign, exchanged it with the Priory of Christchurch,
in Canterbury, for the Port of Sandwich. At the dissolution of the priory, anno 31 Henry VIII. it
was granted to Sir Thomas Wyatt, whose son, of the same name, having rebelled against Queen
Mary, in the 1st year of her reign, was attainted, and his estates consequently were confiscated. In the



following year the Queen conferred it on Sir John Baker, her Attorney General, whose descendant,
Sir John Baker, Bart. of Sisinghurst, alienated it shortly after the death of Charles I. to Mr. Robert
Newton, grocer, of London, who conveyed it to Augustine Hodges, Gent. and of him, in the reign
of Charles Il. it was purchased by John Amhurst, Esq. of East Farleigh Court, who by will, in 1711,
bequeathed it to his brother, Nicholas Amhurst, Gent. of West Barming, and in the posterity of this
gentleman it continued many years.

West Farleigh Church. In the chancel, south wall, a tablet in memory of the
Rev. Francis Taynton, M.A. 15 years Vicar of this parish, and Rector of Trottescliffe, who died
2d Nov. 1794, aged 63 years; also Ann, widow of the above, who died 5th March, 1810, in the 65th
year of her age. North wall, a very old monument for Ed. Lawrence, Esq.: and a monument for the
Skynner family. East end of nave, south side, a handsome marble monument for Edward Goulston,
Esq. of Tutsham Hall, in this parish, who died 2d Sept. 1720, aged 54; also Anne Goulston, relict of
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the above, who died 2d Oct. 1724, aged 53. North side, a marble monument for Jane Brewer, first
wife of Thomas Brewer, Esq. of this parish, who died in 1676; also Thomas Brewer, Esq. who died
in 1690, aged 67: a tablet for William Philp Perrin, Esq. of West Farleigh, who died 29th April,
1820, aged 78. North wall, a monument for Jane Brewer, wife of John Brewer, Esq. of this parish,
who died 1st Feb, 1716, aged 55: a tablet in memory of Martha Maria Beresford, relict of the Rev.
William Beresford, M.A. Rector of Sunning, in Berkshire, who departed this life July 6th, 1833,

aged 88. South wall, a monument for John Davis, A.M. who died in 1776, aged 82: a tablet for
Elizabeth Kirby, wife of Lieut. Matthew Kirby, R. N. who died March 6th, 1748, aged 29; also the
above-named Matthew Kirby, who died 5th Oct. 1781, in the 66th year of his age.

West Farleigh Church is dedicated to All Saints.

The Vicarage, Teston, the residence of the Hon. and Rev. Francis J. Noel,
Rector of Nettlested, is situated near Barham Court, on the west.
It is distant from Maidstone four miles, and from London about 30 miles.

Barham Court, in the Parish of Teston, the seat of the Rt. Hon. Lord
Barham, is an elegant mansion, consisting of a body and two wings: at the
north and east fronts are two porticoes, each supported by 10 lonic columns. It
stands on elevated ground, in a picturesque and well-wooded park, that skirts the
high road from Maidstone to Tunbridge on the north. The interior is spacious,
and embellished with some rare specimens of art.

Barham Court is distant from Maidstone three miles and a half, from Tun-
bridge about 10 miles, and from London 30 miles.

Barham, or Berham Court, was formerly the residence of the family of Berham, whose more
ancient name was Fitz Urse. Randal Fitz Urse was one of the four knights who murdered Thomas a
Becket: immediately after the commission of the crime he fled to Ireland, and changed his name to
Mac Mahon, which bears the same signification as Fitz Urse, i.e. the son of a bear. Upon this his
relative, Robert de Berham, took possession of the estates in Teston, with whose descendants they
continued till Anne, daughter of Thomas Berham, Esq. about the beginning of the reign of James I.
carried them in marriage to Sir Oliver Boteler, of Sharnbrooke, in Bedfordshire. The last of this
family, Sir Philip Boteler, Bart. on his decease in 1772, without issue surviving, bequeathed one
moiety of his property, both real and personal, to his cousin, Mrs. Elizabeth Bouverie, of Chart Sutton,
and the other moiety to Elizabeth, Dowager Viscountess Folkestone, and William Bouverie, Earl of
Radnor; to the former of whom, on a partition, the seat of Barham Court was allotted.

Teston Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul.
In the chancel, against the south wall, there is a neat tablet in memory of Harriet, third daughter

of John Gambier, Esq. widow of the Rev. Lascelles Iremonger, Prebendary of Winton, sister to
Admiral Lord Gambier, and niece to Lady Middleton, wife of Sir Charles Middleton, Bart. afterwards



Lord Barham, who departed this life 8th Oct. 1834, aged 70 years; her only child, Georgiana,
married Sir William Abraham Chatterton, Bart. of Castle Mahon, County of Cork.

Several of the family of Boteler are also interred in this church.
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Nettlested Church. This handsome little structure was undergoing a
thorough repair at the time we visited it. The painted glass still remaining
here is, perhaps, unequalled throughout the county: that in the east window is
very fine, but far surpassed by the middle window in the north side of the nave,
which is quite perfect, and remarkable for the beauty of the design. The painted
glass on the south side of the church was all broken some few years ago by a
hail-storm. The following are the principal monuments and memorials:

In the chancel, north side, a tablet for Frances, daughter of Henry Augustus and Hannah
Moreland, of Dean Street, Soho, London, who died 26th Aug. 1813, aged 20 years. South side, a
small monument for Richard Wood, A.M. son of Michael Wood, Esq. of Tingley House, Yorkshire,
six years Curate of this parish, who died 29th Oct. 1818, aged 59. In the nave, east end of the north side,
a marble monument, with the figure of a lady kneeling before a desk, for Elizabeth Stafford, daughter
of Sir William Stafford, Knt. of Blatherwicke, Northamptonshire, and Dame Dorothy, his wife,
daughter of Henry, Lord Stafford, eldest son of Edward, the last Duke of Buckingham; she married
first Sir William Drury, of Haisted, Suffolk, and next Sir John Scott, of Nettlested; she was sorely
persecuted on account of her religion, and lived in exile during the reign of Queen Mary, but was
afterwards made a Lady of the Bedchamber to Queen Elizabeth, and died 5th Feb. 1598, aged 49
years. On the south side, a corresponding one for Katherine, daughter of Thomas Smith, Esq.
of London, who married first Sir Rowland Hayward, and next Sir John Scott; she died a widow in
the year 1616, aged 56 years.

HUNDRED OF EYHORNE.

Boughton Place, in the Parish of Boughton Monchelsea, the seat of
Thomas Rider, Esqg. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is an
ancient Elizabethan mansion, standing in a very picturesque and commanding
situation on the brow of the range of hills so conspicuous in this part of the
county: but it is, nevertheless, so completely sheltered by the fine timber in the
grounds, that it can only be seen at particular points. Some parts of this house
are of very ancient date. The interior is spacious and elegant, and embellished
with several family portraits.

Boughton Place is distant from Maidstone about four miles, and from London
40 miles.

The Manor of Boughton was given by William, after the conquest, to Odo, Bishop of Baieux.
On the Bishop's disgrace it went into the hands of the Monchensie family, from whom it acquired the
addition that still distinguishes this place from the other Boughtons. From these it went to the
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Houghams, of Hougham, in this county, the last of whom, Benedicta, carried it in marriage to John
de Shelving, of Shelvingbourne, which family terminated in two female heirs, one of whom, Joan,
married to John Brampton, alias Detling, of Detling Court, received as her portion the greater part
of this manor. Their daughter, Benedicta, carried this part in marriage to Thomas at Towne, of
Towne's Place, in Throwley, whose second daughter, Benedicta, took it in marriage also to William
Watton, Esq. of Addington, who, at the end of the reign of Henry VI. sold it to Reginald Peckham,
Esq. the proprietor of the other part of the manor. His grandson, Thomas Peckham, Esq. left the
whole at his death, anno 12 Henry VIII. to his daughter, who carried it in marriage to Harpur, and
he soon alienated it to Sir Thomas Wyatt, who again, shortly after, conveyed it to Robert Rudston,
Esq. son of Sir John Rudston, of London. This gentleman's second son, Belknap Rudston, Esq.



dying without issue, left it by will, in 1613, to Sir Francis Barnham, of Hollingbourne, whose great
great grand-daughter, Philadelphia, carried it in marriage to Thomas Rider, Esq. a descendant from
the Riders of Low Layton, in Essex, in which family it has since continued.

Wierton, in the Parish of Boughton Monchelsea, the residence of Thomas
Fairfax Best, Esq. is a modern structure, erected a short distance southward
from the site of the ancient mansion. It is surrounded by well-planted grounds,
and stands on the same hill as Boughton Place, commanding prospects equally
extensive and beautiful. The interior is embellished with portraits of the family
of Scott, of Scott's Hall, and with paintings by Canaletti, Panini, Rembrandt,
Vernel, Cuyp, &c. &c.

Wierton is distant from Maidstone four miles south-east, and from London
40 miles.

Wierton, or Wiarton, was formerly (in the reign of Henry 1ll.) possessed by a family who took
their name from it, one of whom alienated it, at the end of the reign of Richard Il. to Robert Purse,
whose grandson conveyed it to Richard Norton, and a descendant of this gentleman sold it, in the
reign of James |. to Sir Anthony St. Leger, Master of the Rolls, in Ireland, third son of Sir
Anthony St. Leger, of Ulcomb. He was succeeded by his only son, Sir Anthony St. Leger, whose
heirs alienated this seat to Nathaniel, afterwards Sir Nathaniel Powell, Bart. of Ewhurst, in Sussex.
His grandson, Sir Christopher Powell, Bart. died possessed of it in 1742, and after the decease of his
widow, Wierton was sold by the trustees to John Briscoe, Gent. of London, who rebuilt the
mansion, and, in 1771, conveyed it to Willshire Emmett, Esq. This gentleman, after residing here
for some years, sold it to John May, Esq. of Holborough, in Snodland.

Quarry House, in the Parish of Boughton Monchelsea, the property and
residence of Martin John Beresford, Gent. is a modern stone building, situated
nearly three miles south from Maidstone, and distant from the Metropolis about
37 miles.

Boughton Monchelsea Church is a neat modern structure, dedicated to
St. Peter. According to an inscription on a tablet in the interior, the old church
was consumed by fire 30th Dec. 1832, and the present building was opened for
Divine Service 18th May, 1834. Here are the following monuments:
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In the chancel, a large and most magnificent marble monument, consisting of a tomb, on which
reclines the full-length figure of a man, with a female standing on each side, in memory of Sir Chris-
topher Powell, Bart. of Wierton, in this parish, who died 26th June, 1742, in the 53d year of his age:

a monument for Barnham Powell, Esq. eldest son of Sir Nathaniel Powell, Knt. and Bart. of this
parish, who died 16th Oct. 1695, aged 33; also Sir Nathaniel Powell, Bart. eldest son of the above,
who died 24th April, 1709, aged 22 years; and James, second son of Barnham Powell, Esq. who died
28th Nov. 1708, aged 19 years: a marble monument for Richard Savage, Esq. who died 11th Jan,
1772, aged 52; also Margaret Savage, relict of the above, who died Dec. 10th, 1780, aged 55. In
the nave, a tablet for John Braddick, Esq. of Boughton Mount, who died 14th April, 1828, aged

63 years. North aisle, a tablet for Harriot, wife of Richard Cotton, Esq. of Leeds, in Yorkshire, and
daughter of Ingram Rider, Esq. of Boughton Place, who died 4th July, 1795, aged 34; also John
Arthur Rider, son of the above Ingram Rider, Esqg. who died 17th July, 1795, aged 22 years; also
Charles, his brother, who died at Jamaica, 19th Sept. 1795, aged 20 years; also the before-mentioned
Ingram Rider, Esq. son of William Rider, Esq. formerly of Burston, in this county, who died

5th Oct. 1805, aged 73; and Margaret, wife of J. Rider, Esq. daughter of Ralph Carr, Esq. of

Cocken, Durham, who died 11th June, 1815, in the 79th year of her age: another, above which are
two beautiful busts of a lady and gentleman, for Elizabeth Barnham, who died 28th Sept. 1631; also
Sir Francis Barnham, who died 12th Sept. 1646. In the north chancel, an old monument for Anne
Rudston, daughter of Sir Edward Wotton: and a very curious one, for Belknap Rudston, Esq. who
died 27th May, 1613, aged 64 years.

Langley Church is dedicated to St. Mary.



In the chancel, on the north side, is a marble monument for Mrs. Anne Waterhouse, grand-
daughter of Archbishop Lamplugh, who died 2d March, 1744, aged 46 years; also for Jane, relict of
the Rev. Benjamin Waterhouse, Vicar of Westwell, who died 24th Dec. 1794, aged 77. On the
south side is a corresponding one, with Greek and Latin inscriptions, to the memory of "My
beloved Anna," without date or surname; it also commemorates the Rev. Benjamin Waterhouse,
Vicar of Hollingbourne and Westwell.

East Sutton Place, in the Parish of East Sutton, the seat of Sir Edmund
Filmer, Bart. a Magistrate for the County, and one of the Members of Parlia-
ment for the Western Division, is a noble Elizabethan structure, finely situated,
on the range of hills mentioned previously, in the article on Wierton, and having
a magnificent prospect southward. The park is well timbered, and stocked with
deer; and at a considerable descent south of the mansion is a large sheet of
water. The present Baronet is making extensive additions to the house, and
has already improved the old part with much taste, and at no small expense: the
antique carvings in the hall have been renewed, and a corresponding ceiling,
modelled after one at Little Charleton, has been put up: on the inlaid screen is
the date 1570. Here are several family portraits, by Cornelius Janssen, &c.

East Sutton Place is distant from Maidstone rather more than six miles
south-east, and from London about 42 miles.

154

East Sutton, at the time of the survey of Domesday, was the property of Bishop Odo. In the
reign of Henry Ill. it was held of Simon de Montfort by John de Salario; and later in this reign, by
Geoffry de Martel. In the beginning of the reign of Edward Il. it was in possession of Aymer de
Valence, Earl of Pembroke, upon whose death it was allotted to his eldest sister, Isabel, married to
John de Hastings, of Bergavenny; and with their descendants, Earls of Pembroke, it remained till
the time of Henry IV. when, on failure of issue, it passed to Reginald, Lord Grey, of Ruthyn, the
next heir. This nobleman having been taken prisoner in Wales by Owen Glendower, Henry IV.
granted a licence for the sale of this and other estates, to raise sufficient money for his ransom; and
East Sutton manor was accordingly purchased by Richard Brigge, Lancaster King at Arms, who
alienated it, in the third year of the reign of Henry V. to Thomas Buttiler and Thomas Bank. It
afterwards passed into the family of Darrell, and in the first year of the reign of Henry VIII. to John
York, Esq. of Ramsbury, in Wiltshire, who, five years afterwards, conveyed it to Richard Chetham,
Prior of Leeds Priory. In the 20th year of the same reign it was in possession of Sir Henry Gulde-
ford, K.G. Comptroller of the King's Household; of whose heirs, four years afterwards, it was
purchased by Richard Hill, Esq. who, at the expiration of five years, alienated it to Thomas, Lord
Cromwell. Lord Cromwell soon exchanged it with the Crown for other lands; and the King, in his
37th year, granted it to John Tufton and Stephen Reaves, who, the same year, alienated it to Thomas
Argall, Esq. He was succeeded by his son, Richard Argall, Esq. whose son, John Argall, Esq. of
Colchester, sold it, in the eighth year of the reign of James I. to Sir Edward Filmer, of Little
Charleton, in this parish, who had married his sister Elizabeth, from which gentleman the present
proprietor is lineally descended.

Little Charleton, in the Parish of East Sutton, the property of Sir
Edmund Filmer, Bart. is an old Elizabethan house, situated less than a mile
eastward from East Sutton Place. This is the relic of a fine mansion, it having
been formerly the residence of the Filmers, who removed from it when Sir
Edward purchased the manor house, as we have noticed in the preceding
article.

The family of Filmer, anciently Filmour, were seated at the manor of Herst,
in Otterden, as early as the reign of Edward Il. which they left in the reign of
Queen Elizabeth, when Robert Filmer, Esq, one of the Prothonotaries of the
Common Pleas, bought this estate of Little Charleton.

East Sutton Church. The grave-stones and memorials for the Filmers
form a complete history of the family from the time of their coming to reside in



the parish: the stone within the altar rails, over Sir Edward Filmer, who died

in 1629, is covered with a sheet of copper, on which are beautifully engraved the
portraits of himself, his wife, and his numerous issue, with their names and coats
of arms. The following are the most remarkable monuments:

Within the altar rails, north side, a handsome marble monument, for Sir John Filmer, Bart. who
died 22d Feb. 1797, aged 81 years; adjoining this, a tablet for Lady Dorothy, widow of the above
Sir John Filmer, Bart. daughter of the Rev. Julius Deedes, Prebendary of Canterbury, who died
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5th July, 1818, aged 82 years 6 months. South side, a very neat marble tablet, surmounted by an
urn, for Edmund Filmer, Esq. Captain in the 4th Regiment, fourth son of the Rev. Sir Edmund

Filmer, Bart. who died at Bath, 30th March, 1810, aged 45. South chancel, a marble monument for
Francis Filmer, Esq. of Lincoln's Inn, who died 30th Dec. 1807, aged 78 years: a tablet for Robert
Filmer, Esq. of London, fifth son of the Rev. Sir Edmund Filmer, Bart. who died 1st June, 1824, in

the 56th year of his age; and Anne his wife, died 17th Nov. 1826, aged 58 years: a handsome marble
monument, with figures of a man and his wife kneeling at a desk, for Margaret Randolphe, wife of
Edmund Randolphe, Esq. second daughter of Richard Argall, Esq. who died 20th Sept. 1609,

aged 38: near this, another monument for Richard Argall, Esq. of this place, who died in 1588;

also his widow, married to Lawrence Washeington, Esq. who died in 1605; and his son, Thomas,

who died in 1605: a handsome marble monument, in memory of Dorothea, wife of Beversham Filmer,
Esqg. second daughter of William Henley, Esqg. of Gore Court, who died 14th Oct. 1793, aged 67;

also her husband, Sir Beversham Filmer, Bart. who died 29th Dec. 1805, aged 87. In the nave, an
elegant white marble bust, in memory of Sir Edward Filmer, Bart. who died in 1755. Between the
north and the high chancel is an old monument for Robert Filmer, Esqg. a Prothonotary to Queen
Elizabeth for 20 years, who died 31st Aug. 1585, aged 60 years. At the west end of the south aisle is
a superb marble monument, by Ternouth, of Pimlico, having the figures of Faith, Hope, and Charity,
beautifully designed, in memory of the Rev. Sir John Filmer, Bart. of East Sutton, who died

15th July, 1834, in the 74th year of his age; also Dame Charlotte, wife of the above, who died

31st July, 1818, aged 58 years.

East Sutton Church is dedicated to St. Peter and St Paul.

Town Sutton, alias Sutton Valence, obtained the latter distinction from
having been at one time in possession of the family of Valence, Earls of Pem-
broke. The situation of this place is exceedingly pleasant, being on the summit
of a range of hills, from which there is a very extensive prospect southward.

A short distance eastward from the village, adjoining the parsonage yard, are
the remains of Sutton Castle, which was built, Hasted conjectures, by one of
the family of Valence, and must have been originally, judging from the present
state of the walls, a place of great strength.

Kilburne imagines that the sea flowed up the valley at the foot of these hills;
and an anchor was found, many years ago, a little below the Castle.

The Church of Sutton Valence is a modern structure, dedicated to
St. Mary.

In the north aisle is a tablet, commemorating the munificence of the Rev. Sir John Filmer, Bart.
of East Sutton Park, and the Rev. W. Filmer, Rector of Heyford Purcell, in Oxfordshire, who con-
tributed, the former £1200, and the latter £525, towards rebuilding this church, in 1827. It contains
the following memorials: — In the chancel, a tablet to the memory of Stephen Wilkins, of this parish,
who died 17th March, 1826, aged 54 years. In the south aisle, another for Mrs. Priscilla Crispe, of
this parish, who died 23d Sept. 1823, aged 69: and another for Harriet, wife of William Kingsley,
Esq. of Sittingbourne, who died 16th Oct. 1823, aged 64; also the Rev. Joseph Hardy, father of the
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above Mrs. Kingsley, who died 5th Aug. 1786, aged 63; and William Kingsley, Esq. before men-



tioned, who died 30th June, 1827, in the 67th year of his age.

Chart Sutton, or more properly, Chart by Sutton, deserves notice, as
having possessed, at the time of the survey of Domesday, three arpends of vine-
yard. That these were plantations of the vine, and not orchards of apples and
pears, is decided by the word Arpend, the measure used exclusively for vine-
yards in France, whence we obtained our vines, and obviously borrowed the
term. And that there were vineyards in this county in early times is fur-
ther proved beyond doubt, by the fact that Hamo, Bishop of Rochester, in
the 19th year of the reign of Edward Il. sent that Monarch, at Bokinfold, a
present of wine and grapes, the produce of a vineyard at his episcopal palace at
Halling, near Rochester.

Chart Sutton Church is a modern building, dedicated to St. Michael.

The old church was twice set on fire by lightning; and the last time, 23d April,
1779, was totally destroyed. On the south wall there is a marble monument, to
the memory of the Rev. Francis Robins, who died 10th Sept. 1720, in the 55th
year of his age.

Chilstone Park, in the Parish of Boughton Malherb, the seat of James
Douglas Stoddart Douglas, Esq. a Magistrate for the County, and Lieutenant
in the Royal Navy, is a handsome substantial mansion, situated in a small but
beautiful park, well wooded, and stocked with deer. The interior of the house
is spacious and elegant. In the hall are three beautiful groups of sculpture;
one by Woiff; a Shepherd and Dog; and two Nymphs, by Skiddaw, one tying
her sandal, and the other spinning with a distaff. There are also the following
paintings; a Magdalen, by Cignani; a Sybilla Persica; Cecilia; Holy Family,
by Raphael Mengs; and a Sea Piece by Snayers. In front of the mansion is
a fine sheet of water.

Chilstone Park is 10 miles south-east from Maidstone, and about 45 miles
from London.

Chilstone, anciently Childeston, in the reign of Henry |. was owned by William Fitz Hamon,
after which it passed to the family of Hoese, or Hussey, with whom it remained till Henry Hussey,
anno 31 Henry VIII. sold it to John Parkhurst, Esq. His descendant, Sir William Parkhurst,
alienated this manor to Mr. Richard Northwood, of Dane Court, in Thanet, whose eldest son, Alex-
ander Northwood, or Norwood, of St. Stephen's, Canterbury, sold it, after the death of Charles I.
to Cleggat, of whom it was purchased by Mr. Manley, of London, who soon after alienated it to
Edward Hales, Esq. grandson of Sir Edward Hales, Bart. and his three daughters, in 1698, con-
veyed Chilstone to the Hon. Elizabeth Hamilton, eldest daughter of John, Lord Colepeper, and widow
of James Hamilton, Esq. the eldest son of Sir George Hamilton, of Tyrone. This lady was succeeded
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here by her second son, William Hamilton, Esq. whose eldest son, John Hamilton, Esq. sold it to
Thomas Best, Esq. eldest son of Mawdistley Best, Esq. of Boxley, who rebuilt the house, and
considerably improved the grounds. At his death, in 1795, without issue, he bequeathed this estate
to his nephew, George, the youngest son of his brother, James Best, Esq. of Boxley and Chatham.

Boughton Malherb Church. Here are several monuments for the emi-
nent and noble family of Wotton, once proprietors of the Manor of Boughton.

One of them, the most handsome, is a large pyramid of black marble, supported by three lions
couchant, on a deep base, to the memory of Henry, Lord Stanhope, son and heir of Philip, Earl of
Chesterfield, who died in 1635; also his widow, Catherine, Countess of Chesterfield, daughter and
co-heir of Thomas, Lord Wotton; also her third husband, Daniel O'Neal, Esq.; and several of her
children. In the chancel, on the south side, are two marble monuments for the family of Best, of
Chilstone Park: and another elegant one to the memory of George Douglas, Esq. of Chilstone
Park. In the south chancel, on the pavement, are two ancient figures, of Bethersden marble; one,
a man in armour, lying cross-legged, with his shield and sword, the other a female: here is likewise



a tablet for the Rev. Robert Foote, A.M. Rector of this place, Prebendary of Rochester, Treasurer
of Bangor, &c. who died 21st Oct. 1804, in the 47th year of his age; also Anne Foote, relict of the
above, who died 19th Oct. 1818, aged 67 years.

LENHAM, or LEANHAM, (i. e. the town of the Len, or Aqua Lena, the
spring at Streetwell, at the eastern extremity of the town,) stands on the old
Roman way, which ran from Dover through the middle of Kent.

This place has been pointed out by Camden, Lambarde, Gale, and other
eminent antiquaries, as the Roman station, Durolevum, which name they say is a
corruption of Durolenum, the latter word signifying, in the British language,
the water Lenum.

There seems no other foundation for this conjecture than the fancied simi-
larity of the two names, there never having been found here any Roman anti-
quities that could be adduced in support of it.

Vicarage, Lenham, the residence of the Rev. Charles Parkin, M.A. is
situated near the church, on the right of the high road to Charing, from which
town it is distant rather more than three miles. To Ashford it is nearly nine
miles, to Maidstone 10 miles, and to London 45 miles.

Swadelands, in the Parish of Lenham, the residence and property of George
Harrisson, Gent. is a neat modern house, pleasantly situated on the right of the
road entering Lenham from Maidstone, distant from the former about half a mile,
and from the latter rather more than nine miles.

Lenham Church is a large handsome building, dedicated to St. Mary. At
the west end of the high chancel are sixteen stalls, which were formerly appro-
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priated to the monks of St. Augustine's, when they visited their estate in this
parish; and on the south side is a stone confessional chair.

In this church are memorials for the families of Codd, Brockwell, Marshall, Baldock, Dixon,
Thomson, Dering, and Perry; of this last was James Perry, Gent. once Principal of Staples Inn,
anno 1577; and Anne his wife, daughter of Thomas Turner, of Sutton Valence, anno 1593: another
to the memory of the Hon. John Hamilton, 1714. In the nave, south wall, a tablet for Tassell
Read, Esq. of Gravesend, obt. Nov. 27, 1792, at. 75: near it a marble monument for Richard Read,
Gent. who died 15th May, 1725, aged 53 years; also Martha his wife, daughter of James and
Frances Tassell, of Norton, who died April 17th, 1758, in the 78th year of her age; and Richard
Read, of Gravesend, eldest son of the above Richard Read, who died 25th Feb. 1779, aged 63 years.
Chancel, south of the altar, a marble monument for certain members of the family of Colepeper:
north of the altar, another for Henry Thomson, obt. 1648, aet. 78; and Dorothy, his wife, obt. 1649,
&t. 77. In arecess in the wall is a very ancient figure, in long robes, lying at full length. At the
east end of the north aisle is a tomb of Bethersden marble, which Hasted conjectures is for Thomas
Home, Esq. of East Lenham, whose will is dated 1471.

Several of the families of Honywood, and Hales of Boughton Malherb, are also buried here.

Otterden Place, in the Parish of Otterden, the seat of Mrs. Wheler,
proprietress also of Ledstone Hall, in the County of York, is a fine edifice, of
imposing appearance, built about the end of the reign of Henry VIII. and in
the style of its architecture bears so striking a resemblance to St. James's
Palace, that it is thought to have been erected by the same architect. The
south front is modern, erected by the late Granville Hastings Wheler, Esq. in
correspondence with the old part of the house. The interior is spacious and
elegant.

The Library contains a valuable collection of books, and is embellished with portraits of
Charles Il. by Sir Peter Lely; the Rev. Sir George Wheler, Knt. D.D.; the Rev. Granville
Wheler; and Dr. Sharpe, son of Dr. Sharpe, Archbishop of York.

In the Dining Room are portraits of Lady Elizabeth Hastings, of Ledstone Hall, Yorkshire;



Lady Anne Hastings; Anne Curteis, wife of Thomas, son of Sir George Wheler, in a riding dress,
a spirited portrait, by Sir Godfrey Kneller; Sir William Wheler, Bart. supposed by Vandyck;
Frances, Countess of Huntingdon; the Duke and Duchess of Richmond and Lennox, whole length,
by Sir Peter Lely.

In the Drawing Room, those of King Charles |. and Queen Henrietta Maria, by Vandyck;
Dechair, by Sir Godfrey Kneller; Mary Tattersall, mother of Mrs. Wheler, by Humphry; George
Errington and Elizabeth Ward, brother and sister of Mrs. Wheler, by Romney.

In the Gallery, Lady Catherine Maria Hastings, wife of the Rev. Granville Wheler; George
Wheler, Esq. and his Lady, Sibylla Christiana; Grace, wife of Sir George Wheler; Bridget, Lady
Higgons; Lady Moyle, by Sir Peter Lely; two of King Charles's Beauties; two well painted
portraits, of the time of Elizabeth or James I. entitled, Lord Hervey and Lady, &c. &c.

Otterden Place is surrounded by a pleasant park, and commands a good
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prospect of the Thames, the Isle of Sheppey, and the intermediate country. It
is distant from Faversham about seven miles south-west, from Lenham four miles,
from Charing the same, and from London 49 miles.

Otterden, or Ottringden, was one of the almost innumerable manors that William the Conqueror
bestowed on his half brother Odo. After the bishop's disgrace, it came into the possession of a
family that took their surname from it: with the daughter and heir of Sir Lawrence de Ottringden it
went in marriage, in the reign of Edward Il. to one Peyforer, from whom it passed to Potyn, and
Juliana, the daughter of Nicholas Potyn, carried it in marriage, in the time of Richard Il. to Thomas
St. Leger, second son of Ralph St. Leger, of Ulcombe. Juliana St. Leger, on her decease, anno
5 Henry V. being then a widow, was succeeded by her daughter Joane, the wife of Henry Aucher,
Esqg. of Losenham, in Newenden, whose descendant, John Aucher, Esq. left an only daughter, Joane,
who married Sir Humphry Gilbert, in the reign of Elizabeth, and entitled him to this manor and
seat. He, in the same reign, passed it to William Lewin, LL.D. Judge of the Prerogative Court of
Canterbury, Chancellor of Rochester, &c. &c. whose grand-daughter, Elizabeth, carried it in marriage
to Richard Rogers, Esq. of Brianston, in Somersetshire, and his daughter, Elizabeth, in like manner
took it in marriage, first, to Charles Cavendish, Lord Mansfield, eldest son of William Cavendish,
Duke of Newcastle, and, secondly, to Charles Stuart, Duke of Richmond and Lenox, of whom, in
1661, it was purchased by George, afterwards Sir George Curteis. This gentleman was succeeded
here, at his decease, in 1702, by his only son, George Curteis, Esq. who died in 1710, and his
daughter, Anne, afterwards took it in marriage to Thomas Wheler, Esq. eldest son of Sir George
Wheler, D.D. Prebendary of Durham, with whose descendants, most of them gentlemen eminent for
their scientific acquirements, it has since continued.

Rectory, Otterden, the residence of the Rev. George Dynely Goodyar, is
a modern building, in the Elizabethan style, a very short distance west from
Otterden Place. Its appearance is handsome, and the situation very pleasant.
The interior is tastefully fitted up, and adorned with paintings.

Otterden Church is a neat modern structure of brick, situated in Otterden
Park, not a hundred yards distant from the house. It was built in 1753-4, by
the Rev. Granville Wheler, patron of the living, with the sum of £400 (which,
with interest, had accumulated to nearly £500) that was left for the purpose by
his relative, Lady Elizabeth Hastings, sister of George, Earl of Huntingdon,
who died in 1739, and £500 added by Mr. Wheler himself. It contains the
following; interesting monuments:

In a recess, on the north side, are two handsome old monuments, for the families of Lewin and
Curteis: and on the south side, another for Mr. Simon Bunce and his wife. North of the altar, a
tablet for the Rev. John Cecil Tattersall, B.A. who died Dec. 8th, 1812, aged 24 years. On the south
side of the west entrance, a white marble monument in memory of the Rev. Granville Wheler, son
of the Rev. Sir George Wheler, of Charing, who died May 12th, 1770, aged 69 years; he married
Lady Catherine Maria, daughter of Theophilus, seventh Earl of Huntingdon, by whom he had two sons,
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Theophilus and Granville, and four daughters, Elizabeth Anne, Frances, Silena Margaretta, and
Catherine Maria: Lady Catherine Wheler, died January 24th, 1740, in the 43d year of her age;
also for Mary, second wife of the Rev. Granville Wheler, who died Aug. 1st, 1763: adjoining this,

a tablet for Granville Charles, only son of Granville Hastings Wheler and Jane, his wife, born Sept.
28th, 1810, died Feb. 28th, 1818. North of the west entrance, a white marble monument for Gran-
ville Hastings Wheler, Esq. of Otterden Place, and Ledstone Hall, Yorkshire, who departed this

life Feb. 3d, 1827, aged 46 years.

Otterden Church is dedicated to St. Lawrence.

Stede Hill, in the Parish of Harrietsham, the seat of William Baldwin,
Esq. stands on the summit of the hill from which it derives its name, and
which is one of a chain running south-east and north-west from Charing to
Woldham. It is a handsome modern mansion, surrounded by very picturesque
grounds, and overlooking a magnificent prospect southward. The distance from
Lenham is about two miles and a half, from Maidstone nine miles, and from
London 43 miles.

Harrietsham, immediately after the battle of Hastings, was given to Odo, Earl of Kent. On his
being disgraced, it went to the family of Crescie, or Cressi, and in the reign of Henry lll. it appears,
fell into the hands of the Crown; for this king, in his 48th year, granted it to his niece, Isabel, the
illegitimate daughter of Richard, Earl of Cornwall, a younger son of King John, then the wife of
Maurice, Lord Berkely, who, having forfeited his possessions by joining the rebellious barons, left his
wife, the above-named Isabel, in great poverty. Soon after this the manor seems to have been
divided, and that part which still retained the title of the Manor of Harrietsham, came to the family
of Northwood, of Northwood, in Milton, with whom it continued till a sister of John Northwood,

Esq. who died in the 4th year of the reign of Henry V. carried one moiety of this part, after her
brother's death, in marriage to Sir John Norton, of this county. From him it passed to the name of
Peckham, of whom Reginald Peckham, Esq. of Yaldham, conveyed it, in the 15th year of Henry
VIII. to Edward Scott, Esq. who soon after transmitted it to John Hales, Esq. of the Dungeon,
Canterbury, one of the Barons of the Exchequer, of whose descendant, William Hales, Esq. it was
purchased, anno 4 Elizabeth, by Sir Warham St. Leger, of Ulcombe, Chief Governor of the Province
of Munster, in Ireland, and he, in the 21st year of the same reign, alienated it to William Stede,

Esqg. who had before purchased of Laurence Ashburnham, Esq. the other moiety of the manor of
Harrietsham. By this family it was possessed for many years, till Edwyn Stede, Esq. who had
inherited it on his father's death, in 1735, sold it to William Horsmonden Turner, Esqg. of Maidstone,
son of Anthony Horsmonden, of Maidstone, who died without issue in 1753, leaving it to his widow,
and at her decease, in 1782, it came, by the limitation of Mr. Turner's will, to Charles, afterwards

Sir Charles Booth, of the Temple, London. This gentleman died in 1795, leaving no issue surviving,
upon which it devolved, by the further entail in Mr. Turner's will, on William Baldwin, Esq.

Harrietsham Church. In the south chancel is a handsome marble pyramidal monu-
ment, in memory of Charlotte, wife of William Baldwin, Esq. of Stede Hill, who died April 1st,
1788, aged 26 years; also Charles Booth, son of William and Frances Baldwin, who died 20th Jan.
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1794, aged 6 months. In the chancel, a tablet for Catherine Delicia, wife of Robert Walters, Esq.
of London, barrister at law, who died 14th May, 1832, aged 40 years; also three of their children:
another for the Rev. James Robinson Hayward, A.M. 39 years Rector of this parish, who died 6th
Oct. 1812, aged 74 years; also Anne Hayward, mother of the above, who died 31st March, 1780.
Here are likewise several memorials for the family of Stede.

Harrietsham Church is dedicated to St. John the Baptist.



Wrinsted Court, in the Parish of Frinsted, the seat of Mrs. Cooke, is a
handsome house, modernised in 1810 by the late William Cooke, Esq. It
stands on the hills, on the south side of the valley through which runs the high
road from Ospringe to Hollingbourne, and commands a beautiful view of the
Nore and the Isle of Sheppey. It is distant from Faversham about nine miles
and a half south-west, and from London, via Sittingbourne, about 47 miles.

The manor of Frinsted, after the disgrace of Bishop Odo, to whom it had been given by William I.
came into the possession of Jeffry de Peverel, and, together with other lands, formed the Barony of
Peverel, which was assigned to him for the defence of Dover Castle. In the reign of Henry Ill. it
was held by Nicholas de Gerund, after him by the family of Crombwell, and again, in the reign of
Edward Ill. by that of Gerund. Maud, daughter of Richard le Gerund, carried it in marriage to
Sir Henry de Chalfhunt, of whose descendants it was purchased by Robert le Hadde, and with his
posterity it continued till Arnold Hadde, Esq. in the 25th year of Elizabeth's reign, alienated it to
Edward and George Hills, who sold it to Edward Jackman, Esq. of Hornchurch, in Essex, and he,
in the 6th year of the reign of James |. passed it to Oliver Style, Esq. of Wateringbury, who died in
1622. Upon the death of Sir Thomas Style, Bart. in 1702, this manor and seat were allotted to
Margaret, his only daughter by his second wife, of whom, in 1716, they were purchased by Mr. Abra-
ham Tilghman, whose grand-daughter, Elizabeth, carried it to her husband, the Rev. Pierrepont
Crompe, of Newnham, Gloucestershire, who, dying in 1797, was succeeded in this property by his
son, Robert Thomas Crompe, Esq.

Frinsted Church. In the north, or Yokes Court Chancel, (which is in a most ruinous
state,) in an arched recess in the north wall, is a very old tomb: here are also memorials for the
Thatchers and the Bings, proprietors of Yokes Court. In the high chancel, south side, a tablet for
William Cooke, Esq. of Wrinsted Court, in this parish, K.C. who died 14th Sept. 1832, in the 75th
year of his age. In the south aisle, a monument for Abraham Tilghman, Esqg. who died in 1729.
And in the church-yard there is an altar-tomb over a vault, in which lie A. Tilghman, Esq. who died
in 1779; and Olivia, his wife; also the Rev. Mr. Crompe; and Henrietta Maria, his daughter.

Frinsted Church is dedicated to St. Dunstan.

Hollingbourne House, in the Parish of Hollingbourne, the seat of
Baldwin Duppa Duppa, Esqg. a Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the
County, is a handsome modern structure of brick, with stone facings. Itis
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beautifully situated on the summit of Hollingbourne Hill, and commands most
extensive and magnificent prospects to the south, south-east, and south-west.

Hollingbourne House is one mile north from Hollingbourne, six miles and a
half east from Maidstone, and about 42 miles from London.

This estate was formerly called Eyotts, and, in 1609, was in possession of Sir Martin Barnham.
He was succeeded by his eldest son, Sir Francis Barnham, who parted with it to Gabriel Levesey,
Esqg. whose son and heir, Sir Michael Levesey, in 1623, conveyed it to Sir John Hayward, second son
of Sir Rowland Hayward, Alderman of London, and twice Lord Mayor, who, in 1632, disposed of it
to Cheney Culpeper, Esq. of Greenway Court, and he, in 1652, passed it away to Henry Pelham, Esq.
This gentleman, by will, in 1658, bequeathed it to his nephew, George Pelham, Esqg. who dying
without issue, in 1686, this seat and estate, by virtue of his will, as well as by an entail in that of his
uncle, devolved on his brother, Charles Pelham, Esqg. who, by will, in 1688, left it to his son, Charles,
then an infant, with injunctions to sell it when he came of age, and it was accordingly purchased, in
1705, by Baldwin Duppa, Esq. a descendant from the same ancestors as Brian Duppa, Bishop of
Winchester, who died in 1662, and Sir Thomas Duppa, Gentleman Usher of the Black Rod to
Charles Il. His son, Baldwin Duppa, Esq. rebuilt the house in 1717, and dying unmarried, in
1764, bequeathed it to the Rev. Richard Hancorn, (whose grandmother was eldest sister to the first-
mentioned Mr. Duppa,) enjoining him to take the name and arms of Duppa. Mr. Hancorn after-
wards quitted the clerical profession, and dying without issue, in 1789, was succeeded here by his



brother, Baldwin Hancorn, Esq. who also then assumed the name of Duppa.

Manor House, in the Parish of Hollingbourne, the residence of Batch.
Roper, Gent. is a fine specimen of a building in the Elizabethan style, which
cannot fail to attract the attention of the antiquary. It is situated at the foot of
Hollingbourne Hill, distant from Maidstone about five miles and a half, and
from London 41 miles.

Vicarage, Hollingbourne, the residence of the Rev. Edward Hasted, Vicar,
a Magistrate for the County, is a modern house, pleasantly situated close to the
north side of the church. The interior is adorned with several family portraits,
among which is one of Edward Hasted, Esq. the Kentish historian, father of the
gentleman now resident here.

The Vicarage is distant from Maidstone five miles and a half, and from
London about 41 miles.

Oakfield, in the Parish of Hollingbourne, the property and residence of
Henry Salmon, Esq. is agreeably situated on the north side of the park belonging
to Leeds Castle, and on the north side of the high road from Maidstone to
Lenham, distant from the former town five miles, and from London about
40 miles.

Eyhorne House, in the Parish of Hollingbourne, the property and
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residence of Richard Thomas, Esq. is an elegant building, situated on the left
of the high road from Maidstone to Lenham, four miles and a half from the
former, five miles and a half from the latter, and about 39 miles and a half from
London.

Hollingbourne Church is a large handsome building, dedicated to
All Saints. Belonging to this church is a superb altar-cloth, with a pulpit-
cloth and cushion of purple velvet, embroidered with pomegranates and grapes,
wrought in gold, by the daughters of Sir John Colepeper, Lord Colepeper, who
thus occupied themselves nearly 12 years, during which time their father was
absent abroad with Charles Il. These valuable relics are kept by the Vicar,
and used only on extraordinary occasions.

In the chancel are some beautiful monuments for the family of Culpeper, of Greenway Court; and
two for the Lords Culpeper, Barons of Thorsway, one of which is by Rysbrack. On the south side, a
monument for Sir Martin Barnham, and his two wives, having their figures kneeling at a desk, and under-
neath are their children, anno 1610. On the north side, another very noble one, with a lady kneeling,
and two figures about to crown her with wreaths, in memory of Dame Grace Gethin, wife of Sir Richard
Gethin, Bart. of Gethinge-Groff, in Ireland, daughter of Sir George Norton, Bart. of Abbots Leigh,
in Somersetshire, and great-granddaughter of Sir Thomas Culpeper, Knt. of this place; she died
11th Oct. 1697, in the 21st year of her age. In the north aisle are two marble monuments for the
family of Duppa; and in the centre of a chapel, at the east end of the aisle, is a white marble tomb,
on which lies the full-length figure of a lady, exquisitely carved, in memory of Elizabeth, Lady of
Sir Thomas Culpeper, daughter of John Cheney, Esq. of Sussex, obt. 1638. In the south aisle, a
tablet for Joseph Oliver, of Maidstone, who died March 16th, 1818, aged 50 years; also Sarah, his
wife, who died 31st Aug. 1833, in the 62d year of her age: another for Robert Salmon, Midshipman,
R. N. who died near Ceylon, in Feb. 1782, aged 18 years; also Thomas, his youngest brother, Captain
of the 7th Royal Fusileers, who died at Belim, near Lisbon, 1st Feb. 1811, aged 41 years. At the west
end of the church are memorials for the families of Plummer, Collins, Dyke, and Sedgwick.

Leeds Castle, in the Parish of Broomfield, the seat of Fiennes Wykeham
Martin, Esq. Magistrate for the County, and High Sheriff in 1823-4, is a noble
pile of building, in the castellated style, surrounded by a broad moat, and
seated in a picturesque park. The original fortress, says Kilburne, was raised by
Ledan, or Ledian, a Saxon Chief, and principal Counsellor to Ethelbert Il.



and from him was called Ledani Castrum, which, in course of time, became
contracted to Leeds. This structure was demolished by the Danes, and rebuilt
in the reign of William Il. by Robert de Crevecceur, or Crevequer, son of

Hamon de Crevequer, who received a grant of this estate from William |. after
the disgrace of Bishop Odo. It was strengthened, and considerable additions
were made to it, in the reign of Henry Ill. and again, in that of Edward II.

by Bartholomew, Lord Badlesmere, who, having joined the discontented Barons,
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the castle was taken by the royal army, under the Earls Pembroke and Rich-
mond, after a siege that caused the ruin of the place. It consequently became
the property of the Crown, and in the reign of Edward lll. the building was
completely restored by William of Wykeham, who was constituted chief
Warden and Surveyor of the castle, with power to provide every thing ne-
cessary for the reinstatement of it. Subsequently, in the time of Henry VIII.
great alterations were made at Leeds Castle, at the King's expense, by Sir
Henry Guildford, Constable of the place; again, in the reign of James I.
by Sir Richard Smyth, fourth son of Thomas Smyth, Esq. commonly called
Customer Smyth, of Westenhanger; and very recently, about 1822, it has
been extensively repaired, and, in part, re-edified, by the present proprietor.
The greater part of this structure is in the style of Henry VII, but there are
many remains of the time of Henry Ill. and Edward II. A good summary of its
history will be found in Neale's Views, but the catalogue of paintings there requires
correction. A short and accurate sketch is also given in the Walk in the Environs
of Maidstone, by Mr. Lempriere. Among the costly decorations and curiosities
in the interior of this magnificent mansion, the following deserve particular notice:
the doublet, shoes, and richly-worked waistcoat of the Parliamentary General,
Fairfax; a bust, a painting by Walker, and a miniature, in enamel, of the same;
half-length portraits of Villiers, Duke of Buckingham, who was stabbed by
Felton; of his son, who married Mary, the daughter of the Parliamentary
General, Fairfax, and of Mary, Duchess of Buckingham herself; two miniatures
of the same Duke and Duchess; miniature of Captain William Fairfax; small
oil paintings of Isabella, Empress of Charles V. and of Philip, Duke of
Burgundy, son of John, King of France, taken by the Black Prince at the
Battle of Poictiers; of Lord and Lady Culpeper, by Hanneman; Ferdinando,
Lord Fairfax, father of the General; Thomas the fifth, Robert the seventh
Lord Fairfax; Catherine Lady Fairfax; George |.; the Prince and Princess
of Hesse; Richard Fiennes, last Viscount Say and Sele, (great uncle of Mr.
Wykeham Martin;) William Humphry Wykeham, Esq. who married the heiress
of the Viscounts Wenman, who are now represented by his grand-daughter,
Baroness Wenman, and his brother, the Rev. Richard Wykeham, the father of
Mr. W. Martin; an unique portrait of Anthony Collins, Esq. the father of the
Hon. Mrs. Fairfax, first wife of the seventh Lord; Sir Edmond Cary and his
sister, Mrs. Brian Fairfax; Brigadier General Fairfax, Governor of Limerick;
some good modern portraits by Reinagle and Sir W. Beechey; a casket, once
the property of Queen Anne Boleyn; the looking-glasses, toilet-cushions, and
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richly worked bed-quilt used by King George Ill. and Queen Charlotte, when

they dined and slept at Leeds Castle, after reviewing the troops on Coxheath,

on Tuesday, Nov. 3d, 1779. The handsome carved oak chimney-piece in the
great dining-room is supposed to have been constructed by the Smiths, ancestors
of the present Viscount Strangford; some curious old fire-dogs, of the date of
Henry VIII. are supposed to have belonged to that monarch; a curious frame of
panelling, containing 12 heads, elaborately carved, which now forms part of the
chimney-piece in the smaller dining-room, was executed by Michael Fox, an



ancestor of Mr. Wykeham Martin's mother, (née Mary Fox,) who purchased
Chacombe Priory, Mr. W. Martin's seat, in Northamptonshire, of Henry VIII.
on the dissolution of religious houses.

The family of Martin possess this property in right of their descent from
Frances, sister of Thomas, Lord Fairfax, (who died unmarried in 1782,) which
lady married Denny Martin, Esq. of Loose. The noble family of Fairfax
acquired it by the marriage of Thomas, the fifth Lord Fairfax, of Cameron, in
Scotland, with Catherine, sole daughter and heir of Thomas, Lord Colepeper,
and Margaret his wife, daughter of Signior Jean de Hesse, a noble German,
whose ancestor, Sir Thomas Culpeper, of Hollingbourne, purchased it, about
1633, of the sisters of Sir John Smith.

Leeds Castle is distant from Maidstone five miles and three-quarters, and
from London about 40 miles.

The Priory at Leeds, commonly called Leeds Abbey, of which nothing
now remains, was founded in the year 1119, by Robert de Crevequer, with the
assistance of his son Adam, for Black Canons Regular of the Order of St.
Augustine, and dedicated to St. Mary and St. Nicholas. It was dissolved in
the 31st year of the reign of Henry VIII. when its possessions and revenues
were found to amount to £362. 7s. 7d. The church of this priory is said to have
been exceedingly beautiful, equal to many of our cathedrals, and contained a
celebrated figure of the Virgin Mary, by the side of the altar of St. Catherine.

Leeds Church is dedicated to St. Nicholas.

In the north chancel, which has belonged time out of mind to the proprietors of the abbey, are
buried many of the Meredith family, for one of whom there is a very fine monument, richly embellished
with arms; viz. Jane, daughter of Sir Thomas Palmer, widow of Sir William Meredith, Bart. of
Stansty, in Denbighshire, (the first purchaser of the Leeds Abbey estate,) who married, secondly, John,
Earl of Carbery; she died in 1643. In the south chancel there is a handsome monument to the
memory of Sir Roger Meredith, Bart.: and a tablet commemorating the founding of Leeds Abbey,
that was brought hither when the abbey was taken down in 1790.
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Chrishmell, in the Parish of Bearsted, the residence of the Rev. St. Leger
Baldwin, is situated three miles east from Maidstone, on the left of the high
road from thence to Lenham.

Milgate, in the Parish of Bearsted, the residence of Sir John Croft, Bart.
of Cowling Hall, Yorkshire, and of Newnham and Dodington, in the County of
Kent, K.C.T. & S. D.C.L. F.R.S. F.R.A.S. Ulys. Arm. Bal. and a Deputy
Lieutenant for the County, is an elegant mansion, situated in picturesque and
well-wooded grounds, distant from Maidstone about three miles eastward, and
from London 38 miles.

This seat was anciently possessed by the family of Coloigne, which in later times was called
Coluney. In the beginning of the reign of Henry VII. it had become the property of the Stonehouses,
from whom it passed, in the commencement of Elizabeth's reign, to Thomas, afterwards Sir Thomas
Fludd, Knt. son of John Fludd, Esq. of Morton, in Shropshire, whose son, Thomas Fludd, Esq.
alienated it, in 1624, to William Cage, Esq. of Lincoln's Inn, and Farringdon, Hampshire, Barrister
at Law, whose descendants retained it till within a few years past.

Bearsted House, in the Parish of Bearsted, the seat of Charles Wayth,
Esq. a Major in the Army by brevet, is situated two miles and a half east from
Maidstone, and 37 miles from London.

Snowfield, in the Parish of Bearsted, the seat of James Jacobson, Esq, a
Magistrate and Deputy Lieutenant for the County, is a handsome modern
structure, standing on elevated ground on the west of Bearsted Green, and
commanding a good view eastward.

It is distant from Maidstone about two miles and a half, and from London



37 miles.

Bearsted Church. In the Milgate chancel are monuments for the Cage family. In the
high chancel, south side, an old marble monument, in a very dilapidated state, having the half-length
figure of a man with an open book before him, for Robert Fludd, M.D. who died 8th Sept. 1637, in
the 63d year of his age: a memorial for William Godfrey, jun. anno 1690: and for Elizabeth,
daughter of Henry Bosville, Esqg. of Bradburne, Justice and Clerk of the Court of Wards, married
first to Edward Mabb, Gent. of this parish, and secondly to William Godfrey, of Bersted, yeoman;
obt. 1614. In the porch is a small monument for Stephen Mason, of Boxley, citizen and vintner,
of London, obt. 1560; and Margaret, his wife, obt. 24th Dec. 1552.

Bearsted Church is dedicated to the Holy Cross.

Gore Court, in the Parish of Otham, the seat of the Rev. William Horne,
M.A. Patron of the Rectory of Otham, and a Magistrate for the County, (but
not acting,) is a very interesting modernised building, part, doubtless, being of
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great antiquity. The interior is ornamented with ancient and modern paintings.
In the hall is a curiously carved chimney-piece, supposed to be of the time of
Henry II.

Gore Court is distant from Maidstone about three miles south-east, and from
London 38 miles.

This seat, together with lands here called Colyns, (very probably from Richard Colyn, owner of
the Manor of Otham in the reign of Edward Ill.) was once considered part of Otham Manor, and
was held by the same proprietors till Sir Henry Isley, in the time of Henry VIII. alienated this
estate to Thomas Astrey, who, anno 3 Edward VI. conveyed it by deed and fine to Walter Hendley,
Esqg. and Thomas Hendley, his son, the latter of whom, the following year, sold it to Ralph Buffkin,
Esqg. whose descendants, in the reign of James I. alienated it to Mr. Nathaniel Powel, of Ewehurst,
in Sussex, and he shortly after conveyed it to Thomas Fludd, Esq. descended from David Fludd, or
de Fluctibus, of Salop. Of this family it was purchased, about the year 1712, by Bowyer Hendley,
Esqg. of Otham, whose youngest daughter, Anne, married the Rev. Samuel Horne, Rector of this
parish.

Otham Church contains several memorials for the family of Hendley, of this parish, among
which is a good monument, on the north wall of the chancel, for William Hendley, Esq. who died
June 2d, 1762, aged 74; and Dorothea, his wife, who died 20th March, 1785, aged 79 years: and
another for John Hendley, Esq. who died 30th April, 1676, aged 59. Here is also a monument for
Lewin Buffkin, Esq. of Gore Court: and a memorial for John Elys, or Ellis, of Stoneacre, in this
parish, who died in 1467.

Otham Church is dedicated to St. Nicholas.

THORNHAM. At the south-eastern point of this parish, adjoining Bearsted
Green, is the residence of Bedingfield Wise, Esq. It is distant from Thornham
Church about one mile south, and from Maidstone two miles and a half east.

Here is also the residence and property of Thomas Hills, Gent.

About half a mile northward from the church, on the brow of the great
chalk hill, stood Thornham Castle, or, as it was formerly called, Godard's Castle,
which, says Darell, in his treatise "De Castellis Cantii" was founded by one
Godardus, a Saxon. Hasted conjectures that it was first erected by the Romans,
and was one of their speculatory stations or watch-towers, several Roman urns
and other remains having been found about the site of it.

Thornham Church. Here are monuments for the family of Sheldon, of Aldington.
Sir Henry Cutt, of Binbury, in this parish, who died without issue in 1603, was buried in the chancel,



erected to his memory by Lady Barbara, his widow; she afterwards married William Covert, Esq. of
Boxley, and dying in 1618, was likewise interred here.

Thornham Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
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Ulcombe Place, in the Parish of Ulcombe, is beautifully situated close to
the village, on the top of the quarry hills, commanding extensive prospects.
It is distant from Maidstone about nine miles south-east.

Ulcombe was given by one of the Saxon kings to the Priory of Christchurch, in Canterbury. In
the reign of the Conqueror it was held of the Archbishop, by knight's service, by Sir Robert de St.
Leger, who came from Normandy with William, and having, in the battle of Hastings, overcome a
Pagan Dane who resided at Ulcombe, he took possession of this manor. His posterity continued
proprietors of it till Sir William St. Leger, some years prior to his death, which happened in 1642,
alienated it to Henry Clerke, Esq. Sergeant at Law, Recorder of Rochester, whose descendants
inherited it till Sarah, sister and heir of Gilbert Clarke, Esq. carried it to her husband, Job Hart
Price, Esq. of Aldershot, in Hampshire, who, in 1787, took the name and arms of Clarke.

Ulcombe Church. Here are interred many of the eminent family of St. Leger, who
were for several years proprietors of the manor; and there are some elegant monuments erected to
their memory. Many of the family of Clarke are also buried in this church, the last of whom resident
at Ulcombe Place was Gilbert Clarke, Esq. 1725. In the high chancel there is a marble monument
to the memory of the Rev. Stringer Belcher, A.M. Rector of this parish, who died 11th Dec. 1739;
and Sarah, his wife.

In the church-yard we noticed a remarkably large yew.

Ulcombe Church is dedicated to All Saints.

Stockbury Church is a very ancient building: the pillars, at the north
side, are of Bethersden marble.

In the north, or Nettlested chancel, lies the eminent antiquary, John Thorpe, M.D. of Rochester,
who died in 1750; and his lady. Dr. Thorpe was, at the time of his death, possessed of the estate
of Nettlested, in this parish; and, in the reign of Edward IV. this property was owned by the
ancestors of Dr. R. Plot, the great naturalist.

Stockbury Church is dedicated to St. Mary Magdalen.
THE HUNDRED OF WEST, ALIAS LITTLE BARNFIELD,

Is hardly more than a nominal hundred, including only the south-east part of
the Parish of Goudhurst, but having neither the village nor church within its
bounds.
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HUNDRED OF MAIDSTONE.

MAIDSTONE, the county town, is very pleasantly situated on the Medway,
in a fertile valley, where orchards, hop-grounds, and meadows are thickly inter-
spersed with gentlemen's seats. The old Saxon name was Medwegeston, the
town upon the Medwege, as the river seems to have been called from its running
across the middle of the county. The position of Maidstone, in the heart of
Kent, and on a navigable river falling into the Thames, renders it a place of
great traffic. It is well built, cheerful, and flourishing; particularly in repute
for its hop-market. Few relics of any very remote times have been discovered



here; and the opinion of Camden, that this place is the Vagniacee of Antoninus,
is by later authors generally rejected.

The buildings at Maidstone most interesting for their antiquity, are the
Church of All Saints, the old Archiepiscopal Palace, and the remains of the
College, founded by Archbishop Courtenay, in the reign of Richard Il. for
Secular Priests. The Church, which was greatly enlarged by the same muni-
ficent prelate, exceeds in size most of the parish churches in the kingdom. The
tower is a low one; the spire which it once supported having been destroyed by
lightning about a century ago. The body of the edifice appears very remarkable,
both for length and breadth. It stands between the palace and the college, at
the south-west corner of the town, on an angle of the Medway; the west end
facing the open valley. The several Gothic structures about it, some of them in
ruins, and some converted into dwelling-houses, barns, and breweries, give the
church-yard an air both venerable and melancholy. The Palace, which belonged
to the See of Canterbury from the time of King John till Cranmer exchanged it
with Henry VIII. is now in the occupation of two private families. It fronts
the burial-ground on the side next the town. The remains of the College are
parallel to the opposite or south side of the church; the precinct walls extending
considerably beyond it. That portion which is next the church and river dis-
plays a high embattled wall and projecting turrets, more castle-like than
monastic. This end is now appropriated as a farm-house and yard; the entrance
to which is through a tower-gate-way, that shows at the opposite extremity an
isolated arch and some antiquated buildings, picturesquely shadowed by a group
of large trees. The other end of the college is more ornamentally fitted up as a
dwelling-house of antique appearance, the present residence of the relict of the
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late Dr. Day. This part is commonly, though it seems incorrectly, called the
Priory. We read of a priory at Maidstone, which is supposed to have been a
convent of Franciscans, or Grey Friars, founded by Edward Ill. and afterwards
transferred to Walsingham, in Norfolk; but no traces appear to be left of it, and
the site is uncertain.

The interior of the church is spacious, and kept with much neatness; but its
effect to the eye is greatly injured by the low sloping galleries which extend
from each side, almost to the centre of the building. In the middle of the
chancel is a tombstone, believed to have been placed there in memory of Arch-
bishop Courtenay, (whose remains, however, were probably interred at Can-
terbury.) Itis now laid level with the pavement, and bears no name, but has
evidently been at one time inlaid with brass, representing a bishop in his robes
and mitre. This prelate made the Church of Maidstone collegiate for the use of
his Seculars; the oaken stalls, formerly occupied by his college, are still in good
preservation in the chancel, and among their carved ornaments the Archbishop's
crest is frequently repeated. Within the inclosure of the altar there is a numerous
cluster of monuments to the noble families of Ashley and Marsham. Of these
families, the latter, who are represented by the present Earl of Romney, have
now possession of the estates once held by the Ashleys, and are the principal
proprietors about Maidstone; but the name of their predecessors is most
prevalent on the great monuments that attract the visitor's notice in the church.

One of these, which is inscribed to the memory of Sir John Astley, Knt. (obt. 26 Jan. 1639),
Master of the Revels, &c. to James and Charles I. is very magnificent. It forms a kind of obelisk,
placed against the wall, close to the altar, and is divided into two main stories, in each of which are
a male and a female figure, having the tablets between them that contain the epitaphs. Below
stands a large marble table, embossed, with the arms of the deceased, in high relief. At the back of
the screen, to which three of these memorials are attached, there is an ancient and nameless tomb,
that has been once ornamented with brasses; and within the niche in which it stands there are still
some interesting remains of paintings in fresco. It is supposed to have belonged to one of the



Widvilles, ancestors of Elizabeth Widville, the beautiful Queen of Edward IV.

The distinguished family of Widville anciently owned the property now in
possession of the Earl of Romney, and were seated within a mile of Maidstone, at
Mote Park, that nobleman's mansion. Antony Widville, Earl Rivers, the brother
of Edward's Queen, was a man of eminent character, both for chivalry and learn-
ing, for his political ability, and his polite manners. On Edward's marrying his
sister, he forsook the Red Rose, and had a large share in that prince's victories
and success. There is recorded of him a romantic action, at a tournament held

171

at Smithfield, in honour of the nuptials between the king's sister, Margaret, and
Charles the Hardy, the last Duke of Burgundy; on which occasion, to reflect
the most signal splendour on the day, he challenged his kinsman, the Count
de la Roche, and overcame him in solemn combat. Earl Rivers was the author
of several ballads, one of which is in the Percy collection. He also translated
some didactic works from the French, and was a great patron of Caxton, the
first English printer, whom he introduced to his royal brother-in-law. On
Edward's death, the Earl endeavoured to save the unfortunate princes, his
sister's children, from falling into the hands of their murderous uncle. He was
consequently conveyed immediately, by Richard's emissaries, to Pontefract Castle,
where he was summarily dispatched. The usurper seized the family estates,
which were restored by Henry VII. to Earl Rivers, brother of the preceding;
but, in default of issue, the property passed, soon afterwards, through the hands of
Thomas Gray, Marquis of Dorset, to Sir Henry Wyatt, a man of ability, and high
in the king's esteem, from whose predecessor he had suffered great hardships.
Sir Henry Wyatt fixed his seat near Maidstone, at Allington Castle, and there
was born his celebrated son, Sir Thomas Wyatt, the friend and poetical associate
of the accomplished Earl of Surrey. Sir Thomas early acquired the dangerous
favour of Henry VIII.; and, in a court where only the most strenuous powers
could venture to contend for the perils of preferment, he was alike distinguished
for sagacity and wit, and seemed to enjoy his sprightly ease without apprehen-
sion. He knew how to insinuate, in a brief phrase and a light but striking jest,
solid counsel and maxims of deep policy. From some of his sayings that have
come down to us, we may also infer that he knew how to flatter his master's
passions in a way that seemed only characteristic of blunt honesty, shrewdness
of sense, and a careless humour. When the royal hypocrite had been suing for
a divorce from his brother's widow till he began to be weary of the Court of
Rome, "Very strange," exclaimed Sir Thomas, "that a man must not repent of
his sin without the Pope's leave!" His vivacity, which appears now and then
to have betrayed him to the verge of ruin, enabled him as often quickly to
recover his footing. Once the jealous monarch suspected him of an intrigue
with Anne Boleyn, who seems to have been fascinated by his manners, and
he was accordingly thrown into the Tower. But his adroitness saved him in a
situation where innocence alone would probably have been of no avail, and in a
few days he was as high as ever in the slippery favour of his sovereign. Yet
with all his hilarity, he resolutely preserved a certain gravity of character, which
the king himself could not persuade him to overstep; and when Henry urged
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him to dance at one of his wild masquerades, the dignified courtier refused,
observing, that "a man who thought himself wise in the morning should not
make himself a fool at night." Towards the end of his career the malignant
Bonner contrived to forge against him, out of one of his jests,